
 

 

 

Governing Body 
 

Meeting to be held at 2pm on Thursday 28th May 2015 in the Board 
Room, Sanger House, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4FE 

 
No. Item Lead Recommendation 
1 Apologies for Absence  

 
Chair  

2 Declarations of Interest  
 

Chair  

3 Minutes of the Meeting held 
on 26th March 2015 

Chair Approval 

4 Matters Arising 
 

Chair  

5 Eye Health; Patient 
Engagement Presentation 

Ruth Hallett/ 
Caroline Smith 

Information 

6 Final Annual Accounts 
2014/15  

Cath Leech Approval 

7 External Audit - Assurances 
from Management and those 
charged with Governance 

Cath Leech Information 

8 Annual Report 2014/15  
 

Mary Hutton Approval 

9 Public Questions 
 

Chair  

10 Chair’s Update 
 

Chair Information 

11 Accountable Officer’s Update 
 

Mary Hutton Information 

12 Cirencester Hospital 
Development Plan  

Mary Hutton Approval 

13 Lead Provider Framework Cath Leech 
 

Information 

14 Performance Report 
 

Cath Leech Information 

15 Assurance Framework 
2014/15 

Cath Leech Information 

16 Integrated Governance and 
Quality Committee Minutes 

Julie Clatworthy Information 

17 Audit Committee Annual 
Report 

Colin Greaves Information 



 

 

18 West of England Academic 
Health Science Network 
Report 

Mary Hutton Information 

19 Any Other Business (AOB) 
 

Chair  

Date and time of next meeting: Thursday 30th July 2015 at 2pm in Board 
Room at Sanger House 
 
 
Questions should be sent in advance to the Associate Director of 
Corporate Governance: alan.potter1@nhs.net by 12 noon on 
Tuesday 26th May 2015.  Questions must relate to items on the 
agenda. 
 
Please note: there is very limited parking available at Sanger House 
and all spaces must be booked in advance. If parking is required by 
members of the public, please e-mail Alan Potter (as above) to 
establish if there are any visitor spaces available. 
 
 



 

Gloucestershire CCG Governing Body Minutes – 26th March 2015     Page 1 of 12 
 

 
 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
Governing Body 

 
Minutes of the Meeting held on Thursday 26th March 2015 
in the Board Room, Sanger House, Gloucester GL3 4FE 

 
 

Present: 
Dr Helen Miller HM Clinical Chair 
Marion Andrews-Evans MAE Executive Nurse and Quality Lead 
Dr Caroline Bennett CBe GP Liaison Lead 
Dr Peter Brambleby PB Interim Director of Public Health 
Dr Charles Buckley CBu GP Liaison Lead 
Colin Greaves CG Lay Member - Governance 
Julie Clatworthy JC Registered Nurse 
Alan Elkin AE Lay Member – Patient and Public 

Engagement 
Mary Hutton MH Accountable Officer 
Cath Leech CL Chief Finance Officer 
Dr Hein Le Roux HLR GP Liaison Lead 
Ellen Rule ER Director of Transformation and Service 

Redesign 
Dr Andy Seymour AS  Deputy Clinical Chair  
Valerie Webb VW Lay Member - Business 
Dr Jeremy Welch JW GP Liaison Lead 
Mark Walkingshaw MW Deputy Accountable Officer 
Dr Will Haynes WH GP Liaison Lead 
Dr Malcolm Gerald MGe GP Liaison Lead 
In attendance:   
Caitlin Lord CLo Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 

Advisor 
Caroline Smith  CS Senior Manager, Engagement  and Inclusion
Helen Goodey HG Associate Director Locality Development and 

Engagement 
Alan Potter AP Associate Director of Corporate Governance
Zoe Barnes ZB Corporate Governance Support Officer 
 
There were 6 members of the public present. 
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1 Apologies for Absence 
  
1.1 Apologies were received from Dr Martin Gibbs (MGi), Dr Steve Allder 

(SA) and Margaret Wilcox (MW). 
  
1.2 HM noted that this would have been MGi and SA’s last meeting and 

thanked them for their contributions.  
  
2 Declarations of Interest  
   
2.1 All GP members declared an interest in Agenda Item 10 – 

Primary Care Offer Enhanced Service.  
 

   
3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 29th January 2015  
   
3.1 The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 29th January 2015 

were approved subject to the following amendments: 
 

 Section 14.22 spacing to be adjusted 
 Additional section to be added under 16.2 to read 

‘Resolution: The CCG Governing Body noted these 
minutes’ 

 

   
4 Matters Arising  
   
4.1 27.11.14 AI 9.6 – Time to Heal Project Evaluation Report – MW 

confirmed that the business case was approved in February as 
planned. Complete 

 

   
4.2 29.01.15 AI 9.6 – Commissioning Intentions for 2015/16 – 

Programme briefs were confirmed to have been circulated. 
Complete 

 

   
4.3 29.01.15 AI 12.6 – Assurance Framework – Provisions available 

for children and young people with mental health problems risk 
rating was included under agenda item 11. Complete 

 

   
4.4 JC congratulated those involved in the work of the Better Care 

Fund. 
 

   
5 Patient’s Story  
   
5.1 CLo presented a patient case study which related to one carer’s  
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experience with Sarcoma. The story concerned a patient who 
sadly passed away, with audio comments from her daughter.  

   
5.2 CLo summarised the context to the story and advised that there 

is now a Sarcoma specialist employed at GHT, with patients 
now only sent to Birmingham for diagnostics which is a positive 
development.  

 

   
5.3 The patient’s experience of a delayed diagnosis and community 

care was outlined.  
 

   
5.4 CBu advised that the work of the Clinical Programme Groups 

(CPG) addresses these issues and it was noted that patient 
stories are valuable at Governing Body meetings to raise 
awareness.  

 

   
6. Public Questions  
   
6.1 There were no questions received from the public.  
   
7. Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

Clinical Chair’s Report 
 

   
7.1 This report was taken as read, with a summary of key issues 

that arose during February and March 2015 being highlighted by 
HM. 

 

   
7.2 HM updated members on delegated Primary Care 

Commissioning and advised 90% of practices took the 
opportunity to vote with every one of those practices voting in 
favour. It was noted that the contract was being progressed and 
a Transition Programme Group had been set up to manage the 
change. AS echoed HM and advised meetings were ongoing 
with NHS England (NHSE).  

 

   
7.3 HM highlighted the respiratory study morning; which had been 

attended by all who registered. HM drew attention to the Case 
Note Review and advised that the findings would be initially 
shared with the respiratory CPG. HM advised that the Health 
and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HCOSC) valued 
the increased awareness of respiratory problems.  

 

   
7.4 HM drew attention to the ASAP website and app and thanked  
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the Communication Team for their work on the project. It was 
noted that the CCG was the first to have an app of this kind and 
publicity was positive.  

   
7.5 HM discussed the Time to Heal Project and advised that an 

update on services for the homeless has been requested from 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). 

 

   
7.6 RESOLUTION: The CCG Governing Body noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
8. Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

Accountable Officer’s Report 
 

   
8.1 The Accountable Officer introduced this report, which was taken 

as read, and provided a summary of key issues arising during 
February and March 2015.  

 

   
8.2 MH advised that a Better Care Forum had now been set up and 

that an update would be provided in the future. 
 

   
8.3 MH drew attention to the new Primary Care Out of Hours (OOH) 

Service and advised that work is progressing with no significant 
concerns.  

 

   
8.4 MH advised that rapid response (urgent visit within 1 hour) had 

been rolled out successfully across the county as part of the 
Integrated Community Team initiative.  

 

   
8.5 It was noted that Urgent Care was on the agenda for the 

meeting under item 13.   
 

   
8.6 MH highlighted the Experience and Engagement section of the 

report and advised that a quarterly summary was received from 
Healthwatch and all major project groups have access to this 
data. It was noted that Lay Members were involved in a number 
of the projects outlined in section 6.4.1 of the report.  

 

   
8.7 MW gave a brief update with regards to the new OOH service 

and advised this was making good progress and there was good 
sign up within the GP community. Arrangements were in place 
in terms of establishing primary care centres and work was 
ongoing to finalise arrangements over the next few days in 
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preparation for a smooth launch on the 1st April.  
   
8.8 RESOLUTION: The CCG Governing Body noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
9.1 Planning 2015/16 – Operational Plan  
   
9.1.1 ER introduced the Operational Plan and advised that the 

Governing Body have reviewed and provided helpful feedback 
which had now been incorporated including: 
 

 GCCG Mission statement and objectives 
 Financial Plan  

 

   
9.1.2 It was noted the Plan is presented as a final draft, however 

stylistic alterations could be made prior to submission to NHSE 
on the 7th April if necessary. 

 

   
9.1.3 VW queried where inequalities would be referenced with regards 

to the new NHSE guidance – workforce race equalities 
standards. ER and VW agreed to discuss outside of the meeting 
as ER felt this is already included in a different section.  

 

   
9.1.4 CBu advised that Annex 2: Ambitions for GCCG 7 Outcome 

Measures required development as work already in progress 
was not included. It was noted that this annex was a work in 
progress and a statement would be included at the top to reflect 
this.  

 

   
9.1.5 WH requested that a glossary should be included in the 

document. ER advised that a summarised version will be 
available alongside the full plan for easy reading.  

 

   
9.1.6 MH confirmed that provider organisations have responded 

positively to the forward direction of travel for the CCG.  
 

   
9.1.7 HM thanked ER and the transformation team for their hard work 

in producing the document. 
 

   
9.1.8 RESOLUTION: The CCG Governing Body approved the 

Operational Plan subject to stylistic minor changes.  
 

   
9.2 Planning 2015/16 – Budget Plan  
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9.2.1 CL presented the Budget Plan for 2015/16 which supported the 

Operational Plan.  
 

   
9.2.2 CL outlined the CCG’s allocations and advised the Better Care 

Fund and Primary Care services allocation was yet to be 
confirmed. CL advised that the running cost envelope had been 
reduced by 10% for 2014/15 which was a planned reduction.  

 

   
9.2.3 CL outlined the expenditure budgets. It was advised that the 

national tariff published by Monitor and NHSE had been 
withdrawn due to significant objections from the provider sector. 
This had resulted in an enhanced tariff offer which is being taken 
up by the majority of providers. CL advised that it was planned 
that contracts would be signed by the end of March.  

 

   
9.2.4 CL highlighted the key investments and advised there were also 

investments to support the QIPP plan.  
 

   
9.2.5 CL discussed the reserves and noted the headroom reserve 

which is equivalent to 1% of the total budget. 
 

   
9.2.6 CL highlighted appendix 7, the Financial Management 

Framework and advised this was for Governing Body approval.  
 

   
9.2.7 With regards to the additional responsibilities Primary Care Co - 

Commissioning will represent, JC queried how confident the 
CCG is that it will fit in the running cost envelope. CL confirmed 
that the CCG had been forward planning with regards to staff 
resourcing and this had been included in the current budget. 

 

   
9.2.8 CG noted that the budget plan was a good document, and the 

limit should be recognised as realistic, but the real issue would 
be on implementation to ensure that the CCG delivers  

 

   
9.2.9 HM thanked the Finance Team for their work in producing the 

report.  
 

   
9.2.10 Recommendation: The Governing Body: 

 approved the 2015/16 budgets and noted the risks 
inherent within the plan; and 

 approved the financial management framework 
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10. Primary Care Offer Enhanced Service  
   
10.1 AS introduced this item and gave an overview of the proposal to 

continue to offer the enhanced service in 2015/16 following its 
success in 2014/15.  

 

   
10.2 HG joined the meeting to present the paper and discussed the 

appendices.  
 

   
10.3 HG advised that it is not mandatory that GP practices provide all 

of the four component ‘building blocks’.  
 

   
10.4 HG gave an overview of the new elements for 2015/16 which 

were: 
 local quality improvement indicators; 
 practice variation reports; 
 introduction and use of care pathways website; and 
 supporting innovation.  

 
HG advised that it is important to seek feedback; and for care 
pathways, to understand what works and what doesn’t.  

 

   
10.5 HG highlighted the total budget and recommended uplift. JC 

queried if the balance will change as the service moves forward. 
AS confirmed the payment structure had been developed to 
encourage GP practices to provide all of the building blocks.  

 

   
10.6 In reference to the early evaluation referred to in section 3.4, AE 

noted that evaluation is important and that the CCG needs to 
seek feedback on the first year as soon as possible. AS advised 
that the cancer masterclass attendance was positive and HM 
seconded this. CBu wished to note the support of MacMillan in 
the programme and the Governing Body agreed. HG gave 
further assurance around evaluation.  

 

   
10.7 CBu advised that the CCG should be working with the 

Gloucestershire GP Education Trust (GGPET) with regards to 
the new elements for 2015/16. MGe advised that engagement 
with GGPET is taking place through the pathways programme. 

 

   
10.8 HLR queried how the CCG was ensuring that the service was 

making a difference and CBu confirmed measurements are 
being taken including: 
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 one year survival rates; and 
 moving the diagnostics stage down by working with GPs.  

   
10.10 RESOLUTION: The Governing Body approved the report.   
   
11 Assurance Framework   
   
11.1 CL presented the Assurance Framework which was taken as 

read and highlighted the key points.  The Assurance Framework 
identified gaps in assurances and controls regarding the 
organisational objectives, along with details of the principal risks 
that have been identified by lead managers. 

 

   
11.2 CL advised a number of risks had been reduced including Q13 

regarding response times in histology and Q15 regarding delays 
in issuing cardiology letters. 

 

   
11.3 CL advised the risk rating for Q3 regarding specialised 

commissioning had been increased. 
 

   
11.4 AE queried the wording of C5. It was agreed to change this to 

‘Risk that the number of medically stable patients remaining in 
hospital exceeds agreed target.’ 

 

   
11.5 PB queried the CCG’s capacity to measure assurance at an 

operational level. MAE advised the Quality Team regularly visit 
clinical settings which acquires positive reactions from providers. 
HM confirmed that GP leads also visit the clinical setting. PB 
queried capacity with regards to skill mix and MAE confirmed 
this was well resourced. It was noted that this will be a challenge 
for Primary Care Co-Commissioning and the CCG was hoping 
to appoint to a Primary Care quality role.  

 

   
11.6 RESOLUTION: The Governing Body noted the contents of 

the paper.  
 

   
12. Report from West of England Academic Health Science 

Network Board (WEAHSN) 
 

   
12.1 MH presented the report which was taken as read and it was 

noted that the report was from December 2014 although it 
remains a useful piece of information.  
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12.2 MH highlighted point 4 - evidence into practice and point 5 – 
connecting data of care.  

 

   
12.3 HLR noted that the GP Clinical Evidence Fellows were deemed 

a success and would be funded for another year. HLR 
requested the CCG to prompt applications.  

 

   
12.4 JC advised of the Quality Improvement Conference on the 16th 

April 2015 and MH encouraged Governing Body attendance. It 
was agreed that the link to further dates of WEAHSN 
conferences/events should be sent to ZB for circulation.  

 

   
12.5 RESOLUTION: The CCG Governing Body noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
13. Performance Report  
   
13.1 CL introduced the report which provided an overview of GCCG 

performance against organisational objectives and national 
performance measures including finance, for the period to the 
end of February 2015. 

 

   
13.2 The report was broken down into the five sections of the CCG 

Performance Framework as highlighted in Section 1. CL advised 
that a Lead Director had been assigned to each area. 

 

   
 Clinical Excellence  
13.3 MAE advised there is continued positive performance in relation 

to C. Difficile and antibiotic prescribing. MAE thanked clinical 
practitioners for their hard work.  

 

   
13.4 MAE advised of two never events at Gloucestershire Royal 

Hospital and CBu paid tribute to the team there for their positive 
responses to these events. With regards to the administration of 
medication error, HLR queried how a never event would be 
reported in primary care and HM confirmed this would be picked 
up by the Medicines Management lead for the CCG.  

 

   
13.5 ER discussed diagnostics and cancer information and it was 

advised that there had been a reduction in reporting delays. It 
was advised that there were challenges around the 62 day 
cancer performance with a particular challenge in Urology. ER 
confirmed a multi-practural approach is being taken to manage 
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this.  
   
13.6 JC requested clarity on the sense of assurance being taken by 

the provider organisation. ER confirmed that GHT are motivated 
to improve and the challenge is around management capacity. 
CBu advised of his attendance at cancer meetings and 
confirmed Clinicians were working hard to address issues. The 
Governing Body noted the increased demand on the service and 
the continued efforts of the clinicians and secretaries.  

 

   
13.7 MW discussed ambulance performance and highlighted the 

improvement in the percentage of category A RED 1 incidents.  
 

   
 Patient Experience  
13.8 MAE presented the patient experience information and 

highlighted the friends and family test. It was advised that the 
response rate in emergency departments had dropped however, 
this may be due to the recent pressure on this service. It was 
noted that of those responses received, most had been fairly 
positive. 

 

   
13.9 MAE commended the mixed-sexed accommodation 

performance and noted that there had been no breaches.  
 

   
13.10 ER discussed Referral to Treatment activity and noted the 

challenge around cancellation of elective procedures. ER noted 
the out of county issues with particular reference to spinal 
provision. ER confirmed the overall standard is being achieved.  

 

   
13.11 MW noted that 4 hour performance was a particular area of 

concern and daily focus was being given to address this.  
 

   
13.12 JC requested that examples of measurements were added to 

the report in future. 
 

   
13.13 It was confirmed that a plan was in place to manage emergency 

Transient Ischemic Attacks (TIAs).  
 

   
 Partnerships  
13.14 MW recognised that effective relationships were maintained 

across health and social care.  
 

   
 Staff  
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13.15 MW gave a brief update with regards to staff performance 
information.  

 

   
13.16 JC queried if the baseline for 2014/15 had been outlined and 

MW confirmed this was in place but was not included in the 
report on this occasion, but would be in future.  

 

    
 Finance and efficiency  
13.17 CL presented the finance report and advised that the surplus 

delivery remains unchanged. 
 

   
13.18 CL advised of the key changes for the month which included: 

 
 forecast for GHT, with over performance particularly around 

urgent care; and 
 confirmation received of the quality premium for 2013/14. 

 

   
13.19 RESOLUTION: The CCG Governing Body noted the report.  
   
14. Integrated Governance and Quality Committee Minutes  
   
14.1 JC presented the minutes from the Integrated Governance and 

Quality Committee held on the 18th December 2014.  
 

   
14.2 The Governing Body noted the following key matters that were 

discussed at the meeting: 
 the implementation of the Quality Alert System 
 the Primary Care Co-Commissioning structure and terms 

of reference; 
 Clinical Quality Review Group updates; and 
 revalidation of Nurses, of which a report has been 

requested to be presented to the Governing Body.  

 

   
14.3 RESOLUTION: The CCG Governing Body noted these 

minutes. 
 

   
15. Audit Committee Minutes  
   
15.1 CG presented the minutes of the Audit Committee held on 9th 

December 2014 and advised that the Committee dates for the 
approval of the annual report and accounts will be a challenge at 
the end of the financial year.   
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15.2 It was confirmed that the Lead Provider Framework will be 

brought back to the Governing Body in May. 
CL 

   
16. Any Other Business 
  
16.1 HM noted that this was PB’s last meeting and thanked him for 

his contributions to the Governing Body.  
  
17. The meeting closed at 15:50pm. 
  
18. Date and Time of next meeting:  Thursday 28th May 2015, 

2pm in the Boardroom, Sanger House.  
 
 

 
Minutes Approved by Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group Governing Body: 
 
Signed (Chair):____________________   Date:_____________ 
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Agenda Item 6 
 

NHS Gloucestershire CCG 
Governing Body 

 
Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 

Title Review of Audited 2014/15 Annual Accounts 

Executive Summary See page 2. 

Key Issues The Accounts have been recommended to the 
Governing Body for approval by the Audit 
Committee held on 26th May 2015.  The 
submission date for the audited accounts is 29th 
May 2015.   

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

 
C * L - 2 * 3 = 6 
C * L - 2 * 3 = 6 
 

Financial Impact The CCG needs to ensure that accounts are 
prepared accurately and in a timely manner to 
ensure that the financial position for the 
organisation is understood and that the CCG 
receives an unqualified audit opinion.  

Legal Issues N/A 
Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

N/A 
 

Impact on Equality 
and Diversity 

N/A 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

N/A 
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is asked to: 
 approve the CCG’s 2014/15 Audited 

Annual Accounts 
 

Author Andrew Beard 
Designation Deputy CFO 
Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 

Cath Leech 
Chief Finance Officer 
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GOVERNING BODY 28 MAY 2015 
 

Review of Audited 2014/15 Annual Accounts 
 

Summary 
 

 The reported  financial position for the year was 
 

Programme Running

Costs Costs TOTAL

£000s £000s £000s

Allocation 681,630 15,996 697,626

Expenditure 675,687 13,445 689,132

Surplus / (Deficit) 5,943 2,551 8,494  
 

 In reviewing the above position, reference should be made to the following 
issues 

o this was achieved against an planned surplus of £8,476k 
o the CCG has remained within its Running Cost allocation 

 
 Cash holdings at the end of the year were £104k and total cash drawings were 

within the Maximum Cash Drawdown limit set by NHS England.  This balance 
is within the allowable limit 

 
 Performance against the Better Payment Practice code highlights that the 

CCG has achieved its 95% target in both value & volume of invoices  
 

 Within the above performance, the CCG has provided for retrospective CHC 
claims to the value of £682k.  All other retrospective claims have been 
accounted for by NHS England. 
 

 Following liaison with external audit, some small, presentational changes have 
been made to the Accounts since the submission of the first draft on 23 April 
2015.   These include representing the performance table (note 2) .  In 
addition, the pensions note (5.5) has been updated in line with national 
guidance 
 

 The Annual Accounts show a position that is consistent with in-year 
performance reports presented to the Governing Body. 
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Review of Audited 2014/15 Annual Accounts 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 

 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to present the 2014/15 Annual Accounts of NHS 

Gloucestershire CCG for approval 
 
2. The Process 

 
2.1. The 2014/15 Annual Accounts timetable has remained broadly consistent with 

last year and aims to allow the Department of Health and NHS England to 
present the NHS’s  performance to Parliament prior to the summer recess.  In 
summary, the key national deadlines for CCGs are as below 

 
Submission date 2014/15 
Draft (unaudited) Accounts 23rd April 

(midday) 
Final (audited) Accounts 29th May 

(midday) 
 

2.2. In accordance with NHS England’s timetable, the draft annual accounts were 
uploaded to Sharepoint and shared with external auditors by midday on 23 
April 2015. 
 

2.3. The Trust’s External Auditors (Grant Thornton) commenced their on-site audit 
on the 27 April.  
 

2.4. An Audit Committee meeting on the 26th May has taken place to review the 
accounts and the Governing Body meeting of 28th May has been arranged to 
adopt the Annual Accounts and Annual Report.  Furthermore, at this time, 
declarations are required on behalf of Governing Body members in relation to 
Annual Governance. 
 

2.5. The auditors, on behalf of the CCG, are required to submit the audit opinion 
electronically to NHS England by midday on Friday 29 May.  Further to this 
deadline, an original signed copy of the audited Annual Accounts must be 
received by NHS England by 5 June. 
 

2.6. On 5 June, the CCG should publish their annual report and full accounts on 
the CCG website. 
 

2.7. The Annual Public Meeting, which sees Accounts presented to the public, 
must be held no later than 30 September. 
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3. Prime Statements 
 
3.1 There are four prime statements in the CCG’s Annual Accounts.  These are 

 
 Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SoCNE) 

This statement details the utilisation of resources in the year and highlights the 
operational net expenditure reported by the CCG during that period.  However, 
the analysis also highlights any movements in impairments and revaluations of 
assets. 
 

 Statement of Financial Position (SoFP) 
This statement provides a summary of the assets and liabilities of the Trust at 
a fixed point in time i.e. at the end of the financial year.   

 
 Statement of changes in taxpayers equity (SoCiTE) 

This statement highlights all movements on reserves during the year.  In 
2014/15, the movement is solely confined to expenditure incurred during the 
year when compared against cash drawn. 

 
 Statement of cash flows (SCF) 

This statement shows the cash receipts and payments and is sub-divided into 
components relating to operating, investing (the CCG has no entries in this 
category) and financing (e.g. drawdown of cash) activities. This statement 
reconciles to the balance of cash at the year end. 

 
3.2 The CCG discloses its accounting policies (based on a national template) 

which govern the treatment of records within the Accounts and produces a full 
set of notes that provide detailed breakdowns of the figures summarised within 
the prime statements.  It should be noted that the majority of the accounting 
policies are standard across CCGs and that a few have been amended for 
local circumstances.   

 
 
4. Performance against key targets 
 

Duty Ref in 
Accounts

Target/Range
 

Actual Within 
Target 

Net Costs SOCNE £697,626k £689,132k Yes 
Surplus Note 2 £8,476k £8,494k Yes 
Running Costs SOCNE £15,996k £13,445k Yes 
Cash  Note 21 0 to £595k £104k cash 

balance 
Yes 

Capital Resource Limit Note 2 161 147 Yes 
BPPC : Payments Note 7.1 95% number 

& value
95% number & 

value exceeded 
Yes 

 
4.1 The CCG reported a year end surplus of £8,494k when compared with its 

revenue allocation at 31 March 2015. This surplus is £18k higher than the 
original plan. 
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4.2 The CCG’s allocation is received in two categories (Programme and Running 
costs).  Underspends against Running Cost allocation (i.e. administrative 
expenditure including estate costs) can be used to supplement Programme 
Expenditure but not vice versa. In the financial year, the CCG underspent it’s 
Running Cost allocation by £2,551k. 

 
4.3 Throughout the latter part of the year, the CCG was issued with a Maximum 

Cash Drawdown Limit which was set by NHS England.  The CCG’s net cash 
outflow over the financial year was monitored against the limit and the difference 
was reported as the closing bank balance.  The CCG year end balance was 
required to be less than 1.25% of March drawdown which equated to £595k 

 
4.4 The CCG received a Capital Resource Limit of £161k in 2014/15. It had Capital 

Expenditure of £147k and therefore underspent its allocation by £14k. 
 

4.5 The CCG’s performance against the Better Payment Practice Code during the 
year regarding non-NHS invoices was 96.2% by number and 98.9% by value.  
The corresponding performance for NHS payments was 98.8% and 99.9%.  
Therefore, it has met the target to pay 95% of all undisputed invoices by the due 
date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice.   

 
 
5. Notes to the Accounts 
 
5.1 Accounting Policies 

 
The main text of accounting policies conforms to the NHS England standard 
approach.  The CCG has added in the following within accounting policy 1.7: 
 
 Critical Judgements in applying the CCG’s accounting policies 

o Where the CCG is the lead commissioner for service level agreements 
that include a contribution from Gloucestershire County Council, all 
figures are shown in gross terms (i.e. the contribution from the local 
authority is shown within Other Operating Income).  

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
o Partially completed spells 
o Accruals for Prescribing/Home Oxygen costs 
o Provisions recognised at 31 March 2015 
o Secondary healthcare service costs 

 
5.2 Financial Performance Targets (Note 2) 
       
This note primarily covers those metrics reported in Section 4 of this report. 

 
 

5.3 Other Operating Revenue (Note 3) 
 
Gross income of £21,108k was reported during 2014/15 (£17,754k for 2013/14).  
This sum consisted of £147k (0.7%) in administrative areas and £20,961k 
(99.3%) in programme areas.  The majority of income and the increase in year 
(18.9%) relates to charges made to Gloucestershire County Council for their 
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contribution to contracts where the CCG is the lead commissioner (i.e. GHFT, 
GCS, 2G).  

 
 
5.4 Operating Expenses (Note 6)  

 
Overall, gross operating expenses of £710,240k (£689,839k in 13/14) an increase 
of 2.95% were reported during the year, £13,592k (1.9%) on administrative 
expenses and £696,648k (97.9%) on programme spend.  
 
Pay costs increased by 26.7% to £8,109k (1.14% of total expenditure) of the 
overall total gross expenditure. The majority of the increase was due to the 
insourcing of services previously contracted from the CSU and the full year effect 
of CCG staff recruited in 2013/14. 
 

5.5 Operating Leases (Note 13) 
 
The note includes the accounting treatment of the arrangement with NHS 
Property Services (PropCo) regarding Sanger House. Other leases relate to 
photocopier rental and lease car costs.   
 
 

5.6 Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 14) 
  
During the year, IT equipment relating to replacement servers at Sanger House 
were purchased at a cost of £147k. 
 
Transport equipment (the information bus) was depreciated and valued at £41k at 
the end of the period. 

 
5.7 Receivables (Note 18) 

 
In overall terms, outstanding debts were £6,150k at the end of 2014/15 which 
represented a reduction of £2,200k from 2013/14.  This consisted of £901k owed 
to the CCG by NHS organisations, and £5,249k from non-NHS organisations 
which was primarily from Gloucestershire County Council. 
 
The provision for impairment of receivables increased to £83k (from £61k) in the 
year. 
 

5.8 Payables (Note 24) 
 
At the end of the financial year, the CCG had reduced its outstanding creditors 
by £2,587k to £40,361k; NHS creditors in total remained £14,516k and there is 
improved granularity between invoices received at year end and accrued 
expenditure where invoices were still to be received. NHS organisations included 
GHFT £3,623k, GCS £4,255k and Non Contracted Agreements of £630k.   
 
Invoices received from non-NHS organisations which remained unpaid at 31 
March account for an additional £1,632k.   Furthermore, accruals for costs owing 
to non-NHS bodies (where invoices had yet to be received) were £23,293k and 
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included two months of prescribing costs (£14,811k) and £3,014k owed to 
Gloucestershire County Council. 
 
 

5.9  Provisions (Note 31) 
 
The total provided for continuing health care (CHC) cases was £682k at 31 
March 2014 (£870k for 2013/14).  This has been sourced from Caretrack (CHC 
system) data which is at a much more advanced stage than at the same stage 
last year.  All previous retrospective claims are managed and accounted for by 
NHS England within the legacy system. 
 
The CCG also has created a provision of £181k relating to a continuity of service 
issue within Primary Care. 
 

5.10 Losses (Note 41.1) 
 
Following discussions with external auditors this note has been revised, hence 
the increase in the bad debt provision is no longer presented as an in-year loss.   
 
 

6. Recommendation 
 

The Governing Body is asked to: 
 approve the CCG’s 2014/15 Audited Annual Accounts 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2015

2014-15 2013-14

Note £000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 5.1.1 8,109 6,397

Operating Expenses 6 702,131 683,442

Other operating revenue 3 (21,108) (17,754)

Net operating expenditure before interest 689,132 672,084

Investment Revenue 9 - -

Other (gains)/losses 10 - -

Finance costs 11 0 -

Net operating expenditure for the financial year 689,132 672,084

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption 12 - -

Total Net Expenditure for the year 689,132 672,084

Of which:

Administration Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 5.1.1 6,879 5,385

Operating Expenses 6 6,713 9,183

Other operating revenue 3 (147) (427)

Net administration costs before interest 13,445 14,142

Programme Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 5.1.1 1,230 1,011

Operating Expenses 6 695,418 674,258

Other operating revenue 3 (20,961) (17,327)

Net programme expenditure before interest 675,687 657,942

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure 2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Impairments and reversals 23 - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets - -

Movements in other reserves - -

Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets - -

Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale - -

Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes - -

Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures - -

Reclassification Adjustments - -

On disposal of available for sale financial assets - -

Total Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure - -

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 689,132 672,084

The notes on pages 5 to 32 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2015

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Note £000 £000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 14 188 61

Intangible assets 15 - -

Investment property 16 - -

Trade and other receivables 18 - -

Other financial assets 19 - -

Total non-current assets 188 61

Current assets:

Inventories 17 - -

Trade and other receivables 18 6,150 8,350

Other financial assets 19 - -

Other current assets 20 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 21 104 30

Total current assets 6,254 8,380

Non-current assets held for sale 22 - -

Total current assets 6,254 8,380

Total assets 6,442 8,441

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24 (40,361) (42,948)
Other financial liabilities 25 - -
Other liabilities 26 - -
Borrowings 27 - -
Provisions 31 (863) (870)
Total current liabilities (41,224) (43,819)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (34,782) (35,378)

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24 - -
Other financial liabilities 25 - -
Other liabilities 26 - -
Borrowings 27 - -
Provisions 31 - -
Total non-current liabilities - -

Assets less Liabilities (34,782) (35,378)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (34,782) (35,378)

Revaluation reserve - -

Other reserves - -

Charitable Reserves - -

Total taxpayers' equity: (34,782) (35,378)

The notes on pages 5 to 32 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the 

Governing Body on 28 May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer

Mary Hutton
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2015

General fund

Revaluation 

reserve Other reserves Total reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (35,378) - - (35,378)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed 

NHS bodies - - - -

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014 (35,378) - - (35,378)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (689,132) (689,132)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets - -

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve - - - -

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets - - - -

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale - - - -

Impairments and reversals - - - -

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions - - - -

Movements in other reserves - - - -

Transfers between reserves - - - -
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure - - - -
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets - - - -

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies - - - -

Reserves eliminated on dissolution - - - -

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure 

for the Financial  Year (724,510) - - (724,510)

Net funding 689,728 - - 689,728

Balance at 31 March 2015 (34,782) - - (34,782)

General fund

Revaluation 

reserve Other reserves Total reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Balance at 1 April 2013 - - - -

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of 

the 1 April 2013 transition 586 - - 586

Adjusted NHS Commissioning Board balance at 1 April 2013 586 - - 586

Changes in NHS Commissioning Board taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Net operating costs for the financial year (672,084) (672,084)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets - -

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve - - - -

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets - - - -

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale - - - -

Impairments and reversals - - - -

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions - - - -

Movements in other reserves - - - -

Transfers between reserves - - - -

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure - - - -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets - - - -

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies - - - -

Reserves eliminated on dissolution - - - -

Net Recognised NHS Commissioning Board Expenditure for the 

Financial  Year (671,498) - - (671,498)

Net funding 636,120 - - 636,120

Balance at 31 March 2014 (35,378) - - (35,378)

The notes on pages 5 to 32 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2015

2014-15 2013-14

Note £000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (689,132) (672,084)

Depreciation and amortisation 6 20 525

Impairments and reversals 6 - -

Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption - -

Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange - -

Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash - -

Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash - -

Interest paid - -

Release of PFI deferred credit - -

Other Gains & Losses - -

Finance Costs - -

Unwinding of Discounts - -

(Increase)/decrease in inventories - -

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 18 2,200 (8,350)

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets - -

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 24 (2,735) 42,948

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities - -

Provisions utilised 31 - -

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 31 (7) 870

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (689,654) (636,090)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest received - -

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment - -

(Payments) for intangible assets - -

(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health - -

(Payments) for other financial assets - -

(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT) - -

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment - -

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets - -

Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health - -

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets - -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT) - -

Loans made in respect of LIFT - -

Loans repaid in respect of LIFT - -
Rental revenue - -

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities - -

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (689,654) (636,090)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Parliamentary Funding Received 689,728 636,120

Other loans received - -

Other loans repaid - -

Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT - -

Capital grants and other capital receipts - -

Capital receipts surrendered - -

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 689,728 636,120

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 21 74 30

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 30 -

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies - -

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 104 30

The notes on pages 5 to 32 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting 

requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014-15 issued by the Department of 

Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards 

to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, 

which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of 

accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the 

clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies 

adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 

items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future 

is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 

provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going 

concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are 

prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2  Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 

considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer 

from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require 

retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not 

been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took 

place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and 

liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is 

disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and 

similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.5 Charitable Funds

From 2014-15, the divergence from the Government Financial Reporting Manual that NHS Charitable Funds are not 

consolidated with bodies’ own returns is removed. Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial 

Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities’ 

accounts.

The CCG does not hold any Charitable Funds.

1.6 Pooled Budgets

Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and 

expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:

 The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;

 The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;

 The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,

 The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
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Notes to the financial statements

If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the 

clinical commissioning group recognises:

 The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the 

assets);

 The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

 The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 

are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 

assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods.

1.7.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made 

in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 

the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

 Lead Commissioning arrangements

Where the CCG is the lead commissioner for service level agreements that include a contribution from Gloucestershire 

County Council, all figures are shown in gross terms (i.e. the contribution from the local authority is shown within Other 

Operating Income).

1.7.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning 

group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

 Partially Completed Spells

Estimates of expenditure relating to such spells have primarily been taken from analysis provided by secondary care 

providers.

 Accruals for Prescribing/Home Oxygen costs

Primary care prescribing information is received from the Business Services Authority who process prescription items to 

reimburse and remunerate pharmacy contractors and provide information on the cost of drugs prescribed by primary 

care prescribers.  Actual prescribing information is issued in arrears and, therefore, the annual estimate is based on 

forecast information issued by the NHS Business Services Authority.

 Provisions recognised as at 31st March 2015

The provision for continuing healthcare has been calculated by taking those claims outstanding at 31 March 2015 which 

had not previously been notified to NHS England.  An assessment of the estimated/potential financial value is then made 

and a likelihood factor applied (based on previous experience).

 Secondary Healthcare service costs

Secondary Healthcare activity information is collected on a national system "Secondary Users System" (SUS).  This data 

is subsequently imported into a local contract management system.  Secondary Healthcare providers are paid in year for 

activity which has been carried out and which is due under the contract terms.  However, the final year end activity for 

which the CCG will be charged will not be available until June, therefore estimates of the activity has been provided 

based on the information from the contract monitoring system and providers themselves.  The estimated creditor for the 

final month of the year is included within Trade and Other Payables.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.8  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.9 Employee Benefits

1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 

employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to 

the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, 

defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of 

the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 

bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if 

it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is 

taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. 

The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning 

group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.10 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They 

are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.11.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

 It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning 

group;

 It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

 The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

 The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

 Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where 

the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have 

simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,

 Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual 

or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the 

components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.11.2 Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or 

constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the 

statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 

impairment.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from 

those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
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Notes to the financial statements

 Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

 Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent 

assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be 

valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment 

loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as 

allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are 

brought into use.

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from 

fair value.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the 

same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease 

previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential 

is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for 

the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are 

taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive 

income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.11.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is 

capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised 

and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.12 Intangible Assets

1.12.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the 

rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are 

recognised only:

 When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical 

commissioning group;

 Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,

 Where the cost is at least £5,000.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of 

hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. 

Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible 

asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is 

incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;

 The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;

 The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

 How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;

 The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; 

and,

 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

1.12.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the 

date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the 

expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market, or, where no 

active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant price 

increases, as a proxy for fair value. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of 

increases in development costs and technological advances.
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1.13 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment 

and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the 

consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period 

over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This 

is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated 

useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective 

basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its 

tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, 

the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. 

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an 

impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, 

thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to 

expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 

revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been 

no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease 

previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.14 Donated Assets

Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are 

valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, 

impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where 

conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.15  Government Grants

The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is 

recognised only where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.16 Non-current Assets Held For Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met when:

 The sale is highly probable;

 The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition; and,

 Management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 

from the date of classification.

Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to 

sell. Fair value is open market value including alternative uses.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount 

and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the 

revaluation reserve is transferred to the general reserve.
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale. 

Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when it is 

scrapped or demolished.

1.17 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 

lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.17.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair 

value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to 

the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 

achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in 

calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 

are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term.
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Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to 

whether they are operating or finance leases.

1.17.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning 

group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 

periodic rate of return on the clinical commissioning group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs 

incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.18  Private Finance Initiative Transactions

The CCG does not have any schemes under the Private Finance Initiative (PFI)

1.19  Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is 

considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.20 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 

hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.21   Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 

risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its 

carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

 Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%

 Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%

 Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%

 All employee early departures: 1.30%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 

the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of 

the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for 

the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to 

implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 

includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily 

entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.22   Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an 

annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution 

is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence 

cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.
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1.23   Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 

Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the 

NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership 

contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when 

they become due.

1.24 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods 

prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is 

used to settle the claims.

1.25 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme

Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets 

if they are not expected to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at 

open market value. As the clinical commissioning group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting 

transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, provision and 

deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

1.26 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 

commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be 

required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent 

liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 

commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.27 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument 

contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are 

derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

 Held to maturity investments;

 Available for sale financial assets; and,

 Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition.

1.27.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded 

derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and 

loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning 

group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.27.2 Held to Maturity Assets

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, 

and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1.27.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do 

not fall within any of the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value 

taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to 

surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.27.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in 

an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 

the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than 

those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses 

recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 

recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 

effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a 

provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 

an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 

expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not 

exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.28  Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes 

party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or 

services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 

liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 

recognised at fair value.

1.28.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:

 The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
 The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent 

Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1.28.2  Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded 

derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s 

surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.28.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial 

liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.29  Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 

not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 

category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 

recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.30 Foreign Currencies

The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions 

denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 

spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the clinical 

commissioning group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.31 Third Party Assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the 

clinical commissioning group has no beneficial interest in them.

1.32  Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 

health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 

subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different 

categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 

including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not 

been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.33 Subsidiaries

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic 

or other benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; 

assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. 

Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned with the 

clinical commissioning group or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus.

Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less 

costs to sell’.

The CCG does not have any subsidiaries.

1.34    Associates

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise significant influence so as to 

obtain economic or other benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s 

accounts using the equity method. The investment is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect 

the clinical commissioning group’s share of the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/losses. It is also reduced when any 

distribution is received by the clinical commissioning group from the entity.

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less 

costs to sell’.

The CCG does not have any associates.

1.35   Joint Ventures

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other parties so as to 

obtain economic or other benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 

method.

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less 

costs to sell’.

The CCG does not have any joint ventures.

1.36  Joint Operations

Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other 

parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of the 

income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

The CCG does not have any joint operations.

1.37 Research & Development

Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development 

expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. 

Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of 

Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It should be 

re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.
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1.38 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied 

in 2014-15, all of which are subject to consultation:

 IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

 IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

 IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

 IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014-15, were they 

applied in that year.
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2. Financial performance targets

Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows:

See NHS Act 2006 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

below Section Target Performance Met (Y/N)? Target Performance Met (Y/N)?

£000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure not to exceed income (i.e. to report surplus) 2.1 223H (1) 718,895 710,387 Yes 696,645 689,839 Yes

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 2.2 223I (2) Nil Nil Yes Nil Nil Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 2.1 223I (3) 697,626 689,132 Yes 678,891 672,085 Yes

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 2.2 223J (1) 161 147 Yes Nil Nil Yes

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions (e.g. capital grants) 2.3 223J (2) Nil Nil Yes Nil Nil Yes

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 2.4 223J (3) 15,996 13,445 Yes 15,090 14,142 Yes

2.1/2.2 Performance against Resource limit

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

From Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (page 1)

Notified Resource Limit 697,626 161 697,787 678,891 0 678,891

Total Other operating revenue 21,108 21,108 17,754 17,754

Total Income 718,734 161 718,895 696,645 Nil 696,645

Employee benefits 8,109 8,109 6,397 6,397

Operating costs 702,131 147 702,278 683,442 0 683,442

Total Expenditure 710,240 147 710,387 689,839 Nil 689,839

Under/(Over) spend 8,494 14 8,508 6,806 Nil 6,806

2.3 Revenue resource use on specified matters

The CCG did not receive any Revenue Resource Limit in 2014/15 for use on specified matters.

2.4 Performance against Revenue administration resource 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

From Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (page 1)

Gross employee benefits 6,879 5,385

Other costs 6,713 9,183

Other operating revenue (147) (427)

13,445 14,142

Revenue administration resource ("running costs" allocation) 15,996 15,090

Under/(Over) spend against Revenue administration resource 2,551 948

2014-15 2013-14
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3 Other Operating Revenue

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits - - - -

Patient transport services - - - -

Prescription fees and charges - - - 0

Dental fees and charges - - - -

Education, training and research - - - -

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: NHS - - - -

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS 58 58 - 24

Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity - - - -

Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions - - - -

Non-patient care services to other bodies 20,391 87 20,304 17,625

Income generation - - - -

Rental revenue from finance leases - - - -

Rental revenue from operating leases - - - -

Other revenue 659 2 657 106

Total other operating revenue 21,108 147 20,961 17,754

Administrative revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to commissioning of healthcare services.

4 Revenue

Non-patient care services to other bodies primarily relates to charges made to Gloucestershire County Council for their 

contribution to contracts where the lead commissioner is NHS Gloucestershire CCG.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank 

Revenue is totally from the supply of services.  No revenue is received from the sale of goods.
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5. Employee benefits and staff numbers

5.1.1 Employee benefits

2014/15 Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 6,778 6,315 464 5,742 5,349 393 1,036 966 70

Social security costs 532 532 - 461 461 - 71 71 -

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 799 799 - 676 676 - 123 123 -

Other pension costs - - - - - - - - -

Other post-employment benefits - - - - - - - - -

Other employment benefits - - - - - - - - -

Termination benefits - - - - - - - - -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 8,109 7,646 464 6,879 6,486 393 1,230 1,160 70

2013/14 Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 5,313 4,990 323 4,462 4,220 242 851 770 81

Social security costs 435 435 - 376 376 - 59 59 -

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 645 645 - 543 543 - 102 102 -

Other pension costs - - - - - - - - -

Other post-employment benefits - - - - - - - - -

Other employment benefits - - - - - - - - -

Termination benefits 4 4 - 4 4 - - - -

Gross employee benefits expenditure 6,397 6,074 323 5,385 5,144 242 1,011 930 81

5.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits in 2014/15 (2013/14: Nil)

Total Admin Programme

Total Admin Programme

2013/14
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5.2 Average number of people employed
2013-14

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number

Total (whole time equivalent) 178 161 17 132

Of the above:

Number of whole time equivalent people 

engaged on capital projects Nil Nil Nil Nil

The increase above includes staff transferred from the Commissioning Support Unit to the CCG's payroll on 1 May 2014.

5.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2014-15 2013-14
Number Number

Total Days Lost 688 786

Total Staff Years 147 126

Average working Days Lost 4.68 6.24

Average working days lost has been calculated by NHS England and is based on the period April to December.

2014-15 2013-14
Number Number

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 1 Nil

£000 £000

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year 39 Nil

Any ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme

5.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been actioned or agreed during the year. (2013-14 : 1 case at £3,817)

5.5 Pension costs

5.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 

previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably 

robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2014, updated to 

31 March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 

interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and 

Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery 

Office.

2014-15

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on 

the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.

The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of 

State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets 

and liabilities.

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the 

contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date 

by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening 

years”. An outline of these follows:
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5.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into 

account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 

March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM 

Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives 

as deemed appropriate.

5.5.3 Scheme Provisions

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, 

and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before 

these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best 

of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year 

of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based 

upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump 

sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on 

changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of 

fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in 

service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The 

full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the 

Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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6. Operating expenses

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 7,419 6,189 1,230 5,757

Executive governing body members 690 690 - 640

Total gross employee benefits 8,109 6,879 1,230 6,397

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 4,824 3,202 1,622 4,670

Services from foundation trusts 413,240 34 413,206 405,055

Services from other NHS trusts 103,912 54 103,858 101,410

Services from other NHS bodies - - - (186)

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 70,946 - 70,946 64,965

Chair and Non Executive Members 655 655 - 639

Supplies and services – clinical 1,887 - 1,887 3,105

Supplies and services – general 1,794 142 1,652 1,577

Consultancy services 209 47 162 364

Establishment 959 557 402 876

Transport 37 37 0 23

Premises 1,294 1,247 47 1,462

Impairments and reversals of receivables 22 22 - 61

Inventories written down - - - -

Depreciation 21 21 - 525

Amortisation - - - -

Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment - - - -

Impairments and reversals of intangible assets - - - -

Impairments and reversals of financial assets - - - -

·          Assets carried at amortised cost - - - -

·          Assets carried at cost - - - -

·          Available for sale financial assets - - - -

Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale - - - -

Impairments and reversals of investment properties - - - -

Audit fees 114 114 - 116

Other non statutory audit expenditure

·          Internal audit services - - - -

·          Other services 1 1 - -

General dental services and personal dental services - - - -

Prescribing costs 89,755 - 89,755 87,371

Pharmaceutical services - - - -

General ophthalmic services 13 - 13 -

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 6,717 - 6,717 4,785

Other professional fees excl. audit 780 404 376 622

Grants to other public bodies 3,726 - 3,726 4,928

Clinical negligence - - - -

Research and development (excluding staff costs) 21 21 - -

Education and training 184 155 29 133

Change in discount rate - - - -

Provisions (7) - (7) -

CHC Risk Pool contributions 980 - 980 -

Other expenditure 47 - 47 942

Total other costs 702,131 6,713 695,418 683,442

Total operating expenses 710,240 13,592 696,648 689,839

Administrative expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
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7.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 6,674 51,658 5,291 73,400

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 6,422 51,111 4,899 71,409

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 96.22% 98.94% 92.59% 97.29%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 3,653 411,744 2,556 503,800

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 3,610 411,506 2,405 503,800

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 98.82% 99.94% 94.09% 100.00%

7.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

The CCG did not make payments totalling more than £500 under this legislation in 2014/15. (2013/14: Nil)

8 Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities in 2014/15 (2013/14: Nil)

9. Investment revenue

The CCG did not receive any investment revenue in 2014/15. (2013/14: Nil)

10. Other gains and losses

No other gains or losses have been recorded by the CCG during the financial year. (2013/14: Nil)

11. Finance costs

The CCG did not incur any finance costs during 2014/15. (2013/14: Nil)

12. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

The CCG supports the Better Payment Code which requires the CCG to aim to pay 95% of all valid invoices by the due date or within 

30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

No gains or losses have been recognised by the CCG during the financial year resulting from transfers by absorption. (2013/14: Nil)
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13. Operating Leases

13.1 As lessee

13.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2014-15 2013-14

Land Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments - 1,250 3 1,253 1,362

Contingent rents - - - - -

Sub-lease payments - - - - -

Total - 1,250 3 1,253 1,362

13.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2014-15 2013-14

Land Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:

No later than one year - - - - -

Between one and five years - - 5 5 -

After five years - - - - -

Total - - 5 5 -

13.2 As lessor

The CCG did not act as a lessor on any assets in the financial year. (2013/14: Nil)

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd.  For 2013/14 and 2014/15, a 

transitional occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was agreed.  This is reflected in Note 13.1.1.

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge 

for future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for 

these arrangements.

Other lease costs relate to a leased car and photocopiers.

Independent Sector Treatment Centres were opened in November 2009 at Emerson's Green, South Gloucestershire 

and at Cirencester Hospital, Gloucestershire.  There is a service agreement between UKSH, the service provider, and 

the Department of Health to provide an agreed range of treatments for the term of the contract.  This activity is 

provided to and purchased by NHS Gloucestershire and CCGs adjacent to the area.  An assessment of the contract 

against IFRIC 12, IFRIC 4 and IAS 17 has determined that an operating lease exists.  The price within the service 

contract uses the NHS tariff for secondary care.  The service payment to UKSH in 2014/15 was  £6,927k. (2013/14: 

£6,650k)
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14 Property, plant and equipment

The CCG did not own any land, buildings or dwellings throughout the year.

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology Total 

Plant & 

Machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 1 April 81 505 586 - - -

Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1st April 

2013 transition - - - 81 505 586

Adjusted Cost or valuation at 1 April 81 505 586 81 505 586

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account - -

Additions purchased - 147 147 - - - -

Additions donated - - - - - - -

Additions government granted - - - - - - -

Additions leased - - - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - (81) 81 - -

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals - - - - - - -

Disposals other than by sale - - - - - - -

Upward revaluation gains - - - - - - -

Impairments charged - - - - - - -

Reversal of impairments - - - - - - -

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body - - - - - - -

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation - - - - - - -

Cost/Valuation At 31 March 81 652 733 - 81 505 586

Depreciation 1 April 20 505 525 - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - - - -

Reclassified as held for sale and reversals - - - - - - -

Disposals other than by sale - - - - - - -

Upward revaluation gains - - - - - - -

Impairments charged - - - - - - -

Reversal of impairments - - - - - - -

Charged during the year 21 - 21 - 20 505 525

Transfer (to)/from other public sector body - - - - - - -

Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation - - - - - - -

Depreciation at 31 March 41 505 545 - 20 505 525

Net Book Value at 31 March 40 147 188 - 61 - 61

Purchased 41 147 188 - 61 - 61

Donated - - - - - - -

Government Granted - - - - - - -

Total at 31 March 41 147 188 - 61 - 61

Asset financing:

Owned 41 147 188 - 61 - 61

Held on finance lease - - - - - - -

On-SOFP Lift contracts - - - - - - -

PFI residual: interests - - - - - - -

Total at 31 March 41 147 188 - 61 - 61

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

The CCG had no Revaluation Reserve balances for Property ,Plant & Equipment in 2014/15 (2013/14: Nil)

2014/15 2013/14
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14 Property, plant and equipment cont'd

14.1 Additions to assets under construction

The CCG did not own any assets under construction at any point during the financial year. (2013/14: Nil)

14.2 Donated assets

The CCG does not own any donated assets. (2013/14: Nil)

14.3 Government granted assets

The CCG does not own any assets that have been funded through a Government grant. (2013/14: Nil)

14.4 Compensation from third parties

14.5 Write downs to recoverable amount

14.6 Temporarily idle assets

There are no assets that are temporarily idle. (2013/14: Nil)

14.7 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Information technology 505 505

Total 505 505

14.8 Economic lives

Transport equipment 3 3

Information technology 5 5

15. Intangible non-current assets

The CCG does not own any intangible assets. (2013/14: Nil)

16. Investment property

The CCG had no investment property as at 31 March 2015. (2013/14: Nil)

17. Inventories

The CCG had no inventories as at 31 March 2015. (2013/14: Nil)

The CCG has not written down the value of any assets in 2014/15. (2013/14: Nil)

Minimum 

Life (years)

Maximum 

Life (Years)

No compensation has been received or is due from third parties as a result of assets being either impaired, lost or given up. (2013/14: Nil)
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18. Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 901 - 1,827 -

NHS receivables: Capital - - - -

NHS prepayments and accrued income 147 - - -

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 2,509 - 5,996 -

Non-NHS receivables: Capital - - - -

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 2,379 - 458 -

Provision for the impairment of receivables (83) - (61) -

VAT 280 - 26 -
Private finance initiative and other public private 

partnership arrangement prepayments and accrued 

income - - - -

Interest receivables - - - -

Finance lease receivables - - - -

Operating lease receivables - - - -

Other receivables 17 - 104 -

Total Trade & other receivables 6,150 - 8,350 -

Total current and non current 6,150 8,350

Included above:

Prepaid pensions contributions - -

18.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

By up to three months 1,161 1,485

By three to six months 8 37

By more than six months - -

Total 1,169 1,522

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2015. (2013/14: Nil)

18.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 (61) -

Amounts written off during the year - -

Amounts recovered during the year 21 -

(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired (43) (61)

Transfer (to) from other public sector body - -

Balance at 31 March 2015 (83) (61)

19. Other financial assets

The CCG does not hold any other financial assets. (2013/14: Nil)

20. Other current assets

The CCG had no other current assets as at 31 March 2015. (2013/14: Nil)

The provision relates to a small number of suppliers where either overpayment had been made by the 

CCG and is being recovered, the debt had been outstanding past its due date or there were specific 

known issues that are currently under discussion..

The great majority of trade is with NHS England and Gloucestershire County Council. As NHS England is funded by 

Government to provide funding to clinical commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is 

considered necessary.  A similar approach has been taken with Gloucestershire County Council.

£590k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
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21. Cash and cash equivalents

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 30 -

Net change in year 74 30

Balance at 31 March 2015 104 30

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 104 29

Cash with Commercial banks - -

Cash in hand 0 1

Current investments - -

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 104 30

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service - -

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks - -

Total bank overdrafts - -

Balance at 31 March 2015 104 30

No patients' monies are held by the CCG - -

22. Non-current assets held for sale

23. Analysis of impairments and reversals

There were no impairments or reversals during the financial year. 

(2013/14: Nil)

24 Trade and other payables

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest payable - - - -

NHS payables: revenue 9,748 - 14,511 -

NHS payables: capital - - - -

NHS accruals and deferred income 4,768 - - -

Non-NHS payables: revenue 1,632 - 2,771 -

Non-NHS payables: capital 147 - - -

Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 23,294 - 25,181 -

Social security costs 93 - 80 -

VAT - - - -

Tax 95 - 85 -

Payments received on account - - - -

Other payables 584 - 322 -

Total Trade & Other Payables 40,361 - 42,948 -

Total current and non-current 40,361 42,948

25 Other financial liabilities

The CCG does not have any other financial liabilities. (2013/14: Nil)

26. Other liabilities

The CCG does not have any other liabilities. (2013/14: Nil)

The CCG did not have any borrowings in the financial year. (2013/14: Nil)

28. Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements

The CCG had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangments during the financial year. (2013/14: Nil)

29. Finance lease obligations

The CCG does not hold any finance leases. (2013/14: Nil)

30.Finance lease receivables

The CCG does not receive any funds from finance lease arrangements. (2013/14: Nil)

27. Borrowings

The CCG does not hold any non-current assets that are due for sale. (2013/14: Nil)

Other payables include £142k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (£111k at 31st March 2014)
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31.   Provisions
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to former directors - - - -
Pensions relating to other staff - - - -
Restructuring - - - -
Redundancy - - - -
Agenda for change - - - -
Equal pay - - - -
Legal claims - - - -
Continuing care 682 - 870 -
Other 181 - - -
Total 863 - 870 -

Total current and non-current 863 870

Continuing 

Care Other Total Continuing Care Other Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Balance at 1 April 870 - 870 - - -

Arising during the year 586 181 767 870 - 870

Utilised during the year - - - - - -

Reversed unused (774) - (774) - - -

Unwinding of discount - - - - - -

Change in discount rate - - - - - -

Transfer (to) from other public sector body - - - - - -

Balance at 31 March 682 181 863 870 - 870

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 682 181 863 870 - 870

Between one and five years - - - - - -

After five years - - - - - -

Balance at 31 March 682 181 863 870 - 870

NHS England hold a provision for all backdated claims received prior to 1 April 2013.

The claims outstanding at 31 March 2015 will be assessed and are expected to be paid within the 2015/16 financial year.

Provisions made under the 'Other' category relate to a continuity of service issue within Primary Care.

The Continuing Care provision of £682k (2013/14: £870k) is for costs expected to be incurred in relation to backdated claims received by the CCG since 1st April 

2013 for continuing healthcare and which have yet to be assessed.  Claims are assessed for eligibility using the national guidance and toolkit.

2014/15 2013/14
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32 Contingencies

The CCG has not recognised any contingent assets or liabilities. (2013/14: Nil)

33 Commitments

34 Financial instruments

34.1 Financial risk management

34.1.1 Currency risk

34.1.2 Interest rate risk

34.1.3 Credit risk

34.1.3 Liquidity risk

The CCG does not have any outstanding capital commitments and has not entered into non-cancellable contracts which are not 

leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service concession arrangements. (2013/14: Nil)

The CCG borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The 

borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund 

rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG and revenue comes parliamentary funding, it has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum 

exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables 

note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by 

Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises and is not, therefore, exposed to significant 

liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in 

creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

The CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. 

Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, 

to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 

financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing 

the CCG in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS 

Clinical Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is 

subject to review by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and 

sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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34 Financial instruments cont'd

34.2 Financial assets

At ‘fair value 

through profit 

and loss’

Loans and 

Receivables

Available for 

Sale Total

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives - - - -

Receivables:

·          NHS - 901 - 901

·          Non-NHS - 2,509 - 2,509

Cash at bank and in hand - 104 - 104

Other financial assets - 17 - 17

Total at 31 March 2015 - 3,531 - 3,531

At ‘fair value 

through profit and 

loss’

Loans and 

Receivables

Available for 

Sale Total

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives - - - -

Receivables:

·          NHS - 1,827 - 1,827

·          Non-NHS - 5,996 - 5,996

Cash at bank and in hand - 30 - 30

Other financial assets - 372 - 372

Total at 31 March 2014 - 8,225 - 8,225

34.3 Financial liabilities

At ‘fair value 

through profit 

and loss’ Other Total

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives - - -

Payables:

·          NHS - 14,516 14,516

·          Non-NHS - 25,656 25,656

Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations - - -

Other borrowings - - -

Other financial liabilities - - -

Total at 31 March 2015 - 40,172 40,172

At ‘fair value 

through profit and 

loss’ Other Total

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives - - -

Payables:

·          NHS - 14,511 14,511

·          Non-NHS - 27,951 27,951

Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations - - -

Other borrowings - - -

Other financial liabilities - 327 327

Total at 31 March 2014 - 42,789 42,789
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35.Operating segments

The CCG and consolidated group consider that they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

36. Pooled budgets

The pooled budget relates to Integrated Community Equipment Services with Gloucestershire County Council.

2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Income 3,664 3,950

Expenditure (3,664) (3,950)

- -

37. NHS Lift investments

The CCG has no investments in NHS LIFT schemes.

38. Intra-government and other balances

Current 

Receivables

Non-current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

Non-current 

Payables

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies - - 404 -

·          Local Authorities 4,634 - 3,014 -

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 392 - 1,328 -

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 656 - 13,188 -

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 1,048 - 14,516 -

·          Public corporations and trading funds - - - -

·          Bodies external to Government 468 - 22,427 -

Total balances at 31 March 2015 6,150 - 40,361 -

Current 

Receivables

Non-current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

Non-current 

Payables

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 26 - 276 -

·          Local Authorities 3,115 - 6,120 -

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 1,185 - 342 -

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 642 - 14,169 -

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 1,827 - 14,511 -

·          Public corporations and trading funds - - - -

·          Bodies external to Government 3,382 - 22,041 -

Total balances at 31 March 2014 8,350 - 42,948 -

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial 

year are:

NHS Gloucestershire CCG presents its regular reports to the Governing Body (designated as the organisation's Chief Operating Decision 

Maker) in this format

This service has been running for a number of years and buys, delivers, collects, maintains and decontaminates equipment 

for patients in their own homes.  This service is jointly commissionedby the CCG, with Gloucestershire County Council, who 

are the lead commissioner for the service.

The CCG also entered into agreements under Section 256 of the 2006 NHS Act with Gloucestershire County Council to the 

value of £8,614k during the year (2013/14: £8,162k)
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39. Related party transactions

2014/15 Payments to Related Party

Drugs 

reimbursed

Other 

payments

Total 

Payments

2013/14 

Payments to 

Related 

Party *

£000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Helen Miller (Clinical Chair of CCG) 331 33 364 282

Partner - The College Yard and Highnam Surgery

Dr Caroline Bennett (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 546 102 648 559

Partner - Cotswold Medical Practice

Dr Charles Buckley (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 351 56 407 311

Partner - Frampton Surgery

Dr Malcolm Gerald (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 160 98 258 194

Partner - Romney House Surgery

Dr Martin Gibbs (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 349 26 375 287

Partner - Blakeney Surgery

Dr William Haynes (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 80 218 298 232

Partner - Hadwen Medical Practice

Dr Hein Le Roux (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 54 71 125 102

Minchinhampton Surgery

Dr Andy Seymour (CCG Deputy Clinical Chair) 51 98 149 108

Partner - Heathville Road Surgery

Dr Jeremy Welch (CCG Member/GP Locality Lead) 22 47 69 47

Partner - Jesmond House Surgery

Jonathan Jeanes (Interim Dir of Transformation/Service Redesign) 0 20 20 46

MD of Jeanes Consulting Ltd

Dr Steven Allder (Secondary Care Doctor Advisor to CCG) 0 24 24 13

Consultant Neurologist (Plymouth Hospitals NHS FT)/Consultant for Kings Fund

* Note that the 2013/14 payments are inclusive of drug reimbursements

• NHS England;

• NHS Foundation Trusts;

• NHS Trusts;

• NHS Litigation Authority; and,

• NHS Business Services Authority.

During the year, with the exception of those listed below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members 

of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with 

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government 

bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Gloucestershire County Council in respect of joint commissioning of services.

The clinical commissioning group has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable funds.
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40. Events after the end of the reporting period

41 Losses and special payments

41.1 Losses

41.2 Special payments

Total 

Number of 

Cases

Total Value 

of Cases

Total 

Number of 

Cases

Total Value 

of Cases

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

Number £'000 Number £'000

Compensation payments - - - -

Extra contractual Payments - - - -

Ex gratia payments - - 1 2

Extra statutory extra regulatory payments - - - -

Special severance payments - - - -

Total - - 1 2

42. Third party assets

The CCG held no third party assets. (2013/14: Nil)

43. Impact of IFRS

There has been no in-year financial impacts regarding the introduction of IFRS. (2013/14: Nil)

44. Analysis of charitable reserves

The CCG does not hold any charitable reserves. (2013/14: Nil)

From 1 April 2015, the CCG has applied to NHS England and been approved to manage delegated arrangements for Primary 

Care Co-Commissioning functions.    

There have been no losses reported during 2014/15 (2013/14: Nil)

The scope of primary care co-commissioning in 2015/16 is general practice services only. For delegated arrangements this will 

include contractual GP performance management, budget management and complaints management. However, co-

commissioning excludes all functions relating to individual GP performance management (medical performers’ lists for GPs, 

appraisal and revalidation). Furthermore, the terms of GMS contracts and any nationally determined elements of PMS and 

APMS contracts will continue to be set out in the respective regulations and directions

NHS Gloucestershire CCG will receive an additional indicative allocation of £76.8m to meet the costs of these services in 

2015/16.
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NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body 

 
Governing Body 
 Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 

Title External Audit - Assurances from 
Management and those charged with 
Governance 

Executive Summary The attached documents have been provided to 
the external auditors by the Chief Finance 
Officer and Chair of the Audit Committee in 
order to provide additional assurances to the 
auditors in relation to their assessment of the 
final accounts. 

Key Issues 
 

The documents provide assurances regarding 
the governance and internal control processes 
operated by the CCG.  

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

None. 
 
 

Financial Impact None. 
 

Legal Issues (including 
NHS Constitution)  

None. 
 
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

None. 
 

Impact on Equality and 
Diversity 

None. 

Impact on Sustainable 
Development 

None. 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

Not applicable. 
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is requested to note these 
documents. 

Author Cath Leech 

Designation Chief Finance Officer 

Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 
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Agenda Item 7 
Assurances from Management and those charged with Governance 
 
Gloucestershire CCG management assessment                                                                 

Auditor question 
 

Position for 2013-14 2014-15 update 

What do you regard as the key events or issues 
that will have a significant impact on the financial 
statements for the year? 

2013/14 is the first year of establishment for the 
CCG.  There have been a number of adjustments 
to the CCG’s baseline during the year to reflect 
corrections to the opening baseline position; these 
adjustments have been agreed with NHS England.  
The impact of legacy balances has been brought 
into the CCG’s financial statements in line with 
NHS England guidance. 
 

There have been a number of smaller 
adjustments to the CCG’s resource 
baseline during the year to reflect final 
corrections to the opening resource limit 
position; these adjustments have been 
agreed with NHS England. 
 

Have you considered the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies adopted by the CCG? Have 
there been any events or transactions that may 
cause you to change or adopt new accounting 
policies? 

The CCG have reviewed the accounting policies 
issued by NHS England and will be adopting these 
policies.  These policies have been presented to 
the CCG’s Audit Committee.  There are no events 
or transactions to date that have necessitated a 
change to accounting policies 
 

The CCG has reviewed the updated 
accounting policies issued by NHS 
England and will be adopting these 
policies; minor amendments will be made 
to the national policies to reflect local 
circumstances (e.g., key sources of 
estimation uncertainty).  These policies 
will be presented to the CCG’s Audit 
Committee as part of the annual  
accounts.  There are no events or 
transactions to date that have 
necessitated a change to accounting 
policies 
 

Are you aware of any changes to the CCG's 
regulatory environment that may have a 
significant impact on the CCG's financial 
statements? 
 

We are not aware of any changes that would 
significantly impact on the CCG’s financial 
statements 
 

We are not aware of any changes that 
would significantly impact on the CCG’s 
financial statements. 
 
The CCG has taken on primary care 
commissioning from the 1st April 2015.  
This has been highlighted within the 
accounts as a post balance sheet event. 
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How would you assess the quality of the CCG's 
internal control processes? 

The CCG’s internal control processes were 
primarily inherited from the PCT and there were no 
significant inherited issues.  The CCG has a 
contract for internal audit services, the internal 
auditors have carried out a risk based assessment 
to inform their internal audit plan.  Issues identified 
are not felt to impact significantly on the CCG’s 
control environment.  The internal audit plan and 
all completed reviews have been brought to the 
Audit Committee.  The CCG also has a counter 
fraud service, any outcomes from investigations 
are fed into the organisation to ensure that any 
changes to internal controls required are 
implemented.  Summary reports are brought to the 
CCG audit committee. 

The CCG has a contract for internal audit 
services, the internal auditors have 
carried out a risk based assessment to 
inform their internal audit plan.  Issues 
identified are not felt to impact 
significantly on the CCG’s control 
environment.  The internal audit plan and 
all completed reviews have been brought 
to the Audit Committee.  The CCG also 
has a counter fraud service, any 
outcomes from investigations are fed into 
the organisation to ensure that any 
changes to internal controls required are 
implemented.  Summary reports are 
brought to the CCG audit committee. 
 

How would you assess the process for reviewing 
the effectiveness of internal control? 

The CCG has a contract for internal audit which 
the key source of assurance on internal controls.  
The internal audit plan is based on risk 
assessments of the organisation.  This plan, and 
it’s basis, is reviewed by the CCG’s Audit 
Committee.  Internal audit reports are brought to 
the CCG’s Audit Committee once complete.  
Updates on the recommendations as to whether 
they have been implemented are brought back to 
the Audit Committee. 
 

The CCG has a contract for internal audit 
which the key source of assurance on 
internal controls.  The internal audit plan 
is based on risk assessments of the 
organisation.  This plan, and it’s basis, is 
reviewed by the CCG’s Audit Committee.  
Internal audit reports are brought to the 
CCG’s Audit Committee once complete.  
Updates on the recommendations as to 
whether they have been implemented 
are brought back to the Audit Committee. 
 

How do the CCG's risk management processes 
link to financial reporting? 

Risk assessments feeding into the CCG’s risk 
management process include an assessment of 
financial risk as well as other risks.  The risks 
identified through this route as well as usual 
budget/contract review processes are included in 
the financial position on a monthly basis. 
 

Risk assessments feeding into the 
CCG’s risk management process include 
an assessment of financial risk as well as 
other risks.  The risks identified through 
this route as well as usual 
budget/contract review processes are 
included in the financial position on a 
monthly basis.  The risk register is 
reviewed by Core team on a monthly 
basis and is presented to each Integrated 
Governance and Quality Committee 
meeting. 
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How would you assess the CCG's arrangements 
for identifying and responding to the risk of fraud? 

The CCG has a contract for counter fraud services.  
The plan for these services was developed using 
provider and previous PCT plans as well as 
knowledge of the CCG’s business in the absence 
of any guidance for CCG counter fraud services.  
The plan includes proactive work as well as 
investigative work.   The plan and progress against 
this are brought to each audit committee.  The 
CCG has a whistleblowing policy and a named 
executive lead for counter fraud. 
 

The CCG has a contract for counter 
fraud services.  The plan for these 
services was developed using provider 
and the prior year CCG plan as well as 
knowledge of the CCG’s business in the 
absence of any guidance for CCG 
counter fraud services at the start of the 
year.  The plan includes proactive work 
as well as investigative work.   The plan 
and progress against this are brought to 
each audit committee.  The CCG has a 
whistleblowing policy and a named 
executive lead for counter fraud. 
 

What has been the outcome of these 
arrangements so far this year?  

Counter fraud - One investigation followed through, 
results and changes made to internal processes to 
strengthen controls, this was reported through to 
audit committee.  Pro-active work with teams to 
ensure that all staff are aware of counter fraud 
services, each session tailored to the team 
involved. 

Counter fraud – 4 areas of work covered 
in year relating to delivery of service 
against contract and also PHB 
Pro-active work with all CCG teams to 
ensure that all staff are aware of counter 
fraud services, each session tailored to 
the team involved. 
 

What have you determined to be the classes of 
accounts, transactions and disclosures most at 
risk to fraud? 
 

The most significant areas of potential fraud for the 
CCG have been deemed to be around the 
procurement of services. 

The most significant areas of potential 
fraud for the CCG in 2014/15 have been 
deemed to be around the procurement of 
services, performance against contract 
and potential personal health budgets. 
 

Are you aware of any whistle blowing potential or 
complaints by potential whistle blowers? If so, 
what has been your response? 
 

Not aware of any potential complaints or actual 
complaints by whistleblowers. 

Not aware of any potential complaints or 
actual complaints by whistleblowers. 

Have any reports been made under the Bribery 
Act? 

No No 

As a management team, how do you 
communicate risk issues (including fraud) to those 
charged with 
governance? 

The CCG has a risk management framework which 
feeds into the CCG assurance framework; these 
cover all aspects of the CCG’s business.  The risk 
register and assurance framework are reported to 
the Integrated Governance Committee.  The 

The CCG has a risk management 
framework which feeds into the CCG 
assurance framework; these cover all 
aspects of the CCG’s business.  The risk 
register and assurance framework are 
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assurance framework is reported to the Governing 
Body.   
 

reviewed monthly by core team and 
reported to the Integrated Governance & 
Quality Committee.  The assurance 
framework is reported to the Governing 
Body.   
 

As a management team, how do you 
communicate to staff and employees your views 
on business practices and ethical behaviour? 

The CCG has polices covering ethical behaviour 
and code of conduct.  These policies are approved 
by the Governing Body and are published on the 
CCG’s intranet.  New policies or changes to 
existing policies are notified to staff through the 
monthly team brief. 
 

The CCG has polices covering ethical 
behaviour and code of conduct.  These 
policies are approved by the Governing 
Body and are published on the CCG’s 
intranet.  New policies or changes to 
existing policies are notified to staff 
through the monthly team brief. 
 

(New for 2014-15) As a management team, how 
do you communicate to employees regarding your 
views on business practices and ethical 
behaviour.  
 

 Ethical behaviour is communicated and 
encouraged through policy directives and 
training and also through leading by 
example. 

What are your policies and procedures for 
identifying, assessing and accounting for litigation 
and claims? 

The Associate Director for Corporate Governance 
is the lead for dealing with litigation and claims and 
is named within the Detailed Scheme of 
Delegation.  Assessing claims would form part of 
the risk management process and this would 
include financial risk.  The CCG has liability 
insurance with the NHSLA. 
 

The Associate Director for Corporate 
Governance is the lead for dealing with 
litigation and claims and is named within 
the Detailed Scheme of Delegation.  
Assessing claims forms part of the risk 
management process and this would 
include financial risk.  The CCG has 
liability insurance with the NHSLA. 
 

Is there any use of financial instruments, including 
derivatives?  

No No 

Are you aware of any significant transaction 
outside the normal course of business? 

No No 

Are you aware of any changes in circumstances 
that would lead to impairment of non-current 
assets?  

No No 

Are you aware of any guarantee contracts?  No No 
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Are you aware of allegations of fraud, errors, or 
other irregularities during the period? 

One instance of fraud investigated by the counter 
fraud service. 
 
No other errors or irregularities raised in the period.
 

Counter fraud service investigations into: 
‐ PHB linked to a direct payment 
Proactive work: 
Hospital transport 
CVD 
 

Are you aware of any instances of  non-
compliance with laws or regulations or is the CCG 
on notice of any such possible instances of non-
compliance? 

Not aware of any non compliance with laws or 
regulations. 

Not aware of any non compliance with 
laws or regulations. 

Have there been any examinations, investigations 
or inquiries by any licensing or authorising bodies 
or the 
tax and customs authorities? 

No HMRC VAT routine inspection 
September 2014, no recommendations 
made 

Are you aware of any transactions, events and 
conditions (or changes in these) that may give 
rise to recognition or disclosure of significant 
accounting 
estimates that require significant judgement? 

No No 

Where the financial statements include amounts 
based on significant estimates, how have the 
accounting estimates been made, what is the 
nature of the data used, and the degree of 
estimate 
uncertainty inherent in the estimate? 
 

The basis of amounts based on significant 
estimates is detailed in the CCG’s accounting 
policies.  
These previously have included: 
Provisions 
Contingencies 
Accruals for prescribing costs 
Secondary healthcare service costs 
Partially completed spells 
Valuation assumptions for property, plant and 
equipment and impairments (unlikely to be 
significant for 13/14 as no property held by the 
CCG) 
 

The basis of amounts based on 
significant estimates is detailed in the 
CCG’s accounting policies.  
These previously have included: 
Provisions 
Contingencies 
Accruals for prescribing costs 
Secondary healthcare service costs 
Partially completed spells 
Valuation assumptions for property, plant  
 

Are you aware of the existence of loss 
contingencies and/or un-asserted claims that may 
affect the financial statements? 

Not at present Not at present 
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Can you provide details of those solicitors utilised 
by the CCG's during the year. Please indicate 
where they are working on open litigation or 
contingencies from prior years? 

Bevan Brittan Bevan Brittan 

Can you provide details of other advisors 
consulted during the year and the issue on which 
they were 
consulted? 

- No 

Have any of the CCG's service providers reported 
any items of fraud, non-compliance with laws and 
regulations, or uncorrected misstatements which 
would affect the financial statements? 
 

No No 
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Going Concern  

In considering whether the CCG is a going concern for at least 12 months after the accounting period, and that its accounts are prepared on 
that basis, the CCG should document its consideration of any material uncertainties that may cast doubt on its ability to continue in business.  

To assist the CCG in its considerations, we have identified a number of specific areas which may impact upon its assessment. The CCG 
should document its response for each of these areas, alongside any other specific areas, that it considers appropriate in forming its 
assessment of Going Concern.  

Auditor question Position for 2013-14 Position for 2014-15 

Has the management team carried out an 
assessment of the going concern basis for 
preparing the financial statements? What was 
the outcome of that assessment? 
  

Yes, the CCG believes that preparation of 
the accounts on a going concern is an 
appropriate basis. 

Yes, the CCG believes that preparation of 
the accounts on a going concern is an 
appropriate basis. 

Management is required to consider whether 
there are any material uncertainties that cast 
doubt on the CCG's ability to continue as a 
business: 
  

See below: See below: 

1.  Is the CCG dependent  on significant 
unidentified cost improvements?  

The CCG has a QIPP programme in 
2014/15 of £18.5m, more than 80% of the 
programme is identified.   

The CCG has a QIPP programme in 
2015/16 of £17.043m, this is against 
identified schemes.   

2.  Are planned savings e.g. QIPP being 
achieved? 

The CCG does have slippage on planned 
savings, however, as part of its financial 
management framework, other 
contingencies are identified to compensate 
for any slippage to ensure that the is able 
to achieve its statutory duty. 

The CCG does have slippage on planned 
savings in 2014/15, this slippage was 
identified early in the year and the slippage 
figure has not changed significantly since 
then.  However, as part of its financial 
management framework, other 
contingencies are identified to compensate 
for slippage to ensure that the CCG is able 
to achieve its statutory duty. 

3.  Have any serious concerns been raised by 
LAT, NHSE or DH about its finances e.g. has 
the CCG been given a "Red" RAG rating?   

No No 
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4.  Is the CCG likely to achieve its agreed 
budgeted financial position?  

Yes Yes  

5.  Has the CCG received significant financial 
support to help meets its financial objective? 

No No 

6.  Has the CCG failed to comply with the better 
payment practice code? 

The CCG has achieved the BPPC in terms 
of the value of invoices paid, the BPPC 
has not been achieved in terms of the 
numbers (92.3% non NHS, 93.4% for 
NHS), the under performance this year is 
believed to be due to the change in 
systems and the transition between 
organisations. 

The CCG has achieved the BPPC since 
June 2014 

7.  Does the CCG have negative operating cash 
flows? 

No No 

8.  What are the results of the preliminary going 
concern assessment, including any 
awareness of the existence of other events or 
conditions that may cast doubt on the CCG's 
ability to continue as a going concern? 

The CCG does not believe that there are 
any events or conditions that cast doubt on 
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going 
concern 

The CCG does not believe that there are 
any events or conditions that cast doubt on 
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going 
concern 
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Sources of information 

Source 2013-14 2014-15  
CCG internal audit plan y y Audit committee papers 
Internal audit  reports y y Audit committee papers 
Counter fraud plan and progress against plan y y Audit committee papers 
Counter fraud updates to Audit Committee y y Audit committee papers 
CCG Risk register papers to Integrated Governance Committee y y Available from Alan 

Potter 
CCG Assurance framework papers to Integrated Governance Committee & 
Governing Body 

y y Within board papers on 
CCG web site 

CCG Governing Body Performance report  y y Within board papers on 
CCG web site 

CCG Constitution y y Within board papers on 
CCG web site 

 



 

 
 Agenda Item 8 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body 

 
Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 

Title Annual Report (Review) and summarised 
Accounts 2014/15 

Executive Summary This paper presents to the Governing Body the 
2014/15 Annual Report (Review) and 
summarised Accounts.  
 
The theme of the Report is ‘putting clinical 
commissioning into action’ and it celebrates 
many of the achievements delivered by the 
CCG and its partners to date. 
 
It also reflects the challenges facing the CCG 
and wider health and social care community and 
plans to: 
 
 place greater emphasis on prevention 
 work in partnership to deliver closer 

integration of services 
 invest in community services 
 reduce reliance on hospital based services 
 ensure high quality specialist hospital 

services when needed and; 
 ensure services are sustainable and 

affordable, making best use of the limited 
funds available.    

Key Issues 
 

The Report has effectively been produced in 
two parts. Part 1 (up to, and including, the brief 
Finance summary on page 22) is the Annual 
Review magazine containing county and locality 
news features and Part 2 includes all statutory 
reports and the accounts in line with the CCG 
Annual Reporting guidance, published by NHS 
England.  
 
The intention is to produce a limited hard copy 
quantity of the combined Report (Parts 1&2), 



but ensure wider community distribution of Part 
1 (the Annual Review magazine).  
 
Both the combined report and the Annual 
Review magazine will be available on-line with 
the Annual Review published in e-reader format.
 
The CCG intends to develop a much shorter 
public facing highlights newssheet in the 
Summer for distribution through partner 
publications.  

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

None. 
 
 

Financial Impact Financial details, including summarised Annual 
Accounts, are contained within the Annual 
Report. 

Legal Issues (including 
NHS Constitution)  

NHS Gloucestershire CCG has produced a full 
Annual Report in line with NHS England’s CCG 
Annual Reporting guidance.  

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

The Report promotes the partnership approach 
to tackling health inequalities.   

Impact on Equality and 
Diversity 

The Report sets out the CCG’s approach to 
Equality and Diversity through the Equality and 
Diversity statement. 

Impact on Sustainable 
Development 

By producing the Report in two parts, there will 
be a reduction in printing volumes with an 
emphasis on the Annual Review magazine, on-
line availability and access through the CCG’s 
social media channels.    

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

Patient and Public engagement is a key feature 
of the Report. This includes patient experience 
case studies and a summary of the CCG’s 
engagement activities.    

Recommendation The Governing Body is asked to receive the 
Annual Report and summarised Accounts 
2014/15, subject to any final opinion from the 
auditors.     

Author Anthony Dallimore  
Designation Associate Director, Communications 
Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer  
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A message from:

This is the second Annual Report for NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group and it’s good to highlight the progress made.  

As you will see, great work is going on across the county and within our 
local communities to improve health and care despite the challenges facing 
the NHS.

We are placing greater emphasis on prevention and self care and joining up 
services and support across health and social care.

We are also developing alternatives to hospital care, including more care, 
treatment and support at home, in your GP surgery and in your local 
community.

This Report highlights some of the things the Governing Body, localities and 
member practices are doing, but we acknowledge that much more needs 
to be done if we are to put the NHS and social care on a sound footing for 
the future and meet the health needs of you and your family in the years 
to come.

As we develop our plans, we will continue to use the feedback we receive 
from patients, carers, clinicians and members of the public to guide our 
decision making.

We wish you the best of health.

Dr Helen Miller Mary Hutton 
Clinical Chair Accountable Officer

Annual Report 2014-15 

Great 
work 
going on 
to improve 
health and 
care
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Member practices have worked hard to improve access to, and quality of, care 
for patients despite the day to day pressures.

Good progress has been made in planning care, services and support that will 
help the NHS address the challenges of the future. 

The CCG Governing Body and the CCG GP locality executives have worked 
closely with public health and other community partners including our local 
Healthwatch to identify local health needs and develop plans that help to 
address them.  

A number of initiatives have been introduced by the CCG Governing Body, 
locality executives and member GP practices to improve care and health for 
patients in all areas of the county. This includes: 

 z More proactive and planned support to Care Homes 

 z Local weight management services for obese patients to help them achieve 
and sustain a healthy weight

 z A wider range of care for patients with diabetes, following a 
comprehensive GP education programme

 z Care for patients with suspected deep vein thrombosis (DVT) at their local 
GP surgery, reducing the amount of time people need to spend at hospital

 z Early cancer diagnosis – significant investment in GP education is being 
made to ensure patients have better health outcomes, this includes sharing 
best practice

 z GPs working with other health and social care professionals to support 
patients who are reaching the end of their lives, understanding their needs 
and developing their care plans 

 z Developing a number of pilots with health, social and voluntary care 
providers, so patients can be referred by their GP to services that meet their 
wider needs e.g. carer support, housing and benefits, social inclusion and 
transport. This approach will be further developed during the coming year. 

The CCG has also worked closely with member GP practices (through the GP 
Provider Company) to support a successful bid to the Prime Minister’s Challenge 
Fund. This will result in improved access to local GP services in every locality.

Member GP practices have worked hard with CCG commissioning lead GPs and 
managers to carefully review referrals to services to achieve the best outcomes 
for patients and the NHS and work continues to ensure high quality, cost 
effective and safe prescribing of medicines.     

Through an agreed joint vision and strong commissioning plans at county and 
locality level, we are confident that the CCG and its community partners are well 
placed to make further progress in care, treatment and support for our patients 
and communities. 

CCG Commissioning lead GPs

Member Practices’ Introduction 

working 
hard with 
community 
partners 
to identify 
local health 
needs
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Across the county

Integrated 
care in 
action

A £3.9 million investment and rollout of strengthened Integrated Health and 
Social Care Community Teams (ICTs) is benefitting patients across the county with 
24 hour a day, 7 day a week support where they live. 

The development through Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust has helped 
around 1,300 patients this year; providing them with extra support at home and 
avoiding the need for admission to an acute hospital. 

We are now moving to Phase 2 of ICTs. This is an exciting prospect and will result 
in closer working with mental health services and the voluntary and community 
sector to meet people’s needs. 

“From the moment they walked in I was treated with compassion and 
received a lot of very good treatment.  

I was at a very bad point where I thought I wasn’t going to live, but the team 
helped me with my breathing, pain and infection.  

All I can say is I could not have wished for better treatment anywhere – one 
of the best treatments I could have had – and I sincerely mean that.”

Margaret from the Forest of Dean

I was 
treated 
with 
compassion
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Get 
health 
advice 
ASAP 

The NHS in Gloucestershire launched their ASAP campaign at the end of March.  

The initiative targets adults and parents of young children with advice on what to do if they are ill or 
injured and are unsure where to turn. 

The promotional material encourages them to check out the App, Search the website, Ask NHS 111 
or visit their Pharmacy. 

The ASAP website and App allows users to ‘Search by Service’ or ‘Search by Condition’ – providing a 
step by step guide through symptoms, self care and signposting to the appropriate NHS service/s.  

They can also check the nearest services to their chosen location, find opening hours and 
call services.

Local people are encouraged to add the website www.asapglos.nhs.uk to their favourites and 
download the App free from the App store (ASAP Glos NHS). 
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Helping 
people 
achieve 

a healthy 
weight

An initiative helping obese adults to achieve and sustain a healthy weight has 
gone from strength to strength this year. 

Working with the County Council, we have developed the weight management 
on referral scheme, which represents a significant step forward in efforts to tackle 
obesity, prevent ill health and meet a key Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board priority.   

The free groups, run by Slimming World, are available in every district, with one 
to one time at the end of each session to develop and review personal eating 
plans. There is also a follow up review session after 6 months.  

Over 6,000 patients have been referred to the scheme since it began with 70% 
of participants completing the programme. 

62% of these patients have achieved at least 5% weight loss and we have seen a 
total weight loss of 28,162 kgs across Gloucestershire.

 

“Last year, my GP referred me to Slimming World for 12 weeks. 

I’m absolutely delighted with the results. After 11 weeks, I had lost 1st 10lbs, 
and started feeling so much better. I now have excellent control over my 
diabetes and have managed to stop having insulin injections during the day. 
I’ve also reduced the amount I need at night. 

Initially, I really didn’t want to join a slimming club. However, the Slimming 
World consultant Kathy is really supportive and encouraging, and the other 
people in the group are very friendly and inspirational.

I’ve decided that I will carry on attending Slimming World to lose even more 
weight as the health benefits are truly amazing!”

Gaye from Tewkesbury

The health 
benefits 
are truly 
amazing!
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Pharmacies 
playing 
crucial 
role in 

healthcare 

People who live in Gloucestershire are being encouraged to visit their local 
pharmacy for expert advice and treatment on common, less serious conditions, 
as part of the Pharmacy First Minor Ailments Scheme.

This new service is currently being offered by community pharmacies in 
Gloucester City and Tewkesbury, but it will soon be available across the county. 

It means that people can get advice, medicines and other appropriate treatment 
on common illnesses such as flu-like symptoms, allergic rashes and headaches by 
simply going to a pharmacy at a time that suits them.

Pharmacists can also provide treatment for babies and children for certain 
common conditions such as nappy rash, colic and teething. 

Patients will often get the medicines they need straight away, either free of 
charge, or at a lower cost than standard prescriptions. 

It is safe, because if the pharmacist decides that someone needs to see their GP, 
they will refer that person back to their GP surgery.

 It saved 
me a lot 
of time

“The Minor Ailments scheme is very convenient. It means I can get advice 
from an expert without always having go to the doctor’s surgery. The advice 
the pharmacist gave me was very helpful and saved me a lot of time as I 
was able to get medication quickly.”

Marlene from Robinswood
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Better 
care for 

people in 
mental 
health 

crisis 

This year, organisations in Gloucestershire signed up to a local Mental Health Crisis Care Declaration – 
working together as a community to make sure that anyone in crisis finds the right help from services 
when they most need them. 

Gloucestershire was the first area in the country to launch an action plan, setting out what will happen 
when people need help in a mental health crisis.

The changes that lie behind the Concordat mean that there is a common purpose, agreement and 
understanding about the roles and responsibilities of each organisation. 

Key areas of focus are: support before crisis point; urgent and emergency access to crisis care; quality of 
treatment and care when in crisis; and recovery, staying well and preventing future crises.  

The CCG is working with partner organisations and agencies, including the NHS, police, social care 
services, the fire service and voluntary organisations.

Also this year, clinicians from the CCG joined 2gether NHS Foundation Trust and a service user to visit a 
number of companies to talk about mental health issues such as stress, anxiety and depression.

This gave employers an opportunity to reflect on their personal views of mental health and stigma and 
to pick up information and tips about how they can create a healthy workplace.
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Care 
Home 

support 
leads to 

fewer 
hospital 

visits 

People living in care homes in Gloucestershire are now receiving more planned 
and proactive support from GPs. 

Doctors are carrying out regular visits, assessing medical needs, reviewing 
medicines and reviewing the reasons for hospital visits. 

This is bringing benefits to the individual and means people are less likely to have 
to go to hospital lots of times. 

This is backed up by an evaluation of the scheme, which showed a 25% reduction 
in emergency hospital admissions amongst care home residents in its first year.

"The service means that we receive weekly visits to our residents (as a 
minimum) which provides continuity of care and a more in depth knowledge 
of their conditions. With regular medication and care planning reviews, we 
have reduced the number of hospital admissions and calls to out of hours 
services (unless an emergency of course).

Our residents benefit from an individual service which is more proactive and 
enables the majority of our residents to remain here at home, even at the end 
of their lives. We have built a rapport with our GPs and their surgeries which 
has resulted in a much more efficient service."

Louise, Unit Leader at Jubilee House Care Home, 
Bourton-on-the-Water

Medication 
reviews 
are carried 
out more 
regularly
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Better 
and more 

flexible 
access to 

GP services 

Gloucestershire’s 83 GP practices have been successful in securing £4m of national funding to provide 
local people with better and more flexible access to GP services.

Working closely with the CCG, the practices submitted their bid to the Challenge Fund in January 
through their jointly owned GP Provider Company. 

Work to implement the developments, which will see increased access to GP care between 8am – 8pm 
(Monday – Friday) and at weekends, 100,000 appointments and a greater use of technology and online 
services, is now underway.  

CCG takes on greater commissioning responsibility 

Also in March, NHS England confirmed that the CCG had been given approval to take on greater 
commissioning responsibility from 1 April 2015. 

The CCG is one of 64 across the country to be given the go-ahead to take on delegated commissioning 
(buying) of GP medical services.

This development will help the CCG to better meet local needs by commissioning more joined up 
services for patients from GP care, to care at home, right the way through to hospital services.

A new CCG Committee will manage the commissioning of GP services. The make-up of the Committee 
will ensure that there can be no conflicts of interest in carrying out these new responsibilities. 
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Improving 
outcomes 

for people 
with 

learning 
disabilities

Earlier this year, Gloucestershire County Council and the CCG marked the ground 
breaking work being done to support people with learning disabilities in the 
county by holding a special event.

Gloucestershire’s Challenging Behaviour Strategy was produced in response 
to national guidance and has been selected as one of the top 6 best practice 
examples by the Winterbourne Joint Improvement Programme.

To mark one year since publication, and the achievements made during the year 
to improve outcomes for people, the ‘Gloucestershire Concordat’ event was held 
this Spring.

It brought together over 60 concordat signatories, including providers, families, 
organisations led by service users and professionals.

The event highlighted a shared commitment for change and improved lives for 
children and adults with learning disabilities and challenging behaviour.

One key achievement has been the Learning Disability Intensive Support Service 
(LDISS). This provides support to children, young people and adults to prevent the 
need for stays in hospital or in facilities outside of the county.

A film has been produced to highlight some of the other work within the Strategy 
and can be viewed at: www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q4QZrPVKYSE

LDISS 
helped me 
build my 
confidence

"Things were difficult at home. I was angry with my family and my carer and 
had a health problem which I didn’t want treated. We were struggling to cope, 
but I didn’t feel ready to move out. LDISS supported me and my family during 
this difficult time. They encouraged me to get treatment, helped me arrange 
appointments and introduced me to the Intensive Health Outreach Team (IHOT) 
which gave me the confidence to have the  minor operation I needed. I now live 
close to town in an independent living flat and can easily get to my volunteer 
jobs. I feel more independent and am learning new skills with the help of my 
support staff and OT."

James from Cheltenham
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Helping 
people live 

with and 
beyond 
cancer

 

Denise from Gloucester

It's 
important 
to have a 
network

"I had mouth cancer in 2012 and was treated by the Maxillofacial and Oncology 
teams at Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. I got great care but I didn’t 
realise at the time how long the journey would be to recovery. I had to learn to 
swallow and speak again and I really appreciate the ongoing support of my physio 
and the lymphoedema team. 

After surgery it’s so important to have a network of people supporting you because 
you’re coming out of the other side, but still have worries. There are services out 
there, but it’s difficult knowing how to find them and who to ask. I would have loved 
to speak to someone who’d been through what I’d experienced and I’d be happy to 
be that person for someone else. That’s why I got involved in the Patient Reference 
Group – I want to be part of building this support in Gloucestershire so people can 
live beyond their cancer. 

For me this means getting back to my passion – riding motorcycles. I’m planning 
to ride through Ireland later this year: it’s my first holiday after cancer so will be 
extra special.”

A cancer diagnosis is a life changing event. However with improving early 
diagnosis and treatment more people are living with and beyond cancer. 

The CCG is delighted to be working with Macmillan Cancer Support. 

Our aim is to support people in Gloucestershire improve their health and 
wellbeing during treatment and into their recovery. 

In hospital, patients will benefit from the Cancer Recovery Package, which 
includes a full assessment of their needs, a personal care plan and a Treatment 
Summary to improve communication with their GP. 

Patients will have access to improved information and education events, that will 
enable many more people to follow supported self-management. 

With Macmillan’s valuable support we have designed an innovative community 
based service which is launching in 2015 to help people overcome the after-
effects of cancer.



13

The Older 
People's 

Advice and 
Liaison 
service 
(OPAL) 

The Older People’s Advice and Liaison Service (OPAL) provides intensive medical support  to older 
patients in Gloucestershire’s two large hospitals to improve quality of care and avoid hospital stays 
where appropriate.  

The service is provided within the emergency department and on wards at Gloucestershire Royal 
Hospital and Cheltenham General Hospital. Led by Consultant Geriatricians, it is supported by other 
hospital staff and Rapid Response teams in the community. Results so far have been excellent with 
59% of patients able to return home safely the same day following review and treatment.  

Through close working between GPs, community teams, the ambulance service and hospital staff 
the aim is also to reduce the number of patients who need to go back in to hospital.   

All of the patient/public quotes in this report are taken from real feedback.

Some photographs and names have been changed to protect patient confidentiality.
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Near to where you live

152,926

Cheltenham Electronic Prescribing success in Cheltenham

Cheltenham can report real success in Electronic Prescribing thanks to close 
collaboration between health professionals. 

As it stands, 76% (13 out of 17) practices can send prescriptions electronically 
and this is set to rise by the end of June to 94% (16 out of 17). 

The service means that the patient can collect their fulfilled prescription directly 
from their nominated pharmacy within 2 hours of their GP consultation. 

In terms of the current live practices, the proportion of prescriptions sent 
electronically as a proportion of total prescribing is 52% which is above the 
county average.

Partnership working between practices and pharmacies has been instrumental 
in supporting a smooth transition and such high usage.

This digital transformation has been championed by Dr Will Miles, with 
technical expertise and best practice expertise provided by Dr Robin Hollands.

All practice managers and staff have worked enthusiastically with the project 
team to deliver fantastic results.

Pop. 
approx: 

17practices
      106 GPs

Covering Bishops 
Cleeve, Charlton Kings, 
Cheltenham, Hesters 
Way, Leckhampton, 
Prestbury, Springbank, 
Up Hatherley, 
Winchcombe
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Forest of Dean Community courses support patients with lung disease

The Forest of Dean locality is taking steps to offer greater advice and support 
to patients with lung disease. 

The locality has reviewed survey results from patients with chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD), a condition that causes breathlessness and is a 
common reason for hospital admission. 

Many patients had a poor understanding of their disease and didn’t 
understand what to do to make them feel better and manage their condition.

GP surgeries in the Forest of Dean are now working together with the 
community respiratory service to offer groups of newly diagnosed COPD 
patients (and their carers) the opportunity to attend weekly education courses. 

These will be held close to the patient’s own home and will help them:

 z Better understand their disease

 z Make good use of  their medicines 

 z Avoid making the condition worse through good advice

 z By pointing them in the right direction for local services and help.

Pop.  
approx:

11practices
      50 GPs

Covering Blakeney, 
Coleford, Cinderford, 
Drybrook, Lydney, 
Mitcheldean, Newnham-
on-Severn, Westbury-on-
Severn, Yorkley, Bream, 
Ruardean, Lydbrook

62,859
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167,457

Gloucester Choice+ pilot makes an impact

100,000 Gloucester patients have benefited from more choice and 
convenience in booking urgent requests to see a GP. 

From October 2014, 300 same day appointments have been available each 
week at two city health centres for use by those who really need to see a 
doctor that day, but their own surgery doesn’t have an available slot. 

This has freed up time in twelve local GP surgeries involved in the Choice+ 
pilot and more time is available for patients needing more planned support 
e.g. patients with long term conditions.

The service has proved to be very popular and is being expanded with an extra 
200 urgent appointments a week being added so that the service is available 
to all 165,000 patients and available on Saturdays.

Pop.  
approx:

19practices
     119 GPs

Covering Abbeydale, 
Churchdown, Gloucester, 
Hardwicke, Highnam, 
Hucclecote, Longlevens, 
Matson, Quedgeley, 
Saintbridge
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28,802

North Cotswolds Greater support for Carers in the North Cotswolds

Work continues to develop greater support for Carers within the North 
Cotswolds with significant progress made this year. 

The Locality has designed a questionnaire which the Carer is asked to 
complete prior to their attendance for a healthcare check at the GP surgery 
along with a Consultation form which the healthcare professional completes 
during the check. 

These documents help the healthcare professional to understand both 
the general health and social needs of the Carer and assist in identifying 
any underlying concerns which may not be evident during a medical 
healthcare check.

Both documents build on the feedback from the first Carers Afternoon held 
at Four Shires Medical Centre in September and the Carers Workshop in 
January which also included contributions from local GPs, Practice Nurses, 
Practice Manager and CCG support. 

A decision was taken to extend each Carer appointment from 20 minutes 
to 30 minutes, which allows the staff to undertake further investigations, 
examinations and medication reviews if required, which isn’t always possible 
with a 20 minute appointment.

Following the success of the Carers Afternoon, the Carers at Chipping 
Campden have now set up a Carers Group which will meet once a month 
with the support of one of our partner organisations, Cotswold Friends.

Pop. 
approx: 

5practices
      23 GPs

Covering Chipping 
Campden, Bourton-on-
the-Water, Moreton-
in-Marsh, Stow-on-
the-Wold, Blockley, 
Northleach
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South Cotswolds Social prescribing and the Healthy Marketplace

This year, the locality has teamed up with Cotswold District Council to tackle 
issues such as social isolation and loneliness by connecting patients to local 
services and organisations where they can get help.

The pilot scheme has proved that connecting patients with local voluntary and 
community organisations has had real benefits to overall health and wellbeing.

Over 90 patients from four South Cotswold practices have been referred into 
the service and successfully received support.

At Cirencester hospital there are exciting plans for the creation of The Healthy 
Marketplace, where people can access advice and guidance on issues which 
can impact on their health and well-being.

This includes special advice sessions running at the same time as clinics, so 
patients are better informed about their health conditions.

Pop.  
approx:

8practices
      43 GPs

Covering  
Cirencester, Fairford, 
Lechlade, Rendcomb, 
Tetbury, South Cerney, 
Kemble

57,682
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120,706

Stroud and 
Berkeley Vale 

Reducing obesity – hundreds benefit from local schemes

Preventing obesity is a key priority for the locality and hundreds of patients are 
now benefitting from community support.  

Local GP surgeries were encouraged to make good use of a range of schemes 
run by Stroud District Council.  

GP surgeries and staff from community hospitals referred a total of 698 
patients onto the GP Exercise on Referral Scheme.

There were also 931 attendances at Cardiac Rehabilitation classes, 305 
attendances at Respiratory Rehabilitation classes and 3,034 attendances on the 
Strolling in Stroud District health walks throughout the year. 

As well as these opportunities, the Locality Executive Group commissioned a 
cycling for health scheme to encourage people who had bikes, but did not use 
them to return to cycling.  

The scheme included a free bike check and support to increase confidence in 
cycling, provided by the Road Safety Partnership. An allotment scheme is also 
being developed in the locality.

Pop.  
approx:

20practices
    102 GPs

Covering Berkeley, 
Minchinhampton, 
Nailsworth, Stonehouse, 
Stroud, Dursley, Cam, 
Frampton-on-Severn, 
Uley, Wotton-under-
Edge, Bussage, Painswick
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Tewkesbury, 
Newent and 
Staunton

Social prescribing Hub launched

This year, in partnership with Tewkesbury Borough Council, the locality 
launched a Social Prescribing pilot to support people who go to their GP 
surgery, but who do not have a clear medical need. 

Patients are referred to a ‘Hub’ run by a Local Area Coordinator (LAC) who 
works within Tewkesbury’s Integrated Community Team. 

The LAC uses their extensive local knowledge to help patients connect into 
community services and support groups that they and their GP may have been 
unaware of. 

By directing patients to support that meets their individual needs, social 
prescribing tackles issues such as loneliness, healthy living and coping with 
caring responsibilities.  

An evaluation of the pilot including feedback from patients will inform the 
future development of this service.  

Pop. 
approx: 

5practices
      19GPs

Covering Tewkesbury, 
Newent, Staunton, Corse

42,625
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Member Practices by locality

Cheltenham Cheltenham Locality: Forest of Dean Forest of Dean Locality:

Berkeley Place Surgery
Crescent Bakery Surgery
Corinthian Surgery
Leckhampton Surgery
Overton Park Surgery
Portland Practice (The)
Royal Crescent Surgery
Royal Well Surgery
Sevenposts Surgery
Sixways Clinic
Springbank Community
Resource Centre
St Catherine’s Surgery
St George’s Surgery
Stoke Road Surgery
Yorkleigh Surgery
Winchcombe Medical 
Practice
Underwood Surgery

Blakeney Surgery

Brunston Practice

Coleford Health Centre

Dockham Road Surgery

Drybrook (The Surgery)

Forest Health Care

Lydney Practice

Mitcheldean Surgery

Newnham on Severn (The 
Surgery)

Severnbank Surgery

Yorkley Health Centre

Gloucester City Gloucester City Locality: North Cotswolds
North Cotswolds 
Locality:

Barnwood Medical Practice
Bartongate Surgery
Brockworth Surgery
Cheltenham Road Surgery
Churchdown Surgery
Gloucester City  
Health Centre
Gloucester Health Access 
Centre
Hadwen Medical Practice
Heathville Medical Practice
Hucclecote (The Surgery)
Kingsholm Surgery
London Medical Practice
Longlevens Surgery
Matson Surgery
Partners in Health
Quedgeley Medical Centre
Rosebank Health
Saintbridge Surgery
The College Yard & Highnam 
Surgeries

Chipping Campden 
Surgery
Cotswold Medical Practice
Mann Cottage Surgery
Stow Surgery
White House Surgery
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Member Practices by locality

South Cotswolds South Cotswolds Locality: Stroud and Berkeley Vale
Stroud and  
Berkeley Vale Locality:

Avenue Surgery (The)

Hilary Cottage Surgery

Medical Centre, Lechlade 
(The)

Park Surgery (The)

Phoenix Surgery

Rendcombe Surgery

Romney House Surgery

St Peter’s Road Surgery

Acorn Practice

Beeches Green Surgery

Cam & Uley Family 
Practice

Chipping Surgery (The)

Culverhay Surgery (The)

Frampton Surgery

Frithwood Surgery

High Street Medical 
Centre (The)

Locking Hill Surgery

Marybrook Medical 
Centre

Minchinhampton Surgery

Painswick Surgery

Prices Mill Surgery

Regent Street Surgery

Rowcroft Medical Centre

St Luke’s Medical Centre

Stonehouse Health Clinic

Stroud Valleys Family 
Practice

Walnut Tree Practice

Tewkesbury, Newent 
and Staunton

Tewkesbury, Newent and 
Staunton Locality:
Church Street Practice (The)

Corse (The Surgery)

Jesmond House Practice

Newent Doctors’ Practice

Watledge Surgery
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How the money is spent

The CCG’s budget 

for 2014/15 was

£697.6m
This equates to 

around £1,118 per 
Gloucestershire resident.  

The pie chart shows how 
the money was spent 
(by category)

Hospital Care (e.g. 
Gloucestershire Royal & 

Cheltenham General Hospitals), 
52.4%

Mental Health & Learning 
Disability Services, 11.3%

Community Services, 12.4%

NHS Continuing Healthcare, 4.7%

Prescribing (drugs & other 
treatments prescribed by your 

GP), 13.1%

Primary Care (e.g. some 
additional services provided by 

GPs), 1.6% Admin Costs, 1.9%

Other, 1.4% Surplus, 1.2%
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NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group was established without conditions on the 1st April 2013. 
The CCG is a membership organisation with 83 member GP practices grouped into seven localities. All 
member practices are within Gloucestershire.

The Population We Serve

The CCG serves a GP registered population of 624,000. In Gloucestershire there is already a significant 
proportion of the population aged over 65 years; and this segment of our population is also growing at a 
faster rate than most of the rest of the country. 

According to Office for National Statistics (ONS) projections, the number of people aged 65 and over in 
Gloucestershire will increase by about 70% (or 78,300) between 2010 and 2035 and will account for nearly 
one third of the total population. In contrast, the number of young people and people of working age is likely 
to remain similar or even slightly decrease.

Our Responsibilities

The CCG is responsible for commissioning (buying) community health services, mental health services, 
learning disability services, secondary health care (hospital) services, primary care prescribing (prescribing of 
medicines by GPs and nurses) and locally enhanced services (e.g. additional services provided by GP surgeries).  

Gloucestershire County Council is responsible for the commissioning of public health services and the CCG 
works closely with the local authority through the Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure that there is a 
shared vison and priorities for health improvement. 

During 2014/15, NHS England had lead responsibility for commissioning of primary care medical (GP) services 
and specialist services. From 2015/2016, the CCG took on responsibility for delegated commissioning of 
primary care (GP) medical services. 

Gloucestershire Health & Social Care Community 

Within Gloucestershire the main NHS providers are Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (acute 
hospital services), Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (community services) and 2gether NHS Foundation 
Trust (Mental Health and Learning disability services).

There are a number of other NHS service providers within the county, such as South Western Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust, a number of private providers who offer NHS Services and an extensive 
voluntary and community sector. 

Services are also commissioned from providers who border Gloucestershire. We have close working 
relationships with all of these organisations who provide services in our county to ensure the best outcomes 
for patients and value for money, whilst ensuring they remain an important partner in the health and social 
care community.  

Review of the Year 

The CCG set out its objectives at the start of the year, these were to:

1. Develop strong, high quality, clinically effective and innovative services. We will deliver this through a multi 
professional focus, with a particular emphasis on a clinical programme approach (programme groups led 
by GPs that look at particular health conditions e.g. Cancer and the patient’s journey through care) and 
developing our member localities

2. Work with patients, carers and the public to inform decision making

3. Transform services to meet the future needs of the population, through the most effective use of 
resources; ensuring the reduction of harm, waste and variation

4. Build a sustainable and effective organisation, with robust governance arrangements throughout the 
organisation and localities

5. Work together with our partners to develop and deliver ill health prevention and care strategies designed 
to improve the lives of patients, their families and carers

6. Develop strong leadership as commissioners at all levels of the organisation, including localities.

Strategic Review
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Delivery against these objectives has been reported to each Governing Body meeting and achievement 
against each objective in year is given below.

1 Develop strong, high quality, clinically effective, innovative and affordable services. We 
will deliver this through a multi professional focus, with a particular emphasis on clinical 
programme approach and developing our member localities

Localities 

The CCG has seven localities which vary considerably in geographical size and patient population.  

The localities are headed by Locality Executive Groups, the membership of which varies but, as a minimum, 
includes a GP Chair, CCG Liaison GP and local GPs.

The role of the Locality Executive Group is to support the improvement of local health services through 
understanding the health service needs of their locality and use this knowledge to develop local priorities. 

The localities, by their nature, offer an important opportunity to ensure that countywide strategic decisions 
are informed by, and relevant to, the locality populations.

Each Locality Executive, working with local partners, developed a locality plan in 2014/15. The plans reflect 
some of the differing/specific needs of local communities that cannot be dealt with at a county wide level.  

During the year, the localities have strengthened their links with Public Health, District Councils and local 
voluntary organisations to develop shared local priorities and joint working, particularly around social 
prescribing (GPs referring patients to other community services and support) and health promotion.

Clinical Programme Groups

The CCG has further developed its Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) in 2014/15. These groups bring 
together a range of healthcare professionals and now include lay (public) members.

The CPGs help deliver the CCG’s strategy through reviewing and developing priority clinical pathways (the 
patient’s journey through care) to improve care and health outcomes. The CCG has worked to develop a 
systematic clinical programme approach in Gloucestershire to support this.

This is founded on ensuring that the range of professionals and lay representatives develop a shared 
understanding of the issues and then work collaboratively together to develop solutions. We have also tested
our model of Gloucestershire wide shared leadership with a range of partners leading key programmes.

Key developments in year included: 

Diabetes

zz The Diabetes CPG has recently overseen the development and implementation of an Enhanced Service 
(ES); 76 practices have now signed up to the ES which supports primary healthcare teams to provide more 
comprehensive diabetes care (including insulin initiation) locally within their practice. 

zz The Gloucestershire Community Diabetes Team is delivering a more accessible education programme for 
those who are newly diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes. 

zz The short-course programme called ‘Diabetes and You’ is modular-based and those diagnosed with 
diabetes can choose which areas of self-management (e.g. dietary advice) is most suited to support their 
needs. Early evaluation and feedback shows that ‘Diabetes and You’ has been very positively received.

Respiratory

zz 2014/15 saw the introduction of a new Home Oxygen Assessment and Review service which has provided 
both timely assessment and review of all patients prescribed oxygen as part of their ongoing treatment. As 
well as improving the quality of care, the service has generated significant efficiency savings by ensuring 
that the correct levels of oxygen are prescribed.

zz The Hospitals Trust is on target to achieve delivery of the COPD Admission Bundle CQUIN. This will ensure 
that all those patients who are urgently admitted to hospital with COPD (lung disease) have early access 
to specialist respiratory opinion as well as receiving evidence-based packages of care. This will support a 
more structured admission, decrease the length of stay in hospital and reduce the risk of readmission. 
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Eye Health 

zz To develop a shared understanding of where improvements could be made, a wide range of evidence was 
brought together, including information from ‘service walkthroughs’ and patient feedback (focus groups 
and surveys). A series of working groups, which included patients and health professionals, helped to 
develop an agreed set of recommendations for the future development of services. 

zz The CCG and its partners will be looking to make improvements to service by working more closely with 
community optometry services and the voluntary sector to provide care closer to home and in a way 
which meets people emotional and practical needs as well as their medical needs. 

Musculoskeletal (MSK)

zz The MSK programme includes podiatry, pain, physiotherapy, rheumatology services, orthopaedics and 
orthotics services. Building on engagement work to date (see section 2 over), workshops are planned over 
the late spring and summer and will look to develop a set of recommendations about how services can be 
developed to provide a higher standard of care across our county, within available resources. 

Cancer

zz Improving early diagnosis is one of the key objectives for the Cancer CPG. 

zz During 2014/15, the CCG has been working in partnership with Macmillan Cancer Support to launch 
an ambitious programme of GP Masterclasses. During the first year, we have covered Breast, Colorectal, 
Prostate, Skin, Head & Neck, Lung and Gynaecological Cancers. The masterclasses have been highly 
rated by attendees and provide interactive learning with specialist consultants, oncologists, clinical nurse 
specialists and palliative care consultants. All Gloucestershire GP practices have participated in the events, 
with over 550 GP attendances in total. The programme is being continued into 2015/16 and we are also 
working to improve clinical practice through a programme of significant event audits.

zz In December 2014, we launched the Gloucestershire Living With and Beyond Cancer Programme with our 
partners across the health, social care and third sector communities. Our aim is to deliver wide-ranging 
service improvements to support the rapidly increasing number of people living beyond a cancer diagnosis. 
We are currently collaborating on pathway redesign, commencing with breast, prostate and colorectal 
cancer. 

zz Our work includes an innovative project with Macmillan to pilot a community based cancer survivorship 
service. Our team has hosted two allied health professional Macmillan Clinical Leads to scope and design 
the new service which will go live in the forthcoming months.

Mental Health

zz We continue to work with our partners to improve the patient’s journey through care (care pathway) to 
ensure patients receive high quality care in the right setting to meet their needs. We are working to ensure 
care is provided to good practice standards and the best outcomes for the individual are achieved.

zz Initiatives include further development of Mental Health (MH) Intermediate Care Teams to provide early 
intervention and enable greater self-management of emotional well-being and resilience through access 
to a range of interventions. We are also supporting collaboration between 2gether MH Intermediate Care 
Teams and Care Services Integrated Community Teams to promote parity of esteem (assessment of both 
mental and physical health) for patients.

Other examples of the work carried out by the CPGs can be found in the early pages of this Annual Report.

2 Work with patients, carers and the public to inform decision making

In 2014/15, there were significant programmes of countywide and locality engagement with clinicians, 
patients, the public and stakeholders. Examples include:

Countywide engagement to support Musculoskeletal Clinical Programme Group

As part of the work to streamline the patient pathway for individuals with Musculoskeletal (MSK) conditions, 
the Clinical Programme Group wanted a greater awareness of patient experiences across the range of 
services provided.
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zz Patient feedback. 
Staff from the GCCG Engagement team attended twelve clinics across the county to encourage patients 
to provide feedback on their experience of the MSK service. An online questionnaire was also available on 
the CCG website. Patients were asked to provide feedback on access to services and information, patient 
choice, and their experience at outpatients. A total of 277 completed questionnaires were received, 
covering the complete range of services.

zz Feedback from GPs and clinicians. 
GPs and clinicians working in the service were also asked to complete a short questionnaire which focused 
on their interaction with other MSK services. The Project Team also attended Locality Executive meetings 
to talk with GPs about the MSK service.

Engagement across GCCG’s seven Localities 

The GCCG Information Bus has been out and about gathering views from local communities and promoting 
new initiatives across the 7 GCCG Localities. Examples include:

zz Pharmacy First (Minor ailments scheme) 

zz Joining up your care – GCCG ‘on tour’, promoting the CCG’s priorities

Patient and clinician surveys

A series of Patient and GP Surveys have been conducted during 2014/15. Examples include:

zz Acupuncture (Tewkesbury Locality only)

zz Social prescribing pilots evaluation

zz Community Learning Disability (LD) Service (GPs only)

zz Care home staff experience of working with the Continence Service.

3 Transform services to meet the future needs of the population, through the most effective 
use of resources; ensuring the reduction of harm, waste and variation

Urgent care

A key focus for the CCG and the Gloucestershire Health and Social Care community is creating an improved 
urgent care system and all partner organisations have been involved in significant work in 2014/15 to 
support this. 

This work is led by the System Resilience Group which is made up of senior representatives from across the 
Urgent Care System. 

This ensures rapid senior decision making where required to support services and service developments.  

An Urgent Care Plan has been implemented with four defined areas of work: pre-hospital, in hospital, discharge 
and community care, and system enablers. This has focused effort on the priority projects that make a 
difference to patients.  These include:

zz Greater use of the countywide Community Minor Injury Units

zz Implementation of the Older People’s Assessment and Liaison (OPAL) service

zz Implementation of an Ambulatory Care model for Gloucestershire – the Ambulatory Emergency Care 
(AEC) Unit at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital and Cheltenham General Hospitals is now taking GP referrals 
and providing same day emergency care to patients

zz Roll out of the Integrated Community Teams, incorporating high intensity services and Rapid Response

zz A project that will reduce delays in accessing reablement services

zz Review of Community Hospital beds, with the aim of increasing diverts from the Emergency Departments

zz Reviewing community alternatives to Emergency Department attendance

zz Piloting of a General Practitioner (GP) working within the Emergency Department

zz Streamlining urgent care project

zz Enhancing discharge arrangements – strengthening the integrated discharge team at the acute hospitals
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zz Out of Hours service procurement – with the aim of ensuring joined up urgent care and treatment, with 
the best possible co-ordination between different parts of the service. 

A key part of the urgent care strategy is the introduction of rapid response and high intensity services 
(provided by the Integrated Community Teams) in order to develop the capacity and capability of community 
services. This is helping to reduce demand on hospital services and has been rolled out across the county in 
2014/15.

Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust also runs a 24 hour single point of clinical access (SPCA) – a 
telephone service which provides information to doctors on the availability of community services.

Planned Care

The CCG has also made significant progress in planned care during 2014/15. 

Through its Clinical Programme Groups and Locality Executive Groups, clinicians and managers have been 
working to improve the patient’s journey through their care pathway and developing community based services.

The vision for the planned care programme is to: 
‘Improve the patient journey through the planned care system and to continually improve outcomes, patient 
safety and cost effectiveness of those services which we commission, ensuring we make the best use of the 
resources available to us’.
The Planned Care Programme focuses on 5 key stages:

zz Self-Care and Self-Management

zz Access

zz Treatment

zz Follow Up

zz Exiting Care.

Our approach focuses on delivering improvement for patients throughout their healthcare journey, 
maximising quality and ensuring best value throughout. 

Specific examples of planned care developments can be found in the early pages of the Annual Report.

Integration

Integration is a core component of the strategic approach in Gloucestershire including the focus within the 
Better Care Fund. 

In 2014/15, the CCG, together with partners, continued the countywide roll out of strengthened Integrated 
Community Teams.

The ICTs bring together occupational therapists, physiotherapists, social workers, reablement workers, 
community nurses and other support staff to work as one team providing support typically around 4 GP 
practices with a combined population of around 30,000 patients.

The rollout of strengthened ICTs has already benefitted around 1,300 patients this year; providing them with 
extra support at home and avoiding the need for admission to an acute hospital. 

Phase 2 of ICTs will result in closer working with mental health services and the voluntary and community 
sector to further enhance integrated support to meet people’s needs.

4 Build a sustainable and effective organisation, with robust governance arrangements 
throughout the organisation and localities

The CCG approved its constitution and through the year has reviewed its sub committees against the 
requirements for the CCG.

The CCG has received delegated authority from NHS England to commission primary care services. In order 
to ensure sound governance processes, and avoid any conflicts of interest, a Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee has been established, in line with NHS England guidance, to oversee these commissioning 
functions. In addition, a revised policy for managing conflicts of interest was approved by the Governing Body 
in January 2015.
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The NHS Constitution imposes a statutory duty on each CCG to have a priority setting system in place that 
explains how the CCG decides whether to fund a healthcare intervention or service.

The CCG also has a duty to publish the decision-making process on its website. As a result of this the CCG 
has set up a Priorities Sub Committee and adopted an ethical framework and prioritisation framework.

Details of the CCG’s governance structure are given in the Statement of Internal Control.

5 Work together with our partners to develop and deliver ill health prevention and care 
strategies designed to improve the lives of patients, their families and carers

Working In Partnership

During the year the CCG has developed, and is continuing to develop, relationships with other organisations 
both within Gloucestershire and outside in order to help to deliver its strategic objectives.

A vital starting point for achieving transformational change in Gloucestershire is our shared vision agreed this 
year across the NHS, Local Authority and voluntary sector partners.

The vision for Gloucestershire is:

“To improve health and wellbeing, we believe that by all working better together – in a more joined up way 
– and using the strengths of individuals, carers and their local communities, we will transform the quality of 
care and support we provide to all local people.”
Delivering this vision means that we need to ensure that:

zz People are provided with support to enable them to take more control of their health and wellbeing, 
recognising that those that are particularly vulnerable will benefit from additional support;

zz People are provided with more support in their homes and local communities where safe and appropriate 
to do so, moving away from the traditional focus on hospital based care; and

zz When people need care that can only be provided in a hospital setting, it is delivered in a timely and 
effective way.

Applying these principles will enable us to meet national outcomes targets and our local aspirations for the 
people of Gloucestershire. These ambitions are articulated within the diagram below: 
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The CCG has representatives on the following groups:

zz Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

zz Strategic Clinical Networks

zz NHS Clinical Commissioners (the CCG Accountable Officer is the board member representing the 
South West) 

zz NHS England Commissioning Assembly 

zz The Clinical Research Network West of England Partnership Group

zz West of England Academic Health Science Network (WEAHSN)

zz Specialist commissioning collaborative

zz Clinical Senate Council and Assembly. 

Links have also been strengthened with District councils, the Voluntary sector and HealthWatch.

The CCG has a strong working relationship with Gloucestershire County Council with joint arrangements for 
mental health, learning disability, physical disability, children’s services and community services.

During the year the following joint strategies have been adopted by both organisations and are being 
implemented with joint working groups which involve a range of stakeholders:

zz Mental health and wellbeing strategy - high level strategy, linked to the national strategy ‘No Health 
without Mental Health’

zz Adult autism strategy – Gloucestershire has developed a joint adult autism strategy in year which has 
seven overarching aims.

Both of these strategies are being taken forward by cross community working groups.

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

The CCG is an active partner of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board. The Board has developed a 
joint health and wellbeing strategy to help tackle the challenges of the future and to support communities. 

Key priorities are:

zz Tackling health inequalities

zz Improving mental health

zz Reducing Obesity (promoting healthy weight)

zz Improving health and wellbeing into older age

zz Reducing the harm caused by alcohol. 

A delivery plan has been developed involving all organisations represented on the Board. 

A key part of the joint working between partners this year has been the development of a plan for the Better 
Care Fund. This totalled £11.596m in 2014/15 and will total £39.948m in 2015/16.

The plans include a vision for the future that requires whole system change, how we commission work from 
providers and how providers interact with service users and with each other. Working together with the 
County Council as co-commissioner, the CCG is committed to supporting changes to lifestyle behaviour and 
attitudes with a key role for the third sector and not least our citizens themselves.

The CCG has governance arrangements throughout joint committees in place to manage financial risks 
associated with the increased portfolio of jointly commissioned services.

6 Develop strong leadership as commissioners at all levels of the organisation, including 
localities 

The CCG has made significant progress in establishing strong leadership as a commissioner in 2014/15. Details 
of how this has been achieved can be found in the Strategic Review (localities, clinical programme groups), 
the Governing Body Report and the Governance Statement.

Our performance highlights 2014/15

Performance against the NHS Constitution Indicators is given below with the majority of standards 
being achieved:
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2014/15 Status 2015/16 
forecast

The percentage of admitted pathways within 18 weeks for admitted 
patients whose clocks stopped during the period on an adjusted basis

Green Green

The percentage of non-admitted pathways within 18 weeks for non-
admitted patients whose clocks stopped during the period

Green Green

The percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways at the end of the period

Green/Amber Green

Referral to Treatment pathways greater than 52 weeks Red Amber

Diagnostic test waiting times – under 6 week waits Amber Green

All cancer 2 week waits Green/Amber Green

Two week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially 
suspected)

Amber Green

Cancer – first definitive treatment within 31 days of a cancer diagnosis Green Green

Cancer – subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days – surgery Green Green

Cancer – subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days – Drug Regime Green Green

Cancer – subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days – Radiotherapy Green Green

62 day cancer target (percentage of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer)

Amber Green

62 day wait for first treatment following referral from an NHS cancer 
screening service

Green Green

62 day wait for first treatment for cancer following a consultant’s decision 
to upgrade the patient priority

Green Green

Four hour A&E target Red Green

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A – 8 (Red 1) minute response Green Green

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A – 8 (Red 2) minute response Amber Green

Ambulance clinical quality – category A 19 minute transportation time Amber Green

Mixed sex accommodation breaches Green Green

Cancelled operations not rebooked within 28 days  Red Green

Dementia Diagnosis rate Amber Green

IAPT access and recovery rate Green Green

The tables above relate to NHS Constitution requirements. The method of calculation can be found at:  
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/forward-view/ 

There are some areas where the performance has fallen short of the required targets or standards in 2014/15 
which require particular attention in the year ahead to improve performance. These are:

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/forward-view/


32

4 hours emergency department wait: Delivery of this target has been very challenging, with key actions 
focused on timely discharge of patients and system flow. The CCG continues to implement a programme to 
increase urgent and emergency care system resilience to ensure that the system can cope with demand. 

Referral to Treatment (RTT): The CCG has consistently met the targets for admitted and non-admitted 
care; however, performance against the incomplete target (the total number of patients who are still waiting 
for treatment at the end of the reporting month) has been impacted by out of county performance. Long 
waiters (those with incomplete pathways over 52 weeks) have predominantly occurred at specialist centres 
for patients with complex needs. The CCG has identified increased pressures within Cardiology, General 
Surgery, Urology, Rheumatology and Neurology. Plans are in place to redesign pathways in all of these areas 
to sustainably improve performance in the long term. 

Diagnostic waits: The proportion of patients waiting over 6 weeks for a diagnostic procedure has increased 
in 2014/15. Performance throughout the year has been affected by short-term capacity related problems.  

Cancer waiting times: Delivery of cancer targets has been pressured with increased demand for services 
throughout 2014/15. The CCG had identified pressure within Urology, General surgery and Respiratory 
medicine. The CCG has co-ordinated a GP education programme during 2014/15. 

Mental health targets: Plans are on track to deliver the dementia diagnosis rate of 62% during 2014/15 
with a commitment to meet the 66.7% standard in 2015/16.

Financial Summary

Going concern basis

The CCG is required to give an explanation of its consideration of its status as a going concern. 

This is effectively in relation to its intention to continue its operations for the foreseeable future and the 
awareness of any circumstances affecting this in its preparation of these financial statements. 

The CCG has prepared a five year financial plan which shows the organisation achieving its financial duties 
in each of the respective years and has considered through its Audit Committee, the appropriateness of this 
approach. No issues were noted which would affect this. 

This is in addition to the Secretary of State direction that, where Parliamentary funding continues to be voted 
to permit the relevant services to be carried out elsewhere in the public sector, this is normally sufficient 
evidence of going concern. As a result, the Governing Body of NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group has prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis.

Financial performance 
The CCG set a balanced budget at the start of the financial year with a planned surplus of £6.857m. At the 
end of the financial year the CCG has delivered a surplus of £8.494m. The surplus delivered is above the 
planned surplus as NHS England returned unspent resources later in the financial year relating to retrospective 
continuing health care cases. 

The CCG achieved its financial duties in 2014/15 as follows: 

The CCG delivered an underspend of £8.494 million against its revenue resource limit, this included an 
underspend on its running cost allocation, as set out below:

Financial Summary
Programme Costs

£’m
Running Costs

£m £m

Revenue resource limit 681.630 15.996 697.626

Total net operating cost for the financial year 675.687 13.445 689.132

Surplus 5.943 2.551 8.494

The CCG received a capital resource limit in year for the replacement of IM&T equipment, the CCG’s capital 
expenditure remained within its capital resource limit.
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Financial Summary £m

Capital resource limit 0.161

Capital expenditure for the financial year 0.147

In addition, the CCG 

zz Remained within its maximum cash drawdown as agreed with NHS England; and

zz Complied with the Better Payments Practice Code (details provided within note 7.1 of the annual accounts).

The accounts as presented have been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board 
under the National Health Services Act 2006 (as amended).

Financial Resources
The allocation received by the CCG in 2014/15 totalled £697.626m. This included a programme allocation of 
£681.630m and a running cost allocation of £15.996m.

Within the running cost allocation was a non-recurrent allocation of £0.943m which related to the CCG’s 
achievement against the 2013/14 quality premium.   

Expenditure
During the year demand for services continued to rise, particularly in emergency care, certain planned care 
specialities and for continuing health care which meant that many more patients were seen compared to 
planned numbers. 

This led to the CCG spending more than budgeted for these services. However, this was offset, in financial 
terms, through underspends in some other services and also through the use of activity and contingency 
reserves, in order to achieve the surplus of £8.494m.

The Clinical Commissioning Group is responsible to its members and the public with regard to how it allocates 
and spends taxpayer’s money in each financial year. The graph on page 20 highlights expenditure to the value 
of £697.6 million, which includes the reported surplus of £8.494 million.

Details of how the clinical commissioning group has discharged its duties under 
certain sections of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended); 

There are a number of requirements for CCGs in the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) in respect of items to be 
included in their Annual Report. These requirements are:

zz 14Z15(2)(a): Explain how the clinical commissioning group has discharged its duties under section 14R 
(duty as to secure continuous improvement in quality of services); 

The CCG has developed a quality strategy in year ‘Our Journey for Quality’. This strategy underpins all 
service developments the CCG commissions and also the ongoing contract monitoring of providers. This 
enables the CCG to ensure that quality and safety improvement is driving clinical service redesign and also 
implicit within the contracting for existing services.

zz 14Z15(2)(a): Explain how the clinical commissioning group has discharged its duties under section 14T 
(duties as to reducing inequalities); 

The CCG is tackling inequalities and promoting equality through several routes. The development of the 
two and five year plans started by reviewing the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment to identify specific areas 
of inequality within the population and ensure that plans were focussed on these areas with the remit 
of reducing inequalities over the period of the plan. In year, all service development proposals have had 
equality assessments undertaken to ensure that as a minimum they did not increase any inequality and as 
a standard they started to address any identified inequalities within the area under review. Locality plans 
within the seven GP localities have specifically looked to address inequalities at a very local level.

zz 14Z15(2)(a): Explain how the clinical commissioning group has discharged its duties under section 14Z2 
(public involvement and consultation by clinical commissioning groups); 

“We want to hear the ‘quiet voices’ and to be ‘commissioners on the ground.’ These are the aspirations 
of the GCCG Experience and Engagement Strategy ‘Our open Culture’, which was approved by the 
Governing Body in September 2014.
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In the last twelve months, the CCG has continued to develop its approach to patient engagement and 
experience; ensuring voices are heard by commissioners and are central to the strategic development of all 
our programmes of work. 

‘Our Open Culture’ promotes ‘Equality’ and working in ‘Partnership’ and the desire to enable ‘Anyone and 
Everyone’ to have a voice. To achieve this, we provide ‘Information and good Communication’, focus on 
‘Experience’ feedback and undertake good ‘Engagement and Consultation’. 

During 2014/15, the CCG has not undertaken any formal S14Z2 public consultation activities relating to 
any significant service variations. However, there has been significant patient and public engagement 
activity, which has informed and influenced GCCG commissioning priorities for following years. 

As leaders of the local health economy, we have ensured that the heart of our shared system vision is the 
person – around which care is designed, developed and delivered. 

This has been embedded by ensuring lay representation within our Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) and 
within our key programmes of work. Lay representation is embedded in two ways: through our contracted 
‘Lay Champions’, whose role is to ensure that patient experience data is fully taken into account and is 
informing CCG discussions, and via HealthWatch Gloucestershire, whose representation brings a patient 
perspective to CPG discussions and working groups.

zz 14Z15(2)(b): Review the extent to which the clinical commissioning group has contributed to the delivery 
of any joint health and wellbeing strategy to which it was required to have regard under section 116B(1)(b) 
of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

The CCG is a member of the Gloucestershire Health and Well Being Board (H&WB) and has helped 
to develop the H&WB strategy. Delivery of the strategy is being taken forward jointly by the CCG and 
Gloucestershire County Council.

We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with the statutory duties laid 
down in the National Health Services Act 2006 (as amended). 

2 year and 5 year plan – Joining Up Your Care
As described earlier in the document, the CCG has spent time in year consulting and developing a two year 
plan and five year strategy.

Our ambitions are to ensure: 

zz People are provided with support to enable them to take more control of their own health and wellbeing. 
Those that are particularly vulnerable will benefit from additional support 

zz People are provided with more support in their homes and local communities where safe and appropriate 
to do so, thus moving away from the traditional focus on hospital-based care 

zz When people need care that can only be provided in a hospital setting, it is delivered in a timely and 
effective way. 

Priority areas the CCG and its partners are looking at:

zz Focus on joined up care through the role out of Integrated Community Teams and the bringing together 
(Integration) of some specialist teams 

zz Living Well – a model which places the person/patient/client at the centre of care and community support 

zz Increasing focus on Prevention and Self Care e.g. weight management, Health Living Pharmacies, Telecare, 
and Telehealth 

zz Delivering a consistent primary care (e.g. GP services) offer with clarity regarding their role in supporting 
out of hospital care and management for vulnerable patients over 75 years

zz Delivering key changes within priority clinical programme groups, including Musculoskeletal, Respiratory, 
Ophthalmology, Paediatrics, Cancer, Cardiovascular disease, Frail Older People and Diabetes

zz Ensuring further improvements to the urgent care system with a focus on:
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 z developing community services (alternatives to having to go to hospital),

 z looking at how patients access care and treatment when they arrive at the Emergency Department 
front door and;

 z a joined up approach to supporting patients to leave hospital when they are medically fit to do so.

zz Ensuring consistency of planned (non-emergency) care through a systematic approach to managing 
demand for services and reducing variation in the quality, and access to care 

zz Ensuring a collaborative approach to specialist commissioning (very specialist care), with well integrated 
(joined up) care. 

Principle Risks

The CCG has identified a number of key risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives. Major risks are:

zz Pressure of work within primary care prevents full engagement in transformational change

zz Level of transformational change and associated financial impact is not realised, impacting ability to deliver 
recurrent savings

zz Ability to balance resource for individual organisational priorities and collaborative working priorities 
compounded by the scale of the future financial challenge

zz Demographic growth is higher than anticipated, creating a demand pressure within services

zz Significant shifts in the shape of the service provision fail to gain sufficient public and political support

zz Pace of cultural change is not sufficient to deliver the changes required

zz Management of in year financial risk. This has and is anticipated to be challenging, especially given the 
increases in demand for services seen over the past year. The CCG has also taken on primary care co-
commissioning and this brings with it an associated level of financial risk.

It is not possible for the CCG to completely mitigate all the risks it faces. Risk is managed within the 
organisation using a risk register. Risks are scored against the likelihood of occurrence, the potential impact, 
and the strength of the risk controls in place. 

Responsibility for managing each risk is assigned to an appropriate individual. The risk register is reviewed 
periodically by the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee, the Senior Leadership Team, and the 
Governing Body to ensure that appropriate controls are in place.

Financial Outlook for 2015/16 

The CCG received a higher than anticipated allocation in 2015/16, which represented a growth in programme 
allocation of 4.57%; this is against an anticipated allocation growth of 1.7%.

The change in allocation is as result of the increased funding given to the NHS in the autumn statement and 
the fact that the CCG is slightly under its target funding.

The CCG has set a balanced budget for 2015/16 which meets all the national criteria. The budget set includes 
investments into services outside hospital and transformational schemes in line with the CCG’s strategic plan.

Investment decisions are prioritised using the CCG’s prioritisation framework with those required to meet 
national objectives including NICE, population and demand growth given a higher weighting.

Funding for future years is not known and current planning models within the CCG’s five year plan are based 
on NHS England’s planning assumptions.

Sustainability

Details of how the CCG has delivered against the sustainability agenda are given in the Sustainability section 
of this report.
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Equality Report

In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and the Equality Delivery System for the NHS and other 
associated public sector equality duties, we have published our equality objectives and annual equality report 
on our website, for more details, please visit: www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk.

Since the publication of the CCG’s annual equality report we have revised our strategy and action plan for 
promoting equality and reducing health inequalities.

The CCG has established an Equality and Inequality Working Group. Under the groups auspices we are working 
to establish an Equality/Health Inequality Focus Group with all our main service providers to facilitate the 
implementation of actions arising from the equality Delivery System 2 and the workforce race equality guidance. 

Our ultimate aim is to integrate equalities (including health inequalities, inclusion and Human Rights) issues in 
every stage of the commissioning cycle.

We are always keen to hear from of our service users and employees across the nine protected characteristics 
on how we can improve patient outcomes and experiences of our services as well as improving the skills and 
working conditions of our workforce.

Please find below a breakdown at the end of the financial year showing:

zz The number of persons of each sex who were on the Governing Body

zz The number of persons of each sex who were employees of the clinical commissioning group.

Breakdown of number of employees of each gender who were on the Governing Body

NHS Glos CCG Female Headcount Male Headcount Total

Governing Body 9 12 21

All other Employees 153 51 204

Total Employees 162 63 225

The GB members contained in this summary are as listed below:

Dr Steve Allder
Dr Marion Andrews-Evans
Dr Caroline Bennett
Dr Peter Brambleby
Dr Charles Buckley
Julie Clatworthy
Alan Elkin
Dr Malcolm Gerald
Dr Martin Gibbs
Colin Greaves
Dr Will Haynes
Mary Hutton
Cath Leech
Dr Hein Le Roux
Dr Helen Miller
Ellen Rule
Dr Andy Seymour
Mark Walkingshaw
Valerie Webb
Dr Jeremy Welch
Margaret Willcox

Mary Hutton 
Accountable Officer 
28 May 2015
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Quality, Safety and Compliance

During the first year of the CCG, we have instituted robust assurance systems that support the quality and 
safety improvement agenda across the county’s service providers.

The CCG considers these are important processes and form part of our response to The Francis, Berwick and 
Winterbourne View reports. 

The Governing Body has established the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee, which comprises 
both clinical professionals and lay members of the board. The Committee meets bi-monthly and receives a 
comprehensive quality report regarding our local service provider’s performance.

It also receives reports for assurance in respect of clinical, corporate, information, research and quality 
governance.

This report contains information on clinical effectiveness; clinical audit; patient safety including serious 
incidents; the safety thermometer, including pressure ulcers and falls prevention; healthcare acquired 
infections, safer staffing and CQC inspections.

In addition reports on child and adult safeguarding are presented including the outcome and 
recommendations from any serious case reviews.

Other quality and safety assurance processes introduced by the CCG include regular clinical quality review 
group (CQRG) meetings with each service provider, as well as additional extraordinary meetings where 
necessary due to service concerns. 

New CQRGs have been established this year with Public Health and the Adult Social Care team; these include 
one for Care Homes and a joint CQRG with Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust focusing on the delivery 
of both health and social care services. 

Members of the CCG Quality Team attend the provider quality committees and have made site visits to 
a wide range of clinical settings across Gloucestershire. The Quality Team also contribute to the quality 
monitoring of ambulance and out of hours services, as well as independent healthcare providers and care 
homes. The Quality Team are active members of the area Quality Surveillance Group and the South West 
Clinical Senate.

All new service developments and cost improvement programmes undergo a Quality impact assessment 
to ensure the change does not reduce the quality of service and experience for the patients and does not 
increase the risk of harm.

Staff from the CCG are involved with the work of NICE at a national level, so ensuring the voice of 
commissioners is heard in developing NICE guidance and Technology Appraisals. The CCG monitors the 
implementation of NICE Technology Appraisals and can confirm that all our providers have implemented 
them within the statutory 90 days.

The CCG has worked together with our local NHS providers to achieve a number of national and local 
CQUINs (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation). This included a focus on improving services for patients 
with dementia; reducing pressure ulcers, falls and deep vein thrombosis (DVT), improving end of life care 
and patient discharge, as well as ensuring that patients with mental health conditions have good access to 
physical health services.

Patient Safety is also an important area of work for the CCG. As part of this the CCG is taking forward several 
initiatives with our providers to reduce harm to patients.

The CCG is an active member of the Patient Safety Collaborative and as a result of this has established a 
Gloucestershire patient safety forum where local service providers from hospital, community and primary care  
can come together to learn from each other’s experiences. So far the group has looked at actions to prevent 
Acute Kidney Injury and Sepsis.

Learning from patient experience is an important component of the quality assurance process. The CCG 
has introduced ‘Patient Stories’ at the start of Governing Body meetings, so providing insight into the local 
services from a user’s perspective.
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The CCG also provides a PALs and complaints service which assists the CCG to understand where the services 
could be improved and lessons learned. In addition to this the CCG has implemented ‘Quality Alerts’. This 
is a system that supports GPs in notifying the CCG of poor patient experience or failures in services, so the 
quality team and commissioning managers can address areas of concern with service providers with the aim 
of improving local services to patients.

The Governing Body has agreed the CCG quality strategy ‘Our Journey for Quality’, and the implementation 
plan to support this is now in the process of being implemented.
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The CCG Governing Body is accountable for exercising the statutory functions of the group, it may however, 
delegate authority to any of its members, its governing body, employees or a committee or sub-committee of 
the group.

The extent of the authority to act of the respective bodies and individuals depends on the powers delegated 
to them by the group as expressed through:

g. the group’s scheme of reservation and delegation; and

h. for committees, their terms of reference.

The majority of CCG functions have been delegated to the CCG’s Governing Body. The role of the Governing 
Body is corporate responsibility for the CCG’s strategies, actions and finances.  

As an NHS organisation, it provides stewardship and remains publicly accountable. The Governing Body has 
GP representation from each of the seven localities and the Governing Body has been further strengthened 
with the appointment of Lay Members, a Registered Nurse and a Secondary Care Doctor.  

This has helped to bring a diversity and range of capabilities and capacities to bear on CCG business and 
leadership. The Governing Body has an assurance framework system in which significant risks to the CCG’s 
major objectives are managed. The board assurance framework helps to drive the board agenda and focus.

Reporting to the board are committees responsible for audit; integrated governance and quality; and 
remuneration, full details of these sub committees are given in the Statement of Internal Control.

Governing Body Members are listed below: 

From – to
Member of Audit 

Committee
Clinical Chair Dr Helen Miller 1st April 2013 – present N
Deputy Clinical Chair Dr Andy Seymour 1st April 2013 – present Y
GP Locality – Tewkesbury Dr Jeremy Welch 1st April 2013 – present N
GP Locality – South Cotswolds Dr Malcolm Gerald 1st April 2013 – present N
GP Locality – North Cotswolds Dr Caroline Bennett 1st April 2013 – present N
GP Locality – Gloucester Dr Will Haynes 1st April 2013 – present N
GP Locality – Cheltenham Vacant 1st April 2013 – present N
GP Locality – Forest of Dean Dr Martin Gibbs 1st April 2013 – present N

GP Locality – Stroud
Dr Charles Buckley &      
Dr Hein Le Roux (job share)

1st April 2013 – present Y

Director of Adult Social Care Margaret Willcox 1st April 2013 – present N
Interim Director of Public Health Dr Peter Brambleby 2nd June 2014 – present N
Registered Nurse Julie Clatworthy 1st April 2013 – present N
Secondary Care Specialist Dr Steve Allder 1st April 2013 – present N
Lay Member Governance Colin Greaves 1st April 2013 – present Y (Chair)
Lay Member Business Valerie Webb 1st April 2013 – present Y
Lay Member PPE Alan Elkin 1st April 2013 – present Y
Accountable Officer Mary Hutton 1st April 2013 – present N
Director of Commissioning 
Implementation

Mark Walkingshaw 1st April 2013 – present N

Chief Financial Officer Cath Leech 1st April 2013 – present N
Executive Nurse and Quality Lead Dr Marion Andrews-Evans 1st April 2013 – present N
Director of Transformation & 
Service Redesign

Ellen Rule 2nd June 2014 – present N

Information on Governing Body declarations of interest are given in the Remuneration Report.

There are no post balance sheet events for the CCG that require adjustment in its annual accounts. However, 
as has already been mentioned on page 10 of this document, from 1 April 2015, the CCG took on greater 
commissioning responsibilities for GP medical services.

Governing Body Report
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Pension liabilities

Details of pension liabilities and how their treatment is given in note 5.5 within the Financial Statements and 
within the Remuneration Report.

Sickness absence data

Details of the level of sickness absence are given in note 5.3 in the Financial Statements. The organisation has 
an approved policy and associated procedure to help with the management of sickness absence.

Sickness absence is managed in a supportive and effective manner by CCG managers, with professional 
advice and support from Human Resources, Occupational Health and Staff Support services. The CCG’s 
approach to managing sickness absence is governed by a clear HR policy and this is further reinforced by 
the provision of HR support and training sessions for all line managers on the effective management of 
sickness absence.

Managers ensure that the culture of sickness reporting is embedded within their teams and sickness absence 
is actively monitored and formally reported to the CCG’s Integrated Governance Committee on a quarterly 
basis as part of the workforce reporting mechanism. This committee includes both Lay Members & Executive 
Directors of the CCG.

Staff sickness absence data 2014-15 

NHS Gloucestershire CCG 14/15 13/14

Total days lost 688 786

Total staff 147 126

Average working days lost 4.68 6.24

Average working days lost has been calculated by NHS England and is based on the period April to December.

Staff sickness absence and ill health retirement in 2014-15

14/15 13/14

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 1 0

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year £38,624 0

External audit

The CCG’s external auditors are Grant Thornton UK LLP. The cost of the annual statutory audit of the 2014/15 
Financial Statements was £114K. This was determined based upon the size of the CCG’s commissioning 
budget. The CCG did not receive any other services from Grant Thornton in year.

Disclosure of “serious untoward incidents”

Details of serious untoward incidents are given within the Governance Statement.

Setting of charges for information

We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation 
and the setting charges for information.

Principles for remedy

HM Treasury’s Managing Public Money contains guidance at Annex 4.14 about the steps public bodies should 
take where they have caused injustice or hardship by maladministration or service failure.

The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman published a revised Principles for Remedy in May 2010, 
setting out six principles that represent best practice and are applicable to clinical commissioning groups.

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to providing any service user, member of 
their family or a carer, member of the public, stakeholder or member of staff with the opportunity to provide 
feedback on services commissioned or provided by the organisation, including making a formal complaint. 
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For the period covered by the Annual Report and Accounts, the CCG’s Policy and Procedure has complied 
with the responsibilities for NHS organisations set out within the Local Authority Social Services and National 
Health Service Complaints England Regulations 2009 (and Clarification of the Complaints Regulations issued 
January 2010), which came into effect from 1 April 2009 and has paid due regard to the Health Service 
Ombudsman’s Principles of Good Complaint Handling, which were reprinted with minor amendments on 10 
February 2009. The CCG has revised its complaints policy and procedure in line with the recommendations in 
the new NHS England Complaints Policy, 15 September 2014. 

Accessible leadership and responding to staff (Employee consultation)

NHS Gloucestershire CCG is a significant employer and larger than most CCGs. The workforce is made up of 
employees from a wide variety of professional groups, in many cases in small numbers and a large proportion 
of employees sit within the management delivery team.

In building effective and meaningful partnership working with staff and staff side representatives, the 
CCG has developed partnership arrangements that are sufficiently flexible to accommodate and reflect the 
workforce in terms of professional group and size.

The CCG recognises all of the trade unions outlined in the national Agenda for Change terms and conditions 
handbook who have members employed within the organisation.

Local arrangements are determined on an ad hoc basis where formal staff consultation is required, to ensure 
appropriate and effective consultation arrangements are in place.  This approach has worked well in the first 
two years as a CCG and an Organisational Development Group has recently been established to consider staff 
issues. Arrangements for formal staff consultation may be reviewed in light of the Business Plan to consider 
where arrangements may be further strengthened going forward.

The CCG has delegated negotiations over HR policy development to the Central Southern Commissioning 
Support Unit (CSCSU) Staff Partnership Forum. The CSCSU SPF considers collated feedback from the CCG as 
part of this process and ensures staff and trade unions are equally engaged in the development process.

Policies are formally reviewed both by the Executive Management Team and by a Policy Review Group, before 
being ratified and adopted by the CCG’s Integrated Governance Committee prior to publication. 

The CCG has an organisational development plan which sets out how the organisation and individuals within 
it will progress to full capability.

The CCG is adopting a policy of visible and accessible leadership, with senior management engaging with 
staff. Examples include:

zz Monthly team briefing sessions – the Accountable Officer and Clinical Chair hold monthly briefing sessions 
for all staff, including Commissioning Support Unit staff.  These briefings cover all aspects of the CCG’s 
business including financial and performance positions, policies and procedures and developments. This is 
complemented by issue of a written Monthly Team Brief bulletin which follows the meeting 

zz Development of ‘CCG Live’ which holds information on all team briefs, policies, procedures and other 
information.

zz A monthly coffee morning (I hour) hosted on rotation by each department attended by CCG staff and 
Directors in the building at the time to ensure strong networking and sharing of work related information 
across Directorates

zz The CCG Executive team meet with senior managers regularly.

Managers hold regular one-to-one meetings with staff and a robust appraisal system ensures all staff work 
towards clearly defined personal objectives which are supported with learning, training and development 
opportunities.

Staff Survey

The CCG carried out a staff engagement survey in its first year and plans to repeat the exercise in 2015-16. 
The formation of the organisational development group will ensure that key feedback from staff surveys and 
other fora is considered and acted upon on a ‘you said, we did’ basis.
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Disabled employees

The CCG has developed an integrated approach to delivering workforce equality so it does not have a 
separate policy for disabled employees, but it has incorporated equalities issues in policies covering all aspects 
of employee management ranging from recruitment to performance to discipline.

The CCG’s aim is to operate in ways which do not discriminate our potential or current employees with any of 
protected characteristics specified in the Equality Act 2010 and to support our employees to maximise their 
performance, including making any reasonable adjustments that may be required on a case by case basis.

The CCG publishes their employee profile by each of the nine protected characteristics. This helps the 
organisation to identify and address areas of under representation in a systematic manner as and when 
opportunities arise.

Emergency preparedness, resilience & response 

We certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which are fully 
compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013. The clinical 
commissioning group regularly reviews and makes improvements to its major incident plan and has a 
programme for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing Body. 

The CCG has also reviewed our service providers EPRR plans and has worked with local emergency planning 
officers in the NHS and partner agencies to ensure the local services are prepared and able to cope with 
emergency and untoward events.  

Disclosure of personal data related incidents

There have not been any incidents relating to the loss of data or confidentiality breaches in year that have 
required reporting

Health and Safety

O/s

Fraud

The CCG has had policies and procedures to counter fraud in place throughout the year. In addition the CCG 
has commissioned a counter fraud service which provides a pro active service to help prevent and detect 
fraud as well as a service to investigate allegations of fraud

Better Payment Practice Code

Details of the CCG’s performance against the better payment practice code are given in note XX in the 
annual accounts.

Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms: 

zz So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the clinical 
commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware

zz That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make 
them self aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s 
auditor is aware of that information. 

Mary Hutton 
Accountable Officer 

28 May 2015
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Remuneration Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG

Name & Title

2014-15

Salary 
& Fees 

(bands of 
£5,000)

Taxable 
Benefits 
(rounded 

to 
nearest 

£00)

Annual 
Performance 

Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Long Term 
Performance 

Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Sub-toal 
(bands of 

bands)

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500)*

Total 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Dr Helen Miller, Clinical Chair 85-90 - - - 85-90 0-2.5 85-90 

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair 80-85 - - - 80-85 5-7.5 85-90

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer 140-145 - - - 140-145 2.5-5 140-145

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable 
Officer/Director of Commissioning 
Implementation 

110-115 - - - 110-115 - 110-115

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer 105-110 - - - 105-110 - 105-110

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and 
Service Redesign (from 02/06/2014) 

75-80 - - - 75-80 5-7.5 80-85

Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (North Cotswolds)

45-50 - - - 45-50 72.5-75 115-120

Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 

20-25 - - - 20-25 - 20-25

Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (South Cotswolds) 

45-50 - - - 45-50 - 45-50

Dr Martin Gibbs, Clinical Commissioning Lead  
(Forest Of Dean) 

45-50 - - - 45-50 22.5-25 65-70

Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead 
(Gloucester City) 

45-50 - - - 45-50 - 45-50

Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead  
(Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 

45-50 - - - 45-50 25-27.5 70-75

Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (Tewkesbury, Newent & Staunton)

45-50 - - - 45-50 7.5-10 50-55

Julie Clatworthy, Registered Nurse 20-25 - - - 20-25 - 20-25

Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse 
& Quality Lead 

95-100 - - - 95-100 - 95-100

Alan Elkin, Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement/Involvement 

15-20 - - - 15-20 - 15-20

Colin Greaves, Lay Member, Governance 15-20 - - - 15-20 - 15-20

Valerie Webb, Lay Member, Business 
5-10 - - - 5-10 - 5-10

Steve Allder, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor Payment is made to Dr Allder’s host Trust (Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust)

Dr Peter Brambleby, Interim Director of Public 
Health at Gloucestershire County Council 

No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG

Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social 
Care at Gloucestershire County Council 

No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG

* These figures are purely the benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of the NHS Pensions Scheme. These are the aggregate input 
amounts, calculated using the method set out in section 229 of the Finance Act 2004(1). Para 10(1)(e)(ii)(cc) of sch8 of 2013/1981 (update to the 
Finance Act 2004):
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Name & Title

2013-14

Salary 
& Fees 

(bands of 
£5,000)

Taxable 
Benefits 
(rounded 

to 
nearest 

£00)

Annual 
Performance 

Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Long Term 
Performance 

Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Sub-toal 
(bands of 

bands)

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Dr Helen Miller, Clinical Chair 85-90 - - - 85-90 340-342.5 425-430 

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair 75-80 - - - 75-80 155-157.5 235-240

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer 140-145 - - - 140-145 22.5-25 160-165

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable 
Officer/Director of Commissioning 
Implementation 

105-110 - - - 105-110 25-27.5 135-140

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer 105-110 - - - 105-110 97.5-100 205-210

Jonathan Jeanes, Director of Transformation 
and Service Redesign (to 31/03/2014) 

60-65 - - - 60-65 282.5-285 345-350

Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (North Cotswolds) 

40-45 - - - 40-45 185-187.5 230-235

Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 

20-25 - - - 20-25 380-382.5 400-405

Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (South Cotswolds) 

40-45 - - - 40-45 - 40-45

Dr Martin Gibbs, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (Forest Of Dean) 

40-45 - - - 40-45 152.5-155 195-200

Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead 
(Gloucester City) 

40-45 - - - 40-45 247.5-250 290-295

Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 

40-45 - - - 40-45 - 40-45

Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning 
Lead (Tewkesbury, Newent & Staunton)  

40-45 - - - 40-45 160-162.5 205-210

Julie Clatworthy, Registered Nurse 15-20 - - - 15-20 - 15-20

Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse 
& Quality Lead 

95-100 - - - 95-100 - 95-100

Alan Elkin, Lay Member, Patient and Public 
Engagement/Involvement 

5-10 - - - 5-10 -  5-10

Colin Greaves, Lay Member, Governance 15-20 - - - 15-20 - 15-20

Rob Rees, Lay Member, Patient And Public 
Engagement/Involvement 

5-10 - - - 5-10 - 5-10

Valerie Webb, Lay Member, Business 5-10 - - - 5-10 - 5-10

Steve Allder, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor Payment is made to Dr Allder’s host Trust (Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust)

Dr Alice Walsh, Interim Director of Public 
Health at Gloucestershire County Council 

No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG

Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social 
Care at Gloucestershire County Council 

No payment is received from NHS Gloucestershire CCG

The calculation of the All Pension Related Benefits has been undertaken in accordance with the guidance applying the 
issued formula and using the information issued from the NHS Pensions Agency for each individual. The calculation 
for 2013/14 reflects the impact of individuals transferring in at the start of a new organisation, however, the resulting 
figure is not representative of the pension benefits earned in year.
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Pensions Report

Pensions Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG 
2014/15 
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Dr Helen Miller, Clinical Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 50-55 307 22 338 12

Dr Andrew Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 25-30 144 19 167 11

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer 0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 85-90 554 36 605 19

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable Officer/Director of 
Commissioning Implementation

0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 85-90 424 21 457 15

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 90-95 490 23 526 15

Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 40-45 166 12 185 11

Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning Lead (North Cotswolds) 2.5-5 10-12.5 12.5-15 35-40 145 57 205 6

Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) (0-2.5) (0-2.5) 15-20 50-55 394 7 412 3

Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning Lead (South Cotswolds) 
Dr Martin Gibbs, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest Of Dean) 0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 45-50 270 36 313 6

Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Gloucester City) 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 35-40 199 10 215 6

Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 0-2.5 5-7.5 5-10 15-20 74 19 95 8

Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Tewkesbury, Newent & 
Staunton)

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 124 12 139 6

Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse & Quality Lead

Steve Allder, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor Dr Allder is not an employee of NHS Gloucestershire CCG and 
payment is made to his host Trust (Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust)

Pensions Report for NHS Gloucestershire CCG 
2013/14
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Dr Helen Miller, Clinical Chair 15-17.5 45-47.5 15-20 45-50 13 294 307 12

Dr Andy Seymour, Deputy Clinical Chair 5-7.5 20-22.5 5-10 20-25 24 120 144 11

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer 0-2.5 5-7.5 25-30 85-90 504 51 566 21

Mark Walkingshaw, Deputy Accountable Officer/Director of 
Commissioning Implementation

0-2.5 2.5-5 25-30 80-85 379 36 424 15

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer 2.5-5 12.5-15 25-30 85-90 389 92 490 15

Jonathan Jeanes, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign 7.5-10 25-27.5 10-15 35-40 0 114 169 9

Dr Caroline Bennett, Clinical Commissioning Lead (North Cotswolds) 7.5-10 25-27.5 5-10 25-30 9 135 145 6

Dr Charles Buckley, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 15-17.5 50-52.5 15-20 50-55 24 369 394 3

Dr Malcolm Gerald, Clinical Commissioning Lead (South Cotswolds) Dr Gerald has opted out of the NHS Pension Scheme

Dr Martin Gibbs, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Forest Of Dean) 5-7.5 20-22.5 10-15 40-45 124 143 270 6

Dr Will Haynes, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Gloucester City) 10-12.5 32.5-35 10-15 35-40 9 190 199 6

Dr Hein Le Roux, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Stroud & Berkeley Vale) 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 15-20 70 2 74 6

Dr Jeremy Welch, Clinical Commissioning Lead (Tewkesbury, Newent & 
Staunton)

5-7.5 20-22.5 5-10 25-30 31 93 124 6

Dr Marion Andrews-Evans – Executive Nurse & Quality Lead Dr Andrews-Evans has opted out of the NHS Pension Scheme

Dr Steve Allder, Secondary Care Clinical Advisor
Dr Allder is not an employee of NHS Gloucestershire CCG and 
payment is made to his host Trust (Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust)
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement 
when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme 
or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension 
service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed 
by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start 
and end of the period.

Remuneration Committee

Details of the membership of the Remuneration Committee can be found in the Governance Statement. 
All Remuneration Committee members are also members of the CCG’s Governing Body. During the year all 
meetings were quorate.

As senior management contracts are substantive and not fixed term, there is no ‘unexpired term’; all 
contracts have notice periods of between three and six months. 

Certain Members do not receive pensionable remuneration therefore there will be no entries in respect of 
pensions for certain Members.

The pension figures have been supplied by the NHS Pensions Agency and they have not been subject to any 
actuarial assessment by the CCG.

Where appropriate the pension cost in the above table include costs in relation to employment other than 
with the CCG but do not include payments in relation to general practice.

Pay Multiples
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid 
director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the governing body in the CCG in the financial year 
2014/15 was £140-145k. This was 4.01 (4.13 in 2013/14) times the median remuneration of the workforce 
which was £35,536. The movement in year has been caused by the median salary for the organisation 
increasing in relation to the Accountable Officers pay.

In 2014/15, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of the 
governing body. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-
in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Mary Hutton 
Accountable Officer 

28 May 2015
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Senior Manager Remuneration

Senior manager remuneration for the CCG has been set with reference to the guidance “Clinical 
Commissioning Groups: Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where the senior manager also 
undertakes the accountable officer role) and Chief Finance Officers”.

The CCG has not yet agreed a policy for performance related pay for its senior managers.

Senior managers’ contracts

The start dates of senior managers who served on the CCG’s Governing Body are shown within the 
remuneration table on page 34. 

No special provision for early termination has been detailed in the contracts of individuals and any payments 
would be limited to those incurred under a standard Agenda For Change contract. 

Off Payroll Engagements

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six 
months are as follows:

Number
The number that have existed:

 - for less than one year at the time of reporting 3
 - for between one and two years at the time of reporting 2
 - for between two and three years at the time of reporting -
 - for between three and four years at the time of reporting -
 - for four or more years at the time of reporting -

Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 5

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a risk based 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, 
where necessary, that assurance has been sought.

Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 
2014 and 31 March 2015

4

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the clinical commissioning group 
the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations

-

Number for whom assurance has been requested 4
Of which, the number:

 - For whom assurance has been received 3
 - For whom assurance has not been received 1
 - That have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received -
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Governing Body Profiles
Profiles of Governing Body members are available on the CCG’s website at:

http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/the-governing-body/
Details of membership of each sub committee of the Governing Body are given in the Governance Statement.

The Register of Interests is given below:

Name Role Relevant Business Interests
Dr Steven Allder Secondary Care Doctor  z Consultant for Kings Fund
Dr Marion 
Andrews-Evans

Executive Nurse & Quality Lead  z Director Advancing Care Ltd, Advancing Care Ltd in Wales to support 
people with long term needs

 z Visiting Lecturer, University of Gloucestershire
Dr Caroline 
Bennett

GP Locality Lead  z GP Partner Cotswold Medical Practice inc Dispensing Medication

 z Member/Shareholder of Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z Husband is a consultant Anaesthetist both at Gloucestershire Hospitals 
NHS Trust and in private practice trading as Gloucestershire Anaesthetic 
Services LLP

 z Husband is involved in medical research

 z Practice holds the contract for medical cover for the Intermediate Care 
Unit at Kingham Ward, Jubilee Lodge, Bourton on the Water

Dr Charles Buckley GP Locality Lead  z GP partnership, the Surgery, Frampton on Severn, inc dispensing 
medication

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z Trustee in 2 local charities Pinching Memorial Trust and John Buckley 
Memorial Trust 

Dr Peter 
Brambleby

Interim Director of Public 
Health (until 2nd April 2015) 
Gloucestershire County Council

 z Sole owner and Director of ‘Brambleby Consultancy Ltd’ and in that 
capcity employed as part-time interim DPH to GCC via Gatenby 
Sanderson and Comensura respectively

 z In non-GCC time have received payment for training events in healthcare, 
chiefly funded via the Department of Health or private consultancy firms

Julie Clatworthy Registered Nurse  z Director – Think Ahead in Health Care Ltd

 z Shareholder in Think Ahead in Health Care Ltd

 z Standing member of Quality Standards Advisory Committee at NICE 
(appointed 2012) 

 z Member of the RCN
Alan Elkin Lay Member Nothing to declare

Dr Malcolm Gerald GP Locality Lead  z Senior Partner Romney House Surgery, Tetbury, GL8 8AA

 z Member of the Medical Advisory Committee for Tetbury Hospital (a 
quality group only)

 z Tetbury Hospital Trust – local community hospital charitable trust

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation
Dr Martin Gibbs GP Locality Lead  z Partner in Forest of Dean Complimentary and Medical Services

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z Employed by Poplars Resettlement Limited, a company caring for those 
with learning disability

 z Partner in Blakeney Surgery. Practice holds Community Hospital contract 
with Gloucestershire Care Services for in-patient care at Dilke and 
Lydney Hospitals. Blakeney Surgery is a member of the Primary Care 
Research Network

 z Paid to chair and to speak at meetings sponsored by various 
pharmaceutical companies where main purpose of meeting is the 
improvement of NHS services 

Colin Greaves Lay Member – Governance  z Audit Committee member to the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Gloucestershire Constabulary

 z Director of the Arts in Rural Gloucestershire (arts based charity) – 
resigned August 2014
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Dr Will Haynes GP Locality Lead  z GP partnership, Hadwen Medical Practice inc. dispensing medication

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z Attends various post graduate education and development meetings 
sometimes sponsored by Pharmaceutical companies

 z Wife is a Consultant Breast Surgeon at Gloucestershire Acute Hospital 
Foundation Trust

Mary Hutton Accountable Officer Nothing to declare
Cath Leech Chief Finance Officer Nothing to declare
Dr Hein Le Roux GP Locality Lead  z GP Partner at Minchinhampton Practice 

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z West of England Academic Health Science Network – Primary Care GP 
lead

 z Wife is a GP retainer at Orchard Medical Practice. She also does some out 
of hours shifts for GWAS

 z Attendance at various educational events some of which are sponsored 
by drug companies.

 z Health and Wellbeing Board Member

 z Clinical Commissioning Champion for Royal College of 
General Practitioners

Dr Helen Miller Clinical Chair  z Partner in GMS Practice, The College Yard and Highnam Surgeries

 z Practice is a member of The Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z The GMS Practice provides cover over and above their GMS contract 
with The Dean Neurological Rehabilitation Centre Gloucester, owned by 
Ramsay Health Care and are remunerated accordingly.

 z Sit on the Council of Governors for 2gether Trust (as an appointed CCG 
representative )

Ellen Rule Director of Transformation and 
Service Redesign

 z Member of the NICE Technology Appraisal Committee (Public 
Appointment).  NICE pay travel expenses but no remuneration is received 
for committee attendance. 
Visiting Lecturer in Health Economics at University of Birmingham 
Medical School.  Paid for time spent lecturing (last year this equated to 2 
x 1 hour lectures) and travel expenses to attend.

Dr Andy Seymour Deputy Clinical Chair  z Full Time partner in Heathville Medical Practice

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z Sit on Council of Governors of GHTFT (but as CCG rep)
Mark Walkingshaw Director of Commissioning 

Implementation
Nothing to declare

Valerie Webb Lay Member – Business  z Magistrate duties in Adult Criminal & Family Courts in Gloucestershire
Dr Jeremy Welch GP Locality Lead  z GP Partner – Jesmond House Practice Tewkesbury (to become Mythe 

Medical Practice 1/4/15);

 z Practice is a member of the Gloucestershire GP Provider Organisation

 z Work for OOH GP services on locum basis (was GCS, now SWASFT)
Margaret Willcox Director of Adult Social Care 

Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC)

 z Commissioning Director: Adults of DASS, GCC

Premises
The CCG operates from Sanger House 

NHS Gloucestershire CCG 
Sanger House 
5220 Valiant Court 
Gloucester Business Park 
Brockworth, Gloucester 
GL3 4FE

*A number of our GPs attend post-graduate education and development events that are sometimes 
sponsored by pharmaceutical companies.
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Sustainability Report

As a commissioning organisation almost 100% of NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCGs) 
carbon footprint comes from commissioning and procurement as illustrated in the below graph. As such GCCG 
has a significant role in ensuring that commissioned services contribute to a healthier environment.
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Figure 2. Waste breakdown in tonnes

Category % CO2e

Energy 0.08%

Travel 0.02%

Procurement 11.67%

Commissioning 88.23%

Table 1. Proportion of carbon footprint

To reduce the carbon emissions along care pathways (the patient’s journey through care) it is critical that we 
understand where the carbon hotspots are.

In recognition of this, GCCG contributed to the guidance on sustainable care pathways which is currently 
being finalised by the NHS Sustainable Development Unit. 

GCCG works with providers to ensure that they are enhancing their environmental performance through 
auditing sustainability policies and plans and giving feedback where there is scope for improvement. There is 
a great deal that providers can learn from one another so the CCG shares this best practice across the trusts.  

GCCG recognises that the local environment in which people live has a significant influence on health and 
wellbeing. As the lead commissioner for health, the CCG has brought together other NHS trusts in the area, 
along with NHS England and the local authority, in a partnership known as the Local Plan Network. The 
network provides a health and sustainability response to local planning and housing growth to ensure that 
new growth maximises the promotion of healthy, low carbon lifestyles through active travel routes, green 
spaces and community spaces to allow people to come together to reduce social isolation.

GCCG recognises that pharmaceutical products make up 20% of the carbon footprint of the NHS and as 
such continues to review and take action to combat medicine waste.

We have ensured that there has been an increase in the use of electronic prescribing during 2014/15. When 
patients use this service all items are checked by the pharmacists resulting in a net decrease in medicines 
waste. The introduction of the respiratory formulary will help to reduce the variety of inhaler types used 
in Gloucestershire which will mean more effective utilisation of medication due to familiarity with the 
equipment.

The CCG encourages all staff to adopt sustainable behaviours both where we work and when we 
commission. The Quality team has been trained in the principles of sustainable healthcare and these principles 
will be further cascaded across the organisation in 
the coming year.

Figure 1. Proportions of carbon footprint

The CCG is based from a single building in 
Gloucestershire and encourages working from home 
and smarter ways of working such as Webex and 
videoconferencing.    

Business mileage has risen this year as staff numbers 
increase and we will be taking action to address this 
at the start of 2015/16. Almost 2/3 of waste from 
the head office is recycled and we looking to further 
increase this in the coming year. 
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NHS Gloucestershire CCG 2014 - 15 Annual Accounts
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 
2015

2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 8,109 6,397

Operating Expense 702,131 683,442

Other operating revenue (21,108) (17,754)

Net operating costs before interest 689,132 672,084

Investment revenue -  -

Other (gains)/losses -  -

Finance costs -  -

Net operating costs for the financial year 689,132 672,084

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption

Net operating costs for the financial year including absorption transfers 689,132 672,084

Of which:

Administration Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 6,879 5,385

Operating Expenses 6,713 9,183

Other operating revenue (147) (427)

Net administration costs before interest 13,445 14,142

Programme Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 1,230 1,011

Operating Expenses 695,418 674,258

Other operating revenue (20,961) (17,327)

Net programme expenditure before interest 675,687 657,942

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
£000 £000

Impairments and reversals -  -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment -  -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles -  -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets -  -

Movements in other reserves -  -

Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets -  -

Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale -  -

Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes -  -

Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures -  -

Reclassification Adjustments

On disposal of available for sale financial assets -  -

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 689,132 672,084
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 188  61 
Intangible assets -  - 
Investment property -  - 
Trade and other receivables -  - 
Other financial assets -  - 

Total non-current assets 188  61 

Current assets:
Inventories -  - 
Trade and other receivables 6,150 8,350 
Other financial assets -  - 
Other current assets -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents 104  30 

Total current assets 6,254 8,380 

Non-current assets held for sale -  - 

Total current assets 6,254 8,380 

Total assets 6,442 8,441 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (40,361) (42,948)
Other financial liabilities -  - 
Other liabilities -  - 
Borrowings -  - 
Provisions (863)  (870) 

Total current liabilities (41,224) (43,818) 

Total Assets less Current Liabilities (34,782) (35,378)

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables -  - 
Other financial liabilities -  - 
Other liabilities -  - 
Borrowings -  - 
Provisions -  - 

Total non-current liabilities -  - 

Total Assets Employed (34,782) (35,378)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (34,782) (35,378)
Revaluation reserve -  - 
Other reserves -  - 
Charitable Reserves -  - 

Total taxpayers’ equity: (34,782) (35,378)

The financial statements were approved by the Governing Body on 28 May 2015 and signed on its behalf 
by:

Accountable Officer 
Mary Hutton
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2015
General 

fund
Revaluation 

reserve
Other 

reserves
Total 

reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (35,378)  -  - (35,378)
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS Bodies as a 
result of the 1 April 2013 transition

-  -  - - 

Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2014 (35,378)  -  - (35,378) 

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Net operating costs for the financial year (689,132)  -  - (689,132)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  -  -  -  - 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets  -  -  -  - 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve  -  -  -  - 

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale  -  -  -  - 

Impairments and reversals  -  -  -  - 

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions  -  -  -  - 

Movements in other reserves  -  -  -  - 

Transfers between reserves  -  -  -  - 
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure

 -  -  -  - 

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale 
financial assets

 -  -  -  - 

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies  -  -  -  - 
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred 
under absorption

 -  -  -  - 

Reserves eliminated on dissolution  -  -  -  - 

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (724,510)  -  - (724,510)

Net funding 689,728  -  - 689,728 

Balance at 31 March 2015 (34,782)  -  - (34,782)
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity 2013-14
General 

fund
Revaluation 

reserve
Other 

reserves
Total 

reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Balance at 1 April 2013  -  -  -  - 
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS Bodies as a 
result of the 1 April 2013 transition

586  -  - 586 

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from 
closed NHS bodies

 -  -  -  - 

Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2013 586  -  - 586 

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Net operating costs for the financial year (672,084)  -  - (672,084)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  -  -  -  - 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets  -  -  -  - 

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve  -  -  -  - 

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale  -  -  -  - 

Impairments and reversals  -  -  -  - 

Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions  -  -  -  - 

Movements in other reserves  -  -  -  - 

Transfers between reserves  -  -  -  - 
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure

 -  -  -  - 

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale 
financial assets

 -  -  -  - 

Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies  -  -  -  - 
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred 
under absorption

 -  -  -  - 

Reserves eliminated on dissolution  -  -  -  - 

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (671,498)  -  - (671,498)

Net funding 636,120  -  - 636,120 

Balance at 31 March 2014 (35,378)  -  - (35,378)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating costs for the financial year  (689,132)  (672,084)
Depreciation and amortisation  20  525 
Impairments and reversals  -  - 
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash  -  - 
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash  -  - 
Interest paid  -  - 
Release of PFI deferred credit  -  - 
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  -  - 
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables  2,200  (8,350)
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  -  - 
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables  (2,735)  42,948 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  -  - 
Provisions utilised  -  - 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (7)  870 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities  (689,653)  (636,090)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received  -  - 
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment  -  - 
(Payments) for intangible assets  -  - 
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health  -  - 
(Payments) for other financial assets  -  - 
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)  -  - 
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment  -  - 
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets  -  - 
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health  -  - 
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets  -  - 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)  -  - 
Loans made in respect of LIFT  -  - 
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT  -  - 
Rental revenue  -  - 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities  -  - 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing  (689,653)  (636,090)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding received  689,728  636,120 
Other loans received  -  - 
Other loans repaid  -  - 
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of 
Financial Position PFI and LIFT  -  - 

Capital grants and other capital receipts  -  - 
Capital receipts surrendered  -  - 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities  689,728  636,120 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents  75  30 
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year  30  - 
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents 
held in foreign currencies  -  - 

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the 
Financial Year  104  30 
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Summary Financial Statements
The summary financial statements show the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the 
financial year 2013/14. They are a summary of the information in the full accounts which are available on 
request from the
Chief Financial Officer,
NHS Gloucestershire CCG,
Sanger House,
5220 Valiant Way,
Gloucester Business Park,
Brockworth,
Gloucester. 
GL3 4FE.

Financial performance targets
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows:

See 
below

NHS Act 
2006 Section

2014-15 
Target

2014-15 
Performance

Met 
(Y/N)?

2013-14 
Target

2013-14 
Performance

Met 
(Y/N)?

£000 £000 £000 £000
Expenditure not to exceed 
income (i.e. to report 
surplus)

2.1 223H (1) 8,476 8,494 Yes 6,757 6,806 Yes

Capital resource use does 
not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions

2.2 223I (2) Nil Nil Yes Nil Nil Yes

Revenue resource use 
does not exceed the 
amount specified in 
Directions

2.1 223I (3) 697,626 689,132 Yes 678,890 672,084 Yes

Capital resource use on 
specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions

2.2 223J (1) 161 147 Yes Nil Nil Yes

Revenue resource use on 
specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 
(e.g. capital grants)

2.3 223J (2) Nil Nil Yes Nil Nil Yes

Revenue administration 
resource use does not 
exceed the amount 
specified in Directions

2.4 223J (3) 15,996 13,445 Yes 15,090 14,142 Yes

2014-15 2013-14
2.1 Performance against Revenue Resource limit £000 £000
From Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Net operating cost for the financial year 689,132 672,084
Net gain/(loss) on transfers by absorption 0 0

689,132 672,084
Revenue Resource Limit 697,626 678,890

Under/(Over) spend against Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) 8,494 6,806

2.2 Performance against Capital Resource limit 2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Capital Expenditure (Note 14) 147 0
Capital Resource Limit 161 0

Under/(Over) spend against Capital Resource Limit (RRL) 14 Nil

2.3 Revenue resource use on specified matters
The CCG did not receive any Revenue Resource Limit in 2014/15 for use on specified matters.
2.4 Performance against Revenue administration resource 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000
From Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Gross employee benefits 6,879 5,385
Other costs 6,713 9,183
Other operating revenue (147) (427)

13,445 14,142
Revenue administration resource (“running costs” allocation) 15,996 15,090

Under/(Over) spend against Revenue administration resource 2,551 948
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Statement of the responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer of Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group shall have 
an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS England. NHS England has appointed 
the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of 
the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper accounting records 
(which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) 
and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning 
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical 
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis 
set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, 
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of 
the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular to: 

zz Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

zz Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

zz State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts issued by the 
Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements; and, 

zz Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Mary Hutton

Accountable Officer 

28 May 2015
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Introduction and Context

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from the 1st April 2013 under provisions enacted in the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.

As at 1st April 2014, the Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed without conditions. 

The mission of the Clinical Commissioning Group is to commission excellent and modern health services 
on behalf of the NHS for all people in Gloucestershire through effective clinical leadership, with particular 
focus on patient safety and continuous improvements in the patient experience. The Group promotes 
good governance and proper stewardship of public resources in pursuance of its goals and in meeting its 
statutory duties.

Scope of Responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports 
the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and 
regularity.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have reported on our 
corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the Clinical Commissioning Group. I consider 
that the organisation complies with the majority of principles and standards of best practices and where there 
are gaps, for instance in Governing Body member induction training, action is in hand to rectify this.

The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate arrangements for 
ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.

The Constitution of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) establishes the principles and values in 
commissioning care for the people of Gloucestershire. The Constitution outlines the governance structure 
of the organisation and details the role and responsibilities of the Governing Body, its members and sub-
committees.

The Governing Body has the functions conferred on it by sections 14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 Act, inserted 
by section 25 the 2012 Act, together with any other functions connected with its main functions as may be 
specified in regulations. The Governing Body:

a. ensures the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance;

b. determines the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing 
services to the Clinical Commissioning Group and the allowances payable under any pension scheme 
it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 of the 
2012 Act;

c. approves any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations that the membership will delegate to 
their Governing Body;

d. ensures that the register of interest is reviewed regularly, and updated as necessary; and

e. ensures that all conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest are declared.

Governance Statement
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During the year, the Governing Body comprised the following members:

CCG Chair (Dr Helen Miller)

Deputy Clinical Chair (Dr Andy Seymour)

GP Member (Dr Caroline Bennett)

GP Member (Dr Charles Buckley)

GP Member (Dr Malcolm Gerald)

GP Member (Dr Martin Gibbs)

GP Member (Dr Will Haynes)

GP Member (Dr Hein Le Roux)

GP Member (Dr Jeremy Welch)

Accountable Officer (Mary Hutton)

Chief Finance Officer (Cath Leech)

Interim Director of Public Health (Dr Peter Brambleby)

Director of Adult Social Care (Margaret Willcox)

Registered Nurse (Julie Clatworthy)

Secondary Care Specialist (Dr Steve Allder)

Lay Member – Governance (Colin Greaves)

Lay Member – Business (Valerie Webb)

Vice Chair and Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement (Alan Elkin)

Executive Nurse and Quality Lead (Dr Marion Andrews-Evans)

Director of Commissioning Implementation (Mark Walkingshaw)

Director of Transformation and Service Redesign (Ellen Rule)

The terms of reference for the Governing Body, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum for 
meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.

The Governing Body has established the following five committees:

zz Audit Committee

zz Remuneration Committee

zz Integrated Governance and Quality Committee;

zz Priorities Committee; and

zz Primary Care Commissioning Committee.

A self-assessment of the organisation, including an analysis of the performance of the Governing Body, was 
undertaken in December 2013. This review considered the degree of compliance with the Draft Framework 
of Excellence in Clinical Commissioning, published by NHS England. The conclusion of this review was that 
there was a good level of compliance with the Framework principles and that the organisation was generally 
operating well. A small number of areas were identified where performance could be improved and an action 
plan to address these was formulated and included in the CCG’s work programme.

The Audit Committee provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the CCG’s 
financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the 
CCG in so far as they relate to finance. 
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The Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Lay Member - Governance and Audit Committee Chair (Colin Greaves)

Deputy Clinical Chair (Andy Seymour)

GP Member (Hein Le Roux)

Lay Member – Business (Valerie Webb)

Vice Chair and Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement (Alan Elkin)

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum for 
meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.

The Remuneration Committee considers the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and 
for people who provide services to the Clinical Commissioning Group and regarding allowances under any 
pension scheme that the Group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.  

The Remuneration Committee comprises the following members:

Vice Chair, Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement and Remuneration Committee Chair 

(Alan Elkin)

CCG Chair (Helen Miller)

Deputy Clinical Chair (Andy Seymour)

GP Member (Jeremy Welch)

Lay Member - Governance (Colin Greaves)

Lay Member – Business (Valerie Webb)

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee, contained within the Constitution, states the 
quorum for meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.

The role of the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee is to ensure that controls and processes are in 
place to continuously improve the delivery of healthcare services to the people of Gloucestershire, so ensuring 
that the services are of high quality, clinically effective and safe, within available resources. The Committee 
ensures that controls are in place and are operating efficiently and effectively to deliver the principal 
objectives of the Governing Body and to set in place processes to manage identified risks, minimising the 
Clinical Commissioning Group’s exposure to corporate, and clinical risks. The Committee has a pro-active 
approach to the management of risk and quality, ensuring the organisation learns and takes appropriate 
corrective action.
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The Integrated Governance Committee comprises the following members: 

Registered Nurse and IGQC Chair (Julie Clatworthy)

CCG Chair (Helen Miller)

GP Member (Caroline Bennett)

GP Member (Charles Buckley)

GP Member (Malcolm Gerald)

GP Member (Martin Gibbs)

Accountable Officer (Mary Hutton)

Chief Finance Officer (Cath Leech)

Interim Director of Public Health (Peter Brambleby)

Secondary Care Specialist (Steve Allder)

Lay Member- Governance (Colin Greaves)

Lay Member – Business (Valerie Webb)

Vice Chair and Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement (Alan Elkin)

Executive Nurse and Quality Lead (Marion Andrews-Evans)

Director of Commissioning Implementation and Deputy Accountable Officer (Mark Walkingshaw)

The terms of reference for the Integrated Governance Committee, contained within the Constitution, states 
the quorum for meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.

The purpose of the Priorities Committee is to advise the local NHS health economy as to the health care 
interventions and policies that should be given high or low priority. The Priorities Committee helps the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and its Localities choose how to allocate its resources to promote the health of the 
local community, based on the local health needs assessment.

The Priorities Committee comprises the following members: 

CCG Chair (Helen Miller)

Deputy Clinical Chair (Andy Seymour)

GP Member (Caroline Bennett)

GP Member (Charles Buckley)

GP Member (Malcolm Gerald)

GP Member (Martin Gibbs)

GP Member (Will Haynes)

GP Member (Hein Le Roux)

GP Member (Jeremy Welch)

Accountable Officer (Mary Hutton)

Chief Finance Officer (Cath Leech)

Interim Director of Public Health (Peter Brambleby)

Director of Adult Social Care (Margaret Willcox)

Registered Nurse (Julie Clatworthy)

Secondary Care Specialist (Steve Allder)
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Lay Member- Governance (Colin Greaves)

Lay Member – Business (Valerie Webb)

Vice Chair and Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement (Alan Elkin)

Executive Nurse and Quality Lead (Marion Andrews-Evans)

Director of Commissioning Implementation (Mark Walkingshaw)

Director of Transformation and Service Redesign (Ellen Rule)

The terms of reference for the Priorities Committee, contained within the Constitution, states the quorum for 
meetings, which was achieved on all occasions.

The purpose of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee, which was established towards the end of the 
Financial Year, is to manage the delivery of those elements of the primary care healthcare services delegated 
by NHS England to the Clinical Commissioning Group working within the context of the overall Clinical 
Commissioning Group Plan. The aim will be to deliver to the people of Gloucestershire, on behalf of the 
organisation, services that are of high quality, clinically effective and safe, within available resources.

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee comprises the following members: 

Lay Member – Patient and Public Engagement and PCCC Chair (Alan Elkin)

Lay Member – Governance (Colin Greaves)

Accountable Officer (Mary Hutton)

Chief Finance Officer (Cath Leech)

Executive Nurse and Quality Lead (Marion Andrews-Evans)

Registered Nurse (Julie Clatworthy)

GP Member (Andy Seymour)

The terms of reference for the Primary Care Commissioning Committee, contained within the Constitution, 
states the quorum for meetings. The inaugural meeting of this Committee is due to be held in May 2015.

The guidance contained within the UK Corporate Governance Code (Sept 2012) and the NHS CCG Code 
of Governance (Nov 2013) has been drawn upon. The guidance contained within the Code has enabled a 
detailed review of governance. I consider that the organisation complies with the principles and standards of 
best practices. 

The arrangements in place for the discharge of statutory functions have been reviewed for any irregularities 
as part of the internal and external audit work and are considered to be legally compliant. Further assurance 
has been obtained through the work of the Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer, the Governing Body 
and the Audit Committee. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has followed guidance issued by NHS England on the role and powers of 
clinical commissioning groups and employs experienced and well qualified staff. Legal advice and the views 
of the NHS England Local Area Team have been sought to obtain clarification and interpretation of laws, 
regulations and guidance, where appropriate.



63

The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework

The risk and control framework is outlined in the CCG’s Risk Management Policy. This document, along with 
the Risk Management Procedure, provides guidance on:

zz risk identification

zz risk analysis and assessment

zz risk treatment and control

zz risk reporting

zz communication and training

zz monitoring and review.

Directorate Risk Registers are maintained which are amalgamated into and form the Corporate Risk Register. 
The management of identified risks is the responsibility of nominated managers. The Corporate Risk Register 
is presented to the bi-monthly meetings of the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee, where the 
acceptability of the risk and the adequacy of the action plans are considered. 

The more significant strategic risks are also included in the Assurance Framework which is presented regularly 
to meetings of both the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee and the Governing Body. The primary 
function of the Assurance Framework is to outline the assurances that will be provided to the Governing Body 
regarding the achievement of the organisation’s Annual Objectives. 

The risk management processes, outlined in the Risk Management Policy and Procedure, and the risk 
reporting structure ensures that risk management has a high-profile in the organisation and is considered as 
an integral part of the organisation’s activities.

An ethical framework has been developed to support the Clinical Commissioning Group’s decision making 
process. All service change proposals are subject to equality impact assessments, the outcomes of which are 
considered as part of the decision making process. All senior staff have had training in undertaking equality 
impact assessments. In addition, all staff are required to undertake on-line equality and diversity training.

The Clinical Commissioning Group operates an electronic incident reporting system. All staff and members 
of the Clinical Commissioning Group are encouraged to report incidents in order that learning can be 
shared and risks of re-occurrence minimised. The incident reporting system is promoted through the 
organisation’s intranet.

The Clinical Commissioning Group is regularly in contact with over 1400 local public stakeholders through 
its stakeholder database. Stakeholders are invited to participate in engagement and consultation activities 
regarding proposed changes to services and are also invited to inform the procurement or re-procurement 
of services.

The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical commissioning 
group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, 
to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; 
it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Appended to the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Constitution are the following documents that form the 
basis of the internal control systems embedded within the organisation:

zz Standing Orders 

zz Scheme of Reservation and Delegation

zz Detailed Scheme of Delegation 

zz Prime Financial Policies
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The Chief Finance Officer reports on any risks to the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group 
at each meeting of the Governing Body. The Governing Body has also received updates on progress with the 
agreed QIPP efficiency programmes which are integral to the delivery of the financial plans.

Miscellaneous matters such as single tender actions and losses and special payments are reported to the 
Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee, which is accountable to the Group’s Governing Body, provides the Governing 
Body with an independent and objective view of the Group’s financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the Group insofar as they relate to finance.  The 
Governing Body has approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for the Audit Committee.

Information Governance

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS handles 
information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable information.  The NHS 
Information Governance Framework is supported by an Information Governance Toolkit and the annual 
submission process provides assurances to the Clinical Commissioning Group, other organisations and to 
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.

Information risk management is integrated with the Clinical Commissioning Group’s overall risk management 
strategy, and compliance with the Health and Social Care Information Centre information governance toolkit 
ensures all key information security risks are monitored and controlled. Via its informatics providers, Central 
Southern CSU and Countywide IT Services, the Clinical Commissioning Group operates secure information 
networks and systems. New systems and processes are assessed by governance and information security staff 
at the point of design or procurement, and appropriate safeguards to minimise risk are put in place. Incidents 
are reported on an online reporting tool and monitored by the CSU’s governance team with input from 
Information Governance and Information Security experts as required. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and processes in 
place to help protect patient and corporate information.  We have established an information governance 
management framework and are developing information governance processes and procedures in line with 
the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance 
training and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their 
information governance roles and responsibilities.

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. We are developing 
information risk assessment and management procedures and a programme will be established to fully 
embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation.

Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and 
Internal Control

Identified risks are assessed by the responsible managers in terms of likelihood and significance, using the 
matrix recommended by the National Patient Safety Agency.

During the year, eight risks graded as ‘High’ were identified by Clinical Commissioning Group managers. 
Summarised details of these are given below:

zz Risk of delayed diagnosis due to lack of timely response in Histology.

zz (Acute Care) Non-delivery of the Constitution standard for maximum wait of 4 hours within the 
emergency department.

zz (Signposting ) Risk of failure to maintain performance against agreed NHS111 Emergency Department 
attendance and ambulance dispatch targets.

zz Risk that the scale, complexity and unavoidable time constraints associated with the implementation of 
the agreed service model for strengthened health and social care integrated community teams across 
Gloucestershire means that the financial savings target allocated to this programme  as part of the  
Annual Operating Plan and prior to the completion of the Case for Change and Return of Investment 
are not realised along with the service objectives (given the significant change in the model of service 
delivery required).
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zz Risk of delayed diagnosis due to lack of timely response in Radiography.

zz Risk of legal challenge from unsuccessful bidders in the OOH procurement.

zz Delay in GHNHSFT issuing Cardiology letters which could result in appropriate treatment being delayed.

zz Specialised Commissioning transferring to NHS England leading to fragmentation of pathways; specific risk 
around the specialised services for children and young people with mental health problems.

No significant risks have been identified that specifically relate to:

zz the effectiveness of governance structures; 

zz the responsibilities of directors and committees; 

zz reporting lines and accountabilities between the Governing Body, its committees and sub-committees and 
the executive team; or

zz the submission of timely and accurate information to assess risks to compliance with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s licence. 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Standing Orders and Prime Financial Policies form the foundation of the 
control structure that ensures resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively. These documents 
are supplemented by budgetary control and other financial policies and procedures.

The internal audit review of the core financial systems and budgetary control provided assurance regarding 
these processes.

A detailed performance report is provided to each scheduled meeting of the Governing Body. These reports 
provide an overview of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s compliance against the organisational objectives 
and financial targets.

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal 
Control

As Accounting Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
within the Clinical Commissioning Group.

Capacity to handle risk 

The management of identified risks is the responsibility of nominated managers. The Corporate Risk Register 
is presented to the bi-monthly meetings of the Integrated Governance and Quality Committee where the 
adequacy of the risk assessments are considered. The more significant strategic risks are also included in 
the Assurance Framework which is presented regularly to meetings of both the Integrated Governance and 
Quality Committee and the Governing Body.

Appended to the Risk Management Policy is a detailed Risk Management Procedure which provides full 
guidance to managers and staff regarding the identification, recording and management of risks. The Risk 
Management Policy is available to all members of staff via the Clinical Commissioning Group intranet.

Review of Effectiveness

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the Clinical Commissioning Group who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.

The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage 
risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed.

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and the Integrated Governance and 
Quality Committee.
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The governance structure and internal control processes outlined in the Constitution have been reviewed 
during the year and a revised Constitution has been considered by the Governing Body and approved the 
member practices and NHS England. The internal control processes have been considered by both the Audit 
Committee and Integrated Governance and Quality Committee and subject to independent review by both 
the internal and external auditors.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist who provides a report of 
counter fraud activity to each meeting of the Audit Committee.

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical Commissioning Group, 
the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head 
of Internal Audit concluded that:

We are satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow an opinion to be given as 
to the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management and control. In giving this opinion, it 
should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal audit service can provide is 
reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in the system of internal control.

Opinion

Our opinion is as follows:

Based on the risk appetite and the internal audit plan agreed with you, we have completed our programme 
of work and we believe there are adequate and effective governance, risk management and control processes 
to enable the related risks to be managed and objectives to be met.During the year, Internal Audit has issued 
no audit reports with a conclusion of no, or limited assurance.

Basis of opinion

Our opinion is based on:

 z All audits undertaken during the year.

 z Any follow up action taken in respect of audits from previous periods.

 z Any limitations which may have been placed on the scope or resources of internal audit.

 z What proportion of the organisation’s audit needs have been covered to date.

The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and together with the opinion should be read in 
its entirety.

Commentary

The key factors that contributed to our opinion are summarised as follows:

 z We have completed the audit fieldwork for our programme of internal audit work for the year ended 
31 March 2015. However, we have yet to issue draft reports for our corporate governance review or our 
communications review. Currently, our work identified 20 Low, and 8 medium risk rated findings.

 z The review of QIPP was medium risk. This was due to three medium risk rated findings and three low 
risk rated findings in the operating effectiveness of the system. The medium risk rated findings related 
updates to the Health Perform system, reporting of KPI information, and incomplete QIPP project 
business cases.

 z The review of Information Governance was also rated as medium risk. This was due to a number 
of findings identified with regards to the updating of the information recorded in the Information 
Governance Toolkit. In addition, we also noted one medium risk rated finding in relation to the design 
of control regarding the responsible officer for each toolkit requirement.

During the year, Internal Audit has issued no audit reports with a conclusion of no, or limited assurance.

The CCG uses South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit, hosted by NHS England, to provide 
some commissioning support services.  In order to deliver assurance over the internal controls and control 
procedures operated by the CSU to its customers and their auditors, NHS England has chosen to engage 
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a reporting accountant to prepare a report on internal controls. The auditors issued a Type II report which 
provides assurance over the suitability of the design and operating effectiveness of the controls that are 
necessary to achieve the control objectives specified for a given period; the period covered was 1st April 2014 
to 12th September 2014.  The report produced highlighted a small number of control issues in three areas, 
contract management, payroll & human resources and financial accounting. Of these three areas, only payroll 
& human resources is relevant to Gloucestershire CCG. The CSU has subsequently put in place an action plan 
to address the specific areas of weakness and engaged external review of the implementation, in addition, 
the CCG’s internal auditors have also carried out an audit on this area and did not identify any significant 
weaknesses.

Data Quality

A detailed performance report is presented to each bi-monthly meeting of the Governing Body and is 
available, along with all public Governing Body meeting papers, on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
website. All information provided to the Governing Body and membership is subject to rigorous internal 
scrutiny prior to issue. The governance processes have also been the subject of an internal audit review. No 
adverse comments have been received regarding the accuracy of the information provided by the Governing 
Body, member practices or the internal auditors.

Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place within the CCG to provide quality assurance of 
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.

Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit assessment.

No Serious Incidents have been reported by the Clinical Commissioning Group relating to data 
security breaches.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the Clinical Commissioning Group and explained 
within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to 
ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation.  That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for 
Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation.

In light of the Harris Review, the Clinical Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and 
powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative 
and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions.

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directors have 
confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical 
commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Conclusion 

No significant internal control issues have been identified during 2014/15.

Mary Hutton 
Accountable Officer 

28 May 2015 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

We have audited the financial statements of Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ended 
31 March 2014 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial statements comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning 
Board with the approval of the Secretary of State.  

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being: 

zz the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes on page 40

zz the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on page 41

zz the pay multiples note on page 44

This report is made solely to the members of Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance 
with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 44 of the 
Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the Audit Commission in March 
2014. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)'s members and the CCG as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards also require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the CCG’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the CCG; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report which comprises the 
Member Practices' Introduction, Strategic Review, Governing Body Report, Remuneration Report, Statement 
of the responsibilities of the Accountable Officer, summarised financial statements and the Governance 
Statement to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure 
and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament 
and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
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zz give a true and fair view of the financial position of Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 
March 2014 and of its net operating costs for the year then ended; and

zz have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State. 

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion:

zz the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance with the 
requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State; and

zz the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we report by exception

We report to you if:

zz in our opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with  NHS England’s Guidance;

zz we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 because 
we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a 
loss or deficiency; or

zz we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources

We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has 
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The 
Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report any matters that prevent us 
being satisfied that the audited body has put in place such arrangements.

We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance 
issued by the Audit Commission in October 2013. We have considered the results of the following:

zz our review of the Governance Statement;

zz the work of other relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates, to the extent that the results of this work 
impact on our responsibilities at the CCG; and

zz locally determined risk-based work on the arrangements in place to implement the Better Care Fund.

As a result, we have concluded that there are no matters to report.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Gloucestershire Commissioning Group in 
accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued 
by the Audit Commission.

Elizabeth A Cave 
Director for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 
Grant Thornton UK LLP  
Hartwell House, 55-61 Victoria Street,  
Bristol BS1 6FT

28 May 2015
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To discuss receiving this information in large print or Braille 
please ring 0800 0151 548.
To discuss receiving this information in other formats please contact:

Ak si želáte získat túto informáciu v inom formáte, kontaktujte prosím

FREEPOST RRYY-KSGT-AGBR,  
PALS, NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Sanger House, 
5220 Valiant Court, Gloucester Business Park Gloucester GL3 4FE 

www.twitter.com/GlosCCG

www.facebook.com/GlosCCG  

www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk
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Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning (GCCG) 

Clinical Chair’s Report 
 
1. Introduction 
  
1.1 This report provides a summary of key issues arising during April and 

May 2015 
  
2. 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 

Children’s Safeguarding  
 
Children’s Safeguarding Meeting, Churchdown Community Centre – 
29 April 2015 - This meeting was attended by 65 GPs and gave 
updates and discussion around - in house meetings with community 
Teams, Care Pathways New Website and access to contact details 
and names of link Health Visitors and allied staff, review of Online 
Pupil Survey data and implications, attendance and barriers to 
attendance to Child Protection Case Conferences, Q+A session and 
discussions. 
  
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group has set up Quarterly 
GP Children’s Safeguarding Forums. The meetings are jointly Chaired 
by the designated Doctor Imelda Bennett, and the lead GP for 
children’s safeguarding, Doctor Jeremy Welch. The meetings are very 
well received with as many as 55 GP’s across all localities attending 
on a regular basis. Membership is closely monitored by the GCCG 
Quality team, and GP practices that do not send a representative are 
encouraged to do so. Attendance at these meeting can be used as 
evidence towards annual mandatory children’s safeguarding training 
required by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
The agendas are a mix of local and national priorities. This month’s 
agenda focused on: 

 The Gloucestershire On Line Pupil Survey with a presentation 
by Kirsty Pritchard, Gloucestershire County Council 

 An update from Michael Richardson on school nurses and 
health visitors, with the introduction of the two Paediatric Liaison 
Health Visitors who work in both A&E and will be expending 
their role to the community hospitals. 

 A reminder to GP’s to reply to safeguarding case conference 
requests either in person or by written report. 
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 Case reviews are discussed giving GP’s a forum to raise 
safeguarding concerns. 

 
The GP safeguarding Forum received particular praise from CQC 
during their last Children services and LAC (Looked After Children) 
inspection (March 2014) 
 

3. 
 
3.1 
 

G-Care Website (Care Pathways Website) 
 
A website is being developed for GPs to help them find local clinical 
information.  The website will hold some local clinical pathways and 
guidance but also links to local service information and referral forms.  
It also provides links to patient information and community resources 
such as local voluntary sector support.  Content is currently being 
checked for accuracy and will be going live in summer 2015. A public 
friendly version will be developed, however the public will have access 
to the clinically focussed site.   
 

4. 
 
4.1 
 

Respiratory Update 
 
Screening for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) – 
Gloucestershire Community Health Trainers and Stop Smoking 
Services have both recently introduced opportunistic case finding 
working with client groups across areas of deprivation, and the 
Gloucester Stop Smoking Shop respectively. Current smokers or 
those who have a history of smoking are invited to fill out a brief 
screening questionnaire to determine their suitability for a further 
investigation.  Those with positive results i.e. indicating the possibility 
of COPD, are referred to their GP for further tests with a view to 
confirming their diagnosis of COPD.  Early detection of COPD results 
in more effective management i.e. the timely prescribing of medicines 
and the prevention of more serious complications. 
 

4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Early Modified Pulmonary Rehabilitation – Gloucestershire CCG 
has just commissioned the piloting of a new modified pulmonary 
rehabilitation programme for those who are newly diagnosed with 
early COPD who may be of working age.  The initiative which will run 
for 12 months in the Forest of Dean and Stroud comprises of two-hour 
sessions running for three weeks during days, evenings and 
weekends. Topics include understanding your lung condition, 
medicines management and inhaler technique, exacerbation 
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5. 
 
5.1 
 

management, managing breathlessness and signposting to other 
services. 
 
Mental Health Update 
 
As part of the Mental Health Crisis Concordat in Gloucestershire the 
Clinical Commissioning Group has been working with Gloucestershire 
Constabulary and other key partner organisations to improve 
outcomes for people who experience mental health crisis. The CCG 
has agreed a contract with the 2gNHSFT for the provision of a new 
crisis service which will be developed in 2015/16. The new service will 
include an Urgent Response Team which will be co-located with the 
County Council’s Emergency Duty Social Work Team and the Police 
emergency call handlers at the County Police Headquarters 
Waterwells Quedgeley.  
 
The timescales for the launch of the new service have yet  be agreed 
with 2gNHSFT and this timescale will take into account the 
recruitment of the additional staff capacity the new service requires in 
order to provide a more responsive and integrated service model 
across the County. This new development will ensure a better 
resourced crisis service for the county is in place and is part of a wider 
investment plan and service development programme for mental 
health services approved by the CCG for 2015/16. 

  
6. National Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

Taskforce 
  
6.1 The Government published in March a response to the report of the 

National CAMHS Taskforce. This report is called Future in Mind and 
identifies a number of priorities for improvement across the whole 
system, at national and local levels. As part of this, each local area will 
be expected to develop a Transformation Plan, which is also expected 
to act as a gateway to the additional resources announced in the 
Budget Statement. Work on this is beginning locally, pending the 
receipt of the guidance which is expected in the next few weeks. 
The report can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-
services-for-young-people 

  
6.2 In March 2015, NHS England also announced a new national Mental 
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Health Taskforce which will develop a five year national strategy for 
Mental Health, covering all ages. The taskforce will take an all age 
approach and seek to tackle inequalities. The strategy will align to the 
Five Year Forward View, and will be informed by a wide range of lived 
experience and professional expertise.  It will also link to the Future in 
Mind report. Further information is available at: 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/mh-taskforce/ 
  
 The taskforce held its first meeting on 27 April 2015. 

  
7. Our thanks to Dr Martin Gibbs 
  
7.1 Dr Martin Gibbs has stepped down from his role as the CCG 

Governing Body after serving over 20 years in leadership roles in the 
NHS in Gloucestershire. Martin has been the Governing Body lead for 
the Forest of Dean Locality and has led on the development of Mental 
Health and Learning Disability services. He has shown continued 
passion and drive to see services improved for our population and as 
a result of his involvement much has been improved. Our thanks go to 
Martin for his dedication and commitment. His skills and wisdom will 
be missed. 

  
8. Meetings attended 

 
 14 April: Gloucestershire Q3 Assurance meeting, Chippenham 
 28 April: Chair’s Supper, Gloucester 
 30 April: Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 

Development meeting, Gloucester 
 12 May: HCOSC, Gloucester 
 12 May: 2gether Council of Governors meeting, Gloucester 
 21 May: NHSCC SW Region Quarterly meeting – Exeter 
 26 May: Health and Wellbeing Board, Shire Hall, Gloucester 

 
9. Recommendation 
  
9.1 This report is provided for information and the Governing Body is 

requested to note the contents 
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NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Governing Body 
 

Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 

Title Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group Accountable Officer’s Report 

Executive Summary This report provides a summary of key issues 
arising during April and May 2015 

Key Issues 
 

The key issues include: 
 Gloucester Living with and Beyond Cancer 

Programme 
 Update on Primary Care Out of Hours Service 
 Glaucoma 
 Don’t Wait to Anti-Coagulate Project Update   
 Engagement – “Commissioners on the 

Ground” 
 Process 
 Recent Activity 
 Individual Project Work 
 PALS and the provision of Information and 

Advice 
 Joining Up Your Information Project 

(Gloucestershire Shared Care Record Project) 
 Meetings attended 

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

None. 
 
 

Financial Impact None. 
Legal Issues (including 
NHS Constitution)  

None. 
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

None. 
 

Impact on Equality and 
Diversity 

None. 

Impact on Sustainable 
Development 

None. 

 Agenda Item 11 
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Patient and Public 
Involvement 

Not applicable. 
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is requested to note this 
report which is provided for information. 

Author Mary Hutton 

Designation Gloucestershire CCG Accountable Officer 
Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 
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Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Accountable Officer’s Report 

 
1 
 

Introduction 

  
1.1 This report provides a summary of key issues arising during April and 

May 2015. 
  
2 Gloucestershire Living with and Beyond Cancer Programme 

 
2.1 The Macmillan Community Care project has successfully reached 

some key milestones. Nikki Hawkins and Sara Mathewson were 
appointed as co-leads in Autumn 2014. They have been key in 
mobilising the wider programme and delivering on the design of the 
community service. The service specification sets out the key 
components of patient education, 1:1 clinical support, professional 
development for Integrated Community Team members and 
evaluation. For the next phase of the project they will be transferring to 
GCS to recruit a team and launch the service. Our development work 
identified specific health needs of men recovering from prostate 
cancer treatment in the county. We are therefore also very pleased to 
have been successful in a funding bid to Prostate Cancer UK, this will 
enable a specialist nurse to join the team. 
 

2.2 Dr Sadaf Haque leads on both the Primary Care Development Project 
and wider programme priorities of improving collaboration between 
primary and secondary care. The second year of our successful 
Macmillan GP Masterclass series will incorporate learning topics on 
supporting patients living with and beyond cancer. The headline event 
is a whole-day super PLT on 30th September at Cheltenham 
Racecourse for all CCG member practices. This will launch our new 
programme and provider a refresher on our early diagnosis work to 
date. 
 

2.3 The Gloucestershire Living With and Beyond Cancer Programme is 
directed by Kathryn Hall from the Transformation and Redesign 
Directorate. We have been keen to learn from best practice from 
around the country and to share our approach to building a 
collaborative transformation programme. Via the Cancer Strategic 
Clinical Network, our project documentation has been circulated to 
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cancer colleagues across the South West and Kathryn has been 
invited to present our work with their Survivorship Group. Kathryn has 
also been invited by Macmillan to attend a regional meeting later in the 
year to present on leading system change from a commissioner’s 
perspective. In addition Hayley Payne's important contribution as 
Project Manager has been recognised and she is to become an 
honorary Macmillan professional within the Clinical Programme Group 
team. This status offers both personal development opportunities and 
access funding to extend clinical education in the county. 

3 Update on Primary Care Out of Hours Service 
 

3.1 SWASFT took over the running of the Gloucestershire Primary Care 
Out of Hours Service on 1st April 2015.  The start date was 
challenging given the proximity of the Easter Bank Holiday weekend 
which is typically the busiest weekend of the year. Communications 
have gone out via GP and staff roadshows, stakeholder letters, one to 
one meetings with stakeholders, information on CCG and SWASFT 
websites, information bus, etc. The ASAP campaign commenced in 
the week preceding contract start and is helping the public to 
understand when to use and how to access the OOH service. 
 

3.2 SWASFT are committed to providing a safe and feasible skill-mix and 
have plans in place for recruitment and training.  SWASFT recognises 
that there is currently a shortage of skilled Advanced Nurse 
Practitioners (ANPs) and Emergency Care Practitioners (ECPs) and 
were not able to establish the full planned model by 1.4.15.  They 
have put plans in place to have a higher proportion of GP shifts at the 
beginning of the contract to cover any unfilled ANP shifts.  A total of 
165 GPs have so far expressed an interest in working for the OOH 
service on a sessional basis.  GPs are able to book directly into 
preferred shifts via the SWASFT online rota system. GP cover has 
been below plan at weekends during the first month of service and 
SWASFT will continue to refine its internal processes to ensure 
improved cover in the future and a detailed review of forward planned 
shift cover is underway as part of the prospective planning for future 
service delivery. The CCG will continue to monitor the mobilisation of 
the service. 

3.3 The number of admissions and referrals to the Emergency 
Departments and any other impact on the wider healthcare community 
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is closely monitored by GCCG through our whole system daily 
escalation processes. Activity, performance and quality indicators will 
be reviewed at monthly formal Contract Board meetings.  Performance 
against key indicators appears reasonable for a new and developing 
service. 

4 Glaucoma 
 

4.1 The extensive programme of redesign underway in the Eye Health 
Clinical Programme Group continues at pace, with service 
improvements being delivered in each of our four identified pathways 
of care: cataract, medical retinal, glaucoma and community eye care. 
This month we have seen some positive improvements for glaucoma 
patients in our county, with a website going live to support patients in 
administering their eye drops http://www.myeyedrops.info/ . This is 
being shared with pharmacists, the voluntary sector working in eye 
health, GPs via What’s New, will be linked to the G-CARE (formerly 
Care Pathways) website and with the local optometry committee to 
ensure effective communication with optometrists. In addition, we are 
encouraging the public, particularly those with relatives with 
Glaucoma, to regularly get their eyes tested as they are five times 
more likely to have Glaucoma than the general population.  This 
disease can often be effectively treated if diagnosed early.  This 
message is due to be communicated via the information bus with 
support of the local voluntary sector and community optometry. A 
longer term service improvement being developed for glaucoma 
patients is a greater range of community based options for patients 
who need long term disease monitoring, to ensure where possible 
care can be delivered closer to patients homes. 

5 Don’t Wait to Anti-Coagulate Project Update   
 

5.1 The observation element of phase one of the ‘Don’t Wait to 
Anticoagulate’ project (working with the eleven Innovator Practices) 
concluded at the end of April. The Academic Health Science 
Network’s (AHSN’s) project team are now fully engaged in evaluating 
this phase, with the results being used to form the basis of the phase 
two work with the CCG. Alongside the evaluation work stream, the 
AHSN project team are actively engaging with the identified 
managerial and clinical leads from the CCG to ensure that all 
elements of the planned roll-out to practices is meshed with the culture 
and approach of the CCG. Key elements in progress are decisions 
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around project governance, communication strategy, operational 
modelling (and accompanying training needs) and approaches to 
implementation. The CCG leads, together with the AHSN leads, will 
form the Project Working Group, which will be the key implementation 
interface between the two organisations. The first meeting of this 
Group will be on Friday 22nd May, where the Terms of Reference and 
frequency of meetings will be agreed. Further work on the financial 
modelling underpinning the CCGs involvement is continuing, involving 
medicines management and finance colleagues alongside the health 
economists who prepared the initial report. The new report will be 
ready within the next two weeks. The project as a whole is working 
towards commencing a phased roll-out to Practices from late Summer 
onwards, with up to 90% of practices being completed by the end of 
Quarter 4. 

6 Engagement – “Commissioners on the ground” 
 

6.1 We want to be recognised as ‘commissioners on the ground’. The 
CCG’s Engagement and Experience Strategy ‘Our Open Culture’ 
describes how we achieve this using a simple framework. ‘Our Open 
Culture’ Framework promotes ‘Equality’ and working in ‘Partnership’ 
and the desire to enable ‘Anyone and Everyone’ to have a voice. To 
achieve this we provide ‘Information and good Communication’, focus 
on ‘Experience’ feedback and undertake good ‘Engagement and 
Consultation’. The Strategy and online resources are available on the 
CCG website under ‘Feedback’.  
 
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/feedback/gccg-engagement-
and-experience-strategy/ 
 

7 Process 

7.1  At the direction of Clinical Programme Groups and other CCG 
Projects, CCG Programme and Project Managers approached the 
CCG Engagement and Experience team to discuss and agree 
engagement activities to undertake, which will ensure experience and 
engagement feedback informs service changes and developments. 
Members of the CCG Engagement and Experience Team may also be 
invited to join Programmes and Projects for periods of time. 
 

7.2 The process starts with a review of relevant available experience/ 
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engagements data. This can include national and local survey data, 
Friends and Family Test data, HWG Master Comments data and 
PALS and complaints information. Any clear themes are then 
identified from the data where possible. Options for further 
engagement are discussed, this may take the form of targeted 
engagement through focus groups, online surveys or face-to-face 
structured interviews with patients. A full range of engagement 
methodologies are considered. The agreed engagement then takes 
place and an outcome report of the feedback received is compiled and 
presented back to the relevant programme or project for consideration. 
If further engagement is required this is discussed and agreed.  For 
example, the initial engagement work with the Musculoskeletal CPG 
below omitted engagement with a particular part of the service. 
Further survey work was undertaken in that area in order to provide a 
more complete range of patient feedback to the CPG.  
 

8 Recent Activity 
 

8.1 Below are examples of recent CCG engagement activity: 
 
Clinical Programme Group (CPG) activity  
 
The Engagement Team has undertaken focussed work for five of the 
CPGs during Q4.  
 
 Cancer: Continued work with the Cancer Patient Reference Group, 

including collection of patient stories and informing the Living 
Beyond project.  
 

 Eye Care: Outcome of engagement reported to a series of 
workshops during February and March 2015. 

 
 Musculoskeletal (MSK): Outcome of engagement report   presented 

to March 2015 CPG. Over 250 individual surveys completed across 
a range of MSK services such as podiatry and orthopaedic clinics. 

 
 Frail Older People: Schedule of visits to Care Homes to obtain 

residents’ feedback on the Care Homes Enhanced Service 
completed. Outcome of engagement report to be presented in the 
early part of 2015/16. 
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 Respiratory: Facilitated ‘Respiratory pathway’ Workshop for Health 
and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HCOSC) members, 
January 2015. 

 
 In addition to the CCG Engagement Team’s input, all CPGs have 

representation from a CCG Lay Champion and a Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire (HWG) member. Lay Champions and HWG 
members have been directly involved in some of the engagement 
activities described. Their observations and insights have informed 
CPG discussions and planning. 

 
9 Individual Project Work 
  

9.1  Members of CCG Engagement and Experience staff have been 
involved in a range of projects during Quarter 4:  
 

 Social prescribing: Undertook telephone interviews with a limited 
number of clients.  

 
 Prepared outcome of engagement report: Prepared GP SNAP 

survey. 
 
 Community Learning Disability (LD) Service: Prepared GP SNAP 

survey. Feedback to be presented to LD Big Health Day in May 
2015. 

 
 Learning Disabilities Assessment and Treatment: Facilitated 

community engagement event to update local residents and 
stakeholders regarding developments at Hollybrook in Stroud. 

 
 Choose Well 2015: Supported launch of the new Gloucestershire 

Health App, ASAP from 27 March 2015. Information Bus Events 
planned across GCCG Localities. 

 
 Community Hospitals Development Group: Participation in End of 

Life planning in Community Hospitals work stream. 
 
 Gloucestershire Shared Care Records Project: Ongoing. 

Supporting the Commissioning Central Southern Support Unit 
(CSU) with development of communications and engagement 
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campaign for summer 2015. 
  

10 PALS and the provision of Information and Advice 

10.1 The increase in requests for advice and information first noted in 
Quarter 3 continued into Quarter 4, particularly through the GCCG 
Primary Care PALS service.  

  
11 Joining Up Your Information Project  (Gloucestershire Shared 

Care Record Project) 
  
11.1 Introduction 

 
The Gloucestershire Joining Up Your Information project aims to share 
real time clinical and social care information, bringing together 
disparate data held within multiple health and social care IT systems 
across the county.  Improvements in the patient experience will be 
achieved through the provision of the right information at the right time 
in real-time, enabling clinicians and care professionals to be more 
efficient and effective, reducing adverse events and meeting patient 
wishes recorded in their care plans.  Data shared amongst providers 
gives a more holistic view of a person’s needs and enables more 
targeted care.   

  
11.2 Progress to date 
  
11.2.1 Communications, Consent and Access group 

 

 Consensus to move forward with an implied informed consent (opt-
out model) for health;  approach supported by the Gloucestershire 
LMC, Localities and the CCG Governing Body  
 

 Discussions with social care on consent model required for social 
care.  GCC view is explicit consent required.  Legal basis being 
obtained and approach taken by other communities such as Bristol 
being explored 

 
 June meeting  - draft communications plan to be reviewed including 

leaflets for patients, GP surgeries and a draft letter to patients 
giving information and the opportunity to discuss and opt out of 
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record sharing 
  
11.2.2 Information Governance 

 
County wide information governance group agreed to progress with 
GISPA (Gloucestershire Information Sharing Protocol) across all 
Gloucestershire health organisations and Gloucestershire County 
Council.  GISPA is also used to share information between GCC, 
District Councils and the Gloucestershire police. 

  
11.2.3 Clinical and Care Professionals User Group 

 
This is made up of representatives of end users (clinicians and adult 
and children social care representatives) from each organisation who 
will make recommendations to the project board with regard to 
solution requirements, design and implementation. 
 

 Draft requirements currently being reviewed 
 Sign off due end of May  

  
11.2.4 Outline Business Case 

 
This is in draft, currently under review by the project board. 

  
11.2.5 Funding 

 
Gloucestershire has been successful in its bid to the Integrated Digital 
Tech Fund and capital funding of £1m is available to support the 
project in 2015/16.  The funding is being hosted by GHFT as CCGs 
are not allowed to host these funds.  Match funding is being provided 
by the CCG. 
 
In order to take advantage of this funding the project timescale has 
had to be accelerated as the funding must be used in 2015/16, 
however, the match funding provided by the CCG does not have to be 
used within the timescale. 

  
11.2.6 The Governing Body will be updated at the July 2015 meeting. 
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12 Meetings attended 
  

 13-Apr NICE Guideline – Macular degeneration, London NHS 
Clinical Commissioners (NHSCC) rep with Ellen Rule)  

 14-Apr Gloucestershire CCG Q3 Assurance meeting with NHS 
England 

 15-Apr Health Inequalities Plan meeting, Gloucestershire 
 17-Apr Transforming Leadership Culture through Integrated 

Personal Commissioning Seminar, Totnes, Devon 
 20-Apr Gloucestershire’s Challenging Behaviour Concordat – One 

Year On; Review and sign-up 
 21-Apr Time to Change CCG Healthcheck 
 23-Apr NHS Clinical Commissioners Board Day, London 
 29-Apr Primary Care Co-commissioning Training, Cheltenham 
 30-Apr GHWB Development – Refreshing the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy and Delivery Plan 
 05-May Meeting with prospective Parliamentary candidate 
 12-May Health & Care Overview Scrutiny Committee (HCOSC) 
 13-May 7th LD Big Health Check Day, Gloucester 
 13-May Mental Health Awareness Week and Mindfulness Seminar 
 21-May Quarterly meeting SW Region NHSCC, Exeter 
 26-May Gloucestershire H&WB 
 

13 Recommendation 
  
13.1 This report is provided for information and the Governing Body is 

requested to note the contents. 
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 Agenda item 12 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body 

 
Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 
 

Title Cirencester Hospital Development Plan 
 

Executive Summary This paper updates the Governing Body on 
the work of the Cirencester Hospital Working 
Group and South Cotswold Locality 
Executive Group to create a vibrant and 
sustainable Cirencester Hospital and the 
model of medical cover required to support 
the proposals. 
 

Key Issues 
 

Governing Body members will be very aware 
that the NHS needs to transform the way it 
delivers its care given the significant 
challenges it faces, including more people 
living longer with more long term conditions, 
and therefore the need to require significant 
savings.  It will be necessary then to ensure 
more detailed plans for each of the above 
ideas are developed and appropriate 
approvals sought.  The Locality Executive 
Group will be integral in the process to both 
develop and implement plans. 
 

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk (LxC) 
Residual Risk (LxC) 

As described in the paper 
12 (3x4) 
4 (1x4) 
 

Financial Impact The cost of the current model of medical 
cover is £808,000.  If the least costly option 
were chosen (i.e. option two – ‘GP SLA’), 
this would result in a recurring net saving of 
£366,000.  Cost of change incurred would be 
one-off cost. 
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Legal Issues 
(including NHS 
Constitution)  

None 
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

None 
 

Impact on Equality 
and Diversity 

None 
 

Impact on 
Sustainable 
Development 

None 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

As described  
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is asked to: 
 

 Approve the implementation of option 
three  

 Give authority to GCS to agree and 
action the implementation plans,  
working with GHFT and others 
including the Hospital League of 
Friends where appropriate; 

 Propose key factors it wishes to be 
considered during the implementation 
phase, particularly related to the risks 
highlighted in section 13 above and 
overall communications and 
engagement activities. 

Author Mary Hutton 
Designation Accountable Officer 
Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 
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DEVELOPING A VIBRANT AND SUSTAINABLE  
CIRENCESTER HOSPITAL 

 
Agenda Item 12 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 This paper is being written to update the Governing Body on the work of 

the Cirencester Hospital Working Group and South Cotswolds Locality 
Executive Group to create a vibrant and sustainable Cirencester Hospital 
and the model of medical cover required to support the proposals. 

 
2 Background 
 
2.1 In Gloucestershire CCG’s five year strategic plan – ‘Joining up Your 

Care’ – there is a strong emphasis on wrapping more services around 
people in, or near to, their own homes.  As an integral part of this, the 
CCG stated its intention to develop an ‘effective and affordable network 
of community hospitals’ in the county.   

 
2.2 In order to progress the delivery of these objectives, a programme of 

work has commenced to produce a detailed plan.  A Transforming 
Community Hospitals Group for Gloucestershire has been established, 
which has representation from across the health and care community 
(including the Voluntary and Community Sector Alliance and 
Healthwatch Gloucestershire) to oversee development work across all of 
Gloucestershire Care Services (GCS) seven community hospitals.   

 
2.3 Through this programme of work, it was decided to work with one of the 

seven CCG Locality Executive Groups to consider the improvements 
that can be made on a local level in order to create a vibrant and 
sustainable community hospital service model, meeting the needs of 
local people.  Due to the opportunities presented by a potential new 
model of medical cover and the need to refurbish Stratton Ward at 
Cirencester Hospital, it was decided to work with the South Cotswolds 
Locality Executive Group.  This work commenced with detailed analysis 
of the services provided at Cirencester Hospital and is being steered by 
a joint CCG/Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCS) working 
group formed in July 2014; this is chaired by the CCG’s Accountable 
Officer, Mary Hutton, and supported by the South Cotswolds Locality 
Executive Chair – Dr Alan Gwynn. 
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2.4 The CCG has put local GPs, as commissioners and providers of 
services to the local population, at the forefront of this work.  The 
process began by working with the Locality Executive to glean ideas 
through the local GPs on how improvements could be made.  Working 
alongside colleagues from Cirencester Hospital, through its Matron, 
these ideas have been explored and tested and, in agreement with the 
Locality, those considered viable have been progressed further (and are 
detailed below in section 3).   

 
3 Exploration of Ideas 
 
3.1 This section details progress to date on the ideas that have been 

prioritised for detailed consideration.  These must be seen as the ‘first 
phase’, and further ideas/developments will undoubtedly follow.   A 
detailed case for change around a potential new model for medical cover 
is presented from section 5 onwards below, and underpins the 
ideas/developments detailed in this section 3. 

 

IDEA: increase the number/type of diagnostics available 

 

IDEA: increase the type/number of outpatient appointments 
available (where possible as part of ‘one-stop’ services) 

 

IDEA: increase the type/number of day surgery procedures 
available 

 
3.2 These ideas have been grouped together for development given they 

are so inter-linked.  For example, in order to maximise high quality care 
for patients, one-stop services should be available where possible; the 
type of diagnostics available will help determine what outpatients can be 
undertaken at Cirencester Hospital and in turn help to determine the type 
of day surgery procedures undertaken.   

 
Working closely with both GCS and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (GHFT), a comprehensive assessment has been 
completed of current types and levels of activity across these three 
areas.  This is helping to determine the type of activity (e.g. specialty) to 
be provided in the future and the expected demand/numbers of patients 
who could use any additional capacity.  Included in the assessment 
process, it has been essential to look at the county-wide picture.  What 
activity takes place in Cirencester Hospital cannot be seen in isolation; 
there is a need to ensure clearly defined patient pathways linked to 
Cheltenham General, Gloucestershire Royal and Great Western 
Hospitals. 

 
The assumption though is that there will not be a growth in the total 
levels of activity (outside of population-related growth) across the whole 
health care system; instead there will be a shift of activity out of the 
acute hospitals to community hospitals, as appropriate.  In addition, it is 
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recognised that there may in future be increased flows to new services 
from across county borders. 

 
Before any decisions are made to alter what is offered, it is vital that the 
current diagnostics/outpatient clinics/theatre sessions are fully utilised.  
For example, it has been discovered that the existing process for 
arranging additional clinics is very cumbersome, so we have already 
started work to improve this.  Also, it has been discovered that there is 
an opportunity to improve day surgery booking systems.   

 
 Finally, day surgery is currently provided at Cirencester Hospital through 
a national NHS contract with Care UK, which will end on 31 October 
2015.  Care UK has stated that it does not wish to provide day surgery 
after this date at the Hospital.  The aspiration of the CCG and the 
Locality Executive is to create a hub and spoke model, with the hub 
being the Cheltenham General/ Gloucestershire Royal Hospitals, and 
one of the spokes being Cirencester.  This model is considered the best 
way to secure high quality services wherever a patient receives his/her 
day surgery procedure across the county, whilst ensuring patient choice 
and minimising waiting times.  Therefore, the CCG, GCS and GHFT are 
in the process of negotiating to secure an affordable and effective hub 
and spoke model for Cirencester Hospital to commence from 1 
November 2015; this will provide a similar range and volume of activity 
as has been provided by Care UK.   

 

IDEA: closely align Cirencester Hospital to the provision of seven-
day primary care with local GP Practices, alongside support for 
patients with a minor injury 

 
3.3 This idea was already in the process of progression at a countywide 

level, initially linking into discussions around re-procurement of the Out 
of Hours Service during 2014, and more recently into work through the 
Prime Ministers Challenge Fund (PMCF) to improve seven-day access 
to primary care and stimulate innovative new ways of working.  The 
CCG’s recent success in its application to take on delegated 
responsibility from NHS England for primary care will also help to 
support integrated and localised improvements in urgent care.  A 
working group has been established to develop a clear service model 
over the coming months.  
 

IDEA: consider how best to use the bedded capacity, including 
creation of an acute rehabilitation facility 

 
3.4 From the experience of local GPs, and independent audits undertaken 

(see section 7 below), it is clear there are opportunities to improve how 
the Cirencester Hospital beds are used to best effect.  Initial work, 
through the Transforming Community Hospitals Group, has focused on 
refreshing the admissions and discharge policies and then ensuring 
adherence.  Work has also been undertaken to refurbish the former 
Stratton Ward to improve the patient environment, providing eight beds, 
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a planned Ambulatory Care Unit and space for a ‘Healthy Marketplace’ 
where Voluntary and Community Sector organisations will provide 
advice and support.  In parallel, a comprehensive review has been 
undertaken of rehabilitation services across the county.  This highlighted 
a clear need to develop local community rehabilitation services further, 
which are based on evidence and are outcome-focused, and which have 
a greater focus on therapeutic intervention; it has been identified that 
there is a lack of a rehabilitation-specific community bed base at present.  
It is recognised this will require additional funding, at least in the first 
year, to establish this new model. 
 
Flowing from this review, it is proposed that a dedicated rehabilitation 
unit be developed at Cirencester Hospital.  The beds will be used as 
‘step-down’ to enable early discharge from acute hospitals for 
rehabilitation patients into a suitable community environment.  The unit 
would be clinically-led by a Multi-Disciplinary Team trained and 
competent in rehabilitation.  Where possible, the voluntary and 
community sector will be involved in supporting patient care, linked to 
the Cirencester Hospital Healthy Marketplace (see section 3.6 below).  
An example of a high quality local rehabilitation pathway is shown below: 

 
 

 
 

 The county-wide review is now in phase two; there is a focus of work on 
the top five high volume rehabilitation pathways, and a clear steer to 
develop a business case for early implementation of the agreed model in 
Cirencester Hospital.   
 

IDEA: create a dedicated ambulatory care unit 

 
3.5 A good deal of work has been undertaken looking at increasing 

ambulatory care in community settings across the county, with a 
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particular focus on planned activity.  Ambulatory care has been defined 
locally as an intervention that: 
 

 Supports prevention of a hospital admission; 

 Previously (i.e. a number of years ago) would have required a 
hospital admission, possibly including an overnight stay; 

 Requires some form of assessment pre and/or post the intervention; 

 Requires one or more episodes of care.   
 

Cirencester Hospital is the ‘forerunner’ in this work, with a business case 
now in development to create a dedicated ambulatory care unit.   An 
area has been identified within the former Stratton Ward and work has 
been completed, creating eight treatment chairs and two trolley areas, to 
be open seven days a week.  This will release space in the outpatients 
department, which will be required as the number of outpatient 
appointments increase (see section 3.2 above).  The unit will also 
support the developments referenced in section 3.3 above, in that this 
facility will help local GPs to refer patients locally for care, particularly 
those with long term conditions, as part of integrated primary care, seven 
days a week.   

 
It is expected that a dedicated unit will provide a strong foundation for 
focused and integrated working among the professional teams, and in 
turn support the development of new care pathways. 
 
The current focus is on centralising ambulatory care already taking place 
elsewhere in Cirencester Hospital into the unit now (for example, blood 
transfusions and Intravenous Therapy), and in parallel developing new 
planned pathways to be delivered through the unit.  A key area from 
which potential new pathways can be created is from patients seen by 
district/community nurses who are not housebound – an audit is being 
undertaken between the CCG and GCS to understand the full potential 
of this.   

 

IDEA: create a ‘hub’ for local voluntary and community sector 
groups 

 
3.6 The CCG, GCS and the Locality Executive are keen to see Cirencester 

Hospital (and indeed all community hospitals) as centres of their 
community/as ‘hubs’, helping the people in the community to help 
themselves and each other.  
 
At a strategic level, the CCG is working in partnership with the County 
Council to see how best the organisations can work with partners to 
‘enable active communities’; at a local level GCS is proposing to develop 
a ‘hub’ approach in Cirencester Hospital, for use by Cirencester Hospital 
patients and the wider community. 
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An area (designed to maximise flexibility of use) has already been 
created in the former Stratton Ward where the local voluntary and 
community sector can (at no charge): 
 

 Offer people advice and support (with a small room to enable private 
discussions), including encouraging self-care and special advice 
sessions running at the same time as outpatient clinics to ensure 
patients are better informed about their health conditions; 

 Offer free space for community meeting/events in several large 
rooms, in and out of office hours; 

 Enable patient information displays. 
 

Working closely with local healthcare professionals and local ‘social 
prescribing’ leads, the development of the new ‘Healthy Marketplace’ 
has been in partnership with local council colleagues through a multi-
partner working group, with the group considering how best Cirencester 
Hospital can be used to meet the needs of local people.  The feedback 
from all concerned to date is very positive, and the ‘word is spreading’! 

 
Building on good work to date, this is a tremendous opportunity for 
Cirencester Hospital to become truly ‘vibrant’. 

 

IDEA: improve pharmacy provision at Cirencester Hospital (as 
current provision is not considered to be satisfactory) 

 
3.7 A more responsive pharmacy service across all community hospitals is 

now available following completion of a re-procurement process by GCS. 
 
4 Summary 
 
4.1 As can be seen above, considerable progress has been made over 

recent months in the efforts made to plan for a vibrant and sustainable 
Cirencester Hospital.  All the ideas are at different stages and will 
therefore be implemented at different times.  

 
Everyone reading this paper will be very aware that the NHS needs to 
transform the way it delivers its care given the significant challenges it 
faces, including more people living longer with more long term 
conditions, and therefore the need to require significant savings.  It will 
be necessary then to ensure more detailed plans for each of the above 
ideas are developed and appropriate approvals sought.  The Locality 
Executive Group will be integral in the process to both develop and 
implement plans. 
 
The remainder of this paper now goes on to detail the required medical 
cover to enable realisation of these plans.   
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5 Current Medical Cover Arrangements 
 
5.1 At present, the Minor Injury and Illness Unit (MIIU) and inpatient wards at 

Cirencester Hospital are supported by doctors who are ‘on-site’/resident.  
This medical cover is provided by Specialty Doctors and Resident 
Medical Officers (RMOs) across 24 hours, seven days a week.  The 
table below provides an overview: 

 
 
 

 Drs covering at 
any one time 
 

Employed by: 

MIIUs – in hours 1 Specialty Dr 
 

GCS 

Inpatient cover (all CH beds) – in 
hours 
 

2 Specialty Drs 
 

GCS 

MIIUs and inpatient URGENT cover 
only – weekday evenings (1830 – 
2300) 
 

1 RMO GCS 

MIIUs and inpatient cover (all CH 
beds) –  
out of hours overnight, (i.e. 2300 – 
0800) weekends and bank holidays  
 

1 RMO GHT 

 

 There are 11 RMOs, who are either local GPs or Specialty Drs 
working out of hours. 

 
6 Case for Change 
 
6.1 Two key factors have influenced the case for change around the need 

for a new model of medical cover to support future plans for Cirencester 
Hospital – the first challenges the need for change and the second 
supports it: 

 
1) It had been proposed that the patients cared for at Cirencester 

Hospital had significantly different needs for medical cover than 
the other community hospitals in the county.  The South 
Cotswolds Locality Executive Group put forward potential 
reasons in support of the existing model to GCS and GCCG 
colleagues during discussions in 2013.  It was suggested that: 
 
a) The acuity of inpatients managed in the Hospital was/is 

higher than that managed in the other community hospitals; 
b) The quality of care provided by Cirencester Hospital was/is 

higher than that provided by the other community hospitals. 
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From discussions with colleagues working at the Hospital, it is 
also clear that there are concerns that the acuity of patients 
attending the MIIU is also higher than that managed in other 
community hospitals. 

 
2) New models of medical cover in the county’s other community 

hospitals would suggest that the current levels of medical cover 
at Cirencester Hospital do not align to future need.  Over recent 
years, a new medical model of care has been phased in across  
the other community hospitals in Gloucestershire.  This new 
model moves away from ‘on-site’/resident doctors in community 
hospital sites to GPs, through a service level agreement, 
providing the required medical cover to the wards.  Furthermore, 
nationally, MIIUs are led by Emergency Nurse Practitioners 
(ENPs), with the types of patients able to attend being those who 
can be safely cared for by ENPs; this is the model in 
Gloucestershire’s other community hospital MIIUs which meets 
the requirement of safe and affordable quality services. 

 
There is clear evidence that that the level of activity within the two 
Gloucestershire MIIUs that operate over a 24/7 period (Cirencester and 
Stroud) the activity reduces significantly after midnight.  This correlates 
with the activity data of the RMO overnight/call-out activity at 
Cirencester. 

 
7 Review of the Evidence 

 
 The Cirencester Hospital Working Group considered it vital to objectively 

test the validity of the suggested reasons for maintaining the status quo, 
before decisions were made about the medical cover. 

 
 MIIU Acuity 
 
 
 

7.1 In order to understand the level of acuity of patients presenting to the 
MIIU, two retrospective audits were commissioned that sought to 
ascertain whether Cirencester MIIU could appropriately work towards 
implementing an ENP-led service and whether the acuity of the patients 
warranted the need to see a MIIU Doctor.   

 
7.2 Both the audits reviewed a sample of the patients (over a given period) 

seen by an MIIU Doctor to assess whether their presenting condition 
warranted the clinical intervention of a doctor or whether an ENP-led 
service was able to appropriately care for the patient.  Overall, both 
audits concluded that only a third of all patients seen by an MIIU Doctor 
needed to be seen by them.  

 
7.3 However, the audits did not consider whether the patients could have 

been seen by primary care (if an appointment was available); there was 
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concern that this could have been the case for some of the patients 
reviewed in the audits.  Therefore, a final audit took place on 4th 
December 2014 with two GPs (Interim Medical Director – GCS, and GP 
Chair of South Cotswolds Locality Executive Group), with the clinical 
lead for MIIUs and with the two nurses who undertook the original audits 
to review this issue.  The audit broadly concluded that 3.2% of the total 
number of patients attending the Cirencester Hospital MIIU needed 
onward referral to an Emergency Department (equating to 640 out of 
approximately 20,000 patients per year).   

 
7.4  It is important to note that there will always be a proportion of patients 

attending any MIIU who will require onward referral to a local Emergency 
Department, irrespective of the staffing model.  However well patients 
are educated as to the types of presentations that can be treated at an 
MIIU, this will always occur.  This is why the expected number of 
patients who will need to be onwardly referred to an Emergency 
Department is expected to be broadly similar to other community 
hospitals.  

  
7.5 It is acknowledged that if all the relevant patients in the audit had instead 

been seen in primary care there would be an impact on Practice’s – this 
has been estimated at a maximum of two patients per week per 
Practice.  As can be seen in section 3.3 above, work to integrate urgent 
care across primary and community care seven days a week, and 
potential funding through the Prime Ministers Challenge Fund, will not 
only mitigate this issue, it will provide additional primary care capacity. 

 
7.6 Furthermore, the CCG’s Executive Nurse and Quality Lead with CCG 

colleagues visited all the Community Hospital MIIUs through the winter 
and spring of 2013/14 to look at workload and facilities. These visits 
confirmed there was no difference in the case mix of patients presenting 
to the MIIUs across all of the Community Hospitals. 

 
7.7 In summary, the above demonstrates that the casemix of patients 

presenting to Cirencester MIIU is no different to that of all of the other 
community hospitals and is in line with what can be safely and 
appropriately managed through an ENP-led and delivered service.  
  

 Inpatient Acuity 
 

7.8 Two independent audits by Medworxx reviewing the acuity of inpatients 
in all of Gloucestershire’s acute and community beds were undertaken in 
September 2013 and March 2014.  The audits assessed whether the 
patients were in the most appropriate place/bed for their needs.  The 
second audit was commissioned as a refresh of the first audit, six 
months on.  The results of the audits were broadly similar i.e. that 
Cirencester Hospital has one of the lowest acuity levels of the seven 
community hospitals: only 7% of patients were classed as sub-acute (in 
a range from 6% to 33%).   
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7.9 A further audit looking at patients over the month of September 2014 
was also undertaken by the GCS Clinical Quality Team using a 
nationally approved audit tool to assess the dependency/complexity of 
patients in all Gloucestershire’s community hospitals.  This showed 
Cirencester in the middle of the range – i.e. the Hospital cares for 
average levels of sick patients compared to those in the county’s other 
community hospitals. 

 
7.10 In summary, there is no objective evidence that the level of acuity of 

inpatients at Cirencester is greater than the other community hospitals in 
Gloucestershire.   

 
 MIIU Quality of Care 
 

7.11 There is currently a variation in the staff skill mix in each of the county’s 
MIIUs.  In addition in ENPs delivering the MIIU service, the Cirencester 
Hospital MIIU team also includes a resident doctor.  A review1 of other 
MIIU services across England shows that they are led and run by ENPs.   

 
7.12 There is evidence of the effectiveness of ENP services2 and no evidence 

of harm befalling patients who receive these services, providing they 
conform to established protocols and guidelines.  A paper by Sakr et al 
compared nurse-led MIIU care with doctor-led emergency department 
care.  This showed nursing care was clinically safe and as good as that 
provided by senior house officers in the Emergency Department.3 

 
7.13 The national picture is reflected locally in that the local experience of 

ENP-led units is very positive with no serious clinical incidents reported 
or any risks identified to patients attending ENP-led Units.  Good clinical 
practice is delivered through the nurses working to clear evidence-based 
protocols.    

 
 Inpatient Quality of Care 
 

7.14 As detailed in section 2 above, a new medical model of care for 
inpatients has been in place in five of Gloucestershire’s community 
hospitals over recent years, which has been positive with no serious 
clinical incidents reported.  The CCG’s quality monitoring processes 
have provided assurance that the service provision is safe under this 
model of medical care.  The only serious clinical incidents by medical 
staff (x2) reported over recent years at a community hospital were at 
Cirencester Hospital.  

                                                        
1 Royal South Hants, East Cheshire, Shropshire, Bristol, Plymouth, East Lancashire, City of 
Westminster, Northern Devon 
2 Allerston J, Justham D. Nurse practitioners and the Ottawa ankle rules: comparisons with 
medical staff in requesting x-rays for ankle injured patients. Accident and Emergency Nursing 
2000;8:110–15. Byrne G, Richardson M, Brunsdon J, et al. An evaluation of the care of patients 
with minor injuries in emergency settings. Accident and Emergency Nursing 2000;8:101–9. 
3 Sakr M, Angus J, Perrin J et al. Care of minor injuries by emergency nurse practitioners or junior 
doctors: A randomised controlled trial. Lancet 1999;354:1321-1326. (Level 1- evidence). 
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8 Exploring Potential New Requirements for Additional Medical 

Cover 
 

8.1 As referenced in section 3 above, the work of the Cirencester Hospital 
Working Group to date has included consideration of how activity can be 
increased at the Hospital (through shifting activity away from 
Cheltenham General and Gloucestershire Royal Hospitals).  In 
undertaking its work to consider areas where activity can be increased, 
the Working Group wanted to understand if any of these areas would 
require ‘on-site’/resident doctor input.  If there was a need, then this 
could have helped to offset any proposed changes in doctor cover to the 
MIIU/inpatient wards.  These were the main areas explored: 

 

 Outpatients: a review of how the use of existing capacity can be 
maximised and assessing the possibility of more consultant and 
nurse/therapist-led specialties/clinics in a community hospital setting; 

 Ambulatory Care Pathways: a review of activity levels has shown 
that there is not a critical mass of patients to support more 
emergency ambulatory care in community hospitals (even on the 
larger GRH and CGH sites, it is hard to find this critical mass).  The 
focus has therefore been on considering planned ambulatory care, 
although it is acknowledged that in the future there may be scope for 
developing a model of service for assessing frailty; 

 Surgery: it has been decided that, in line with good practice, no 
overnight surgery will take place at community hospitals, and so the 
visiting consultants and their teams will care for day surgery patients. 

 
8.2 The Working Group has therefore concluded that there is no additional 

need for medical cover anticipated in the future from the ideas currently 
being considered.    

 
9  Options Description 
 
9.1 To summarise firstly what has been described above: a new model of 

medical cover is required to support future plans for Cirencester Hospital 
as evidence suggests that the level of acuity/casemix of patients at the 
Hospital is broadly similar to that seen at other community hospitals in 
Gloucestershire, and these hospitals have a different model of medical 
cover that is working well.  Therefore, the current model is not 
considered to be viable into the future.   

 
9.2 Working with the Locality Executive, the Practices in South Cotswolds 

and GCS colleagues a list of options was developed and the benefits 
and issues of each have been assessed.  This is presented in a table 
within Appendix One. 

 
9.3 Broadly, the options centre on moving away from on-site overnight 

medical cover and a doctor-led MIIU, to off-site overnight medical cover 
and an ENP-led MIIU.   
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10 Financial Analysis 
 
10.1 In order to deliver the innovative plans detailed above in section 3 to 

develop Cirencester Hospital alongside local primary care, the CCG, 
GCS and the Locality Executive have had to consider how to fund these 
plans whilst still delivering high quality local care.  Appendix One shows 
that by re-designing the medical cover arrangements, considerable 
savings can be made, whilst still ensuring high quality local care. 

 
10.2 The cost of the current model of medical cover is £808,000.  If the least 

costly option were chosen (i.e. option two – ‘GP SLA’), this would result 
in a recurring net saving of £366,000.  Cost of change incurred would be 
one-off cost. 

 
10.3  At a recent development session, the Governing Body agreed that any 

savings realised could be re-invested into local services, which will 
provide re-assurance to the Locality and the local population how 
serious it is about ensuring a vibrant and sustainable Cirencester 
Hospital.   

 
11 Proposed New Model of Medical Cover for Cirencester Hospital 

 
11.1 The original concerns from colleagues currently providing the cover was 

that there is a higher level of acuity of patients managed at Cirencester 
and that a higher quality of care is delivered compared to the other 
community hospitals in the county.  There were also concerns about 
whether the existing model of medical cover offered best value for 
money.  

 
11.2 A good deal of work has taken place over the past year to understand 

these issues in greater detail, including the use of audits, and financial 
analysis.  As laid out in this paper, this work has demonstrated that: 

 

 The acuity of patients at Cirencester is not higher than 
Gloucestershire’s other community hospitals; 

 There is no evidence to suggest Cirencester is delivering a higher 
level of quality of care than Gloucestershire’s other community 
hospitals; 

 There is evidence that changes to the model of medical cover would 
result in significant savings, without compromising quality of service 
provision. 
 

11.3 Therefore, it is proposed that the current model (i.e. option one) should 
not continue.  Instead, a new model of medical cover should be 
implemented.  The Locality Executive Group have moved to a place of 
support provided emphasis is given to ensuring that new services such 
as the Ambulatory Care Unit are effectively supported. 
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11.4 It is vital to note two key risks with selecting option three: 
 

1) As some changes in shift patterns will be required, one or more of the 
Specialty Doctors may not wish to continue in their role(s); 

2) The role of Specialty Doctor nationally is gradually being phased out, 
so it is considered by GCS colleagues likely to be difficult to recruit a 
replacement either now or in the future. 

 
 
11.5 Finally, in order to ensure this proposal would not adversely affect 

patient outcomes, two Quality and Equality Impact Assessments have 
been carried out (available on request).  These assessments confirm an 
ENP-led unit and changes in overnight medical cover are appropriate 
models of care for Cirencester Hospital. 

 
12 Implementation 
 
12.1 Although the proposals have not yet been approved, it is vital that 

consideration is given to implementation issues, thus ensuring the 
proposals can be delivered in practice; this work is being actively 
progressed.  In this, it is fully recognised there will be significant 
implications (even if the preferred option is approved) for the individual 
doctors concerned and therefore GCS will be working closely with each 
doctor to ensure they are kept fully informed and options for them as 
individuals are clear.  

 
12.2 The Cirencester Hospital Working Group has already made clear to GCS 

and Locality colleagues that no changes will be implemented on the 
ground until it has been fully assured that robust implementation plans 
are in place and all risks have been identified and mitigated to ensure a 
smooth transition.  Having been through a similar process with other 
community hospitals over recent years, GCS colleagues are confident 
that they will manage a good transition process.  There will be a clear 
and comprehensive communications and engagement plan developed 
and implemented as soon as the Governing Body has made its decision. 

 
12.3 Members of the Working Group attended a meeting of the Hospital 

League of Friends on 19 May 2015 to present the proposals contained in 
this paper.  This was a very constructive meeting with general 
agreement that the services the Hospital provides should be the best 
they can be.  Further meetings between the Locality and the League will 
be arranged to discuss implementation of new developments at the 
Hospital.   It has been agreed that the Friends will be partners 
throughout the implementation process. 
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13 Risk Management 
 
13.1 It is fully acknowledged that there are risks associated with this proposal.  

The following have been identified, alongside the proposed mitigation: 
 

RISK MITIGATION 

Local GPs, Cirencester Hospital staff, and/or 
member of the local public sharing their 
concerns about the changes with the local 
media due to a perception that this is a 
‘downgrading of the Hospital’ 
 

The local MP, HOSC Chair, a local District and 
County Councillor, and Healthwatch Chair have 
been briefed.  A meeting has been held with the 
League of Friends.  GCS have been speaking 
directly to staff.  There has been, and will be, 
ongoing dialogue with local GPs through the 
Locality Executive 
 

Perception by local GPs that plans proposed in 
this paper (and others that may follow) will not 
be delivered  
 

Continued high-level support of Governing Body 
members of the CCG and GCS in the 
development of the plans and 
membership/leadership of the Cirencester 
Hospital Working Group.  Also, the agreement 
from the Governing Body that any net savings 
realised will be re-invested into local services 
 

Ability of primary care Out of Hours provider 
(SWAST) to provide sufficient levels of Out of 
Hours cover  
 

Working closely with SWAST Executive members 
through the implementation planning process and 
gain their assurance of cover (including 
assurance through contractual means) prior to 
any changes being made  
 

Ability to recruit sufficient number of ENPs 
 

GCS have commenced recruitment process for 
new ENPs, who are often needed across all 
Gloucestershire’s community hospitals  
 

Need to ensure existing ENPs are trained (as 
some have been de-skilled due to doctor 
presence in the MIIU) 
 

GCS recognised the issue and have commenced 
required training for the relevant staff, as well as 
training for other staff as part of succession 
planning 
 

Potential increase in MIIU patients needing to be 
transferred to an Emergency Department 
 

During working hours, a system will be trialled 
whereby if the ENP believes the patient could 
avoid a transfer to an Emergency Department by 
seeing a doctor, a ward doctor will be called.  This 
proved successful as a transition arrangement at 
the Stroud MIIU 
 

Potential increase in referrals from local GP 
Practices directly into an Emergency 
Department if they know a Doctor is not present 

The Locality Executive Group will work closely 
with its member Practices to explore this risk and 
then develop a mitigation plan if required  
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in the Cirencester Hospital MIIU 
 

 
14 Summary  
 
14.1 The CCG, South Cotswolds Locality Executive and GCS are committed 

to working with partners, including the local Voluntary and Community 
Sector, to create a vibrant and sustainable Cirencester Hospital.  The 
Locality Executive Group and GCS have worked closely with its 
member Practices and staff to devise a list of ideas on how to achieve 
this ambition, which have been tested and many are being developed 
into business cases for implementation as soon as possible.   

 
14.2 For many years, discussions have taken place considering a new 

model of medical cover for Cirencester Hospital.  This has resulted in a 
prolonged period of uncertainty over this time for the individuals 
potentially concerned.  Having undertaken intensive work, including 
several audits, over the past year, the Cirencester Hospital Working 
Group now believes the case for change is robust and ready for a 
decision by the CCG’s Governing Body.   

 
14.3   The proposed new model can deliver safe, effective and affordable 

care for the local population.  Audits have shown that the level of 
acuity/casemix of patients at the Hospital is broadly similar to that seen 
at other community hospitals in Gloucestershire, and these hospitals 
have a different model of medical cover that is working well and 
delivers on safety and effectiveness.   

 
14.4  Detailed consideration has been given to a range of options that move 

away from the current provision of on-site overnight medical cover and 
a doctor-led MIIU, to off-site overnight medical cover and an ENP-led 
MIIU.  This paper proposes that option three be chosen, where 
Specialty Doctors will provide in-hours cover to the wards and the local 
primary care Out of Hours provider (SWAST) will provide cover at all 
other times.  This will enable use of the expertise and skills of existing 
staff members.  If this is unable to be implemented, a service level 
agreement with a group of GPs will be a safe and effective alternative. 

 
15  Recommendations 
 
15.1 The Governing Body is asked to: 
 

 Approve the implementation of option three  

 Give authority to GCS to agree and action the implementation plans,  
working with GHFT and others including the Hospital League of 
Friends where appropriate; 

 Propose key factors it wishes to be considered during the 
implementation phase, particularly related to the risks highlighted in 
section 13 above and overall communications and engagement 
activities. 
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Jonathan Jeanes, Programme Director - GCCG 
Dr Alan Gwynn, South Cotswold Locality Executive Chair 

Dr Malcolm Gerald, South Cotswold – GCCG Governing Body Member 
Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer – GCCG 

 
with support from GCS colleagues  

 
19th May 2015 



Appendix 1

CIRENCESTER HOSPITAL MEDICAL COVER OPTIONS APPRAISAL

OPTION No.

OPTION 

OVERVIEW

IN‐HOURS SERVICE                   

(MONDAY TO FRIDAY) OUT‐OF‐HOURS SERVICE BENEFITS ISSUES COST

1 Status Quo MIU ‐ one Specialty Dr 0800 to 1700       

Inpatients ‐ one Specialty Dr from 0900 

to 1800 and one Specialty Dr from 

1000 to 1900

Inpatients and MIU ‐ one RMO covering 

1900 to 0800 Monday to Friday, all 

weekends and bank holidays

* 24/7 on‐site medical cover provided * Provides 

comprehensive level of medical cover *Established service 

model recognised by the whole hospital team and local GPs 

*No change in employment arrangements for the 

individual doctors concerned

* Continues to 'muddy the waters' about the role of 

an MIU vs an ED, with the public using an MIU like 

an ED as there are Drs present … associated clinical 

risk issues *A potential mis‐match between 

provision and need i.e. too highly qualified 

workforce for too many hours

£807,576

2 GP SLA Inpatients ‐ GP presence for 15 hours a 

day: Consortium GPs available for 

advice and urgent visits 08:00 to 18:30

Inpatients ‐ GP presence 6 hours on a 

Saturday and on a Sunday.  All other out 

of hours cover provided by SWAST

* Aligns with established and successful model in the other 

community hospitals * Provides resilience given larger 

number of doctors to draw upon * Supports integrated 

working between the hospital and primary care … 

improving 'ownership' by GPs as providers and 

commissioners * Provides robust Clinical Governance ‐ 

assured around appraisal, continuous professional 

development (CPD), mentoring and supervision

* New way of working and so will require a period to 

resolve transition‐related issues

£441,441

3 Specialty Drs 

instead of GP 

SLA 

Inpatients ‐ at least one Specialty Dr  

for 15 hours a day

Inpatients ‐ one Specialty Dr for 6 hours 

on a Saturday and on a Sunday.  All other 

out of hours cover provided by SWAST

*Utilises existing Specialty Dr team members * Ability to replace Spec Drs and recruit new ones

£444,105

4 Specialty Drs 

Additional in‐

hours cover 

Inpatients ‐ between 0800 and 1900 

minimum of one Speciality Dr, with a 

maximum of three between 1000 ‐ 

1700                          

Inpatients ‐ one Specialty Dr 1000 to 

1600 on a Saturday and on a Sunday.  All 

other out of hours cover provided by 

SWAST

*Greater level of Doctor presence than options 2 & 3 

*Utilises existing Specialty Dr team members

* Ability to replace Spec Drs and recruit new ones

£535,645

5 Specialty Drs 

24/7

Inpatients ‐ one Specialty Dr at all 

times, and an additional Specialty Dr 

available from 0900 to 1700

Inpatients ‐ One Specialty Dr at all times  *Highest level of medical cover with a Dr on‐site 24/7 

*Utilises existing Specialty Dr team members

* Ability to replace Spec Drs and recruit new ones   * 

A potential mis‐match between provision and need 

i.e. too highly qualified workforce for too many 

hours *Unclear that the excess cost would deliver 

sufficient value for money compared to the 

expected benefits

£778,052

Notes
A
B
C

Cross‐cutting issues
A

B Sustainability of any model/option reliant on attracting speciality doctors into the future

All Options will provide cover to the inpatient beds (and any future ambulatory care pathways where Dr input would be required, although additional training will be required for the Sp Drs)
All Options (other than status quo) assume there will be an ENP‐led MIU (even if it means the Dr being available 'on‐call')

Clinical governance

All the Options have been costed to include covering for absence due to holiday/training/sickness
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Agenda Item 13 

 
NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Governing Body 
 

Meeting Date Thursday 28th May 2015 
 

Title Lead Provider Framework 
 

Executive Summary The existing Service Level Agreement (SLA) 
with South, Central & West Commissioning 
Support Unit (CSU) will end on 31st March 
2016 and there are currently no options to 
extend this SLA. The paper provides an 
update on arrangements for re-procuring 
these services using the Lead Provider 
Framework as developed by NHS England. 
 

Key Issues 
 

The timescale for re procurement is quite 
short and the CCG will need to ensure that 
appropriate resources are available to 
develop comprehensive specifications and 
take part in the evaluation of the tender. 
 

Risk Issues: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Original Risk 
 

 Limited CCG expertise available to 
develop and evaluate the specification 
and tender responses could mean that  
the CCG does not properly procure the 
support it needs.  The CCG is accessing 
external support in some areas to 
address this risk 

 The responses to the tender are outside 
the CCG’s affordability envelope 

 
3 * 4 = 12 
 

Financial Impact The CCG is currently reviewing its 
affordability envelope for these services and 
will put an upper limit on the contract value.   
 



 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

Legal Issues 
(including NHS 
Constitution) 

The CCG is using the NHSE lead provider 
framework and is therefore compliant with 
procurement law. 
 

Impact on Equality 
and Diversity 

n/a 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

n/a 

Impact on 
Sustainable 
Development  

n/a 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

n/a 

Recommendation The Governing Body is asked to agree that 
the CCG follows the process set out within 
this paper in order to secure Commissioning 
Support Services from 1st April 2016. 

Author & 
Designation 

 
 

Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer 
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Agenda Item 13 
 

Gloucestershire CCG – Lead Provider Framework 

1.0 Introduction 
 

 The existing Service Level Agreement (SLA) with South, Central & 
West Commissioning Support Unit will end on 31st March 2016 and 
there are currently no options to extend this SLA. The paper provides 
an update on arrangements for re-procuring these services. 
 

2.0 Lead Provider Framework 
 

 NHS England has recently undertaken a process to develop a Lead 
Provider Framework of approved, accredited commissioning support 
services. This framework allows CCG to run a competitive process 
that meets procurement regulations but avoids the significant time and 
costs were CCGs to undertake the process individually and from 
scratch. The Framework comprises three lots:  
 

 Lot 1 – End to end business services support – 10 approved 
suppliers  

 Lot 2a – Medicines Management – 8 suppliers  

 Lot 2b – Continuing Health Care (CHC), Individual Funding 
Requests – 9 suppliers  

 
The CCG’s current supplier has been approved for all three lots. NHS 
England is offering support to help navigate through the process and 
they have provided various documents to support the process.   
 

3.0 Process 
 

 The CCG has been working with BANES, Swindon and Wiltshire 
CCGs with a view to collaborate on the procurement.  A collaborative 
approach should ensure that each participating CCG benefits from 
volume discounts associated with the new framework contract.  Once 
this has been agreed, all four CCGs will sign a collaboration 
agreement.  The CCGs are accessing support for the process from 
NHS England, including specific expertise on IM&T as currently this 
knowledge sits wholly within the CSU. 
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 Agree the preferred collaborative approach. This will seek to 

achieve the best mix of savings from procuring at scale with 
delivering the quality and mix of services required by each CCG. 

 
 Secure NHS England procurement support services and agree 

local procurement capacity – March / April 2015  
 

 Agree detailed timetable for procurement 
 

 Agree scope, service specifications, contract details – April - 
June 2015.   

 
 Procurement – July to Sept 2015  

 
 Governing Body sign off, appoint supplier –Oct 2015  

 
 Mobilisation – Nov to March 2016  

 
 Go live – April 2016  

 
The process will be subject to the same process as all other CCG 
procurements including ensuring that any conflicts of interest are 
managed properly. 
 

4.0 Services in scope 
 

 The CCG has reviewed the services currently commissioned from the 
CSU to ensure that it remains within the CCG business interest to 
continue to commission externally.  Services commissioned through 
the CSU have to provide: 
 

 Better value for money than an in house service 
 Access to expertise and innovation that would not be available 

through an in house service 
 Resilience of service provision  

 
 The services proposed for commissioning from the lead provider 

framework are: 
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 Clinical Effectiveness - Risk Stratification (Helpdesk Function) 
 Freedom of Information 
 Health & Safety 
 Human resources 
 Informatics-data warehousing/management 
 GP IM&T 
 Information Governance 
 IT technology & support 
 NICE / Clinical Effectiveness Notifications 
 Procurement - Transactional 
 IT Project Planning and Programmes 
 Provider performance management for specified contracts 

where there is joint management across several CCGs 
 
The development of specifications for each of these areas will involve 
individuals with expertise from each organisation and will include 
primary care representatives for GP IM&T services. 
 

5.0 Recommendation 
 

 The Governing Body is asked to agree that the CCG follows the 
process set out within this paper in order to secure Commissioning 
Support Services from 1st April 2016. 
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Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Governing Body 
Agenda Item 14 

 
Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 
 

Title Performance Report  
 

Executive Summary This performance framework report provides an 
overview of Gloucestershire CCG performance 
against organisational objectives and national 
performance measures for the period to the end 
of March 2015.  

Key Issues 
 

These are set out in the executive summary 
within the report. 

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

All risks are identified within the relevant 
sections of this report. 
 

Financial Impact This report focusses on the 2014/15 outturn 
position and provides a budget update report for 
2015/16.

Legal Issues 
(including NHS 
Constitution)  

These are set out in the main body of the report.
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

Not applicable. 
 

Impact on Equality 
and Diversity 

There are no direct health and equality 
implications contained within this report. 
 

Impact on 
Sustainable 
Development 

There are no direct sustainability implications 
contained within this report. 
 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

These are set out in the main body of the report.
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is asked to: 
 Note the performance against local and 

national targets and the actions taken to 
ensure that performance is at a high 
standard. 
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Author & Designation Sarah Hammond, Head of Information & 
Performance 
Andrew Beard, Deputy CFO  
Ian Goodall, Associate Director of Strategic 
Planning 
 

Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 
 

Cath Leech, Chief Finance Officer 
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Gloucestershire CCG 
 

Performance Report  
1.0 Executive summary 

 

1.1 Introduction 
The performance report is broken down into the five sections of the GCCG 
performance framework:  
• Clinical Excellence  
• Finance and Efficiency  
• Patient Experience  
• Partnerships  
• Staff  
A full summary of performance against all national and local standards is included 
within the relevant scorecard for that section of the report. An overarching GCCG 
performance dashboard is included as a supporting appendix; providing an 
overview of all key national and local targets. A further supporting appendix is 
provided in relation to the update on 2015/16 budgets. 
 
Whilst inevitably this report focuses on areas of concern it should be noted that 
Gloucestershire is currently achieving the majority of the local and national 
performance standards.  

 
1.2 Balanced scorecard 2014/15 – up to 31st March 2015 

 

Ref.  CCG Internal Perspective 
Overall rating  

Amber 

P1  Clinical excellence   Green 

P2  Patient Experience  Amber 

P3  Partnerships  Green 

P4  Staff  Green 

P5  Finance & efficiency  Green 
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1.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Clinical Excellence – Green, 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Clinical excellence - Perspective highlights: 
 

 The CCG is developing a strong focus on patient safety.  As an organisation 
we have committed to strengthening patient safety by signing up to the” Sign 
up to Safety” national programme. Further details on this are at Item 2.1.2 

 The Quality Team continue to support service changes and development 
through Quality and Equality impact assessments (QIA & EIA).  Recently such 
assessments have been undertaken in respect of the service development 
project relating to leg ulcer care. 

 
 The Quarterly Clinical Quality Review Group meeting for GCS has been 

revised and will now cover social care as well and will now meet bi-monthly. 
 

 Clinical programme groups (CPGs) have a portfolio of clinical evidence which 
informs and supports their decision-making. 

Challenging performance: 

 62 day cancer performance 
during 2014/15 was below the 
85% standard, issues identified 
with Urology, Lung and Lower GI 

 Red 2 & A19 SWAST 
ambulance timeliness indicator 
performance in 2014/15 were 
below the required standard for 
all three Red timeliness 
indicators  

 Number of Health care acquired 
infections. During quarter 4, 3 
MRSA case was reported 
making the year-end total 10 
cases. The incidence of 
Norovirus has been higher than 
the previous year. 

 
 

Good performance:  

 Red 1 performance in March 
was 81.4%, making the final 
year-end performance 75.2% 
(Green)  
 

 Continued reduction in C-difficile 
infection rates and use of 
antibiotics.    

 
 Radiology reporting delays have 

been an issue at GHNHSFT; 
however, reports show that the 
reporting backlog has been 
eliminated and GCCG continues 
to monitor this area.  

 
 Cardiology correspondence 

delays been reduced at 
GHNHSFT, though this area 
remains under close scrutiny 
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Patient experience – Amber, due to amber rating of 3 success criteria. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Challenging performance: 

 Performance against the 
emergency department 4 hour 
waiting time target in March was 
86.6% making the final 2014/15 
position 90% (April was 91.6%).  
the CCG and wider health 
community continues to work 
together to address the system 
wide pressure experience during 
quarter 4 of 2014/15.  

 RTT pathways in excess of 52 
weeks; the number of 52 week 
breaches continue to be of 
concern 

 The Cancellation of elective 
procedures continues to be an 
area of concern due to urgent 
care pressures. 

 The proportion of patients waiting 
over 6 weeks for a diagnostic 
procedure remains high, March’s 
performance was due to long 
waits for endoscopic tests.  

Good performance 

 There have been significant 
improvements in mixed sex ward 
performance. During 14/15 there 
were 0 cases reported.  

 Improved access to IAPT 
services and maintenance of the 
50% recovery rate. 

 Compliance with the 8 week  
referral to treatment standard for 
community services has 
improved. In March the Podiatry, 
Adult Occupational therapy, 
Adult Physiotherapy, Parkinson 
Nursing, Diabetic Nursing, 
Paediatric Speech and 
Language Therapy, Paediatric 
Occupational Therapy, 
Paediatric Physiotherapy 
services all achieved the 
standard.  

  

Patient Experience - Perspective highlights: 

 Continued increase in contacts received by GCCG Experience and Safety 
Team, majority requests for advice and information.  

 Patients continue to report a positive experience of providers through the 
Friends and Family Test. 

 CCG Patient Engagement and Experience Team continue to support a 
wide range of GCCG projects. Key activities in the last month include 
Ophthalmology outpatient surveys and care home resident interviews.  
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Partnerships – Green rating with all indicators on target for achievement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Staff – Green rating with all indicators on target for achievement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Finance and efficiency – Amber rating with all success criteria rated as amber. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Partnerships - Perspective highlights: 
 

 Full sign up to collaborative commissioning agreement and contract 
performance of all health and social care services in the community 
provided by Gloucestershire Care Services.  

 Better care fund metrics are now included within the report, progress 
against the ambitions set within the Gloucestershire health and well-
being board plan will be reported within the partnerships perspective.  

 Development of system wide Operational Resilience and Capacity Plan 
(ORCP)  

 

Staff - Perspective highlights: 
 

 Monthly turnover in March was 1.2%  
 The number of CCG vacancies has increased from 8 to13  
 Staff sickness has increased to 2.2% 
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Finance and Efficiency – Green/Amber rating 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Challenging performance: 

 The reported position 
includes slippage on QIPP 
schemes within the current 
financial year of £3.67m. 

 The CCG outturn position is 
fully inclusive of contract 
overperformance with some 
providers.  

 
 

 
 

Good performance 

 The CCG has delivered a 
surplus of £8.494m; 
representing an increase of 
£1.6m to the surplus originally 
planned due to the return of 
the predicted underspend on 
the CHC risk pool. 

 
 The better payment practice 

code performance for the year 
to date (for non-NHS invoices 
by volume) is 96.22% which is 
in line with the targeted figure. 

Finance and Efficiency - Perspective highlights: 
 

 The overall assessment for the finance and efficiency perspective against 
the NHS England criteria is amber, however, the CCG’s overall internal 
rating is green as we have achieved the planned surplus  
 

 The CCG’s outturn position includes all known risks and pressures.  
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1.3 GCCG Performance Framework Overview 
 

 The sections below provide an overview of each domain.  Each of the sections is 
broken down into success criteria which when combined provide an overall rating 
for the domain. The development of the partnerships section is ongoing as this is 
an area of development for the CCG. 
 
All indicators are RAG rated, based on the 2014/15 NHS Everyone Counts 
Planning for Patients thresholds.  Key national and local indicators are given an 
overall rating by weighting their importance to the organisation. Indicators which 
feature in the NHS constitution, Quality Premium and CCG assurance framework 
receive the highest weighting with local targets being given a lesser value. The 
overall rating is then derived from the combined score of those targets rated 
Amber and Red.   
 
Areas of performance assessed as being at risk of failure at year end, or other 
issues that engender concerns throughout the year, for which the Governing Body 
need to be made aware of, are reported upon within this report. Where standards 
are reported on a quarterly basis, the Governing Body will be informed of updates 
as and when data is available or new information comes to light. 
  
Performance framework  
 
The GCCG performance framework measures the in-year success of the 
organisation by linking the key organisational objectives to perspectives. Each of 
the five perspectives is given a Red, Amber or Green rating based on the progress 
made against a number of locally defined critical success criteria.  
 
Key local and national commissioned performance targets are also reported under 
each domain; however, the overall rating of each perspective is derived from 
GCCG performance against those targets which link to the organisations 
objectives: 

 
Internal Perspective Organisational Objective 
Clinical Excellence (1) Develop strong, high quality, clinically 

effective and innovative services. We will 
deliver this through a multi professional focus, 
with a particular emphasis on clinical 
programme approach and developing our 
member localities. 
 

Finance and Efficiency (3) Transform services to meet the future 
needs of the population, through the most 
effective use of resources; ensuring the 
reduction of harm, waste and variation. 
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(4) Build a sustainable and effective 
organisation, with robust governance 
arrangements throughout the organisation and 
localities. 

Patient Experience (2) Work with patients, carers and the 
public; to inform decision making. 
 

Partnerships (5) Work together with our partners to 
develop and deliver ill health prevention and 
care strategies designed to improve the lives 
of patients, their families and carers. 
 

Staff (6) Develop strong leadership as 
commissioners at all levels of the organisation, 
including localities. 
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2.1 Clinical Excellence  

2.1.1 Clinical Excellence – Period up to 31st March 2015 
 

The overall rating for clinical excellence is Green for year to date progress against 
the specified success criteria.  

PERSPECTIVE 1  Clinical Excellence   Green 
 

Success criteria: Patient safety is at the heart of the work of the CCG and 
is considered when planning service change and developments. 

 

G 

 Key performance indicators  

Outcomes measures for patient safety have been developed based on the CCG 
Outcome framework and sign up for safety initiative.  

G 

Quality Impact Assessments are undertaken for all new proposed initiatives and 
service developments. This is considered by the QIPP assurance board before 
decisions are made to support new initiatives.  Mitigation is planned where 
necessary to ensure patient safety. 

G 

Success criteria: 2. Regular, robust information is available to provide 
assurance that our service providers are delivering quality, safe & clinically 
effective services. 

 
G 
 

 Key performance indicators   
A robust process to timely monitor compliance with NICE, which provides 
assurance that all NICE publications are considered and Technology Appraisals 
are implemented within the required time frame. 

G 

Clinical Quality Review Groups meet quarterly and provide assurance to the 
Governing Body through the production of a bi‐monthly provider quality report. 
Ad‐hoc meetings take place with providers on specific concerns. 

G 

Success criteria: 3. The Organisation has a culture where clinical 
effectiveness underpins decision‐making, through considering up to date 
evidence and horizon scanning. 

 
G 
 

 Key performance indicators   

CPGs have a portfolio of clinical evidence which informs and supports their 

decision‐making. 
G 

Success criteria: 4. Key local and National standards relating to Patient 
Experience 

 
A 
 

 Key performance indicators   

Achievement of key NHS outcome framework metrics see section 2.2.1  A 

Achievement of key local and National standards relating to Clinical 
Excellence – see section 2.2.2 

A 
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2.1.2 Success criteria 1: Patient safety is at the heart of the work of the CCG and 
is considered when planning service change and developments. 
 
The CCG has a strong focus on patient safety with it being a regular item on the 
agenda of the Clinical Quality Review Group meetings with providers.  In 
addition the CCG is fully involved as an active member of the South West 
Patient Safety Collaborative.  
 
Gloucestershire CCG commit to strengthening patient safety by signing up to 
the” Sign up to Safety” national programme. This involves 

 Describing the actions we will undertake in response to the five campaign 
pledges 

The five Sign up to Safety pledges are 

1. Putting safety first. Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by 
half and make public our locally developed goals and plans 

2. Continually learn. Make our organisation more resilient to risks, by 
acting on the feedback from patients and staff and by constantly 
measuring and monitoring how safe our services are 

3. Being honest. Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle 
patient safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and 
their families if something goes wrong 

4. Collaborating. Take a lead role in supporting local collaborative 
learning, so that improvements are made across all of the local services 
that patients use 

5. Being supportive. Help people understand why things go wrong and 
how to put them right. Give staff the time and support to improve and 
celebrate progress 

 We commit to turn our actions into a safety improvement plan (including a 
driver diagram) which will show how the CCG intends to save lives and 
reduce harm for patients over the next 3 years 

 Committing to turn these actions into a Safety Improvement Plan which 
will show how our organisation intends to save lives and reduce harm for 
patients over the next three years.  

 Identify the patient safety improvement areas we will focus on within the 
safety plans.  

 Engage our local community, patients and staff to ensure that the focus 
of our plan reflects what is important to our community  
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 Make public our plan and update regularly on our progress against it.  

Early benefits of this collaborative work is the networking that has evolved, sight 
of of other provider initiatives and joining up of workstreams. For example the 
South West ambulance service is developing a CQUIN to support roll out of 
NEWS across the South West. 
 

2.1.3 Success criteria 2: Regular, robust information is available to provide 
assurance that our service providers are delivering quality, safe & 
clinically effective services. 
 
The Quality Team has established quarterly Clinical Quality Review Groups 
(CQRG) chaired by the Executive Nurse and Quality Lead.   These are held for 
Gloucestershire’s main providers, namely Gloucestershire Hospitals NHSFT, 
2gether NHSFT, Gloucestershire Care Services Trust and a further CQRG for 
Care Homes. These meetings report directly to the relevant NHS 
Gloucestershire CCG/Provider contract boards, and provide a focused 
opportunity for quality to be discussed between provider and commissioner.   
 
Bespoke datasets are reviewed at the quarterly Clinical Quality Review Group 
meetings for each of the provider organisations, as well as a CQRG for Care 
Homes 
 
CQRG’s have the ability to escalate any issues to the full contract board, and 
where necessary to the regular wider Quality Surveillance meetings.  
In addition to the CQRG meetings the Quality Team has recently established a 
programme of bi-annual Quality Summits for the three main Providers.  These 
Summits bring together Commissioners across the range of services to highlight 
issues or concerns and identify areas of good practice.  The intention is that 
issues raised will be used to inform the commissioning intentions for the year 
2015/16. 
 

2.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Success criteria: 3. The Organisation has a culture where clinical 
effectiveness underpins decision-making, through considering up to date 
evidence and horizon scanning. 
 
Continued work between CPG team, information team, public health and the 
quality team, to consider the outcomes of the NICE CCG Outcome Indicator Set 
2014/15 – 2018/19, and how the clinical outcomes can contribute to the 
implementation of the CCG two year delivery plan. 
 
A small contract has been agreed with the CSU to provide the CCG with access 
to their clinical effectiveness updates and NICE implementation impact 
assessments on a monthly basis. This information will be shared with clinical 
leads and CPGs. 
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2.2 Reporting of key local and national standards – Clinical Excellence 
 

2.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2.2 

The following section provides an overview of key local and national standard 
relating to clinical excellence. Assessment against performance is as per 
defined local/ national guidance.  
 
Issues identified in the following areas:  

 62 day cancer performance  
 Red 2 and A19 amabulance timelineness indicators 
 Number of MRSA infections 
 Key stroke specific indicators 
 The number of never events 

 
Areas of good performance include:  

 Red 1 ambulance achievement 
 Improved performance against the C.diff trajectory 
 Reduction in handover delays  
 Elimination of Radiology reporting delays  

 
The dashboard below provides a more complete position statement for the 
domain. Each of the Amber and Red rated indicators are reported on by 
exception in section 2.3. This section outlines year to date performance, 
identifies the issues leading to that performance and any mitigating actions 
being taken to improve performance. 
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Threshold Month Performance
YTD 

performance
6 month trend

96% Mar  100.0% 99.2%

94% Mar 91.5% 96.2%

98% Mar 100.0% 100.0%

94% Mar 100.0% 99.6%

85% Mar 83.1% 82.7%

90% Mar 100.0% 93.2%

90% Mar 100.0% 93.5%

75% Mar 81.4% 75.2%

75% Mar 63.9% 71.4%

95% Mar 92.6% 93.6%

<2013/14 Mar 83 1038

<2013/14 Mar 17 141

80% Mar 76.0% 76.3%

60% Feb 56.1% 60.6%

0 Mar 2 10

0 Mar 2 4

201 Mar 15 153

55 Mar 4 37

0 Mar 0 4

n/a Mar 82 82

n/a Mar 0 0

n/a Mar 15,042 15,042

Number of Never Events 

Cardiology correspondence backlog

Radiology reporting delays

Outpatient follow‐up pending lists 

Enhancing quality of life for people with long‐term conditions

Number of MRSA infections (Health Community)

Number of MRSA infections (GHNHSFT)

Number of C.diff infections (Health Community)

Number of C.diff infections (GHNHSFT)

Local and National standards relating to Clinical Excellence

Patients Access to unscheduled care

Cat A RED 2 Ambulance incidents 

Cat A 19 min response Ambulance incidents

Over 1 hour ambulance handover delays (GHNHSFT)

Over 30 minute ambulance handover 

delays (GHNHSFT)

Treating and caring for people in a safe environment & protecting them from avoidable harm

Patients Access to planned care 

services

Cancer ‐ first definitive treatment within 31 days of a 

cancer diagnosis

Cancer ‐ subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 

days ‐ surgery

Cat A RED 1 Ambulance incidents

Cancer ‐ subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 

days ‐ Drug Regime
Cancer ‐ subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 

days ‐ Radiotherapy 
Cancer ‐ first definitive treatment within 62 days GP 

referral

Cancer ‐ first definitive treatment within 62 days 

screening service

Amber rated

Cancer ‐  first definitive treatment within 62 days 

upgrade

Proportion of people who have had a stroke who spend 

at least 90% of their time in hospital on a stroke unit

Proportion of people at high risk of Stroke who 

experience a TIA are assessed and treated within 24 

hours
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2.3 Cancer waiting times – first definitive treatment within 62 days GP referral 
 
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62 days 
of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer  
 
Performance in the first two quarters of the year was green rated; however, from 
October onwards performance has reduced making the overall 2014/15 position 
Amber  (82.7%).  
 

85% Target 
62 day target - GP Referral  

Patients treated 
Over 62 day 

breaches 
% within 62 days  

April 119 9 92.4% 
May 151 25 83.4% 
June 109 11 89.9% 
July 138 25 81.9% 
August 126 9 92.9% 
September 131 18 86.3% 
October 126 29 77.0% 
November 129 26 79.8% 
December 136 30 77.9% 

January 111 29 73.9% 

February 124 32 74.2% 

March 136 23 83.1% 

2014/15 Total 1536 266 82.7% 
 

Of the 266 breaches, 246.5 have occurred at Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS FT 
(GHNHSFT).  
 
The majority of breaches have occurred in the following specialties:  
 
Urology – 98 breaches  
Lung – 36 breaches  
Lower Gastrointestinal – 41 breaches 
 
GCCG are coordinating actions with the main providers to ensure that performance 
improves, with sustainable delivery during 2015/16; however, concerns remain with 
cpapcity issues in key specialties.   
 
SWAST Ambulance indicators  
 
Ambulance targets are monitored at a South Western Ambulance Trust wide 
aggregate level.  
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Number of MRSA infections (Health Community) 
 
2014/15 performance was Red rated with 10 reported cases against a threshold of
zero. 6 of the cases in Gloucestershire have been classified as pre 48 hour and have 
not been attributed to a provider.  
 
GCCG are investigating the cases reported in Q4; for CCG actions please see 
GCCG Quality report to the Integrated Governance Quality committee (IGQC).  
 

 
Number of total C. diff infections (Health Community) 
 
The threshold for 2014/15 has increased from 162 to 201 cases in line with NHS 
England guidance.  
 
2014/15 performance was green rated with 153 cases against a year to date 
threshold of 201.  
 
The following chart demonstrates the progressive fall in C.diff from April 2010 to 
December 2014: 

 
 

0
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Never events & Serious Incidents 
 
2gether NHSFT have registered 2 Serious Incidents relating to inpatients.  2gether 
have given early assurances on interim measures implemented in response to these 
incidents, and are currently investigating them fully to draw conclusions and develop 
action plans in relation to these occurences.     
 
Other Key Performance Issue: 
 
Cardiology correspondence delays 
 
During 2014/15 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has been 
made aware of delays in cardiology correspondence.  Performance in this area has 
shown improvement but will remain under scrutiny.  A meeting to review 
performance has been scheduled for June 2015, the latest figure (snapshot at the 
end of March) for correspondence over 5 days (period from dictation to transcription) 
is 82.  
 
Outpatient follow-up pending list 
 
In line with a new information sharing request set out in the contract agreement with 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHFT), detailed information 
regarding outpatient follow up pending lists was received in October and will now be 
reported monthly in the CCG performance reporting framework. Initial data received 
has highlighted a need for further data validation to correctly assess the position 
with regards to patients who may be overdue a follow up appointment, as the 
pending list currently may report all patients who are waiting for their follow up 
including those for whom the expected follow up date has not yet been reached. In 
some specialties, the follow up pending list may at this stage also include patients 
who are not actually waiting for a follow up appointment, but who have an 
arrangement to self-refer in to see a consultant should an issue with their on-going 
care arise. An example of this is for respiratory patients who are on long term 
treatment with Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP), Bi-level Positive 
Airway Pressure (BPAP) or Nebulisers. We have agreed with GHFT that we will 
work together to complete the assessment of the position, and will now receive 
weekly update reports at a specialty level as we do this. Where a problem is 
identified, we will work together to agree a specialty level action plan to improve the 
position that will focus on service redesign of pathways where this is required.  
 
District Nursing  
 
Gloucestershire CCG and Gloucestershire Care Services (GCS) continue to work 
together to understand and address the specific concerns raised in relation to the 
District Nursing function within Integrated Care Teams across Gloucestershire.  
 

GCS have developed an action plan to address the immediate concerns and 
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improve the resilience of the DN workforce which has been agreed by the CCG 
Core team and will go to the CCG Governing Body in February.  
 
A new Head of Community Nursing at GCS was appointed and has been in post 
since October 2014.  The identified priorities for the postholder are contained within 
the Gloucestershire District Nurse Action Plan that is currently awaiting both GCS 
and CCG Governing Body approval.  Meetings between the Head of Community 
Nursing and CCG Health and Social Care Commissioning Manager take place on a 
weekly basis.    A wider management group meet regularly to assess progress 
made across all of the wider DN issues. GCS continue with their intensive 
recruitment campaign to attract Nurses of all bands to work in the community. The 
CCG meet with GCS HR on a weekly basis to assess the recruitment and retention 
issues in relation to District Nursing. There is still an issue recruiting to Band 6 
posts, which is also reflected nationally.  
 
Daily staffing rotas are being issued to GP’s within the North Cotswolds, South 
Cotswolds and Gloucester localities.  This has been at the request of the GPs as 
they were unaware which nurses were on duty providing care to their patients, 
particularly in relation to end-of-life and complex case patients.  This has been well 
received by GPs and Primary Care has now been requested  that it is rolled out 
across the whole of Gloucestershire.  The daily rotas also explain how GPs can 
contact the DNs for urgent and non-urgent requests. 
 
The CCG is currently developing a proposal for a time limited piece of work that will 
develop new quality standards for District Nursing, this work will include a gap 
analysis of what actions are required in order to deliver on any new service 
specification. 
 
Work continues to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the service through 
Datix incident reporting. Both GCS and CCG are working together to address 
concerns raised by Primary Care and identify themes and trends. 
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3.1 Patient experience 
3.1.1 Patient Experience – Period to 31st March 2015 

PERSPECTIVE 3  Patient Experience  Amber 

Success criteria 1: Reporting: Improve reporting of patient experience and the 
use of feedback to influence commissioning intentions 

A 

Key performance indicators 

Friends & family test ‐ Roll out of FFT as per agreed national timetable          G 

Friends & family test ‐ improvement in the average FFT score for acute 
inpatient care & A&E services between Q1 2013/14 & Q1 2014/15 

A 

Results of Maternity, Emergency & elective inpatient surveys  A 

Results of Community mental health survey  G 

Review appropriateness and quality of feedback from providers  A 

Qualitative feedback including that from surveys, FFT, 4Cs and Healthwatch  A 

Results from the provider assurance framework through monitoring in the 
Provider Quality Review meetings 

G 

Success criteria 2: Staff Involvement:  Improve staff reporting if three 
domains of quality: safety, effectiveness and experience                                           

A 

Key performance indicators 

Review the systems for the management of Serious Incidents and Never 
Events and develop mechanisms to identify themes,  ensure lessons are 
learnt and feedback is provided to member practices and service providers 

G 

Establish a system for CCG staff to share their experiences and make 
suggestions so that the CCG and providers can learn from staff's Friends and 
Family experiences 

A 

Success criteria 3: Effecting change based on patient experience feedback : 
Staff recognise the value of patient experience in their commissioning role 

A 

Key performance indicators   

Use patient stories to monitor the quality of commissioned services  G 

Use individual patient experience to inform the wider decision making in 
improving services  A 

Constructively respond to requests for specific engagement on themes 
identified through feedback   G 

 

Success criteria: 4. Key local and National standards relating to Patient Experience  R 

 Key performance indicators   

Achievement of key NHS outcome framework metrics see section 2.2.1  A 

Achievement of key local and National standards relating to Patient 
experience – see section 2.2.2 

R 
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3.1.2 Success Criteria 1: Reporting – Improve reporting of patient experience 
and the use of feedback to influence commissioning intentions (Amber). 
 
CCG monitoring of FFT 
The CCG monitors local FFT performance (CQUINs) through regular provider 
Clinical Quality Review Group meetings. GCS and 2GT are achieving CQUIN 
milestones relating to implementation of FFT to agreed timescales. All 
providers met their CQUIN target in relation to FFT in Q1, Q2 and Q3. 
 
Results are currently being analysed for Q4, which is the next measuarale 
milestone for providers.  
 
PALS and the provision of Information and Advice 
 
The increase in requests for advice and information first noted in Q3 has continued 
in Q4, particularly through our Primary Care PALS service. Over the course of the 
year, total contacts with the team have increased from 83 in Q1 to 232 in Q4. 
 
Last quarter, the increase was explained due to improved reporting. However, the 
continued rise between the last two quarters of the year is a genuine increase in 
demand for the service. 
 
During Q4 the Experience Team provided advice and information on a range 
of topics including: 

 Waiting times for procedures 
 Criteria for funding 
 Continuing Healthcare reviews 
 NHS complaints handling arrangements  

 
The table and bar chart below provide the total figures in more detail. 
 

Type Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4
Advice or information 41 47 138 154 

Comment 1 4 6 9 

Compliments 9 3 3 3 

Concerns 3 48 42 52 

Complaints (GCCG) 10 9 5 7 

Complaints against provider 
which CCG is reviewing 

1 1 18 4 

Complaint shared with the 
CCG but relating to another 
provider 

18 3 8 3 

TOTAL CONTACTS 83 115 220 232 
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In the last Performance Report an update was provided on engagement 
activities linked to Clinical Programme Groups. Below is a summary of 
individual project work CCG Engagement and Experience staff supported 
during Q4. 
 
Engagement - ‘commissioners on the ground’ 
 
Current proactive GCCG Engagement activities - The Engagement and 
Experience Team has supported a range of GCCG projects and programmes 
during Quarter 4. 
 
Clinical Programme Group (CPG) activity  
The Engagement Team has undertaken focussed work for five of the CPGs 
during Q4.  

 
 Cancer: Continued work with the Cancer Patient Reference Group, 

including collection of patient stories and informing the Survivorship 
project.  

 Eye Care: Outcome of engagement reported to a series of workshops 
during February and March 2015. 

 Muskulo-Skeletal: Outcome of engagement report   presented to 
March 2015 CPG. 

 Frail Older People: Schedule of visits to Care Homes to obtain 
residents’ feedback on the Care Homes Enhanced Service completed. 
Outcome of engagement report to be presented in the early part of 
2015/16. 

 Respiratory: Facilitated ‘Respiratory pathway’ Workshop for Health 
and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HCOSC) members, 
January 2015. 

In addition to the CCG Engagement Team’s input, all CPGs have 
representation from a CCG Lay Champion and a Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire member. Lay Champions and HWG members have been 
directly involved in some of the engagement activities described below. Their 
observations and insights have informed CPG discussions and planning. 
 
Individual Project Work 
Members of CCG Engagement and Experience staff have been involved in a 
range of projects during Q4:  
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 Social prescribing: Undertook telephone interviews with a limited 
number of clients.  

 Prepared outcome of engagement report: Prepared GP SNAP 
survey. 

 Community Learning Disability (LD) Service: Prepared GP SNAP 
survey. Feedback to be presented to LD Big Health Day in May 2015. 

 Learning Disabilities Assessment and Treatment: Facilitated 
community engagement event to update local residents and 
stakeholders regarding developments at Hollybrook in Stroud. 

 Choose Well 2015: Supported launch of ASAP from 27 March 2015. 
Information Bus Events planned across GCCG Localities. 

 Community Hospitals Development Group: Participation in End of 
Life in Community Hospitals workstream. 

 Gloucestershire Shared Care Records Project: Ongoing. Supporting 
CSU with development of communications and engagement campaign 
for summer 2015. 

 
Procurement  
Members of CCG Engagement and Experience staff have been supported a 
range of procurements during Q4: 
 

 Out of Hours: Ongoing. Supported liaison with key stakeholders 
regarding changes to locations of Primary Care Centres. Facilitated, 
with SWAST, community event in Tewkesbury.  

 Telehealth: Participation in tender evaluation panel 
 Independent Sector Treatment Centres: Supported public 

consultation regarding retender of ISTC  services. 
 

 
3.2 

 
Reporting of key local and national standards – Patient experience 

 
3.2.1 

 
The following section provides an overview of key local and national standard 
relating to patient experience. Assessment against performance is as per 
defined local/ national guidance.  
 
Issues identified in the following areas:  

 Emergency department 4 hour waiting times  
 RTT and incomplete pathways in excess of 52 weeks 
 2 week waiting times for suspectred cancer  
 Cancelled operations  
 Deterioration in diagnostic 6 week wait performance 
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Areas of good performance include:  
 

 Admitted and non-admitted referral to treatment targets have been 
achieved 

 On-going achievement of mental health performance indicators 
 

The dashboard below provides a more complete position statement for the 
domain. Each of the Amber and Red rated indicators are reported on by 
exception in section 3.3.   This section outlines year to date performance, 
identifies the issues leading to that performance and any mitigating actions 
being taken to improve performance. 
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Threshold Month Performance
YTD 

performance
6 month trend

90% Mar 89.6% 90.4%

95% Mar 95.6% 95.4%

92% Mar 92.2% 92.0%

0 Mar 21 172

93% Mar 91.6% 92.0%

93% Mar 94.1% 87.8%

1% Mar 1.5% 1.5%

1% Mar 24% 24.0%

95% Mar 96.0% 97.9%

95% Mar 99.0% 99.4%

95% Mar 100.0% 97.7%

95% Mar 87.0% 91.5%

95% Mar 99.0% 90.3%

95% Mar 99.0% 99.8%

95% Mar 98.0% 96.9%

95% Mar 100.0% 99.3%

95% Mar 100.0% 98.0%
% referred to the Diabetic Nursing 

Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

% referred to the Paediatric Speech and 

Language Therapy Service who are 

treated within 8 Weeks

Patients access to community care

% of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent referral 

for breast symptoms cancer is not initially suspected

% referred to the Adult Occupational 

Therapy Service who are treated within 8 

Weeks

% referred to the Adult Physiotherapy 

Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

% referred to the Parkinson Nursing 

Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

Local and National standards relating to Patient Experience Red rated

% referred to the Paediatric 

Physiotherapy Service who are treated 

within 8 Weeks

% referred to the Adult Speech and 

Language Therapy Service who are 

treated within 8 Weeks

% referred to the Podiatry Service who 

are treated within 8 Weeks

% of patients seen within 2 weeks of GP referral for 

suspected cancer

% of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a 

Planned/ Surveillance diagnostic test from their to be 

seen date – Endoscopy procedures only

% of non ‐ admitted pathways treated within 18 Weeks

Zero RTT pathways greater than 52 weeks

% of patients waiting more than 6 weeks diagnostic 

test

% of admitted pathways treated within 18 Weeks

Patients Access to planned care 

services

% referred to the Paediatric 

Occupational Therapy Service who are 

treated within 8 Weeks

% of incomplete Pathways that have waited less than 

18 Weeks
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Threshold Performance
YTD 

performance
6 month trend

95% Mar 86.6% 90.0%

95% Mar 99.8% 99.8%

0 Mar 0 0

0 Mar 0 0

0 Mar 12 78

0 Mar 0 9

95% Q4 14/15  97.5% 97.7%

3.5% Q4 14/15  16.9% 16.9%

50% Q4 14/15  48.1% 48.1%

95% Mar 82.5% 82.9%

85% Mar 80.9% 82.5%

85% Mar 82.3% 86.7%

Positive patient experience of mental health services

Positive patient experience of secondary care

Patients Access to unscheduled care 

services

The proportion of people who complete therapy who 

are moving towards recovery

The proportion of people who have depression and or 

anxiety discorders who receive psychological therapies

Mixed‐sexed accommodation breaches 

4‐hour A&E target GCS MIU

Urgent operations cancelled for a second time 

Cancelled operations ‐ 28 day breaches

Patient transport service

Arrival within 45 minutes before, to 15 minutes after, 

booked arrival time 

Where booked prior to the day of travel, patients not to 

wait more than 60 minutes for their (outbound) journey

Where booked on the day of travel, patients not to 

wait more than 4 hours for their (outbound) journey 

(within two hours for end of life patients)

Care Programme Approach (CPA) discharged from 

inpatient care who are followed up within 7 days

12 hour trolley waits 

4‐hour A&E target GHNHSFT
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3.3 4-hour A&E target - Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 
hours or less in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge.  
 
Threshold – at least 95% of patients should be transferred, admitted or discharged 
within 4 hours. 
 
2014/15 year end performance was 90.0% (performance in Q4 was 82.2%). 
Performance at Cheltenham Genral was 92.7% with performance at Gloucestershire 
Royal 87.5%: 
 

  

2014/15 

Attendances Breaches % 

CGH GRH GHT CGH GRH GHT CGH GRH GHT 

Q1 11,518 20,477 31,995 326 1843 2,169 97.2% 91.0% 93.2% 

Q2 11,849 20,491 32,340 398 1464 1,862 96.6% 92.9% 94.2% 

Q3 11,133 20,478 31,611 1025 2433 3,458 90.8% 88.1% 89.1% 

Q4 10,023 17,709 27,732 1229 3705 4,934 87.7% 79.1% 82.2% 

Total 44,523 79,155 123,678 2,978 9,445 12,423 93.3% 88.1% 90.0% 

 
Performance in March (86.6%) decreased the year date position to 90.0%. The main 
breach reasons relate to beds, waiting assessment and Emergency Department 
capacity 
 
During April 4 hour performance was 91.55% (performance improves to 91.77% when 
including GP in ED activity) which was below the national target of 95.0%. 
 
By site performance at CGH was 95.2% and 89.4% at GRH.  
 
The CCG continues to implement a programme to increase urgent and emergency 
care system resilience to ensure that the system can cope with peaks in demand. 
These actions are set out in our system resilience plans and focus upon self-care, 
signposting, admission avoidance, in-hospital care, hospital discharge and community 
services. 
 
In addition we also took a series of additional recovery actions when the system was 
under pressure. These included commissioning additional community hospital and 
nursing home care, working with partners to implement 'Discharge to Assess'  and 
commissioning additional patient transport vehicles. 
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Breaches continue to be high with 21 incomplete pathways of 52+ weeks reported at
the end of March 2015. Of these, 16 were at North Bristol Trust (14 in Trauma and 
Orthopaedics, 2 in Neurosurgery), 4 at GHNHSFT (3 in Urology) and 1 at University 
Hospitals Bristol. During the 2014/15 have been 172 incomplete pathways of 52+ 
weeks reported to the CCG.  
 
The majority (145) of the breaches have occurred within the Trauma and 
Orthopaedic specialty; the CCG is aware of capacity issues particularly for complex 
spinal services across a number of providers.  
 
GCCG are having discussions with commissioners who manage the out of county 
acute contracts on behalf of GCCG to identify and understand the operational issues 
that contributed to these waiting times and agreed plans for the identification and 
active management of any other likely breaches for Gloucestershire patients. 
 
Cancer waiting times – patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent referral for 
suspected cancer 
 
Relates to the percentage of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent referral for 
suspected cancer 
 
Performance in March was amber rated at 91.6%, the overall year to date figure for 
performance is also amber rated at 92.0% (target 93%).  
 
Capacity issues within the Urology at GHNHSFT have been compounded by a 
sustained increase in referrals. GCCG are reviewing the increase in referrals to 
identify key trends. GHNHSFT have a consolidated cancer action plan in place which 
covers a range of actions to increase compliance with 2 week wait and 62 day 
targets.  
 
The improvement in performance related to the Breast specialic performance target 
was sustained during quarter 4 with year to date performance increasing to 87.8%.   
 
Percentage of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic procedure  
 
The proportion of patients waiting over 6 weeks for a diagnostic procedure has 
increased in 2014/15. Performance in March (1.5%) was adversely affected by 
delays for Endoscopic and Neurophysiology tests at GHNHSFT.  
 
The capacity issues highlighted earlier in the year within Audiology tests, non-
obstetric ultrasound and echocardiology have been resolved. Discussions with 
providers are on-going to ensure sustainable delivery of this target. The key actions 
have included: 
 
• Review of elective capacity across a number of specialties 
• Recruitment of additional senior Radiology clinicians 
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• Review of Audiology capacity at GHNHSFT 
• Recruitment of addition echocardiogram technicians at GHNHSFT 

 
Waits for planned diagnostics also increased in March, capacity issues within 
Endoscopy have been identified and GHNHSFT and actions are being put in place to 
address.  
 
Cancelled operations - Number of patients who have had an operation 
cancelled, on or after the day of admission, for non-clinical reasons that have 
not been offered another binding date within 28 days. 
 
Cancellations in quarter 3 were 327 compared to 188 for the same period in 2013/14. 
Overall year to date cancellations have increased by 29.6% compared to 2013/14 
which equates to 179 additional cancellations,  
 
Figures reported in 2014/15 by GHNHSFT are in line with the revised national 
definition and include additional Endoscopy and Cardiology cancellations which have 
previously been excluded.  
  
The current year-to-date position shows that so far in 2014/15, 78 patients have been 
cancelled on the day of admission for non-medical reasons and patients have not 
been provided with another date within 28 days; the threshold is zero.  
 
In addition to the above, there have been 7 urgent operations cancelled for a second 
time, the latest incident occurred in September. A root cause analysis has been 
carried out for each of the incidents. 
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PTS 04 - Arrival within 45 minutes before, to 15 minutes after, booked arrival 
time – Target 95% 

Inbound on-time is an area where performance has been challenging. Improvements 
have been seen; however, further work is required in order for the target to be 
achieved on a sustainable basis. March reports show  82.9% of patients arriving with 
KPI timescales.  

PTS 05 - Where booked prior to the day of travel, patients not to wait more than 
60 minutes for their (outbound) journey – Target 85% 

The area requiring greatest improvement is on-time collection for pre-booked 
outbound journeys.  The response timeframe for these is one hour from the time the 
patient is ‘made ready’.  Analysis for March shows that 80.9% were achieved within 
the one hour compared to the target of 85%. Performance for dialysis patients is 
significantly higher than for the full patient cohort, reflecting the routine nature of 
these journeys. 

PTS 06 - Where booked on the day of travel, patients not to wait more than 4 
hours for their (outbound) journey (within two hours for end of life patients) – 
Target 85% 
 

This is generally being achieved or just below target.  The response timeframe for 
these journeys is four hours from the time the patient is ‘made ready’.  Analysis shows 
for March that 82.3% of on-day booked journeys are achieved within 4 hours. 
 
The longer period for on-the-day bookings recognises that PTS is a finite resource, 
across various vehicle types, to support different patient mobilities (from walking to 
wheelchair to stretcher), travelling between multiple collection and destination points.  
As a result, on-the-day bookings have to be integrated into the existing pre-planned 
programme as effectively as possible.  Clearly, it follows that the higher the proportion 
of total activity that is booked on the day, the more challenging it becomes to ensure 
effective and efficient use of the resources, the greater the likelihood of all resource 
being fully utilised (but not necessarily optimally), and the harder it becomes to 
achieve the Key Performance Indicator standards.  The service is seeing high 
numbers of on- day bookings from the hospitals, particularly during the recent urgent 
care pressures, which has a detrimental impact on overall performance. 
 
Overall PTS performance has improved since service implementation. Further 
improvement is required in order to achieve all performance targets 
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4.1 Partnerships 
 

4.1.1 Partnerships – Period to 31st March 2015:  
 

PERSPECTIVE 4  Partnerships  Green 
  

Success criteria 1: Building effective partnership working by putting in place a joint 
planning and governance framework to improve outcome for the Gloucestershire 
population 

Green 

Key performance indicators 

Develop a 5 year commissioning plan agreed with key providers  G 

Development and maintenance of system wide forum encompassing all providers 
across heath & social care, independent and voluntary sector 

G 

Success criteria 2: Delivery of the Health & Well Being plan  Green 

Key performance indicators 

Increase the range and volume of services commissioned jointly with both GCC and 
District Councils. 

G 

 

Increase the range and volumes of services commissioned jointly with the third 
sector on a locality basis within which the agenda of early intervention and 
prevention are woven into a range of local statutory health and social care services. 

G 

Success criteria 3: Effective urgent care pathway to enable more patients to stay in 
their own home 

 
A 
 

Key performance indicators 

Effective relationships across adult social and health care to enable:  
i) Reduce non‐elective admissions which can be influenced by effective 

collaboration across the health and care system. 

Year‐end 
assessment 

ii) Reducing inappropriate admissions of older people (65+) in to residential care 
Year‐end 

assessment  

iii) Rehabilitation / reablement, increase in effectiveness of these services whilst 
ensuring that those offered service does not decrease 

Year‐end 
assessment 

iv) Effective joint working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non‐
acute) and community‐based care in facilitating timely and appropriate 
transfer from all hospitals for all adults. 

Year‐end 
assessment 

v) To develop a system which measures patient experience of integration over 
time, allowing any improvements to be demonstrated. 

Year‐end 
assessment 

vi) Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs. 
Year‐end 

assessment 
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4.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Success criteria 1: Building effective partnership working by putting in place a 
joint planning and governance framework to improve outcome for the 
Gloucestershire population (Amber) 
 
In April of this year Gloucestershire submitted a Better Care Fund (BCF) plan which 
was underpinned by a shared programme of work.  It is timely to remember that the 
shared programme of work associated with the BCF reflected our system wide 
commitment to the precepts underpinned Joining Up Your care. The six metrics 
associated with the BCF each had a plan of service re-design and development.  
 
As a system we had implemented new engagement methodologies in order to move 
forward, such as the BCF Providers Forum. Wherein we could engage and co-design 
system change with our provider partners. However, over the past few months there 
has been much national discussion on the subject of the Better Care Fund with revised 
guidance issued at end of July. In essence there are now additional requirements to 
need to be included in the plan;  

 New metric: reducing all emergency admissions (previously reducing 
emergency admissions for ambulatory sensitive conditions) 

 The performance element of the BCF is now only linked to the emergency 
admission reduction metric (previously it was linked to all the BCF metrics) 

 Other metrics – changes to baseline year 
 The case for change: additional analysis and evidence 
 Plan of action: tighter description of detailed plans to deliver reduction in 

admissions 
 Governance: more detail on risk sharing arrangements, contingency plan, 

accountability 
 Alignment of plans: clearer articulation 
 Impact on providers: ensuring the impact is understood and providers fully 

engaged 

 
Success criteria 2: Delivery of the Health & Well Being plan (Green) 
 
There is currently a comprehensive assurance methodology being applied to all Local 
Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups and H&W Boards are required to re-
sign off on the plans with a view to a submission date of the 19th of September for 
updated return.  
 
The CCG has a long established history of collaborative and joint commissioning with 
the local authority both on a county and district level, a key example of how we work in 
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4.1.4 
 
 
 
 

partnership would be the Joint Commissioning Partnership.  The Joint Commissioning 
Partnership between Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group is a key element of the Governance arrangements that 
support joint commissioning. The scope and role of the JCP is includes:  
 
• Assessing policy impact - mapping and interpretation leading to directing 

development of new commissioning strategies 
• Scoping, testing and prior approval of joint commissioning strategies 
• Implementation of joint commissioning strategies including performance 

oversight 
• Oversight of joint funding arrangements - approval and assurance 
 
The JCP consists of an Executive made up of Chief Officers/Senior officers from both 
organisations and a Board (JCPB), drawn from GCC Cabinet and CCG Governing 
Body. The role of the JCPB is to set policy direction, and to assure themselves that 
joint commissioning is carried out with due regard to each organisation’s statutory roles 
and responsibilities, including  service quality, performance and outcomes. The role of 
the Executive is to develop and implement joint commissioning strategies, policies and 
plans, to draw to the attention of the Governing Body any issues arising from current 
joint commissioning that require resolution, and to keep the Governing Body informed 
of likely future developments. 
 
In support of joint commissioning, the CCG and GCC jointly fund a small number of 
Joint (or Lead) Commissioner posts: 
 
• Mental Health 
• Children and Young People 
• Older People / Long Term Conditions 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Physical Disabilities  
 
Success criteria 3: Partnership working group established to review dashboard 
and set targets. 
 
As part of the Better Care Fund submission, Gloucestershire health and well-being 
board (H&WB) have committed to delivering a number of key indicators/ outcomes for 
the residents of Gloucestershire:  
 
Total non-elective admissions (general and acute) 
 
Avoidance of hospital admissions helps to ensure the most effective management of 
social care requirements. Minimising delayed transfers of care and avoidable 
admissions transforms the quality of care of individuals, enabling service users to 
receive the most appropriate care in the most appropriate location. The 
Gloucestershire H&WB ambition is to reduce non-elective admissions by 2.6% by 
March 2016.  
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Reducing inappropriate admissions of older people (65+) into residential care 
 
Indicator is part of the Adult Social Care outcomes framework (ASCOF). The number 
pf permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing 
care homes, per 100,000 population.  
 
There is an underlying 4% year-on-year increase in permanent admission (reflected in 
the do nothing scenario below) in to residential care within Gloucestershire. The 
H&WB ambition is to significantly reduce the increase in admissions.   
 
The overall level of ambition is to reduce the growth in admissions by 2.6% per year:  
 

 
 
Rehabilitation / re-ablement, increase in effectiveness of these services whilst 
ensuring that those offered service does not decrease  
 
Indicator is part of the ASCOF. Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still 
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into re-ablement / rehabilitation 
services.  
 
The short term trend shows a 1.2% year on year reduction (as shown by the do 
nothing scenario) in the proportion of people living independently after 91 days.  
 
The H&WB ambition factors through increased provision of the re-ablement/ 
rehabilitation services resulting in an annual increase of 3.3% in year 1 and a further 
3.7% in year 2.  
 

500
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800

900

1000

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Permanent admissions into residential and nursing care 
homes

Historic GHWB plan Do nothing
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Effective joint working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) 
and community-based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all 
hospitals for all adults. 
 
This indicator is based on the ASCOF Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 
100,000 population metric.  
 
During 2013/14 delayed transfers of care reduced significantly from those reported in 
2012/13 (37% decrease).  
 
The ambition is to further reduce delayed transfers by 2.8% in 2014/15 and 7.0% in 
2015/16 from the 2013/14 baseline.  
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To develop a system which measures patient experience of integration over 
time, allowing any improvements to be demonstrated. 
 
This is a locally set metric based on the Gloucestershire Care Services Integrated 
Community Teams Rapid Response Experience Comment Card.   
 
The expectation is that this metric will assess the services ability to look at individual 
patient needs and improved health and social care outcomes. 
 
Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs. 
 
Locally selected measure which is part of the ASCOF. The indicator is based on 
responses to 6 questions within the Adult Social Care Survey.  
 
Ambitions against the above indicators have been set by Gloucestershire Health and 
well-being board. Health community QIPP schemes have been mapped to each of the 
relevant indicators to assess the impact and progress made against these ambitions.  
 
Assessment against the Gloucestershire ambitions is being developed and will 
reported by exception in this section of the performance framework report.     
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5.1 
 
5.1.1 

Staff 
 
Staff – Period to 31st March 2015: 

  

PERSPECTIVE 5  Staff  Green 
 

Success criteria 1: Attracting and retaining high quality staff aligned to the 
CCGs vision and values 

G 

Key performance indicators 

Turnover ‐ % of employees leaving the organisation  1.2%  

Number of current Vacancies in structure  13 

Success criteria 2: Personal development processes that are linked to the 
strategic plan 

Baseline to be 
established during 

2014/15 

Key performance indicators 

All staff should have a personal development plan 
Baseline to be 

established during 
2014/15 

Proportion of staff with appraisal meeting within the last 6 months 
Baseline to be 

established during 
2014/15 

Success criteria 3: Staff are Happy and Motivated  G 

Key performance indicators            

Staff sickness levels  2.2% 

Staff Survey  Annual only 

 
 

5.1.2 Attracting and retaining high quality staff aligned to the CCGs vision and 
values  
 
Monthly turnover in April was 1.2%. The number of leavers in since the 1st April is 
29, giving a monthly average of 2.4 leavers per month.  
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There are 11 jobs live on NHS Jobs and 5 are in the recruitment process. 
 

5.1.3 Personal development processes (PDP) that are linked to the strategic plan 
 
The CCG has commenced the roll-out of their PDP process to ensure that 
objective setting is in place.  
 

5.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff are Happy and Motivated  
 
Staff survey results to be reviewed annually when survey takes place.  
 
Staff sickness levels up to the 31st March have equated to 2.2% which is just 
below the GCCG target of less than 3%. Sickness levels show an slight increase 
in the figures reported in February 2015.  
 
2.2% equates to 1,289 full time equivalent (FTE) working days or 6.29 days per 
employee since the 1st April 2015. The sickness absence rate is calculated by the 
total number of FTE days lost divided by the total number of working days.  
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6.1 Finance and Efficiency 
 

6.1.1 Finance and efficiency – Period to 31st March 2015 
 
Please note that no monitoring of financial performance has been produced relating 
to April 2015.  The summary below relates to the financial outturn reported as at 31st 
March 2015. 
 
Summary: 

 
 
The assessment of performance in year shown above uses the NHS England 
criteria, as such, the CCG is rated amber as the QIPP achievement in year is below 
95% and the underlying surplus must be 2%.  The CCG’s current underlying surplus 
is just over 1%. 

 
 The CCG has reported a surplus of £8,494k (which was greater than the 

planned figure by £18k). 
 The CCG remained within its Running Cost allocation in 2014/15 (underspent by 

£2,551k).  The running cost allocation includes the quality premium allocation of 
£943k, whereas the related expenditure has been incurred in programme 
budgets in ways that improve both the quality of care/health outcomes and 
reduce health inequalities.  This reporting is in line with NHS England 
requirements 

 Total cash used was within the CCG’s Maximum Cash Drawdown limit set by 
NHS England and the balance of £104k held at 31 March 2015 was within the 
allowable limit. 

Success critieria: QIPP Full year Forecast

95%

QIPP ‐ full  year forecast delivery to planned performance (%) 95% 75%

Threshold Lower threshold RAG

A

Running costs  forecast outturn (variance to running costs allocation) Within RCA

80%

Cash drawdown in l ine with planned profiles  (%age variance) 2% 5%

BPPC performance on non‐NHS invoices  by value (year to date)

Perspective 2  Finance & Efficiency Green/Amber

Success critieria: To ensure a financially viable commissioning organisation with an 

underlying recurrent surplus

2% 1%

Surplus  ‐ year to date variance to planned performance (%age) 0.10% 0.50%

A

Threshold Lower threshold RAG

Underlying recurrent surplus  (%age)

Running costs  year to date (variance to running costs  allocation) Within RCA

Surplus  ‐ full  year variance to planned performance (%age) 0.10% 0.50%
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Gloucestershire CCG 2014/15 Integrated Performance Scorecard

Target
2013-14 
Outturn

Apr-14 May-14
Jun 2014/  

Q1
Jul 2014 Aug 2014

Sept 2014/ 
Q2

Oct 2014 Nov 2014
Dec 2014/ 

Q4
Jan 2015 Feb-15

Mar 2015/ 
Q5

Year / 
Quarter to 

date

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

GRH 93.0% 91.6% 91.4% 90.0% 89.4% 95.9% 93.5% 92.0% 89.5% 82.8% 79.7% 73.5% 83.1% 88.1%

CGH 95.4% 97.5% 96.9% 97.1% 95.9% 97.0% 97.1% 92.3% 94.5% 85.3% 86.3% 83.3% 92.9% 93.3%

GHNHSFT total 93.9% 93.7% 93.4% 92.6% 91.8% 96.3% 94.9% 92.1% 91.2% 83.6% 82.1% 77.1% 86.6% 90.0%

GCS - MIU 99.9% 99.8% 99.8% 99.8% 99.96% 99.9% 99.8% 99.8% 99.8% 99.7% 99.8% 99.8% 99.8% 99.8%

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRH 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CGH 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GHNHSFT total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GCS - MIU 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Target 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0%

SWASFT 69.9% 76.2% 75.4% 75.1% 73.8% 75.7% 77.6% 75.1% 74.7% 69.6% 74.9% 74.9% 81.4% 75.2%

Glos only 69.1% 68.9% 64.2% 65.7% 67.2% 72.7% 65.1% 68.8% 66.8% 55.0% 68.3% 71.7% 74.9% 66.4%

Target 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0%

SWASFT 72.3% 76.8% 75.5% 75.7% 74.1% 76.6% 76.9% 73.6% 70.8% 63.3% 67.9% 61.6% 63.9% 71.4%

Glos only 71.9% 71.0% 69.6% 69.9% 70.2% 73.5% 69.8% 66.4% 63.4% 56.3% 64.5% 61.0% 65.4% 66.4%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

SWASFT 94.9% 95.4% 95.3% 95.0% 94.7% 95.4% 95.2% 93.9% 93.4% 89.7% 92.5% 90.5% 92.6% 93.6%

Glos only 94.4% 94.2% 92.4% 92.9% 93.5% 94.9% 92.0% 91.1% 90.0% 85.1% 91.9% 89.0% 93.0% 91.5%

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 1,151 74 126 82 88 50 46 90 89 70 83 157 83 1038

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 207 13 16 7 8 5 11 2 16 10 11 25 17 141

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 201 21 25 60 131 103 96 129 107 120 150 125 134 1201

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 43 3 8 4 14 10 7 11 10 16 9 4 9 105

GHNHSFT target 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14

GHNHSFT actual 10.8 7.5 7.4 10.0 6.2 9.0 9.5 10.8 9.3 12.0 19.8 15.8 13.5 10.9

Local Reimbursable Days for Acute DTOCs (Attributable to Social Services) GHNHSFT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GCS target 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

GCS actual 5.3 3.0 0.8 1.3 2.6 2.3 1.8 0.4 3 5.3 3.0 3.0 1.8 2.3

Target N/A 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Actual 94.7 86.1% 90.9% 91.8% 87.3% 95.9% 97.6% 94.9% 88.1% 73.8% 94.7% 93.8% 92.9% 90.2%

Target N/A 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Actual 1.2 2.9% 2.2% 1.8% 3.1% 0.8% 0.5% 0.9% 4.3% 9.3% 0.7% 0.9% 1.1% 2.6%

Target N/A 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0%

Actual 78.0% 78.2% 79.1% 77.4% 78.3% 76.5% 76.5% 77.1% 80.3% 81.7% 81.4% 82.4% 81.2% 79.3%

Target 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%

Actual - 5.0% 5.9% 6.4% 6.7% 6.3% 6.1% 5.8% 10.3% 4.5% 5.3% 8.4% 5.3% 5.8%

Target N/A 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0%

Actual 67.2% 66.8% 63.6% 59.9% 56.4% 64.6% 70.0% 71.5% 58.9% 43.1% 41.4% 40.9% 41.7% 55.8%

Target N/A 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00 00:01:00

Actual 00:17:43 00:10:15 00:14:17 00:15:09 00:07:03 00:05:36 00:08:31 00:41:30 00:24:45 00:06:20 00:11:01 00:22:42 n/a

Target N/A 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00 00:10:00

Actual 00:16:39 00:12:48 00:10:19 00:09:00 00:13:21 00:14:21 00:00:48 00:07:43 00:18:07 00:22:10 00:11:27 00:39:31 n/a

Target 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0%

Actual 91.2% 92.1% 90.4% 90.1% 89.7% 89.8% 90.2% 90.8% 91.0% 90.1% 89.6% 89.6% 90.4%

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 2 1 2 6 0 3 3 5 1 3 5 6 37

Local Number of specialties where admitted standard was not delivered Actual 5 7 9 8 7 7 8 8 6 6 7 8 -

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Local % calls referred to ED

Local

Local

Local

Longest wait for a call back

CB_S9

CB_B15_02
Cat A 8 min response - The percentage of Category A RED 2 incidents, 
which resulted in an emergency response arriving at the scene of the 
incident within 8 minutes. 

Ambulance handover delays - over 60 mins (GHNHSFT)

12 hour trolley waits (no A&E attender should wait more than 12 hours 
from the decicision to admit to admission)

Cat A 19 min response - The percentage of calls resulting in an 
ambulance arriving at the scene of the incident within 19 minutes. 

Clear up delays of over 30 minutes

Ambulance 

Clear up delays of over 1 hourCB_S8

CB_S7

CB_S7

Calls warm transferred

CB_S8

Calls triaged

CB B2 Percentage of non admitted pathways treated within 18 Weeks

Number of completed admitted pathways greater than 52 weeks

CB_B1 Percentage of admitted pathways treated with in 18 Weeks

Acute Care Referral to Treatment

Planned Care

Longest wait for an answerLocal

Local Calls abandoned after 30 seconds

CB_B15_01
Cat A 8 min response - The percentage of Category A RED 1 incidents, 
which resulted in an emergency response arriving at the scene of the 
incident within 8 minutes. 

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC)

Ambulance handover delays - 30 to 60 mins (GHNHSFT)

Local
Average number of Delayed Transfers of Care for acute patients in the 
month

CB_B16

Principal Delivery Targets

Unscheduled Care
Accident & Emergency

4-hour A&E target - Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient 
spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or 
discharge

CB_B5

Harmoni 111

Local Calls answered within 60 seconds

CB_S6

Local
Average number of Delayed Transfers of Care for non-acute patients in 
the month

1



Gloucestershire CCG 2014/15 Integrated Performance Scorecard

Target
2013-14 
Outturn

Apr-14 May-14
Jun 2014/  

Q1
Jul 2014 Aug 2014

Sept 2014/ 
Q2

Oct 2014 Nov 2014
Dec 2014/ 

Q4
Jan 2015 Feb-15

Mar 2015/ 
Q5

Year / 
Quarter to 

date
Principal Delivery Targets

Actual 95.2% 95.6% 95.3% 95.6% 95.4% 95.3% 95.4% 95.4% 95.4% 95.3% 95.5% 95.6% 95.4%

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 2 1 4 1 12

Local Number of specialties where non-admitted standard was not delivered Actual 7 5 5 6 7 7 6 6 9 7 6 6 -

Target 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0% 92.0%

Actual 92.0% 91.9% 91.9% 91.7% 91.8% 91.8% 92.0% 91.8% 92.3% 92.1% 92.1% 92.2% 92.0%

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 8 11 9 9 8 13 14 14 22 21 22 21 172

Local Number of specialties where incomplete standard was not delivered Actual 7 9 9 9 7 8 7 7 6 7 8 8 -

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 0 2 7 1 4 4 3 9 7 24 5 12 78

Target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Actual 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 3 0 0 2 0 9

Target 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

Actual breaches 640 112 106 55 44 124 131 31 127 208 240 162 137 1477

Actual Perf 0.75% 1.4% 1.4% 0.7% 0.6% 1.6% 1.8% 0.4% 1.6% 2.6% 3.2% 1.9% 1.6% 1.5%

Target 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93%

Actual breaches 134 156 65 93 69 84 76 66 89 192 138 128 1,290

Actual Perf 89.0% 87.4% 95.0% 94.0% 94.5% 93.6% 94.7% 95.2% 93.6% 84.6% 89.9% 91.6% 92.0%

Target 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93% 93%

Actual breaches 107 75 19 19 13 0 5 7 9 11 11 11 287

Actual Perf 52.7% 64.6% 88.9% 89.1% 93.2% 100.0% 97.6% 96.4% 95.8% 94.8% 94.0% 94.1% 87.8%

Target 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 96%

Actual breaches 0 5 2 2 0 5 2 2 2 4 1 0 25

Actual Perf 100.0% 98.1% 99.1% 99.3% 100.0% 98.1% 99.2% 99.2% 99.2% 98.3% 99.6% 100.0% 99.2%

Target 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94%

Actual breaches 0 1 2 3 0 4 0 0 2 2 3 4 21

Actual Perf 100.0% 96.9% 95.0% 92.7% 100.0% 90.9% 100.0% 100.0% 96.4% 96.9% 94.4% 91.5% 96.2%

Target 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98%

Actual breaches 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0% 0

Actual Perf 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Target 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94% 94%

Actual breaches 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0% 4

Actual Perf 100.0% 100.0% 98.8% 100.0% 98.2% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.2% 98.0% 100.0% 99.6%

Target 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85%

Actual breaches 9 25 11 25 9 18 29 26 30 29 32 23 266

Actual Perf 92.4% 83.4% 89.9% 81.9% 92.9% 86.3% 77.0% 79.8% 77.9% 73.9% 74.2% 83.1% 82.7%

Target 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90%

Actual breaches 0 1 3 1 0 1 3 1 2 6 0 0 18

Actual Perf 100.0% 94.1% 87.0% 95.8% 100.0% 94.1% 88.5% 96.4% 91.3% 77.8% 100.0% 100.0% 93.2%

Target 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85% 85%

Actual breaches 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

Actual Perf 75.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 80.0% 83.3% 100.0% 100.0% - 100.0% 100.0% 93.5%

Target 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0%

Glos 86.8% 89.6% 74.0% 62.5% 87.0% 89.8% 80.9% 63.3% 80.4% 60.4% 64.5% 76.0% 76.3%

Target 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0%

Glos 73.0% 71.0% 57.0% 63.0% 70.0% 58.0% 57.5% 63.3% 52.7% 44.9% 56.1% 60.6%

Target

Glos 59.9%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Number of incomplete pathways greater than 52 weeksCB_S6

CB_S6 Number of completed non-admitted pathways greater than 52 weeks

Percentage of patients who have waited more than 6 weeks for one of 
the 15 key diagnostic tests

CB_B18

CB_B10

Long Term conditions

Cancelled Operations

CB_S10
Urgent operations cancelled for a second time - number of urgent 
operations that are cancelled by the trust for non-clinical reasons, which 
have already been previously cancelled once for non-clinical reasons

Cancelled operations - Number of patients who have had an operation 
cancelled, on or after the day of admission, for non-clinical reasons that 
have not been offered another binding date within 28 days

Local
Percentage of patients referred to the Paediatric Speech and Language 

CB_B13

CB_B6

CB4

Percentage of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent  GP or GDP 
referral for suspected cancer

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 62 days from an NHS Cancer screening service

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 62 days of a consultant decision to upgrade their priority status

Paediatric

EC

Community Care Referral to Treatment  (GLOUCESTERSHIRE only)

CB_B14

EC
Proportion of people at high risk of Stroke who experience a TIA are 
assessed and treated within 24 hours (GHT Only)

CB_B8
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment within 31 days 
of a cancer diagnosis

CB_B12

Percentage of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 
31 days where that treatment is a Radiotherapy Treatment

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

CB_B11

CB_B2 Percentage of non - admitted pathways treated within 18 Weeks

Percentage of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 
31 days where that treatment is an Anti-Cancer Drug Regime

CB_B9
Percentage of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 
31 days where that treatment is surgery

CB_B7
Percentage of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent referral for 
breast symptoms where cancer is not initially suspected

Cancer Waits

Diagnostics

Percentage of incomplete Pathways that have waited less than 18 
Weeks

CB_B3

Proportion of people who have had a stroke who spend at least 90% of 
their time in hospital on a stroke unit (GHT Only)

Dementia diagnosis rate (Annual)CB_A9

2



Gloucestershire CCG 2014/15 Integrated Performance Scorecard

Target
2013-14 
Outturn

Apr-14 May-14
Jun 2014/  

Q1
Jul 2014 Aug 2014

Sept 2014/ 
Q2

Oct 2014 Nov 2014
Dec 2014/ 

Q4
Jan 2015 Feb-15

Mar 2015/ 
Q5

Year / 
Quarter to 

date
Principal Delivery Targets

Actual 97.0% 100.0% 99.0% 95.0% 95.0% 98.0% 97.0% 99.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.0% 96.0% 97.9%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Actual 97.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 98.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.4%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Actual 99.0% 95.0% 96.0% 99.0% 97.0% 96.0% 97.0% 97.0% 100.0% 100.0% 96.0% 100.0% 97.7%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Actual 98.0% 98.0% 96.0% 96.0% 95.0% 96.0% 95.0% 87.0% 89.0% 77.0% 84.0% 87.0% 91.5%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%
Actual 100.0% 91.0% 91.0% 82.0% 86.0% 80.0% 86.0% 86.0% 91.0% 93.0% 99.0% 99.0% 90.3%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%
Actual 100.0% 100.0% 99.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.0% 99.8%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%
Actual 99.0% 96.0% 95.0% 96.0% 96.0% 95.0% 96.0% 97.0% 99.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 96.9%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%
Actual 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 92.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.3%

Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Actual 97.0% 100.0% 100.0% 97.0% 95.0% 100.0% 100.0% 96.0% 95.0% 96.0% 100.0% 100.0% 98.0%

Target 95% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

Glos 98.9% 97.3% 96.5% 99.5% 97.5% 97.7%

Glos target 2.9% 5.9% 9.3% 13.0%

Glos actual 13.7% 4.1% 8.8% 12.4% 16.9% 16.9%

Glos target 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%

Glos actual 51.0% 50.5% 50.8% 47.9% 48.1% 48.1%

GHT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Care Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2gether 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GHT 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0

Care Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2gether 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SWAST 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ramsay Healthcare 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Target 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0%

GHNHSFT 93.1% 92.6% 93.4% 93.0% 93.6% 92.8% 93.0% 92.6% 93.0% 93.7% 94.3% 94.3% 93.3%

GCS 99.2% 96.6% 98.1% 98.9% 98.2% 99.1% 96.2% 99.4% 98.6% 98.4% 97.0% 98.1% 98.2%

Glos HC target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Glos HC actual 8 1 3 1 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 2 11

GHNHSFT target 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GHNHSFT actual 4 1 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 2 10

Glos HC target 162 19 16 16 20 20 10 15 12 12 21 21 19 116

Glos HC actual 210 8 17 16 15 8 16 11 10 10 11 16 15 153

GHNHSFT target 52 6 5 4 5 6 2 4 4 4 4 4 5 47

GHNHSFT actual 60 2 5 3 3 0 3 2 2 4 4 5 4 37

Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA)

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities
Adults of Working Age

CB_A16 Number of total C Diff infections (Health Community)

The proportion of people who complete therapy who are moving towards 
recovery

Local

Adult

The proportion of people who have depression and/or anxiety disorders 
who receive psychological therapies

Number of post 48 hours MRSA infections post 48 hours (Acute Trust)

Cleanliness and HCAIs

Quality

CB_A15 Number of MRSA infections (Health Community)

Number of post 48 hour C Diff infections (Acute Trust)

CB_B17

Quality Indicators

Eliminate mixed-sexed accommodation breaches at all providers sites

CB_S5

Number of Never Events

CB_S5

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)

CB_B19
Proportion of those patients on a Care Programme Approach (CPA) 
discharged from inpatient care who are followed up within 7 days

Local
Percentage of patients referred to the Parkinson Nursing Service who 
are treated within 8 Weeks

Percentage of patients referred to the Adult Speech and Language 
Therapy Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

Local
Therapy Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

Percentage of patients referred to the Adult Physiotherapy Service who 
are treated within 8 Weeks

Local
Percentage of patients referred to the Diabetic Nursing Service who are 
treated within 8 Weeks

Local

Percentage of patients referred to the Paediatric OccupationalTherapy 
Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

Local

Local
Percentage of patients referred to the Adult Occupational Therapy 
Service who are treated within 8 Weeks

Local

Local

Percentage of patients referred to the Podiatry Service who are treated 
within 8 Weeks

Clostridium Difficile (C.Diff)

Percentage of all adult inpatients who have had a VTE risk assessment

Specialist Nurses

Percentage of patients referred to the Paediatric Physiotherapy Service 
who are treated within 8 Weeks

3



Appendix 2

R NR TOTAL

AS AT Month 12 2014/15 £000 £000 £000

 

2014/15 baseline excl growth 668,591  668,591 
 

Growth 13,986 13,986 

B/f surplus 6,762 6,762 

Additional Baseline Transfer (3,189) (3,189)

Primary Care IT 1,581 1,581 

1415 RTT Funding 3,024 3,024 

Specialist commissioning Adj (785) 18 (767)

Other Adj (2) (390) (392)

Winter resilience Funding 4,799 4,799 

Integrated Community Equipment 3,250 3,250 

NHS 111 227 227 

Mental Health Resiliance 200 200 

Quality Premium 943 943 

Last month total 678,601 20,414 699,015 

Adjustments in month

GP Professional Safeguarding 41 41 

RTT Clawback (1,430) (1,430)

 

Adjustments actioned in month 41 (1,430) (1,389)

TOTAL NATIONALLY REPORTED LIMIT 678,642 18,984 697,626 

NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Resource Limit Position as at 31st March (Month 12)

2014/15



Appendix 3

Full Year

Budget Actual (Under)/Over 

spend

£000 £000 £000

Acute services
Acute contracts -NHS (includes Ambulance services) 345,785 341,297 (4,488)

Acute contracts - Other providers 11,648 17,462 5,814

Acute - NCAs 6,541 6,552 11

Pass-through payments    

 

Sub-total Acute services 363,974 365,311 1,337 

 

Mental Health Services  

MH contracts - NHS 75,180 76,411 1,231 

MH contracts - Other providers 2,493 2,096 (397)

 

Sub-total MH services 77,673 78,507 834 

 

Community Health Services  

CH Contracts - NHS 89,950 89,550 (400)

CH Contracts - Other providers (3,157) (2,753) 404 

CH - Other    

 

Sub-total Community services 86,792 86,797 4 

 

Continuing Care Services

Continuing Care Services (All Care Groups) 19,782 19,453 (329)

Local Authority / Joint Services 5,086 3,955 (1,131)

Free Nursing Care 9,059 9,595 536 

 

Sub-total Continuing Care  services 33,926 33,002 (924)

 

Primary Care services  

Prescribing 90,305 90,390 85 

Enhanced services 6,253 5,760 (492)

Other 6,553 6,277 (276)

 

Sub-total Primary Care services 103,111 102,428 (683)

 

Other Programme services  

Re-ablement funding 2,062 2,069 7 

Other 7,369 7,274 205 

 

Sub-total Other Programme services 9,431 9,342 212 

 

Total - Commissioned services 674,907 675,387 780 

 

Specific Commissioning Reserves (139)  139 

(Inc headroom and Contingency)  

Total - Programme Costs (excl Surplus) 674,768 675,387 919 

 

Running Costs (incl reserves) 15,053 13,445 (1,608)

Quality Premium 943  (943)

Total - Programme Costs (excl Surplus) 15,996 13,445 (2,551)

Surplus 6,862  (6,862)

 

NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Summary Financial Position

Overall financial position as at 31st March 2015 (Month 12)



Appendix 4

Theme

Planned 

Gross 

Savings 

2014/15

£'000

Forecast

£'000

Variance

£'000

Theme 

RAG

Savings 

RAG

Recurrent 

/ Trend 

RAG

Unscheduled Care / Integration 4,985 3,258 (1,727) A A A

Planned Care 1,536 1,623 87 A A A

Clinical Programme Groups 3,939 2,980 (959) A A A

Community Care 1,461 737 (724) A A A

Prescribing 2,710 2,894 184 G G A

Mental Health 330 75 (255) A R A

Learning Difficulties 800 150 (650) G R G

Continuing Health Care 500 300 (200) A A A

Transactional QIPP 900 1,296 396 A G A

Unidentified 654 835 181

Grand Total 17,815 14,147 (3,668)

Additional Schemes 0 n/a n/a n/a

Additional QIPP  / Slippage / 

Contingent resources / 

Application of QIPP rule

3,668 3,668

Grand Total 17,815 17,815 0

NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
 QIPP Programme 2014/15
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APPENDIX A

Admin/Prog (net 

of QIPP)

Primary Care Co-

Commissioning TOTAL CCG

Change since 

original budget

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Resources

Programme Allocation 693,881 693,881 41

Better Care Fund Allocation 11,596 11,596 0

Primary Care Co-Commissioning 76,802 76,802 0

Running Costs Allocation 13,535 13,535 0

2014/15 Surplus returned 8,494 8,494 14

NR contribution to ETO impact 2,300 2,300 2,300

Capital grants 3,377 3,377 1,727

733,183 76,802 809,985 4,082

Expenditure

Programme

Acute 359,961 359,961 11,066

Community 79,720 79,720 -5,576

Mental Health 78,967 78,967 -106

Primary Care 106,834 74,882 181,716 4,367

CHC 36,159 36,159 0

Other 7,728 7,728 -428  

Reserves Headroom 6,939 768 7,707 0

Contingency 6,938 384 7,322 0

Other, specific reserves 29,102 29,102 -5,282
  

Corporate (Running Costs) 13,535 13,535 0
   

Total Expenditure 725,883 76,034 801,917 4,041

SURPLUS 7,300 768 8,068 41

Updated Budget

2015/16 Updated Budget

Gloucestershire CCG



APPENDIX B

Gross Budget 

Excl QIPP

QIPP Applied 

to Budgets

Net 

Expenditure

Change since 

original 

budget

£000 £000 £000 £000

Programme

Acute 370,304 (10,343) 359,961 11,066

Community 80,420 (700) 79,720 -5,576

Mental Health 78,967 78,967 -106

Primary Care 110,904 (4,070) 106,834 4,367

CHC 36,659 (500) 36,159 0

Other 9,158 (1,430) 7,728 -428

  

Reserves Headroom 6,939 6,939 0

Contingency 6,938 6,938 0

QIPP (17,043) 17,043  0
Other, specific 

reserves 29,102 29,102 -5,282

  

Corporate 13,535 13,535 0

   

Total Expenditure 725,883 0 725,883 4,041

Updated Budgets

2015/16 Application of QIPP

Gloucestershire CCG



APPENDIX C

Programme Area Project

2015/16 

Additional 

Investment                

£'000

2015/16 In Year 

Savings           

£'000

Scheme "Go 

Live" Year
Status

Mgt 

Resource 

RAG

Deliverability 

RAG

Provider 

Capacity to 

Respond 

RAG
Integrated Community Teams 1,800 2,945                  2014/15 In Progress G A A
Older People Advice and Liaison 700                     2014/15 In Progress A A A
Integrated Discharge Teams (existing scheme) 500                     2014/15 In Progress A A A
Ambulatory Emergency Care 180 783                     2014/15 In Progress G A A

Respiratory Pathways -                      2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Primary Care (prime ministers challenge) 800 1,000                  2014/15

Business Case 

Signed Off/Not yet 

implemented

G A G

Primary Care in Emergency Department (pilot 2014/15) 262 535                     2015/16 In Progress A A A
Deep Vein Thombosis (Part year impact to achieve FYE) 80                       2014/15 In Progress A G G
Mental Health Liaison  (existing scheme) 140                     2013/14 In Progress G A A

Care Homes Enhanced Service (existing service) TBC 2014/15 In Progress G G G

Care Homes Enhanced Service (expanded service to increase coverage) 336 TBC 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Community Hospitals 500                     2015/16 In Progress G R R

Maternity Triage 150 TBC 2015/16

Business Case 

Signed Off/Not yet 

implemented

G A TBC

Sign posting schemes (DOS, NHS 111, SPCA, MIU utilisation) 250 2014/15
Scheme in 

Development
A A A

Single Point Clinical Access TBC 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Falls and Bone Health 125 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Paediatric Urgent Care Pathway 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Urgent Care Subtotal 3,653                    7,433                  

Care Pathways Approach to deliver long term and sustainable Demand 

Mgmt of Referrals volumes (include consideration of future of Advice & 

Guidance)

600 217                     2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Direct Access Diagnostics (Part Year Effect from Oct 15) 125 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G G TBC

ISTC Utilisation (Part Year Effect up to Sept 15) 156 2013/14
Scheme in 

Development
G G A

Diabetes ES 240 313 2015/16 In Progress G G G

Respiratory Pathways 100 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Ophthalmology (including Avastin) 500 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G G A

MSK (including Physio and Rheumatology) 100 250 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Follow ups 250 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

INNF 500 2015/16 In Progress G G A

Irritable Bowel Syndrome pathway 122 220 2015/16

Business Case 

Signed Off/Not yet 

implemented

G A A

Gloucestershire CCG

2015/16 Savings Plans

Urgent Care

Urgent Care Enablers

Planned Care



APPENDIX C

Programme Area Project

2015/16 

Additional 

Investment                

£'000

2015/16 In Year 

Savings           

£'000

Scheme "Go 

Live" Year
Status

Mgt 

Resource 

RAG

Deliverability 

RAG

Provider 

Capacity to 

Respond 

RAG

Gloucestershire CCG

2015/16 Savings Plans

Cancer: (benchmarking / Living with and beyond) 75 130 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A A

Dermatology pathway 149 2015/16

Business Case 

Signed Off/Not yet 

implemented

G A A

Planned Care Enablers ISO - Stroud & BV 58 0 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G TBC TBC

Planned Care Subtotal 1,195                    2,910                  

Community Hospital Programme (note: Investment in relation to 

Medworxx)
70 500 2015/16

Scheme in 

Development
A R R

Rehabilitation pathways TBC 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
A TBC TBC

Continuing Health Care 500 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G A N/A

Learning Disability Joint Funding TBC 2013/14 In Progress G TBC TBC

Leg Ulcers TBC 200 2015/16

Business Case 

Signed Off/Not yet 

implemented

A A A

Community Care Subtotal 70                          1,200                  

Primary Care 3,500 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
G G G

Home Oxygen 50 TBC 2014/15 In Progress G G G

Centralised Continence Supplies & Continence Service Review TBC TBC 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
A A TBC

Care Homes pharmacist medication reviews 180 400 2015/16
Scheme in 

Development
A G TBC

Secondary Care Partnership (specials / homecare) 170 2015/16 In Progress G A A

Prescribing Subtotal 230 4,070

Telehealth 173 173 In Progress R G G

OOH procurement 700 In Progress G G G
ISTC (movement from GFV to AQP) 257 In Progress G G G

Alternative “Health Care Professional” transport offer 170 300
Scheme in 

Development
A G TBC

Transactional Subtotal 343 1,430

Total QIPP Programme Savings 2015/16 5,491 17,043

Planned Care

Community

Prescribing

Transactional



APPENDIX D

Risk Mitigating Action

Further changes to the CCG's allocation as a result of transfers between 

commissioning organisations may not be cost neutral

Work with the Area Team and local providers to ensure that adjustments are cost 

neutral and transacted on the correct basis.

Assumed allocations may not materialise Ongoing liaison with NHSE to ensure that all issues are known together with a phased 

approach to the release of developments to mitigate the risk of a reduced allocation

Expenditure on Primary Care Co-commissioning may not be contained 

within the budget transferred

Close monitoring and forecasting to enable early warning of financial issues arising.  

Regular contact with NHSE as the financial process develops throughout the year.  

Creation of additional contingency reserve

Non achievement of the required level of savings: Increased project management and monitoring of service redesign throughout the 

life of the initiatives and weekly review.
Development of robust exit strategies for projects to ensure that these can be 

stopped at short notice if they do not deliver against agreed objectives

Overperformance on acute contracts Strengthening the contract management & monitoring processes.

Plans to improve practice engagement to ensure that pathways followed are the 

most appropriate for the presenting condition.
Potential loss of control over service priorities or cost changes where the 

CCG is an associate commissioner to a contract

Establish stronger working relationships with other commissioners to ensure early 

warning of pressures within other contracts

Increased growth in prescribing Considered low to medium risk as good performance in this area and robust plans in 

place
increases in continuing health care and placements Assessed as medium risk at present. This has the possibility to change though with 

changes to national guidance
Costs of nationally approved NICE developments in excess of that 

provided for (both in cost and take-up)

Increased profile of NICE horizon scanning and close liaison with contract 

management.

Population growth above planning assumptions Continuing work to benchmark services to identify areas to review to ensure value for 

money from all services

Gloucestershire CCG

Mitigating Actions Covering all risks:

Non release of development funds unless key to delivering service change or contactually committed, until planned financial targets are forecast to be 

delivered with a reasonable degree of confidence.

Utilisation of contingency and activity reserves

Increased financial management awareness throughout the organisation and member practices

2015/16 Risk Management



Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Commissioning Enablement

Clinical Pathways Gloucestershire

Mobile file sharing\collaboration Gloucestershire

Integrated Care: Shared Records

EPSr2 Gloucestershire

Interoperability Project Gloucestershire

Care Plans Gloucestershire Closed

OOH Mobilisation Gloucestershire Closed

GP2GP Implementation and Utilisation Gloucestershire

Electronic Discharge documentation transfer Gloucestershire

SCR Gloucestershire Closed

Enhanced SCR Gloucestershire

PMCF (Choice Plus Extension) Gloucestershire

Patient/ Citizen Empowerment

PARES

Repeat prescriptions online Closed

Online Appointments Closed

Patient Records Access to Summary Information Closed  

Patient Records Access to full record

Patient Media Screens

Remote Monitoring (was Telehealth) Gloucestershire

Infrastructure

GP IT Wi-Fi Gloucestershire

E Consultations Gloucestershire Closed

NHS Mail Gloucestershire

NHS Mail2 Gloucestershire

Clinical System Upgrades Gloucestershire

GP Server Replacements Programme Gloucestershire

GP PC Replacements Programme Gloucestershire ON HOLD

Sanger House Infrastructure Gloucestershire

GP IT Moves and Changes Gloucestershire

Key: Completed Finish date has / will definitely slip.   
Green On Track / Under Control scheduled work

Some slippage, recoverable.  Finish date achievable. Baseline project completion

Date v likely to slip,   support required to resolve Planned completion if diff to baseline

Blue

Amber

Amber- Red

Red

Gloucestershire

Fy 2014/15 Fy 2015/16

Appendix 6 Gloucestershire CCG's IPP GANTT View

Strategic Plan Element Project CCG



Month Mar-15 Appendix 7
Total Practices in scope: 84 (reduced due to recent mergers)

Project Live
In 

Discussion

Not Available, 

Opted Out, On 

hold, etc

Ordered Non delivery sites and reasons/PM Comments Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct

3 sites are dispensing practices and therefore EPS is not viable for them.

1 Practice will not enable EPS 
Monthly actual and 

future Go-Lives
41 53 58 58 67 76 84

Average Utilisation for 

ALL live sites %
32% 34% 39%

Average utilisation for 

sites live for 3+ 

months Target 40%

35% 41% 43%

Repeat prescriptions online 81 0 3 0

Practive uses Microtest which does not offer online prescription capability. 

Two practices are using a shared server which means at the moment they 

cannot separate information by practice. PM in talks to update system 

which would resolve the issue.

Monthly actual and 

future Go-Lives
80 84 81 81 81 81 81

Online Appointments 82 0 2 0

Two practices are using a shared server which means at the moment they 

cannot separate information by practice. PM in talks to update system 

which would resolve the issue.
Monthly actual and 

future Go-Lives
64 75 82 82 82 82 82

Patient Records 82 0 2 0

Practice cannot upload as  are using a shared server with another practice 

(who has uploaded). PM in talks to update system which would resolve the 

issue. Another practice uses Microtest which does not currently have this 

functionality

Monthly actual and 

future Go-Lives
43 55 82 82 82 82 82

Outstanding practice GP2GP ordered. Date TBC as can only go live when 

theit clinical system provider (Microtest) has been signed off as ready for 

GP2GP.
Monthly actual and 

future Go-Lives
74 79 83 83 83 84 84

Average Utilisation for 

ALL live sites %
60%

Average utilisation for 

sites live for 3+ 

months

58%

SCR & Utilisation Reporting 81 0 3 0

Practice uses Microtest which does not offer online prescription capability. 

Two other practices  are using a shared server which means at the moment 

they cannot separate information by practice. PM in talks to update system 

which would resolve the issue.

79 82 81 81 81 81 81

NHS Mail 4 0 0 80

Roll out schedule will need to be reviewed with HCC.  Rollout start delayed 

due to migration planning issues.
0 0 0 4 24 44 64 84

Clinical Systems Upgrade 78 3 0 3

3 Sites booked to upgrade to hosted systems, 3 being offered 

demonstrations
78 78 78 78 79 81 81

Projects by Practice - Summary

FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16

Utilisation Reporting Comments49 10 4 21
Electronic Prescriptions R2 & 

Utilisation Reporting

Utilisation Reporting Comments1GP2GP & Utilisation Reporting 83 0 0
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 Agenda Item 15 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body 

Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 
 

Title Assurance Framework 2014/15 
 

Executive Summary The attached Assurance Framework for 
2014/15 provides details of the 
assurances provided to the Governing 
Body regarding the achievement of the 
CCG’s Objectives.  
 
The Assurance Framework identifies 
gaps in assurances and controls 
regarding the objectives along with details 
of the principal risks that had been 
identified by lead managers.  
 

Key Issues 
 

A number of risks had been identified 
which could affected the achievement of 
the objectives. Action plans had been 
devised and were being implemented to 
mitigate these risks. 
 

Risk Issues: 
 
 
 
 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

The absence of a fit for purpose 
Assurance Framework could result in 
gaps in control or assurances not being 
identified and addressed. 
 
8 (2x4) 
4 (1x4) 

Financial Impact Not applicable 
 

Legal Issues 
(including NHS 
Constitution)  

Not applicable 
 
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

None 
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Impact on Equality 
and Diversity 

None 

Impact on 
Sustainable 
Development 

None 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

Not applicable 
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is requested to note 
this paper and the attached Assurance 
Framework. 

Author Alan Potter 

Designation Associate Director of Corporate 
Governance 

Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 

Cath Leech 
Chief Finance Officer 
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Governing Body 

Thursday 28th May 2015 
 

Assurance Framework 2014/15 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Assurance Framework provides the Governing Body with a 

structure and process that enables the organisation to: 
 
 focus on those risks that might compromise achievement of 

the principal objectives; 
 map out the key controls in place to manage the objectives; 

and 
 identify the assurances that will be received by the Governing 

Body regarding the effectiveness of those controls. 
 
1.2 The Assurance Framework is also a key source of evidence for 

the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
1.3 The primary benefit of the Assurance Framework is that it 

provides a structure for individuals within the CCG to consider 
and plan for the achievement of the organisation’s objectives in a 
proactive manner. 

 
 
2. The Assurance Framework 
 
2.1 The Assurance Framework for 2014/15 is based upon the 

summary objectives detailed in the Two Year Plan for 2014/16.  
 
2.2 The document outlines the principal risks, control systems and 

assurances that were provided to the Governing Body regarding 
the achievement of each summary objective. Details of the action 
plans to address the risks, gaps in controls or gaps in assurance 
are also provided for each objective. 
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2.3 The Assurance Framework was last presented to the Governing 
Body at the meeting held on the 26th March 2015. The attached 
document incorporates further and final updates received from 
the lead managers responsible for each area of activity. An 
Assurance Framework for the year 2015/16 will be presented to 
the July meeting of the Governing Body. 

 
2.4 Progress regarding the achievement of each objective is 

monitored separately through the performance management 
process. 

 
 
3. Recommendation 
 
3.1 The Governing Body is invited to note this paper and the 

attached Assurance Framework. 
  
 
4. Appendix 
 

 Assurance Framework 
 



Appendix
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Assurance Framework 2014/15

Risk No Principal Risks Risk Owners Original 
Risk Ratings 

(LxC)

Current Risk 
Ratings 
(LxC)

Key Controls Sources of Assurance Gaps in Controls or Assurance Action Plan and Target Date

L1 Insufficient clinical engagement from 
primary care.

Helen Goodey 12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) Website and e-GP 
newsletter, clinical 
programme approach, 
locality structure and 
meetings, contracts with 
providers, development and 
implementation of 
Engagement Plan.

Commissioning for Quality 
Report, Clinical Priorities 
Forum and Clinical 
Programme Groups.

Quarterly Locality Executive meetings. Supporting 
Local Protected Learning Time Events. (Ongoing)

L2 GP Practices running at maximum 
capacity and certain practices not 
being financially viable.  Potential 
risk that the quality of primary care 
could be compromised as a result.

Helen Goodey 12 (3x4) 12 (3x4) Practice visits by Executive 
Team and CCG Lead GPs. 
Senior Locality Manager 
attendance at Locality 
Executive Meetings. 
Implementation of 
Countywide Practice 
Manager Representative 
Group. Working closely with 
Area Team around joint 
responsibilities to ensure 
clarity, responsiveness and 
support.

Governing Body Reports Ongoing monitoring. Investment to support unplanned 
admissions DES to practices. New ways of working 
pilot in Cirencester. Skype pilot in South Cotswolds. 
Funding identified in ORCP plan to support primary 
care initiatives for system resilience. (March 2015)

Q1 Insufficient clinical engagement from 
secondary care clinicians.

Marion Andrews-
Evans

12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) Website and e-GP 
newsletter, clinical 
programme approach, 
locality structure and 
meetings, contracts with 
providers will be regularly 
monitored to assure they 
remain as effective 
engagement methods. 

Commissioning for Quality 
Report, Clinical Priorities 
Forum and Clinical 
Programme Groups.

Monitor clinician participation with Clinical Programme 
Groups and effectiveness of CCG Live. (March 2015)

Q3 Specialised Commissioning 
transferring to NHS England leading 
to fragmentation of pathways. 
Specific risk around the specialised 
services for children and young 
people with mental health problems.

Helen 
Chrystal/Simon 
Bilous

12 (3x4) 16 (4x4) Monitoring service provision 
with local providers and 
feedback to the Area Team.

Assurance from Area Team Raise the concerns with the Area Team and get 
feedback to ensure the lead commissioner is involved 
in this specific area. Work ongoing to review local 
services and identify opportunities and gaps for 
service improvement, including crisis support and 
hospital liaison services for young people. (March 
2015)

Objective 1: Develop strong, high quality, clinically effective and innovative services.
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Risk No Principal Risks Risk Owners Original 
Risk Ratings 

(LxC)

Current Risk 
Ratings 
(LxC)

Key Controls Sources of Assurance Gaps in Controls or Assurance Action Plan and Target Date

Q4 Failure to capture and ensure 
outcomes from patient, carer and 
public feedback and quality 
governance systems to inform 
commissioning and contracting 
arrangements resulting in failure to 
maintain and improve the quality of 
services.

Marion Andrews-
Evans, Mark 
Walkingshaw, 
Becky Parish

9 (3x3) 6 (2x3) Communications and 
Engagement Strategy, 4Cs 
Policy and Procedure, 
Provider Clinical Quality 
Review Groups, HCOSC, 
Health Watch 
Gloucestershire (HWG) 
comments.

Commissioning for Quality 
Report, Outcome of 
Engagement/Consultation 
Reports.

Maintain mechanism for 'feeding back' impact of 
patient, carer public experience data. The Patient 
Experience Strategy for Experience and Engagement 
was approved by Governing body at September 2014 
meeting

Q11 Failure to implement Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) as per 
recent judicial review. 

Mary Morgan 12 (4x3) 6 (2x3) Adult Safeguarding Board 
and provider Clinical Quality 
Review Groups (CQRGs) in 
place to monitor.

Adult Safeguarding Board 
and CQRGs .

General awareness to be raised across the whole 
organisation with emphasis on Continuing Health Care 
(CHC) and mental health services. (Oct 2014)

C5 (Discharge) Risk that the number of 
medically stable patients remaining 
in hospital exceeds agreed target.

Maria Metherall 12 (3x4) 12 (3x4) GSRG, Urgent Care Delivery 
Group, 7 day services 
countywide group, ORCP 
schemes mitigated by 
fortnightly delivery calls and 
clear KPIs and milestones.

Performance Reports and 
dashboards, critical 
milestones reviewed, regular 
programme stocktake.

Detailed whole system recovery plan agreed with 
focus upon staffing and resources primarily within the 
Emergency Department, bed capacity and flow, 
community capacity and weekend discharges. Daily 
review process agreed on assurance of delivery 
against the plan with daily performance monitoring via 
whole system escalation calls. 

C6 (Acute Care) Non-delivery of the 
Constitution standard for maximum 
wait of 4 hours within the Emergency 
Department.

Maria Metherall 12 (3x4) 16 (4x4) GSRG, Weekly GHT, ECB, 7 
day services project board, 
and steering group. ORCP 
schemes mitigated by 
fortnightly delivery calls and 
clear KPIs and milestones.

Performance Reports, 
weekly situation report, 
project status updates.

Detailed whole system recovery plan agreed with 
focus upon staffing and resources primarily within the 
Emergency Department, bed capacity and flow, 
community capacity and weekend discharges. Daily 
review process agreed on assurance of delivery 
against the plan with daily performance monitoring via 
whole system escalation calls. 

C15 Failure to comply with national and 
local access targets, including 18-
week RTT, 62 day cancer target, 
diagnostic 6-week target, planned 
follow-ups could result in inadequate 
and/or delayed care.

Annemarie Vicary 12 (3x4) 12 (3x4) Acute provider contracts, 
including AQP.

Performance Reports  Performance calls in place to monitor action plans and 
trajectories with focus on services under pressure. 
Additional capacity is being sought from other 
providers for April 2015/16 contracts including both 
elective and diagnostic options. Locality training 
planned for practice secretaries May 2015. 

F11 - F16 Failure to deliver financial targets. Cath Leech 12 (3x4) 12 (3x4) Robust financial plan aligned 
to commissioning strategy.

Budgets approved by the 
Governing Body. Monthly 
reporting to CCG Governing 
Body. 

On-going work with specialist commissioning and 
other commissioning organisations to work through 
the detail of impact of changes to commissioning 
organisations.  Review of existing budgets to be 
undertaken. (Sept/Oct 2014)

Objective 3: Transform services to meet the future needs of the population, through the most effective use of resources; ensuring the reduction of harm, waste and variation.

Objective 2: Work with patients, carers and the public to inform decision making. 
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Risk No Principal Risks Risk Owners Original 
Risk Ratings 

(LxC)

Current Risk 
Ratings 
(LxC)

Key Controls Sources of Assurance Gaps in Controls or Assurance Action Plan and Target Date

Robust contract 
management and activity 
monitoring and validation 
(particularly at GHFT)

Monthly performance 
dashboard for larger 
contracts with robust out of 
county contract monitoring 
reflected within performance 
reports.

Performance dashboards being extended to other 
large provider contracts (actioned Sept 2014)

Financial procedures being 
refreshed.

Internal audit plan in place 
and internal audit reports and 
recommendations to be 
reported to Audit Committee.

Financial procedure refresh and training. (Sept/Oct 
2014)

C26 There is a risk that the scale, 
complexity and unavoidable time 
constraints associated with the 
implementation of the agreed 
service model for strengthened 
health and social care integrated 
community teams across 
Gloucestershire means that the 
financial savings target allocated to 
this programme as part of the 
2013/14 Annual Operating Plan and 
prior to the completion of the Case 
for Change and return of Investment 
are not realised along with the 
service objectives (given the 
significant change in the model of 
service delivery required)

Kim Forey/Andrew 
Hughes

12 (3x4) 12 (3x4) ICT Programme group
QIPP Board Reports
GCCG Board Reports

Report to IGC and Governing 
Body, ICT Steering Group

Implementation of integrated 
case management and model; 
Delivery of HIS functionality as 
part of day to day service. 
Finalised financial model. Impact 
of current DN working on 
programme developments. 
Throughput of Rapid Response 
cases.

Integrated case management defined and project to 
operationally test agreed. This covers two ICT teams 
and 7 practices. All practices have been met and are 
signed up to testing period. MDT meetings all booked 
and have commented.  No further HIS roll out until 
model tested and working - reduced operating costs. 
Rapid response roll out and live in Cheltenham, 
Gloucester, Tewkesbury and Forest of Dean. Stroud & 
Berkeley Vale on 10th December 2014. South 
Cotswold have agreed to February 2015. This will 
give over 95% coverage. Continuation of interim 
financial model so opportunity to revise costings. 
QIPP trajectory refined to take into account slower roll 
out  and patient types. Formal  Case Review process 
being finalised  ready for sign off  at the end of 
November.   Separate DN project being taken 
forward. 

F8 Insufficient capacity and/or 
capability within the CSU as a result 
of the proposed merger could 
adversely affect the organisation's 
ability to adequately support the 
CCG during the transitional period.

Cath Leech 12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) Contract/service level 
agreement signed between 
the CCG and CSU specifying 
the services to be delivered.

Monthly meetings between 
the CCG and the CSU to 
review service delivery. CCG 
service leads meet with their 
counterparts in the CSU to 
review more detailed 
aspects of delivery.

Monitoring meetings schedule set up. (Ongoing).  
Transfer of Informatics staff planned for 1 April 2015.

F3 Information required to support 
service transformation is limited or 
not available due to changes in 
legislation and uncertainty over 
access arrangements.

Sarah Hammond 12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) IGQC report. CCG application to become accredited safe has been 
approved.

L4 Delegated co-commissioning 
arrangements will mean additional 
functions transferring to the CCG 
without a transfer of resource from 
NHS England.  This could result in 
insufficient capacity to deliver the 
functions of the CCG.  

Helen Goodey 12 (4x3) 6 (2x3) Transition Group in place. Regular progress reports to 
Governing Body.

Directorates across the CCG consulted upon 
delegated commissioning arrangements to assess 
impact and determine requirements for consideration 
by Executive Team prior to submission.  Transition 
Group formed in January to run through until 1st April 
to ensure all functions are smoothly integrated into 
CCG Directorates. (March 2015)

Objective 4: Build a sustainable and effective organisation, with robust governance arrangements throughout the organisation and localities.
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Risk No Principal Risks Risk Owners Original 
Risk Ratings 

(LxC)

Current Risk 
Ratings 
(LxC)

Key Controls Sources of Assurance Gaps in Controls or Assurance Action Plan and Target Date

L5 Delegated commissioning 
arrangements create a cost pressure 
on the CCG through overspent 
primary care budgets, resulting in 
the CCG being unable to deliver 
against its statutory financial 
requirements.

Helen Goodey 12 (4x3) 9 (3x3) Transition Group in place. Regular progress reports to 
Governing Body.

Due diligence undertaken through November, 
December and January prior to submission and then 
continue through until March 2015.

A1 Failure to build positive relationships 
with the local health community and 
other commissioners could impact 
on joined-up service delivery and 
transformation.

Mary Hutton, Helen 
Miller

12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) Joint Commissioning posts, 
Joint Commissioning Boards 
and Executives in place 
between the CCG and the 
Local Authority. System 
vision agreed and Joining Up 
Your Care  implementation 
with key members of the 
healthcare community 
established. GSF 
programme of work 
established to deliver on 
system vision.

Performance reports. Risk to partner engagement due 
to austerity measures

Continued engagement with all partners.

A2 Failure to build positive relationships 
with key local stakeholders 
(HCOSC, HWG) could impact on 
implementation of service delivery 
and transformation.

Mary Hutton, Helen 
Miller, Becky 
Parish, Anthony 
Dall more

12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) Attend HCOSC meetings. 
NHS Reference Group 'No 
surprises' discussions. 
Attend HWG Meetings.  
Timely written briefing of 
stakeholders. Joint Health 
and Well Being Strategy 
agreed.  Membership of 
Health and Well Being 
Board.

C4Q Reports, Outcome of 
Engagement/Consultation 
Reports, Written stakeholder 
briefings as part of integrated 
communication plans 

Communications and 
Engagement Strategy requires 
revision.

Development of BCF to act as a catalyst for 
transformation. (Ongoing)

A3 Failure to build positive relationships 
with local media could impact on the 
ability of the CCG to promote its 
work effectively and promote 
engagement opportunities .

Anthony Dallimore, 
Helen Miller, Mary 
Hutton  

12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) CCG Communication and 
Engagement Strategy, 
Quarterly meeting with 
editors, 'no surprises' briefing 
on key announcements .

Sponsorship/partnership 
agreements, briefings 
arrangements within 
individual communication 
plans. 

Communications and 
Engagement Strategy requires 
revision.

Implementation of GCCG Communications and 
Engagement Strategy (Ongoing)

Q7 Lack of compliance with national 
targets for  C.difficile  and MRSA 
could result in a lower quality of care 
for some patients.

Teresa Middleton, 
Karyn Probert

12 (4x3) 6 (2x3) Countywide HCAI action plan. 
Monthly monitoring of incidents 
of C.difficile and MRSA. 
Countywide HCAI Committee 
oversees action plan 
implementation and monitors 
progress.

Performance reports. Bi-monthly Strategic Countywide Healthcare Acquired 
Infections (HCAIs) Group. Ribotyping all C.difficile 
cases. Annual review of Countywide Antibiotic 
Formulary. Bimonthly CCG C.difficile Working Group. 
Regular communications with all Prescribers. 
Involvement in sharing good practise with Area Team 
Workshop. Explore faecal transplantation as a method 
to reduce relapse of C.Diff in patients as per NICE 
intervential procedures guidance (IPG). (March 2015)

Objective 5: Work together with our partners to develop and deliver ill health prevention and care strategies designed to improve the lives of patients, their families and carers.
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Risk No Principal Risks Risk Owners Original 
Risk Ratings 

(LxC)

Current Risk 
Ratings 
(LxC)

Key Controls Sources of Assurance Gaps in Controls or Assurance Action Plan and Target Date

Q15 Delay in GHNHSFT issuing 
Cardiology letters which could result 
in appropriate treatment being 
delayed.

Kay Haughton 16 (4x4) 8 (2x4) CQRG in place.
Contract team weekly 
conference call with GHT.
Datix reporting by GP's

Performance reports. CQRG 
monitoring and incident 
reports.

Target has now been achieved; routine monitoring will 
now take place via CQRG

C32 2015/16 Impact of Care Act 2014: 
1) Significantly reduced social care 
capacity within ICTs associated with 
early assessment and review for 
national eligibility criteria.
2) Predicted increased demand on 
services (information, advice & 
advocacy), focus on early 
intervention and prevention and 
promotion of independent advocacy.
3) GCC new duties for managing 
provider failure and other service 
interruptions.  CQC new duties for 
managing 'hard to replace' provider 
failure.  New arrangements with 
prisons, approved premises and bail 
accommodation.
4) Equal rights for carers - 
assessments and duty to meet 
assessed needs.

Donna Miles 12 (3x4) 12 (3x4) Maintain regular monitoring 
of performance/progress at 
quality groups.  Active 
participation from joint 
commissioners into new 
contractual arrangements, 
input into market 
management (via 
Commissioning Intentions / 
safeguarding / compliance). 

Reports to Governing Body NHS engaging fully with GCC implementation plan. 
(March 2015)

C33 Impact of Children & Families Act 
2014: GCCG new duties associated 
with assessment, planning and 
provision of services for children and 
young people up to age 25 who 
have special educational needs and 
disabilities, and their families.  New 
provisions for these duties to be 
challenged and potentially taken to 
tribunal / tested by case law.

Simon Billous 12 (3x4) 8 (2x4) Maintain regular monitoring 
of performance/progress at 
quality groups.  Active 
participation from joint 
commissioners into new 
contractual arrangements, 
input into market 
management (via 
Commissioning Intentions / 
safeguarding / compliance). 

Reports to Governing Body NHS engaging fully with GCC implementation plan.  
Interim champion arrangements. QIPP to formalise 
contracted capacity to ensure NHS Trusts are enabled 
to discharge their duties.  (March 2015)

F9 Lack of staff engagement and staff 
development could limit the 
achievement of financial balance.

All directors 6 (2x3) 6 (2x3) Organisational development 
plan in place.

Organisational Development 
Plan progress reports.

Organisational Development Plan 
update needed to reflect new 
information. Appraisal process 
needs to be developed to fit the 
organisation's needs.

Refresh of the Organisational Development Plan. 
Senior Manager's Group developing an appraisal 
process (March 2015)

Objective 6: Develop strong leadership as commissioners at all levels of the organisation, including localities.
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Governing Body 
 

 

Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 
 

Title Integrated Governance and Quality 
Committee (IGQC) minutes 

Executive Summary The attached minutes provide a record of the 
IGQC meeting held on the 26th February 
2015. 

Key Issues 
 

The following principal issues were 
discussed: 
 

 Patient’s Story 
 Experience and Engagement Report 
 Quality Report 
 Risk Register 
 Assurance Framework 
 Workforce Report 
 Policies for approval 
 Equality and Diversity Annual Report 
 Information Governance 
 Patient Safety Forum  
 Safeguarding Serious Case Reviews 
 Radiology update 
 District Nursing Action Plan 
 CQUINs 2015/16 
 Co-commissioning and the implications 

on Quality and Nursing 
 Clinical Quality Review Group meeting 

update. 
Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

Not applicable 
 
 

Financial Impact Not applicable 

Legal Issues (including 
NHS Constitution)  

Not applicable 
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

None 
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Impact on Equality and 
Diversity 

None 

Impact on Sustainable 
Development 

None 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

Not applicable 
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is requested to note 
these minutes which are provided for 
information. 

Author Alan Potter 

Designation Associate Director of Corporate Governance 

Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 

Julie Clatworthy 
IGQC Chair and Registered Nurse 
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 NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CCG 
 

Integrated Governance and Quality Committee (IGQC) 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 
Thursday 26th February 2015, Board Room, Sanger House 

 
Present:  
Julie Clatworthy JC Chair  
Marion Andrews-Evans MAE Executive Nurse and Quality Lead 
Dr Caroline Bennett CBe GP - North Cotswolds Locality 
Dr Charles Buckley CBu GP – Stroud Locality 
Alan Elkin AE Lay Member – Patient and Public 

Engagement 
Colin Greaves CG Lay Member – Governance 
Cath Leech CL Chief Finance Officer 
 
In Attendance: 
Teresa Middleton TM Head of Medicines Management 
Becky Parish  BP Associate Director Patient and Public 

Engagement 
Caitlin Lord CLo Patient Experience Co-ordinator 
Ellen Rule ER Director of Transformation and 

Service Re-design 
Alan Potter AP Associate Director of Corporate 

Governance 
Zoe Barnes ZB Corporate Governance Support 

Officer 
Fazila Tagari FT Board Administrator 
There were 3 observers present. 

 
1. Apologies for Absence  
   
1.1 Apologies were received from Dr Helen Miller, Valerie 

Webb, Mary Hutton, Mark Walkingshaw, Dr Martin 
Gibbs and Dr Peter Brambleby. 

 

   
2. Declarations of Interest  
   
2.1 There were no declarations of interest received.   
   
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 18th December 

2014 
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3.1 The minutes of the meeting were accepted as a true 

and correct record, subject to the following 
amendment: 
 

 Section 5.2 of the minutes to read ‘JC felt that 
the CCG should promote further its functions as 
commissioners to the wider public.’ 

 

   
4. Matters Arising  
   
4.1 IGQC82 Quality Report 

CBu felt that the report should incorporate an update 
on the activities being undertaken within the Clinical 
Programme Groups and was informed that an update 
was presented at the August Committee. It was 
recognised that a written update would be useful in 
terms of seeking assurance that improvements were 
being implemented. TM to discuss with Ruth Hallett in 
order to progress this. 
26/02/15 Action had been completed. Item Closed.  

 

   
4.2 IGQC84 District Nursing Update 

MAE informed members that she had attended a 
meeting with GCS where she undertook a quality 
review. MAE felt that the quality report provided by 
GCS was ambiguous and lacked key data which 
could highlight any issues and was uncertain whether 
its Board members were fully updated. MH 
questioned whether GCS had evidenced this issue 
within its risk register. It was proposed that this issue 
should be raised via a formal mechanism and that a 
letter should be composed to GCS. 
26/02/15 This was covered under Agenda Item 18. 
Item Closed. 

 

   
4.3 IGQC85 Minutes of the meeting held on 23rd 

October 2014 
CBu highlighted section 5.2 of the minutes and 
requested that the GHFT discharge leaflet was re-
circulated to him. CBe highlighted that the leaflet 
required further clarification on the options that were 
available. It was agreed that this required a review to 

 
 

BP 
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ensure accuracy of the information published. 
26/02/15 CBu stated that he had not received the 
discharge leaflet (emailed 28.11.14 and 29.12.14). It 
was highlighted that the leaflet was available on the 
GHT website and agreed that the link navigating to 
the leaflet was added to the CCG website.  

   
4.4 IGQC86 Patient’s Story 

MAE suggested that this video was uploaded on the 
CCG website and agreed to liaise with Anthony 
Dallimore. 
26/02/15 BP advised that permissions were being 
sought. 

 
 
BP 

   
4.5 IGQC87 Patient’s Story 

MAE advised that the previous patient story relating to 
hospital discharge would be presented at the January 
2015 Governing Body meeting. MH requested that the 
final version was sent to her for review prior to the 
presentation. MAE agreed that she would ask Caitlin 
Lord. 
26/02/15 Action had been completed. Item Closed. 

 

   
4.6 IGQC88 Quality Report 

CBu referred to the NICE ‘Do Not Do’ 
recommendation list and highlighted that the CCG 
possibly commissioned treatments that were on this 
list. MH suggested that this was reviewed and 
recommended that this was assigned to the CPGs for 
analysis. 
26/02/15 TM to action – Item Closed 

 

   
4.7 IGQC89 Quality Report 

AE articulated his concerns relating to the 
engagement report and felt that this required further 
information. MAE advised that the regular standalone 
report could not be produced due to other 
commitments and would be available for the next 
Committee meeting.  MAE advised that she had 
called an additional Clinical Quality Review Group 
meeting in December with GHT to ensure a greater 
focus on patient experience. MAE agreed that she 
would instruct Becky Parish to circulate a briefing on 
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engagement activities in between meetings.  
26/02/15 - Report provided to this meeting – Item 
closed. 

   
4.8 IGQC90 Quality Report 

JC requested an update in relation to the issues within 
radiology and it was agreed that an update would be 
provided at the next Committee meeting.  
26/02/15 Update provided at meeting by Dr Caroline 
Bennett. Item Closed 

 

   
4.9 IGQC91 Quality Report 

JC enquired on the outcome from the CCG Quality 
Summits and MAE agreed that she would circulate 
the notes from the Summits held to JC. It was advised 
that the schedule of the issues raised were reported 
to Ellen Rule in order to influence the Commissioning 
Intentions going forward. 
26/02/15  Actioned by MAE – Item Closed 

 

   
4.10 IGQC92 Quality Report 

JC queried if there were any local health staff who 
had recently returned from any of the Ebola affected 
countries and was advised that a nurse from GHFT 
had recently travelled to West Africa. It was agreed 
that this would be monitored and an update on the 
quarantine arrangements would be provided when the 
member of staff returned from their travels. 
26/02/15  It was reported that Gloucestershire had no 
staff affected – Item Closed 

 

   
4.11 IGQC93 Quality Report 

It was noted that Clinical Quality Review Group 
(CQRG) activity was not fedback through the IGQC or 
minutes provided for information. It was agreed that 
CQRG information would be included in future Quality 
Reports. 
26/02/15 Minutes provided – Item Closed. 

 

   
4.12 IGQC94 Quality Report 

The minutes of the Clinical Effectiveness Group 
meeting of 13th November 2014 were noted. JC 
raised the question of the CCG’s ability to carry out 
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evaluations/research through local research 
arrangement. It was agreed that an update would be 
provided at the next IGQC and an overview of which 
local providers are research active. 
26/02/15 Update provided in Quality Report – Item 
Closed. 

   
4.13 IGQC95 Children in Care Annual Report 

PB suggested that there should be an additional 
narrative on the emotional wellbeing of the Children in 
Care. CBu requested that a headline report from the 
Task and Finish Group should be made available for 
information. 
26/02/15 Completed – Item closed 

 

   
4.14 IGQC96 Risk Register 

JC requested that Risk No C1 was clarified to indicate 
that it related to Cheltenham Emergency services. 
26/02/15 Completed. AP advised that this risk has 
now been removed from the Risk Register. Item 
Closed 

 

   
4.15 IGQC97 Information Governance Update 

MAE reported that the CCG application for Accredited 
Safe Havens status had now been approved. This 
meant that the CCG was now able to validate invoices 
where patient identifiable information was required for 
validation. It was noted that training for the CCG was 
currently being developed and was being rolled out. 
MH requested that the training for the Governing Body 
members was arranged by AP. 
26/02/15 AP advised that training was scheduled, but 
had to be cancelled. AP to re-arrange. 

 

   
4.16 IGQC98 Sign-Up to Safety from Providers 

Progress Update 
 
MAE advised that a local Patient Safety Forum was 
being organised in Gloucestershire in January 2015. 
The session would focus on joining up Acute Kidney 
Injury and safety initiatives across the county. JC 
requested feedback from this Forum to be presented 
at the February 2015 Committee. 
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26/02/15 Information provided in briefing note. Item 
Closed 

   
5. Patient’s Story    
   
5.1 BP and CLo presented the patient’s story concerning 

a Gloucestershire resident who had suffered two 
sarcomas. The story outlined the experiences of the 
patient and her family through all stages of the care 
pathway. 

 

   
5.2 It was agreed the patient’s story would be amended to 

reflect the comments before presenting to the full 
Governing Body. 

 

   
5.3 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

patient’s story. 
 

   
6. Experience and Engagement Report  
   
6.1 BP presented this report which provided an update on 

CCG activity in the areas of engagement and 
experience during the third quarter of the year. 

 

   
6.2 BP noted the appointment of the Patient Experience 

and Safety Manager and the extended responsibility 
for the Senior Manager Engagement and Inclusion 
with regards to GCCG Equality and Diversity matters. 

 

   
6.3 BP noted the increase in contacts to the Experience: 

Team. This was as a result of increased activity and 
improved recording. BP noted that discussions with 
NHS England arrangements regarding primary care 
PALS going forward were ongoing. 

 

   
6.4 BP drew attention to the Healthwatch Gloucestershire 

(HWG) Q3 Master Comments information and 
explained how this data was shared within the CCG 
currently and plans for wider circulation.  

 

   
6.5 Friends and Family Test (FFT) data was discussed. It 

was noted that at the Clinical Quality Review Group 
meeting for GHNHSFT that the Q4 target FFT 
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response rate (ED and Inpatient) would be 
challenging.   

   
6.6 BP summarised the Engagement – Q3 activity. This 

included support for CPG, individual projects, patient 
story development and Information Bus visits across 
all GCCG Localities. 

 

   
6.7 BP reported that in December 2014 the Senior 

Manager Engagement and Inclusion had given 
evidence to the Welsh Affairs Select Committee to 
inform their investigation into cross-border health 
arrangements between England and Wales. 

 

   
6.8 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
7. Quality Report  
   
7.1 MAE presented the Quality Report which provided 

assurance to the Committee that quality and patient 
safety issues were given the appropriate priority and 
that there were clear actions to address them. The 
report was taken as read. 

 

   
7.2 MAE advised that the Quality Report had been 

developed further and welcomed any feedback 
outside the meeting. 

 

   
7.3 The minutes of the Clinical Effectiveness Group 

meeting of 15th January 2015 were noted. 
 

   
7.4 JC queried the compliance of NICE TAs by the 

2gether Trust and was advised by CBu that an 
effective process was in place. 

 

   
7.5 MAE updated members on Research and 

Development and recognised that the recruitment rate 
required increasing. MAE highlighted that the GHFT 
website listed all the research activity for each 
organisation on its website. JC queried the 
governance arrangements for funding research 
activity. The Committee articulated that the CCG 
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should promote research activity further. MAE 
informed members that there had been discussions 
on the recruitment of a research nurse in Primary 
Care. 

   
7.6 MAE highlighted Section 5 of the report which 

provided an analysis of the incidents reported to the 
CCG. It was also noted that the new ‘Quality Alert’ 
service was due to be launched the following week. 

 

   
7.7 JC questioned what would be included within the 

CQUIN schedule for 2015/16 and was advised that 
the ‘Safety Thermometer’ had been removed as the 
licence was unavailable. It was noted that the 
measures on falls and pressure ulcers would be 
included in section 4 of the contract. 

 

   
7.8 MAE drew attention to the fault with the Strategic 

Executive Information System (STEIS) and advised 
that GHFT were not able to input data on to the 
system which resulted in a large number of incidents 
being retrospectively entered on to the system. MAE 
reassured members that the system was now 
corrected. 

 

   
7.9 AE highlighted the increase in suspected suicides and 

was told that a briefing report would be presented at 
the next Committee meeting on the activity being 
undertaken on suicide prevention. 

MAE 

   
7.10 MAE referred to the additional paper which had been 

circulated which updated members on the quality 
issues being experienced at GHFT and provided 
details of the two Never Events reported. MAE 
highlighted that GHFT were under high level 
surveillance by the Area Team due to the level of 
Never Events reported. MAE advised that the CCG 
received monthly reports from Dr Foster highlighting 
any significant issues. It was also noted that this 
report alerted the high mortality rates; Sepsis (skin) 
and head of femur replacement.  JC queried if the 
mortality rates should be monitored by Public Health 
and requested that this issue was formally raised 

MAE 
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within Public Health. 
   
7.11 MAE informed members that a Quality Premium for 

improving antibiotic prescribing was being introduced 
as outlined in section 9.2 of the report. 

 

   
7.12 MAE updated members on the C.Difficile target and 

advised that the objective for next year for the CCG 
was 157, 37 for GHFT and 18 for GCS. 

 

   
7.13 MAE highlighted the issue of Norovirus and informed 

members that GHFT and GCS had seen a significant 
increase in Norovirus in the hospitals which continued 
to be monitored. It was noted that a ‘deep dive’ would 
be undertaken into these incidences. 

 

   
7.14 MAE drew attention to the bulletin published by Public 

Health England relating to Influenza which highlighted 
the large number of admissions in the winter, 
particularly in the elderly, with respiratory conditions. 

 

   
7.15 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
8. Risk Register   
   
8.1 AP presented the Risk Register which provided 

details of those risks identified by the responsible 
managers that currently face the CCG and which 
could affect the achievement of the organisational 
objectives. 

 

   
8.2 AP confirmed that details of all risks for consideration 

to be removed from the Risk Register had been 
provided at Appendix 2.   

 

   
8.3 Risk No Q13, concerning the possibility of delayed 

diagnosis due to lack of timely responses from 
Histology, was discussed. It was considered that the 
current low rating for this item did not accurately 
reflect the present risk. AP was asked to review this 
rating with the lead manager. 

AP 
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8.4 The Committee agreed to the closure of three of the 
four risks detailed on Appendix 2. AP was asked to 
ensure that Risk No C26, regarding Integrated 
Community Teams, remained on the Register at the 
present time. 

AP 

   
8.5 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee: 

 noted this paper and the attached Risk 
Register; and 

 approved the closure of Risk Nos. F14, Q14 
and Q16 as detailed in Appendix 2. 

 

   
9. Assurance Framework  
   
9.1 AP presented the Assurance Framework for 2014/15 

which provided details of the assurances that will be 
provided to the Governing Body regarding the 
achievement of the CCG’s Objectives. 

 

   
9.2 
 

RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted this 
paper and the attached Assurance Framework. 

 

   
10. Workforce Report  
   
10.1 AP presented this report which was taken as read. AP 

highlighted concerns regarding the relatively low 
levels of mandatory training completed by staff and 
advised the Committee that these were being 
investigated. The accuracy of the report was queried 
and it was agreed that a correct list was required in 
order to enforce compliance. 

 

   
10.2 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

report. 
 

   
11. Avastin Clinical Policy  
   
11.1 ER presented a proposal to the Committee for the use 

of Avastin in the treatment of early stage wet AMD 
with the aim of improving the sight of people affected 
by this disease in Gloucestershire. 
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11.2 ER advised that legal advice had been sought with 
regards to the implementation of this local 
commissioning Policy and it was acknowledged that 
this approach was likely to present a lower risk of 
legal challenge. 

 

   
11.3 ER outlined the context of the Policy to the Committee 

and explained that this was an enhancement to the 
existing service providing an additional option for local 
patients by commissioning treatment with Avastin 
outside of NICE visual acuity thresholds. ER also 
explained the benefits of this approach. 

 

   
11.4 CBu queried how the choice of treatments would be 

presented to the patients and was told that the 
consultants would need to convey this information at 
the clinic on behalf of the CCG.  

 

   
11.5 The Committee requested that there was a format for 

the clinical policy and which was uniform with other 
policies. AP advised that the format process was 
being reviewed. It was also agreed that a plain english 
summary was required for this Policy. 

 

   
11.6 ER provided a summary of the legal advice provided 

by Bevan Brittan. ER also explained the grounds of 
challenge to the original claim made by Novartis.  

 

   
11.7 JC sought assurance that there were no liabilities for 

the clinician prescribing the treatment. ER highlighted 
that a national letter was sent to the GMC. GMC 
would be responding to the letter to the NHS Clinical 
Commissioners. 

 

   
11.8 JC queried the level of stakeholder engagement and 

was advised that an AMD workshop was being 
organised in March 2015 which included lay 
representatives. ER advised that the patient’s 
consultation could be set up if necessary. 

 

   
11.9 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee supported 

the Policy which will go to a full Governing Body 
for final approval.  
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12. Policies for Approval  
   
12.1 AP presented the following policies which were 

intended to outline the CCG’s approach. 
 

   
12.2 Risk Management  
   
12.2.1 AP stated that section 3.7.3 on page 14 had been 

inserted which indicated the process of the closure of 
risks. 

 

   
12.2.2 JC highlighted that the financial control was the 

responsibility of the Audit Committee which was 
outlined in section 5.3 of the Policy. 

 

   
12.2.3 JC indicated that the Policy used the terms ‘Strategy’ 

and ‘Policy’ and requested that this was consistent. 
 

   
12.2.4 JC drew attention to section 3.2.2 on page 11 of the 

Policy and requested that patients were added to the 
areas of impact list. 

 

   
12.2.5 JC highlighted section 3.4.4 of the Policy and felt that 

a clinical example would be useful. 
 

   
12.3 Whistleblowing  
   
12.3.1 The Committee were informed that this Policy was 

intended to replace the existing Policy and had been 
prepared by Consult HR. 

 

   
12.3.2 JC was apprehensive that the Policy did not 

encapsulate the recommendations from the Francis 
report and questioned the urgency of the sign off 
process.   

 

   
12.3.3 CG felt that the Policy was generic and had not been 

personalised for the CCG. It also did not highlight the 
anti-fraud mechanism implemented within the CCG. 

 

   
12.3.4 It was agreed that the existing Policy was extended 

for a further three months and that further discussions 
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with Consult HR were held to request the revision of 
the Policy. 

   
12.4 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee: 

 approved the Risk Management Policy 
subject to the above amendments; and 

 extended the existing Whistleblowing Policy 
and requested that further amendments were 
discussed with Consult HR. 

 

   
13. Equality and Diversity Annual Report  
   
13.1 VW presented this report that outlined the work the 

CCG had undertaken towards meeting the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. The report highlighted the gaps 
that had been identified and the action that was 
planned to improve performance on equality issues. 
It was noted that due to timescales this report had 
already been presented to a fully Governing Body 
meeting and approved. 

 

   
13.2 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

report which was provided for information. 
 

   
14. Information Governance Update  
   
14.1 CL presented the paper providing an update on the 

organisation’s information governance arrangements. 
The paper was taken as read. 

 

   
14.2 CL updated members on the progress of the IG 

Toolkit. It was noted that progress was being made 
against all actions. CL stated that 31st March 2015 
was the submission deadline. 

 

   
14.3 CL highlighted section 6 of the report which outlined a 

summary on the countywide Information Sharing 
Agreements. It was reported that a countywide 
meeting was held on the 9th February 2015 to review 
the existing countywide information sharing protocol. 

 

   
14.4 CL drew attention to section 7 of the report which  
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provided a brief update on the key issues on the 
SystmOne. CL advised that a small working group 
had been set up to mitigate these issues. 

   
14.5 CL informed members that the analysis of the 

freedom of information requests was outlined in 
Appendix 1 of the report. 

 

   
14.6 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee: 

 Noted the minutes from the Information 
Governance Group meeting 

 Noted the contents of this report. 

 

   
15. Patient Safety Forum Briefing   
   
15.1 MAE introduced this briefing which was taken as read. 

The briefing provided an overview of the work of the 
Gloucestershire Patient Safety Forum.  

 

   
15.2 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
16. Safeguarding Serious Case Review Briefing  
   
16.1 MAE presented this paper that outlined serious case 

reviews that had been undertaken by the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adult Board and the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board. The 
paper also outlined details of a consultation taking 
place with the intention of revising the ‘Working 
Together to Safeguard Children’ guidance. 

 

   
16.2 MAE informed members that the Area Team currently 

had responsibility for primary care safeguarding and 
that this would transfer to the CCG under the co-
commissioning arrangements. MAE indicated that 
there was a greater emphasis on children’s 
safeguarding and recognised that there should be 
additional focus on adults safeguarding.   

 

   
16.3 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this briefing. 
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17. Radiology Update   
   
17.1 Dr Caroline Bennett provided a verbal update 

regarding the Gloucestershire Hospitals Trust 
Radiology service.   

 

   
17.2 CB confirmed that she was still monitoring the 

situation and planned to meet again with the chief of 
service to ensure progress was maintained. 

 

   
17.3 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

verbal update. 
 

   
18. District Nursing Action Plan  
   
18.1 Hannah Williams, Community Services 

Commissioning Manager, presented a report 
regarding the District Nursing Action Plan.  

 

   
18.2 The Committee considered the action plan and the 

progress to date by GCS with its implementation. 
 

   
18.3 The Committee were concerned that the situation 

regarding district nursing had deteriorated to such an 
extent that the action plan was necessary.  

 

   
18.4 The Committee were reassured that the CCG 

continued to closely monitor the staffing situation 
regarding district nursing at GCS. Further reports 
would be made to the committee should there 
continue to be issues with the service. 

 

   
18.5 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
19. CQUINs2015/16  
   
19.1 MAE provided a briefing to the Committee outlining 

the progress made in relation to the CQUIN scheme 
for 2015/16. 

 

   
19.2 It was highlighted that this year there were fewer  
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individual CQUINs with a greater focus on schemes 
that would have the greatest impact on improving 
patient care.  The aim was to also have CQUINs that 
covered all our providers, so ensuring consistence in 
care delivery. 

   
19.3 It was reported that progress with agreeing the 

CQUINs with our providers was good this year and it 
was anticipated that they would be finalised by the 
31st March. 

 

   
19.4 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
20. Co-commissioning and the implications on 

Quality and Nursing 
 

   
20.1 It was reported that as a result of the CCG taking on 

delegated commissioning for primary care there would 
be the need to establish a primary care CQRG 

 

   
20.2 It was agreed that the Chair of this Committee and the 

chair   of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
would agree reporting arrangements for this new 
CQRG. 

 

   
20.3 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

verbal update. 
 

   
21. Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) Meeting 

Update 
 

   
21.1 The Committee was provided with copies of the 

minutes of the CQRG meetings with the local 
providers. 

 

   
21.2 JC queried if further meetings would be held following 

the cancelled meetings in January 2015 with GCS 
and GHFT and was advised that there were active 
dialogues with the providers to discuss any issues in 
order to seek assurance.  

 

   
21.3 JC noted that an extraordinary CQRG meeting was  
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held on the 18th December 2014 and was advised that 
this meeting was convened to focus on patient 
experience within GHFT. 

   
21.4 RECOMMENDATION: The Committee noted the 

contents of this report. 
 

   
22. Any Other Business  
   
22.1 TM presented a paper outlining proposed changes to 

the Assisted Conception Policy which had been 
revised in the light of recent NICE Clinical Guidance. 
It was agreed that this Policy would return to the 
Committee for approval once the Priorities Committee 
had agreed the eligibility criteria.   

TM 

   
22.2 
 
 
 
 
 

MAE provided an update on quality issues relating to 
the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
The update highlighted Dr Foster alerts regarding high 
mortality rates and outlined two recent Never Events. 
A further meeting will be organised to look at the 
mortality data in more detail and agree actions. 

 

   
23. The meeting closed at 12.30pm.  
   
 Date and time of next meeting: Thursday 23rd April 

2015 in the Board Room at 9am.   
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Agenda Item 17 

 
NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group’s 

Governing Body 
Audit Committee Annual Report 2014/15 

 
1 Introduction  
  
1.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 set out the requirement 

for Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to establish an 
Audit Committee.  This report, the second to the Governing 
Body, covers the work of the Audit Committee (the 
Committee) for the financial year 2014/15.   

  
2 Membership 
  
2.1 The membership of the Committee during the year was as 

follows:  
 

 Colin Greaves Chair - Lay Member Governance;  
 Alan Elkin - Lay Member Patient Public Engagement; 
 Valerie Webb - Lay Member Business; 
 Dr Andrew Seymour - Deputy Clinical Chair;  
 Dr Hein Le Roux - GP Stroud Locality.   

  
3 The Function of the Audit Committee 
  
3.1 The role of the Committee is to critically review the CCG’s 

financial reporting and internal control principles whilst 
ensuring that an appropriate relationship is maintained with 
both internal and external auditors.  It is important that the 
Committee maintains an independent and objective view.  

  
4 Terms of Reference 
  
4.1 The Committee’s terms of reference were reviewed by the 

Committee at the 16 September 2014 meeting.   
  
4.2 An undated version of the Constitution was submitted to NHS 

England on 9 January 2015 as part of the bid for delegated 
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authority for primary care co-commissioning.  Approval for the 
revised Constitution, which included some minor changes to 
the Committee’s Terms of Reference, was received from NHS 
England on 6 February 2015. 

  
5 Meetings 
  
5.1 The Committee met on the following dates:  

 
 20 May 2014;  
 3 June 2014;  
 16 September 2014;  
 9 December 2014; 
 10 March 2015. 

  
5.2 The external auditors, internal auditors and the Local Counter 

Fraud Service attended all of the meetings to which they were 
invited.  The Chief Finance Officer, her deputy and the 
Associate Director of Corporate Governance attended all 
meetings.  The Accountable Officer had an open invitation to 
attend all meetings.  A breakdown of meeting attendance is at 
Appendix 1.   

  
5.3 The confirmed minutes of all the Audit Committee meetings 

were considered at the Governing Body meetings. 
  
5.4 The Committee had a private meeting with the Accountable 

Officer on 20 May 2014 to discuss and consider the process 
for assurance that supported the Annual Governance 
Statement for 2013/14. 

  
5.5 The Committee had a private meeting with the external 

auditors on 31 July 2014.   
  
5.6 The Committee is scheduled to hold a private meeting with 

the internal auditors on 15 June 2015. 
  
5.7 There was an open invitation to the internal and external 

auditors and the Local Counter Fraud officer to make contact 
with the Chair of the Committee if they had any concerns. 
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6 Review of the Committee’s Work 
  

6.1 The Committee had an annual work plan, which was updated 
during the year as additional issues were identified.   

  
6.2 The Committee completed a self-assessment on 20 May 

2014.  A similar exercise is planned for July 2015. 
  
7 Internal Audit   
  
7.1 PricewaterhouseCoopers provide the internal audit service for 

the CCG.   
  
7.2 The Internal Audit Annual Report for 2013/14 was presented 

at the Audit Committee meeting on 3 June 2014.  The Head 
of Internal Audit’s annual opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the CCG’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control was that there was some risk that 
management's objectives may not be fully achieved.  
Improvements were required in certain areas to enhance the 
adequacy and/or effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and control. Of particular concern was the 
contract monitoring of the Commissioning Support Unit 
(CSU). 

  
7.3 The internal audit work plan for 2014/15, which was based on 

a risk assessment for the organisation, was presented as a 
draft document in Mar 2014 and agreed at the Audit 
Committee meeting on 3 Jun 2014. The audits undertaken in 
2014/15 with their associated assessments are: 
 

 Quality Monitoring - low risk (Integrated Governance 
and Quality Committee, whose responsibility it is to 
monitor quality, reviewed this report on 26 February 
2015); 

 Human Resources - low risk; 
 Performance Management - low risk;  
 Risk Management - low risk; 
 QIPP - three medium risks, three low risks and two 

advisory points were identified.  The Assistant Director 
Strategic Planning has produced an action plan to 
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address these issues.  The internal auditors commented 
on four areas of good practice; 

 Core Financial Systems - low risk; 
 Information Governance - three medium risks and two 

low risks were identified.  The Information Governance 
Manager has produced an action plan to address these 
issues.  The internal auditors commented on three 
areas of good practice. 

 Communications - low risk (draft report);  
 Corporate Governance - low risk (draft report). 

  
7.4 The draft Internal Audit Annual Report for 2014/15 was 

presented at the Audit Committee meeting on 12 May 2015.  
The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the CCG’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control was that there are adequate and 
effective governance, risk management and control 
processes to enable risks to be managed and objectives to be 
met. 

  
7.5 A risk-based work plan for internal audit for 2015/16 was 

considered at the Audit Committee meeting on 10 March 
2015.  

  
8 External Audit 
  
8.1 The role of external audit is to give an opinion on the financial 

statements and issue a value for money conclusion.  The 
external audit services are provided by Grant Thornton. 

  
8.2 At the Audit Committee meeting on 16 Sep 14 Grant Thornton 

presented their audit conclusions for 2013/14: 
 

 Financial statements opinion - an unqualified opinion 
was provided on the financial statements, which give a 
true and fair view of the CCG's financial position as at 
31 March 2014 and of the net operating costs recorded 
by the CCG for the year; 

 Regularity opinion - an unqualified regularity opinion 
was provided; 

 Value for money - there were no issues to report on the 



  
 

Page 5 of 8 
 

CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

  
8.3 Grant Thornton has provided update reports against the 

agreed work plan for 2014/15 and their draft assessments are 
due to be presented to the Audit Committee at the meeting on 
7 July 2015.  Grant Thornton has also provided reports on 
emerging issues and developments; this has proved most 
helpful to both the Committee and the Executive. 

  
9 Counter Fraud 
  
9.1 The counter fraud service is provided by the Gloucestershire 

Hospital Foundation Trust and covers the following areas: 
preventing and detecting fraud; investigating fraud; and the 
creation of an anti-fraud culture.  The annual plan was 
created following a risk assessment of the CCG.  The 
Committee has received reports in all of the above areas and 
an annual report was presented at the Audit Committee 
meeting on 12 May 2015.   

  
10 Other Assurance Functions 
  
10.1 Through the receipt of regular reports the Audit Committee 

reviewed the management of the following: 
 

 Procurement decisions; 
 Procurement Waiver of Standing Orders; 
 Aged Debts; 
 Debts Proposed for Write-off; 
 Losses and Special Payments. 

 
The Committee is satisfied that these areas are being 
appropriately managed.  Any concerns on individual items 
were raised at the time and appropriate responses have been 
received 

  
11 Governance 
  
11.1 The Integrated Governance and Quality Committee ensures 

that the appropriate governance plans and mechanisms are in 
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place for all areas other than financial governance, which is 
the responsibility of the Audit Committee.     

  
12 Annual Governance Statement 
  
12.1 The Draft Annual Governance Statement for 2013/14 was 

reviewed by the Audit Committee at the 11 March 2014 
meeting.  The Annual Governance Statement was approved 
by the Governing Body at the 3 June 2014 meeting. 

  
12.2 The Draft Annual Governance Statement for 2014/15 was 

reviewed by the Audit Committee at the 12 May 2015 
meeting.   

  
13 Annual Accounts 
  
13.1 The year-end reports and accounts for 2013/14 were 

considered by the Committee on 3 June 2014 and approved 
at the extraordinary Governing Body meeting on 3 June 2014.

  
13.2 International Accounting Standard requires management to 

assess, as part of the annual accounts preparation process, 
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern.  A paper on 
this issue was presented at the Audit Committee meeting on 
12 May 2015 and the Committee confirmed that the CCG was 
a going concern.   

  
13.3 The year-end reports and accounts for 2014/15 shall be 

considered by the Committee on 26 May 2015 before being 
recommended for approval at the Governing Body meeting on 
28 May 2015.   

  
14 Co-operation 
  
14.1 The Committee is grateful to the CCG staff, the CSU staff, 

Gloucestershire Local Counter Fraud Service, Grant 
Thornton; and PricewaterhouseCoopers for their positive and 
constructive approach in discussions and reporting. 
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15 Conclusion 
  
15.1 The Audit Committee can confirm the following:  

 
 The risk management systems in the CCG are 

adequate and allow the Governing Body to understand 
the appropriate management of those risks;  

 There are no areas of significant duplication or omission 
in the systems of governance in the CCG that have 
come to the Committee’s attention.  

 The draft Annual Governance Statement for 2014/15 is 
consistent with the Committee’s views on the CCG’s 
system of internal control and that it supports the 
Governing Body’s approval of the Statement. 
 

The basis for the above opinion is drawn from evidence 
highlighted in paragraphs 5 to 13 and from discussion and 
debate in the Committee. 

  
16 Recommendation 
  
16.1 The Governing Body is asked to accept this report on the 

work of the Audit Committee as part of its overall governance 
and assurance programme for 2014/15. 

  
 Colin Greaves OBE  

Chair of Gloucestershire CCG Audit Committee  
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  APPENDIX 1 
 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE 2014/15 

 
  May Jun  Sep  Dec   Mar  

Colin Greaves Lay Member √ √ √ √ √ 
Alan Elkin Lay Member √  √ √ √ 
Valerie Webb Lay Member √ √ √   
Dr Andy 
Seymour 

Dep Clinical Chair √   √ √ 

Dr Hein Le 
Roux 

GP Stroud Locality √ √ √ √ √ 

       
Paul Dalton PwC  √ √ √  
Lyn Pamment  PwC   √ √ √ 
Liz Cave Grant Thornton  √ √ √ √ 
Peter Smith Grant Thornton  √  √ √ 
Sallie Cheung Counter Fraud Off  √ √   
Rayna Kibble Counter Fraud Off    √ √ 
Mary Hutton Accountable 

Officer 
√     

Cath Leech CFO √ √ √ √ √ 
Andrew Beard Dep CFO  √ √ √ √ √ 
Rupert Boex Financial 

Accountant 
√ √  √  

Alan Potter Assoc Dir Corp 
Gov 

√ √ √ √ √ 

 
 

In accordance with the Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference other members of 
CCG staff attended on an as required basis.  
 



 

 

Governing Body 
 

Governing Body 
Meeting Date 

Thursday 28th May 2015 

Title West of England Academic Health Science 
Network Report 

Executive Summary The attached document is the seventh quarterly 
report produced by the West of England 
Academic Health Science Network. 

Key Issues 
 

The following key issues are referred to in the 
report: 

 Genomics Medicines Centre for West of 
England 

 Business Plan 2015/16 
 Patient Safety 
 Early Warning Score 
 Evidence into Practice 
 Enterprise and Translation 
 Engagement and Events 

Risk Issues: 
Original Risk 
Residual Risk 

None 
 
 

Financial Impact None 
Legal Issues 
(including NHS 
Constitution)  

None 
 
 

Impact on Health 
Inequalities 

None 
 

Impact on Equality 
and Diversity 

None 

Impact on Sustainable 
Development 

None 

Patient and Public 
Involvement 

Not applicable 
 

Recommendation The Governing Body is requested to note this 
report which is provided for information. 

Author Deborah Evans 
Designation WEAHSN Managing Director 
Sponsoring Director 
(if not author) 

Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer  
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Report from West of England Academic Health Science Network Board,  

4 March 2015 

1. Purpose 
This is the seventh quarterly report for the Boards of the member organisations of the 
West of England Academic Health Science Network which includes the three health 
research active Universities (Bath, Bristol and the West of England), NHS Trusts and 
Foundation Trusts, Community Interest Companies who provide community health 
and social care and the seven Clinical Commissioning Groups in the west of 
England.   

Board papers are posted on our website http://www.weahsn.net for information. 
 

2. Genomics Medicines Centre for West of England 

As part of the 100,000 genomes project, NHS England is seeking to establish a 
geographical network of genomics medicines centres across the country.  

The aim is to ensure universal access across England to full genome testing (with an 
emphasis on cancer and rare diseases initially); to encourage and support clinical 
use of the information; and to contribute to the NHS/UKTI mission for the UK to be a 
leading country in exploiting genetic information. 

The bid for a Genomic Medicine Centre in the West of England was not successful in 
the first round of application and a further bid has been invited by NHS England 
which will be submitted in full during Quarter 2 2015/16. 

Good engagement has been secured from clinicians across the West of England and 
the Board agreed that the Academic Health Science Network should play a 
supporting role. 

A partnership Board will be established to guide the work of the Genomics Medical 
Centre and will ensure that the patient leadership, as well as consent is strong; the 
access to populations across the West of England is ensured and that the education 
and professional development aspects of genetic medicine are integral to continuing 
professional development. 

3. Business Plan 2015/16 

The Board considered the draft Business Plan for 2015/16 and noted that a number 
of 2014/15 schemes would continue , such as the Enterprise and Translation 
Operational Plan, the informatics programme and the roll out of best practice on anti-
coagulation across GP practices.  

New projects for 2015/16 will include: 

a. The Academic Health Science Network will support a West of England-wide bid 
to become a Genomics Medicine Centre. 

b. An ambitious Patient Safety Collaborative Business Plan – see item 3 below.    

http://www.weahsn.net/about-us/board-papers/
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c. Sustaining the PreCePT project to prevent Cerebral Palsy in pre-term babies and 
adopt the Wessex Academic Health Science Network project on pre-determined 
doses of Magnesium Sulphate. 

d. Support to health communities on improving outcomes and patient flow (through 
‘Discharge to Assess’ 

e. Support an additional seven GP “Evidence Fellows” to publish a web-based 
evidenced toolkit and evaluation toolkit for commissioners. 

f. Collaborate with the National Clinical Director for Mental Health, Monitor, TDA 
and Mental Health trusts on a Mental Health Quality Improvement Toolkit. 

g. Continue to deliver a wide range of capacity and capability programmes in quality 
improvement, innovation, patient safety and informatics. 

h. Launch citizen-led design project with “designability”. 

i. Deliver entrepreneurship training jointly with three South of England Academic 
Health Science Networks. 

The final draft Business Plan and Patient Safety Plan will come to all organisations 
for official support. 

4. Patient Safety Update  

The Patient Safety Collaborative has agreed its Business Plan for 2015/16.  It has 
also: 

The Business Plan also includes: 

 Supporting health communities to implement the National Early Warning Score 
across their footprints 

 Supporting Incident Reporting Mechanisms in Primary Care and further 
developing patient safety in Primary Care and Community Services; 

 Implementing best practice in emergency laparotomy across all acute hospitals in 
the West of England, Wessex and Kent, Surrey and Sussex;  

 A medicines safety programme in relation to insulin use on hospital admission. 

 The Academic Health Science Network will also support the South of England 
Mental Health Collaborative and an NHS England-led programme around Sepsis. 

5. Early Warning Score 

130 people, the majority of whom were clinicians, attended an Early Warning Score 
engagement event on Thursday 5 March. This event was to test the appetite for 
using a common Early Warning Score across the whole of the West of England to 
support patient safety.  The event also stimulated discussion about the extent to 
which we could aspire to use a single Early Warning Score across the patient’s 
journey through primary care, out of hours, ambulance services, hospitals and then 
returning home.  This was very strongly supported.   

Delegates heard from colleagues in Scotland and in Wales who have already made 
substantial progress in implementing Early Warning Scores, supported by a 
structured communication approach, such as SBAR (Situation, Background, 
Assessment, Response).  

Our public contributors strongly voiced their support for this work.   
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The next steps are to make sure we can measure and validate our work; identify the 
early wins and build on the momentum we have secured so far. 

6. Evidence into Practice 

a. Pre-term Births Project 

Delivery of the PreCePT programme is virtually complete, with over 600 staff 
trained and achievement of almost 90% compliance in the administering of 
Magnesium Sulphate to eligible mothers.   

The project will be evaluated by CLARHCWest and will continue to be supported 
during 2015/16 to ensure best practice is delivered. 

b. Don’t wait to Anti-Coagulate 

This project is going very well and is being piloted with eleven GP practices who 
are testing for different models for delivery. Rollout during 2015/16 will be 
ambitious. We are aiming to work with 50 – 100 GP practices in 4 CCGs. This 
could prevent up to 200 more strokes each year once fully implemented. 

7. Enterprise and Translation 

 The Enterprise and Translation team have held a Connection Event with 
SetSquared to launch our entrepreneurship training and have 20 confirmed 
attendees for the bootcamp in April. 

 The Academic Health Science Network has approved the establishment of an 
Industry Advisory Group, which will meet twice a year and will help us to refresh 
and keep sighted on our original strategy for working with industry.    

 The Gloucestershire, Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnerships have 
each agreed to engage with us through a health and life sciences sector group.  
This will match the one which is now meeting regularly for the West of England. 

8. Engagement and Events 

 Registration is open for our Patient Safety Collaborative Launch and Quality 
Improvement Conference on Thursday 16 April 2015, which is taking place at the 
De Vere Hotel, Swindon 

 Medicines Optimisation Roadshow with NHS England & ABPI, Thursday 7 May 
2015, venue TBC 

 Read our latest newsletter and patient safety newsletter 

 

SAVE THE DATE 

West of England Academic Health Science Network Annual Conference, held jointly 
with the West of England Local Clinical Research Network and CLAHRCWest on 

Thursday 15 October, Cheltenham Racecourse. 

 

 
Deborah Evans 
March 2015 

http://us8.campaign-archive1.com/?u=f0307060daac60c96aab19b07&id=3b3321faf8&e=%5bUNIQID
file://weahsn.xswhealth.nhs.uk/data/directorate/Patient%20Safety%20Workstream/Newsletters/Patient%20Safety%20Newsletter%20March%202015.pdf
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